
 
   Department of Transportation 
   Board of Directors  
                                   Notice of Public Meeting 
   1263 South Stewart Street 
   Third Floor Conference Room 
   Carson City, Nevada 
   December 15, 2014 – 9:00 a.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Receive Director’s Report – Informational item only. 
 
2. Public Comment – limited to no more than three (3) minutes. The public may comment on 

Agenda items prior to action by submitting a request to speak to the Chairman before the 
Meeting begins. Informational item only. 

 
3. November 10, 2014 Nevada Department of Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 

Minutes – For possible action. 
 
4. Approval of Contracts over $5,000,000 – For possible action. 
 
5. Approval of Agreements over $300,000 – For possible action. 
 
6. Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements – Informational item only.  
 
7. Public Auction – For possible action. 
 
 Disposal of NDOT right-of-way located on the southeast corner of Desert Inn Road and 

Western Avenue Intersection, Las Vegas, NV  SUR 08-20 
 
8. Resolution of Relinquishment – For possible action. 
 
 Disposal of NDOT right-of-way on an island in the Truckee River south of SR-647 (4th 

Street) in Lawton, NV  SUR 13-20 
 
9. Resolution of Relinquishment – For possible action. 
 
 Disposal of a portion of Wells Avenue, a strip of land over and across the Truckee River 

in Reno, NV  SUR 14-11 
 
10. Discussion and Possible Approval of the Annual Work Program Fiscal Year (FY) 2015, 

Short and Long Range Element FY 2016 – 2017 and Possible Acceptance of the 
Statewide Transportation Improvement (STIP) FY 2015 – 2018 – For possible action. 

 
11. Receive a Report on the Status of Project NEON – Informational item only. 
 
12. Briefing on the 2014 State Performance Management Report – Informational item only. 
 
13. Briefing on the Draft February 2015 State Highway Preservation Report – Informational 

item only. 
  



 
 
14.  Old Business 
 

a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters – Informational item only. 
b. Monthly Litigation Report – Informational item only. 
c. Fatality Report dated December 1, 2014 – Informational item only. 
d. Report on Indirect Costs for the Research Program – Informational item only. 
e. Report on Potential Construction Employee Shortage – Informational item only. 
f. Quarterly Report on Freeway Service Patrol – Informational item only. 

 
15. Public Comment – limited to no more than three (3) minutes. The public may comment on 

Agenda items prior to action by submitting a request to speak to the Chairman before the 
Meeting begins.  Informational item only. 

 
16. Adjournment – For possible action. 

 
Notes:   
 

• Items on the agenda may be taken out of order. 
• The Board may combine two or more agenda items for consideration 
• The Board may remove an item from the agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the agenda 

at any time. 
• Reasonable efforts will be made to assist and accommodate physically handicapped persons desiring 

to attend the meeting. Requests for auxiliary aids or services to assist individuals with disabilities or 
limited English proficiency should be made with as much advance notice as possible to the 
Department of Transportation at (775) 888-7440.  

• This meeting is also expected to be available via video-conferencing, but is at least available via 
teleconferencing, at the Nevada Department of Transportation District One Office located at 123 East 
Washington, Las Vegas, Nevada in the Conference Room and at the District III Office located at 1951 
Idaho Street, Elko, Nevada. 

• Copies of non-confidential supporting materials provided to the Board are available upon request. 
• Request for such supporting materials should be made to Holli Stocks at (775) 888-7440 or 

hstocks@dot.state.nv.us. Such supporting material is available at 1263 South Stewart Street, Carson 
City, Nevada 89712 and if available on-line, at www.nevadadot.com. 
 

This agenda was posted at www.nevadadot.com and at the following locations: 
 
Nevada Dept. of Transportation Nevada Dept. of Transportation Nevada Dept. of Transportation 
1263 South Stewart Street 123 East Washington  310 Galletti Way 
Carson City, Nevada  Las Vegas, Nevada   Sparks, Nevada 
 
Nevada Dept. of Transportation Governor’s Office   Clark County 
1951 Idaho Street  Capitol Building   200 Lewis Avenue 
Elko, Nevada   Carson City, Nevada  Las Vegas, Nevada 
 
Washoe County 
75 Court Street 
Reno, Nevada 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Governor Brian Sandoval 
Lt. Governor Brian Krolicki – Absent/Excused 
Controller Kim Wallin 
Frank Martin – Absent/Excused 
Tom Skancke 
Len Savage 
Tom Fransway 
Rudy Malfabon 
Bill Hoffman 
Dennis Gallagher 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Sandoval: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  I will call the Nevada Department of 
Transportation Board of Directors meeting to order.  First item on the 
Agenda is to receive the Director's Report.  Mr. Director, good morning. 

Malfabon: Good morning, Governor and Board members.  Well, the first thing to 
mention is something that we still have to see a lot to be established as far as 
the direction of Congress, with the election results will be changes in 
chairmanships and leadership positions in Congress and transportation 
committees, the funding committees and both the Senate and the House 
leadership was already established. 

 But they'll have to determine what's the direction for--on the national stage 
for transportation in the future and funding, and how to fill that gap in 
federal funding.  So we'll have more to report next month.  We also will be 
traveling to North Carolina for the annual AASHTO meeting, and we'll get a 
lot more information on the national scene about what's happening with 
Congress and the funding situation for transportation nationally. 

 Locally, we'll be reaching out to the Lieutenant Governor elect, Mark 
Hutchison, and State Controller elect, Ron Knecht to give them an NDOT 
briefing about their responsibilities as members of the Transportation Board.  
And we also--next month, we'll thank the elected officials that will--moving 
off our Board, State Controller Kim Wallin and Lieutenant Governor Brian 
Krolicki, to show our appreciation for their leadership and guidance to our 
Department of Transportation and the State. 

1 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

 We'll be giving a precession orientation to the new legislators.  That will be 
coming up in early December, December 3rd in Las Vegas.  Sean Sever, our 
communications director, will be the point person in the legislative session, 
and he'll be conducting the outreach with a lot of those new members that 
will have their hands full going into their positions in different committees 
in the legislature. 

 One of the things that we are preparing is a presentation on some things that 
they requested information on in advance.  The effect of hybrids and electric 
vehicles, on fuel tax revenue.  So we've been doing our vehicle miles 
traveled via a VMT study to update them on that.  Fuel tax indexing is 
another area that's been implemented in Washoe and Clark County.  We'll 
give them some information on how that's going.  And also, pedestrian 
safety has been an issue of significance lately with a significant number of 
fatalities in pedestrians.  So we'll be providing that as part of our update to 
the new members of the legislature. 

 I would like to go ahead--next slide, please--I'd like to introduce our new 
Assistant Director for Operations, Reid Kaiser.  Reid's got a great 
background, having worked in both headquarters and the districts.  So he's 
got the field experience that's very practical for what he has to do, and the 
responsibility of the Assistant Director of Operations is over Construction 
Division, Materials Division, which Reid was formally the chief of, but also 
maintenance and asset management.  And asset management will be a 
significant part of the Department's direction going forward.  It's a federal 
requirement that we have an asset management system, and Anita Bush has 
been developing that system collaboratively with all the other affected 
divisions of the Department. 

 Reid is also over the Equipment Division and Traffic Operations Divisions 
at NDOT.  And those divisions have been doing some great work, and I 
know that Reid will do a great job in leading those divisions and courting 
with the rest of the leadership and the Director's Office.  So welcome, Reid 
Kaiser. 

 Next slide, please.  An update on Project NEON.  We did have our Interim 
Finance Committee briefing on October 22nd; had positive support from 
them, some good comments.  The--some questions that we had responded to 
had to do with the--we weren't reducing a number of maintenance positions 

2 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

if we had entered into a P3 agreement.  They felt that that was a good 
decision, and they just wanted to know in the future, what maintenance 
positions will NDOT require.  And I mentioned that we will be looking at 
that, because we've been adding a lot of new infrastructure.  We're going to 
be taking over USA Parkway.  We added the 580 Freeway.  Carson Freeway 
is going to be done in a couple of years. 

 So a lot of these things are going to result in the need for more maintenance 
crews.  We transferred some crews from construction to maintenance 
positions, as well as other federal program positions in the Department.  So 
we'll be taking that forward.  But with such a large number of positions at 
the Department, we'll try our best to not ask for new positions in the years to 
come, but try to move positions around where they're needed. 

 The three--we expect three to five shortlisted design-build teams.  Once we 
receive those qualifications later this month, November 20th, when they're 
due.  We'll do the review of those RFQ responses and then shortlist those 
teams based on the quality of those responses.  And then, we expect to issue 
a draft request for proposals in March of 2015, for Project NEON. 

 Next slide.  Update on Boulder City Bypass I-11.  I wanted to remind the 
Board that there are two phases; the green phase which NDOT is doing and 
the blue phase there, Phase 2, which RTC of Southern Nevada is going to be 
administering as a design-build contract.  Our green portion, Phase 1, is a 
design-bid-build traditional low-bid contract. 

 Next slide.  So here's where we're at on I-11 Boulder City Bypass.  We had 
the public meeting.  The public meeting was for the environmental 
reevaluation.  It covers both phases and we're awaiting the FHWA formal 
approval of that reevaluation.  No major changes expected from the results 
of the public meeting on any public comment received.  So we expect to 
receive that before we actually award our contract and before RTC approves 
their contract.  So the Phase 1 project of NDOT, was advertised on schedule.  
It's a 7-week advertisement, and we will bring it forward to you for approval 
in January--at the January Board meeting in 2015. 

 Next slide.  The RTC commenced the review of their design-build 
proposals.  A lot of information to take in by those reviewers, but NDOT 
representatives are part of the review team.  And then, the RTC expects to 

3 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

approve their design-build team, the selected team at December 11th RTC 
Board Meeting of Southern Nevada.  So everything is falling into place as 
far as the delivery of the Boulder City Bypass I-11 project. 

 Next slide.  An update on USA Parkway.  We did hold our meeting on 
November 5th.  It was well attended.  We did place our funds in escrow for 
purchase of right-of-way and the payment for a portion of the improvements 
that have been made to date.  That money--all the documents were signed so 
that money did exchange hands, so we're--everything that we wanted to do 
on a certain schedule was--had taken place as scheduled. 

 And we have to negotiate a maintenance agreement with Storey County.  
With looking into the winter maintenance needs on that road, we want to 
talk to Storey County about what they can do to help us out.  It was 
something that was not anticipated in our operating budget for this current 
biennium, but we think Storey County has been a great partner with the 
USA Parkway project.  We can work out a maintenance agreement 
relatively quickly and hopefully have them cover some things for 
maintenance for us until we're able to take over maintenance of the portion 
that is NDOT's. 

 The Board should expect, in December, having an amendment to the 
agreement with Jacobs.  Jacobs is the service provider that was doing the 
preliminary engineering and the environmental work for the USA Parkway 
design-build.  Since we're moving to design-build, which is a further 
Agenda item for your approval later today, we need to have them support us 
in this design-build procurement.  So there'll be--it'll be a substantial 
agreement that will be coming to you in December for your approval--
consideration at least. 

 Next slide.  This week is the Board of Examiners meeting, and we will have 
a couple of settlements going to them.  Smith Family Trust is related to 
Project NEON.  The total is nearly $1.5 million and we had previously 
deposited $900,000 for right of occupancy.  And then the additional money 
is what we feel is fair for the--what we determine would be the fair market 
value for the property and mitigating all the issues related to prejudgment 
interest litigation costs that could be avoided; and any relocation expenses 
will be resolved through this action that will be up to the Board of 
Examiners for their approval on Wednesday. 

4 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

 Wireless Toyz is another one related to Project NEON.  It's a smaller 
amount, and the issue there was related to alleged loss of goodwill.  Legal 
issues involved there that we felt that it was best to settle this issue for an 
amount of $50,000 and the exposure was estimated in excess of $300,000.  
So we think it's in the best interest of the state and the Department of 
Transportation to reach a settlement on this one. 

 I wanted to mention that there will be an event for the F-Street Project.  This 
was the project on I-15 at F Street--you can go to the next slide--that is 
scheduled for December 11th.  And this one was pretty much the lead of the 
City of Las Vegas.  It'll be December 11th at 10:00 a.m.  So any members in 
Southern Nevada that are interested, we can get them the specific 
information for this ribbon-cutting event.  But we allowed the city to kind of 
take the lead in setting it up and getting a lot of their elected officials present 
for this project.  They were a huge component of the partnership that 
delivered this project, in addition to legislative direction from the previous 
session of the legislature.  So this project is wrapping up and there'll be that 
event available for any Board members that are interested on December 11th.  
It's at Thursday at 10:00 a.m. 

 I also wanted to mention, Governor and Board members, that Item No. 7 on 
the Agenda, we're requesting that it be pulled.  Our legal staff have been 
working on a settlement and we're very close to reaching a settlement with 
the other party on this condemnation resolution.  So we're requesting that 
Item No. 7 be pulled from the Agenda.  And I'm available to answer any 
questions. 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  Member Skancke. 

Skancke: Thank you, Governor.  Rudy, would it be possible for those of us in 
Southern Nevada to participate in both of those--the public meetings on  
the--well, unfortunately I can't read my handwriting of what my note was, 
so--could we start this meeting over, Governor?  That would be a really 
good thing for me.  I literally cannot read my handwriting. 

Wallin: I can't either. 

Skancke: So I wanted to go the F Street opening. 

Malfabon: Mm-hmm. 
5 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Skancke: And at the beginning of your presentation there was a--the briefings in Clark 
County for--I believe it was for Project NEON; was that correct? 

Malfabon: Well, we had the public meetings for those projects.  The other event that's 
coming up is the briefing--the precession briefing to the legislators on 
transportation and to address three areas that they had requested additional 
information. 

Skancke: If we could attend those, as well, that would be--if that's a thing for us that 
we could do that would be really helpful, I think. 

Malfabon: That would be great.  We will send you the information on the specifics for 
the precession briefing and the F Street meeting.  Member Skancke and 
other Board members that might be interested, there are also in your packet 
in the Old Business, it gives some dates from some public workshops for the 
road relinquishment process.  So those will be in Las Vegas, Tuesday, 
November 18th.  Elko is November 13th, and Carson City is November 19th.  
So those Board members that would be interested in attending those or 
finding out what's happening on the road relinquishment process, those are 
the dates for those meetings. 

Skancke: And then the only other item, Governor, if I could, is just make you all 
aware if you haven't seen it, this can be a somewhat contentious issue, but 
you're probably aware of this.  Oregon has gone to a complete VMT-type 
not beyond study, but also implementing--it's the first state in the country to 
implement the VMT conversation, as well as collection of those revenues.  
And I think it'd be really important, specifically for those of us in the west, 
since I don't think there'll be any action from Congress in the next several 
years on anything for additional funding, that we should really watch that 
closely.  I'm not saying we have to do anything, and I'm sure you already 
are, but the expected result of that is to be very, very positive.  And they're 
leading the way on this, as most of us know, in the country. 

 And I think we should keep a very close eye on what happens there, 
specifically as you take a look at what's happening in the South Coast Air 
Quality Management District in Southern California, where one in seven 
new cars must be electric by 2017.  That's going to affect Southern Nevada's 
economy.  By 2025, South Coast Air Quality Management District is going 
to have one in five cars--new cars must be electric.  And so we've got to take 

6 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

a look at how we're going to balance that out.  I don't know what the number 
is in California, but that's a lot of cars.  And if other counties in air quality 
districts in California start to adopt that, that's going to affect our economy 
and our fuel tax revenues here in the state of Nevada. 

 And I think the other thing we have to take a look at is charging stations, 
whether that's a private sector area or a public sector area.  But if one in five 
cars by 2025 have to be electric, that's a lot of cars and we won't have the 
charging stations available for those 40 million people a year that come to 
Southern Nevada.  And I think we should be proactive as opposed to 
reactive on that.  And I think from an economic development point of view, 
I think the RDAs, Governor, as well, need to be a part of this conversation.  
So it's coming.  Electrification of vehicles is coming.  Obviously, they're in 
this state because of Tesla, so that type of automobile is coming to our 
region, and I think we need to be proactive as opposed to reactive to see 
what's happening in the state or Oregon. 

 So I know we're all going to watch what the outcome of that will be, and if 
it's successful or unsuccessful.  But I think now is the time for us to be very 
diligent to make sure that we're actively pursuing involve--not pursuing, but 
that we're actively watching the outcome of what happens in Oregon.  
Thank you. 

Malfabon: And just to mention that we did receive an invitation from the Oregon DOT 
Secretary of Transportation.  During the AASHTO visit next week in 
Charleston, North Carolina, we will get briefed on what Oregon is doing and 
how it's being implemented in Oregon.  So what their goal is to give as 
much information to all the state DOTs so that they can see what's coming 
down the road.  And I understand that in California, Cal Trans has to do a 
study and report back to their state legislature in two years on the same 
issue. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  To expand on Member Skancke's conversation, it's 
my understanding that Oregon is opening the dialogue about VMT through 
basically an experiment this time, and they're asking for, I think, 5,000 
volunteers to volunteer to be tracked by the VMT system.  And the 
Governor said and like the Director has said, it's something that's going to be 

7 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

well worth watching to see how it works; if it works.  And so I know we 
will be watching it and I look forward to seeing how it works in Oregon. 

Sandoval: Thank you, Tom. 

Wallin: I just… 

Sandoval: Madam Controller. 

Wallin: Thank you, Governor.  I just came--thought of something.  I know we had a 
presentation on our rest areas and stuff and we're talking about putting in 
charging stations.  Do we charge people to charge their cars? 

Malfabon: We don't have any installed yet, but we were anticipating at the rest areas to 
make it more convenient and not charge at those stations.  But I think it's a 
larger issue, as Member Skancke mentioned, that as more and more cars are 
demanding charging stations, needing that to travel around the state, we'd be 
having to look to how could we recoup some of that cost of providing that 
service. 

Wallin: Do we have that in the statute if we wanted to charge or would we have to 
pass a law to do that? 

Malfabon: Good question.  We'd have to look into that… 

Wallin: Okay. 

Malfabon: …Madam Controller. 

Wallin: Okay.  All right.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Any other questions or comments?  Then we'll move on to Agenda Item No. 
2, Public Comment.  We'll start in Las Vegas.  Are there any members of the 
public in Las Vegas that would like to provide public comment to the 
Board? 

Martini: None here, Governor. 

Sandoval: Is there any member of the public here in Carson City that would like to 
provide public comment to the Board?  We'll move on to Agenda Item No. 
3, which are the October 13, 2014 Board of Directors Meeting Minutes.  

8 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Have the members had an opportunity to review the minutes and are there 
any changes?  If there are none, the Chair will accept a motion for approval. 

Wallin: Move to approve. 

Sandoval: Controller has moved to approve.  Is there a second? 

Savage: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by Member Savage.  Any questions or discussion on the motion?  
All in favor say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: The motion passes five to zero.  We will move on to Agenda Item No. 4, 
Approval of Contracts Over $5 Million. 

Nellis: Thank you, Governor. 

Malfabon: Governor, Robert Nellis, Assistant Director of Administration. 

Nellis: Thank you, Director, Governor, members of the Board.  Good morning.  
Let's see.  There's one resurfacing contract under Attachment A found on 
Page 3 of 10 for the Board's consideration.  The project is located on U.S. 95 
from the road to Mercury toward Indian Springs.  There were four bids and 
the Director recommends award to Las Vegas Paving Corporation in the 
amount of $22,120,000.  And as you can see, the length of the project is 
18.3 miles.  The estimated proceed date is January 5, 2015, and completion 
is summer 2015.  And here's a larger map, make it a little easier to read.  
And, Governor, that concludes the contracts for consideration under Agenda 
Item No. 4.  Does the Board have any questions for the Department 
regarding this item? 

Sandoval: There's a bit of an overage there.  Is there any--between the engineer's 
estimate and the final bid. 

Nellis: I'll let the Assistant Director, John Terry, answer that. 

Sandoval: I shouldn't say a bid, $2 million. 

Terry: Assistant Director for Engineering, John Terry.  Yes, and that is outside the 
range of our 7% where we could reject the bids.  We chose not to.  We 

9 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

looked at the bids.  The first and second were pretty close together.  We 
have been pushing our engineers to match some of the bids that have been 
coming in lately and push them down a little bit.  So this one came in over, 
but we recommend award. 

Sandoval: Member Skancke. 

Skancke: Thank you, Governor.  Just, John, real quickly, when was that engineer's 
estimate completed?  Do you know?  Has it been a couple of years? 

Terry: Oh no. 

Skancke: Recently? 

Terry: We finalize and check the engineer's estimate right in the last week or two 
before it goes out to bid.  So… 

Skancke: So these were done within (inaudible)? 

Terry: Basically, we finalize our engineer's estimate in the range of--depends on 
how long the advertise period is--six weeks before the bid comes in. 

Skancke: Okay.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Probably, Mr. Terry, you might want to answer this, too.  My question was 
will this project be confined to the existing roadway or will it--there need to 
be some surfaces changes to widen or anything?  It seems like that part of 
the road has always been kind of narrow. 

Terry: No.  This is a, by the description, is one of our repaving projects and it is not 
a widening project.  It is a resurfacing and not much work is done outside of 
the pavement area. 

Fransway: Okay.  Thank you, John. 

Sandoval: Are there any other questions?  If there are none, the Chair will accept a 
motion for approval of the contract described in Agenda Item No. 4. 

Skancke: So moved, Governor. 

Fransway: Second. 
10 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Sandoval: Member Skancke has moved for approval.  Member Fransway has seconded 
the motion.  Any questions or discussion?  All in favor say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: The motion passes five-zero.  We'll move on to Agenda Item No. 5, 
Approval of Agreements over $300,000. 

Terry: Thank you, Governor.  There are two agreements under Attachment A found 
on Page 3 of 12 for the Board's consideration.  The first is in the amount of 
$600,000.  This is to provide legal support services to mitigate risks 
associated with Project NEON, real property acquisitions.  We'd like to note 
that this agreement supersedes Agreement No. 27014 in the amount of 
$350,000 with Laura Fitzsimmons, previously approved at the July 2014 
Transportation Board meeting.  That agreement was not fully executed and 
no monies have been charged against it. 

 And then the second agreement is in the amount of $665,000 to provide 
safety management plans for roadway corridors identified from our Urban 
Road Program.  And, Governor, that concludes the agreements for 
consideration under Agenda Item No. 5.  Does the Board have any questions 
for the Department? 

Sandoval: Yes, and perhaps I should direct it at Mr. Gallagher.  But the explanation for 
the increase in Contract No. 1. 

Gallagher: Good morning, Board members.  Dennis Gallagher, Counsel for the Board.  
The original agreement, Governor, that is noted in here that the Board 
approved was for a one-year period.  We've refined the scope of services 
and expanded it for a two-year period, thus the new agreement coming 
before the Board for its consideration. 

Sandoval: And this is for experts, correct? 

Gallagher: This is for experts and overall legal strategy for the entire Project NEON, 
yes. 

Sandoval: Questions from other Board members?  Member Skancke. 

Skancke: Thank you, Governor.  On the second contract for the safety management 
plans, are these on-call--is this an on-call agreement?  Is this… 

11 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Malfabon: I could answer that… 

Skancke: Okay. 

Malfabon: …Member Skancke.  There were three firms, I believe, that were shortlisted 
and I think that last month you saw two of those contracts, so this is the third 
contract, and it basically is an on-call type of contract. 

Skancke: I'm sorry.  So these types of contracts, they're prequalified?  They kind of 
pre-bid for this type of work and they're prequalified? 

Malfabon: Yes. 

Skancke: Okay.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: Any other questions?  Mr. Nellis, does that complete your presentation? 

Nellis: Yes.  On this item, yes, it does.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: If there are no further questions, the Chair will accept a motion to approve 
the agreements over $300,000 as described in Agenda Item No. 5. 

Wallin: Move to approve. 

Sandoval: The Controller has moved to approve.  Is there a second? 

Savage: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by Member Savage.  Any questions or discussion?  All in favor say 
aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: The motion passes five-zero.  We will move to Agenda Item No. 6, 
Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements.  Mr. Nellis. 

Nellis: Thank you, Governor.  There are three attachments under Agenda Item No. 
6 for the Board's information.  And beginning with Attachment A found on 
Page 4 of 31, there is one project located at multiple intersections in the city 
of North Las Vegas, for signal system modification, systemic replacement 
of five-section protected flash permissive heads to four-section protected 
permissive heads utilizing flashing yellow arrow.  There were three bids, 

12 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

two were responsive, one was non-responsive.  And does the Board have 
any questions for the Department regarding this contract?  Okay. 

 And, Governor, there's 42 executed agreements under Attachment B found 
on Pages 7 through 10 of 31 for the Board's information.  Items 1 through 4 
are acquisitions and cooperative agreements.  Items 5 through 20 are grants 
and interlocal agreements.  And finally, Item 21 is a lease, and Items 22 
through 42 are service provider agreements.  Does the Board have any 
questions for the Department on any of these agreements? 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  Madam Controller. 

Wallin: Thank you.  Item No. 31 for Jacobs Engineering for their travel demand 
model training, and it's just an extension, but can you tell me a little bit 
about that, because I know that they have three contracts to do travel 
demand model training for Clark, Washoe, and Carson?  And it's for three 
people for each area.  And just--can you tell me what's involved, how long 
does it take? 

Nellis: I'll have Assistant Director, Sondra Rosenberg, answer that.  Thank you. 

Rosenberg: Good morning.  Sondra Rosenberg, Assistant Director of Planning.  I don't 
have all the details of that agreement, but we have the responsibility to 
oversee the travel demand models from the MPOs, and we've been trying to 
get our staff trained in that.  So we work together with the MPOs who do 
joint training between NDOT staff and their staff to make sure we're all 
using the model in the same way. 

Wallin: And how long does this training run for, I guess? 

Rosenberg: I don't have an answer for that.  I can get back to you on that, if you'd like, 
but I don't want to take a guess. 

Wallin: Okay.  I was just curious, because in this one it didn't say for how many 
people and then in the CWG information it says for three people for each 
one.  So it's 25,000-26,000, some 30,000.  I was just wondering what's 
involved. 

Rosenberg: Yeah, travel demand models are a very, you know, particular expertise.  
And so, you really have to get training in the particular models and it's a 

13 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

software, and so it's a pretty intensive training.  But I'd be happy to get back 
with you on some of the details of that information. 

Wallin: Yeah.  And is this something that, as time goes on, that maybe NDOT can 
create their own in-house knowledge base and training to share? 

Rosenberg: That's the goal of this training, actually… 

Wallin: Okay. 

Rosenberg: …is to get our staff trained so that we can work directly with the MPOs, and 
we're developing that information--that knowledge in house.  So that's what 
this training is for; so that in the future we have that expertise. 

Wallin: Okay.  All right.  Thank you. 

Rosenberg: Mm-hmm. 

Sandoval: Any other questions on the agreements?  Then we'll move on to settlements. 

Nellis: Governor and members of the Board, there are three settlements under 
Attachment C found on Page 12 of 31 for the Board's information.  The first 
is in the amount of $83,500 for a permanent highway easement for Boulder 
City Bypass project.  NDOT previously deposited $260,000 with the court 
and the total settlement is $343,500.  The second is in the amount of 
$716,600 to acquire .68 acre unimproved parcel located at the corner of 
Martin Luther King Boulevard and Alta Drive in Las Vegas for Project 
NEON. 

 And finally, the third is a settlement with Traveler Casualty and Surety in 
the amount of $1,647,913.50.  This proposed settlement resolves separate 
litigation on Contracts No. 3377 and 3407, and a payment claim on Contract 
3392.  And, Governor, that concludes the informational items under Agenda 
Item No. 6.  Does the Board have any questions on these? 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  Perhaps--and this is a little bit out of 
order, but given all this property acquisition with regard to Project NEON, 
at the next meeting can we get kind of a step back macro picture of… 

Malfabon: Yes. 

Sandoval: …what's going on and where we are in that process? 
14 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Malfabon: We will. 

Sandoval: Okay.  Seeing no questions, thank you, Mr. Nellis. 

Nellis: Thank you, Governor.  Item 7 has been pulled from the Agenda.  We'll 
move to Agenda Item No. 8, the Resolution of Relinquishment. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor and Board members.  This is for disposal of NDOT 
right-of-way along portions of I-15 north of Sunset Road and south of 
Tropicana Avenue.  This property was necessary for construction of the I-15 
South design-build project there by the airport.  Once that project was done, 
we go through our process of whether we need to hang on to some of that 
property.  We are electing to recommend disposal of this property.  And the 
relinquishment of NDOT's interest in the parcels is being made in 
accordance with NRS 408.527.  This property will go to Clark County. 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  If there are none, the Chair will accept a 
motion to approve the resolution of relinquishment of a portion of state 
highway right-of-way as described in Attachment 2 in Agenda Item No. 8. 

Skancke: So moved. 

Sandoval: Member Skancke has moved for approval.  Is there a second? 

Wallin: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by Madam Controller.  Any questions or discussion?  All in favor 
say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: The motion passes five-zero.  We'll move on to Agenda Item No. 9, 
Approval of Using Design-Build Procurement Method for USA Parkway 
Project. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  As you recall previously, last month we had 
mentioned that we were going to be coming back formally for Board action 
on the use of the design-build procurement process for USA Parkway, and 
Assistant Director for Engineering, John Terry, will present this item to the 
Board. 

15 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Terry: Once again, John Terry, Assistant Director for Engineering.  And I'll keep 
this brief, because essentially kind of approved us to move forward with this 
last time and this is kind of the formal action item, so this is USA Parkway.  
You can move to the next one. 

 Just to refresh your memory.  So USA Parkway has the previously 
constructed portion, the previously graded portion within Storey County, 
and the area within Lyon County that--or that would tie them to U.S. 50, the 
draft environmental assessment, we had the public meeting and we expect a 
finding of no significant impact in January 2014.  And the project that we're 
talking about is estimated to cost $65 to $70 million including the portion on 
U.S. 50. 

 Next.  Per NRS, in order for us to use design-build, we have to meet certain 
criteria.  We feel we are meeting them here.  It exceeds $10 million.  And as 
in most of our design-builds, we have gone for that is a shorter time period 
to deliver using the design-build method.  But I will say design-build fits 
this project, and you could fall under some of the other criteria. 

 Next.  So this is where we're at.  This is the process from our Pioneer 
Program.  We've gotten to this point and we need Board approval to move 
forward with the design-build procurement.  Next.  And so really, we're just 
asking for your approval to utilize design-build on SR 439 USA Parkway, 
Storey, County.  And I would point out we're talking about an RFP--or RFQ 
to go out about the first of the year and follow a design-build process, kind 
of similar to what you've seen on Project NEON. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  Have we--and I've know we've considered this in the last 
meeting, but we do need to formalize action.  But has there been any further 
progress with regard to where the road is going to exit at Highway 50? 

Terry: In the environmental document, it had a preferred alternative and it came in 
along Opal Avenue.  And we did have the public meeting.  We did have 
some comments from people on--I believe it's Opal Avenue. 

Malfabon: Mm-hmm. 

Terry: It's a dirt road, I think, currently in the Silver Springs area.  That was the 
preferred alignment.  That is what we're moving ahead with.  It is 
three-quarters of a mile from the Ramsey Weeks Cutoff… 

16 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Sandoval: Okay. 

Terry: …east of there. 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  I'll go with Member Fransway, then 
Member Savage. 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  Mr. Terry, and perhaps Mr. Gallagher can answer.  
Have we got a schedule yet to further negotiations with the private property 
owners to acquire the permanent easements necessary or will that happen 
soon after we make this action? 

Gallagher: For the record, Dennis Gallagher, Counsel for the Board.  We don't have a 
firm schedule yet, but we have committed internally the Department and the 
developer of the project to commence meetings as quickly as we can, and to 
identify the, with a legal description, the right-of-way through those lands in 
Lyon County. 

Malfabon: And if I could add some more to that.  Typically, in a design-build process, 
we will establish some dates when we will acquire the private property, 
similar to what we're doing on Project NEON.  So we provide the 
design-build team, “here's the expected dates that these private property 
parcels will be available for construction.”  We anticipate that there's--much 
of the other land that's going to be available for construction, so it gives us 
some breathing room on acquiring the right-of-way, but we have to have a 
right-of-way setting after enough design is done before we--after the 
right-of-way setting then we contact the owners.  But they pretty much 
know where the preferred alignment is on Opal Avenue, and we'll start the 
process when it's appropriate time after the right-of-way setting. 

Terry: If I could add to that.  There's really three pieces to the right-of-way in Lyon 
County.  We have the part that you referred to, where there's an easement 
through the developed area.  There is a portion that is BLM land, which we 
have to get, then, an easement from BLM.  And then there is some smaller 
portions down by U.S. 50 that are private properties that we'll kind of follow 
our normal right-of-way process for the acquisition. 

Fransway: Okay.  And will the acquisition from the BLM property, will that involve an 
EA or EIS? 

17 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Terry: They were partners in this environmental process.  We are now done with 
the environmental process… 

Fransway: Oh, good. 

Terry: …and we'll move forward. 

Fransway: Okay.  Great.  Thanks, John. 

Sandoval: Member Savage. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor.  A couple questions and a comment, Mr. Terry and 
Mr. Director.  I am in full support of the design-build delivery.  I think the 
Department has done a good job in preparing that.  One of the questions I 
have is on the stipend.  The $100,000 stipend for the unsuccessful 
proposers; is there a--do all contractors get paid the stipend or does the 
Department reserve the right if they don't fulfill the proposals' completeness 
they don't receive the stipend? 

Terry: They must be shortlisted.  Of course, they have to be not the successful 
proposer. 

Savage: Right. 

Terry: We don't pay them. 

Savage: Right. 

Terry: And they have to--when they submit a proposal, it has to meet the pass/fail 
that is a qualifying proposal.  So if it is a qualifying proposal, they get the 
stipend.  And as a part of the stipend agreement, we get whatever ideas and 
engineering that were contained in their proposal for use on other ones.  So 
it must be qualifying and they must sign the agreement and then we own 
their ideas that were part of the engineering. 

Savage: Okay.  That was my understanding and I appreciate you confirming that.  
Thank you, Mr. Terry.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: And perhaps you mentioned it, but one of the benefits or advantages of 
using the design-build is that the project will get built 8 to 12 months sooner 
than otherwise? 

18 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Terry: Yes, that's correct.  Versus the design-build and that's--design-bid-build and 
that's why we mentioned at the last meeting and at this meeting, are saying 
under the NRS requirements one of those is shorter time frame, and that's 
the one we're going for as the justification for design-build. 

Sandoval: And assuming, and I don't want to jinx anything, but assuming everything 
goes well and it receives approval of this Board, when would you anticipate 
the project being completed? 

Terry: Again, we are shooting for--there's a lot work to do--by December of 2017. 

Sandoval: Other questions from Board members?  No?  If there are no questions, the 
Chair will accept a motion for approval for the Department to begin the 
solicitation of a design-build project for State Route 439 otherwise known as 
USA Parkway, from Interstate 80 in Storey County to U.S. 50 in Lyon 
County. 

Savage: Move to approve, Governor. 

Sandoval: Member Savage has moved to approve.  Is there a second? 

Skancke: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by Member Skancke.  Any questions or discussion on the motion?  
All in favor say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: Opposed no?  The motion passes five-zero.  Thank you.  Agenda Item No. 
10, Discussion and Possible Approval of the Annual Work Program for 
Fiscal Year 2015, Short and Long Range Element FY 2016 to 2024, and 
Possible Acceptance of the STIP FY 2015 to 2018.  Ms. Rosenberg. 

Rosenberg: Thank you.  Again, Sondra Rosenberg, Assistant Director of Planning.  I 
don't have a presentation for you today.  The document is available on our 
website.  And those of you who have asked for a hard copy, we've provided 
that to you.  This is an annual document that is produced, that includes our 
federal requirements for the State Transportation Improvement Program, as 
well as the work program requirements that are state requirements.  So this 
document meets all of those requirements and includes a list of projects 
between the years of 2015 and 2024. 

19 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

 We completed a 30-day comment period during the month of October.  We 
have been working with Federal Highway Administration to improve our 
process and work towards an electronic STIP.  This is sort of the first step 
towards that, which is part of the reason we want everyone to get used to 
going to our website to look at the document.  It will become much easier 
once we have the full electronic STIP.  It's called the eSTIP, but will include 
this entire document in the future. 

 And I want to thank the staff, Coy Peacock and Joe Spencer.  Joseph is here 
to help me answer any questions.  And I will leave it at that and answer any 
questions if you have any. 

Sandoval: Will you lay a little bit more of a foundation for what's in the document and 
what we're looking at… 

Rosenberg: Sure. 

Sandoval: …for the next 10 years? 

Rosenberg: So it includes the STIP, the Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Program.  That's the federal requirement.  That's a four-year list--
fiscally-constrained list of projects that includes everything that's federally 
funded or regionally significant.  That incorporates our RTIPs, the Regional 
Transportation Improvement Programs, from the four MPOs.  Those are 
included exactly as they are in their documents.  It also includes the 
statewide projects, again, that are federally funded or regionally significant.  
That's the federal portion, the STIP.  And then there's the state portion which 
includes all of our state funded projects throughout the state, and those are 
separated by county.  So there's separators in either the physical document 
or the online document to access all the projects in each county. 

Sandoval: Okay.  And we understand that, but if I… 

Rosenberg: Oh. 

Sandoval: …if I live in Clark County… 

Rosenberg: Yes. 

Sandoval: …or Humboldt County or Washoe County, what does that mean to me in 
terms of what projects are in the queue? 

20 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Rosenberg: Right.  So you can--it sort of depends on what--it's a complicated document 
because it includes all the different funding sources.  And Joseph has it 
loaded up here.  I don't know if there's a particular document you'd like to 
search for, but they are separated by county.  So you can go to county and--
go to the county and look at all the different projects.  Each project  
includes--part of the reason it's gotten so lengthy is for the STIP portion, 
each project has its own page now, but it outlines all the funding sources, all 
the phases over the four-year period that's included in the STIP. 

 The work program portion has more of a list of all the projects.  Sometimes 
it's a little easier to find the projects in that.  But you can go to the electronic 
document and actually search--use the search function to search for a 
particular project or a particular county and just go through each one. 

Sandoval: Well, no.  And, again, I… 

Rosenberg: Okay. 

Sandoval: …understand that part, but I just--I'm trying to get some specificity… 

Rosenberg: Okay. 

Sandoval: …today.  It's just not likely that a lot of people are going to go… 

Rosenberg: Correct. 

Sandoval: …to the website, and I know the engineers and the folks that are involved in 
this on a day-to-day basis.  But, again, I'm kind of looking for the vision 
piece of this in terms of what are the big projects that are coming online… 

Rosenberg: Okay. 

Sandoval: …so that if I'm a commuter or if I'm somebody who uses these roads on a 
daily basis, what does… 

Rosenberg: Right. 

Sandoval: …that mean to me? 

Rosenberg: Right. 

Malfabon: So, Sondra, if you could… 

21 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Rosenberg: Yeah. 

Malfabon: …have Joseph kind of go--he's on Clark County, so let's look at the 
four-year STIP and the major projects that are in that portion for Clark 
County.  That would, kind of, highlight the major projects that the public, in 
general, would be interested in, in Clark County as an example. 

 And just to mention, as Sondra had mentioned, we work with the 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations, which some refer to as RTCs, but 
they collect all this information locally, regionally, and NDOT feeds our 
projects of regional significance and federally funded projects into their 
plan, it rolls up into the state plan, which is before you today.  So, Joseph, 
go ahead and try to get to the… 

Spencer: What you see before you is each of the STIP section is broken up by MPO 
first and then statewide section.  In each of the MPO sections, we have it by 
project.  So what you're used to before is by fund source and then you've had 
multiple projects on multiple fund source pages. 

Sandoval: Why don't you (inaudible) here, because I don't know if they can hear you. 

Rosenberg: Yeah, they need to get that for the recording. 

Spencer: For the record, Joseph Spencer.  What you see here is, again, every single 
project in the STIP now has its own individual page, to whereas before you 
had multiple--or the same project on multiple pages for fund sources.  Now 
what we have done is we've put it all on one page so that you see that every 
single fund source on every single year, for this particular project, is on one 
page.  And that is how you go through this project--or this document and 
you find the various projects. 

 As Sondra had mentioned, we are moving towards an eSTIP.  And to be 
brutally honest right now, it is a very difficult document to find as Joe Q. 
Public going “I'm driving I-15 from here to here; what's coming.”  It's very 
difficult to find that right now.  Moving into the eSTIP… 

Sandoval: Hence my question. 

Spencer: Moving into the eSTIP, more along the lines of Indiana and Washington, if 
you were to be Joe Q. Public, you could go to our website and you say I 
drive I-15.  I drive from milepost three to seven every single day, and it will 

22 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

show you over the 4 years or the 20 years, as we have for the longer-range 
elements, whether or not we will actually be doing anything on that 
roadwork.  Right now, no. 

Malfabon: And, Joe, could you… 

Sandoval: And that's why we need you to answer the question today.  So I'm interested 
in the projects.  I'm interested because there's been a topic of discussion, 
historically, on the proportionality, in terms of funding between Northern 
Nevada, Rural Nevada, and Southern Nevada. 

Spencer: Absolutely. 

Sandoval: How does that all play out? 

Spencer: Absolutely. 

Sandoval: Mm-hmm. 

Spencer: When you look at the projects that we have in here, you will see some of the 
major projects such as NEON.  You will see three separate pages for Project 
NEON for a multitude of reasons.  The main reason is, is we've got 
construction that went out and is going out as NDOT bonding, which is then 
going to be repaid.  Per guidelines from Federal Highways, we have to show 
how we're repaying those bonds.  So you're going to see Project NEON 
broken out in three separate projects.  You will also see USA Parkway, 
which is going to be in the non-MPO statewide section.  And then you are 
going to see our various 3R projects in the work program section.  It is a 
difficult document to go through and find any of this information. 

Malfabon: Just to be responsive to the question of which projects, and then their term, 
the four-year period.  We're looking at the 215 and 95 Interchange project.  
State Route 160, which is Blue Diamond Road, the widening, the first phase 
of that going up towards Mountain Springs Summit, there's some other 
projects that--John, I don't know if you could kind of respond to some of the 
other major projects in Clark County specifically, that are going to be 
contained in that four-year period. 

Terry: John Terry, again, Assistant Director for Engineering.  One of the 
challenges, you know, of the Board, and what we've told the Board, is that 
we're still delivering a significant program while we're doing NEON 

23 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

because we're bonding NEON.  And in Southern Nevada in particular, Rudy 
talked on a few of them.  We will do two of the ramps on the U.S. 95/215 
Interchange this year.  In Southern Nevada, we will do a widening project 
on I-15 North. 

 Next year, we have--we are working on projects on 515, which will be a 
little bit farther out in the work program.  We have--are looking at the 
interchange of I-15 and 215, the northern one in the farther out portions of 
the program.  As the Director indicated, we are doing SR 160.  The first 
phase, this next phase through the mountains, would be farther out in the 
work program.  We are studying doing Tropicana Interchange at I-15.  But, 
again, that will be farther out in some of the later years.  So every year we 
are delivering capacity projects in Southern Nevada.  At the same time, we 
have a significant 3R program.  Now, many of those projects are in the north 
and on I-80, and we had previously presented on kind of our 3R program, 
and which ones we're proceeding with on those. 

 In addition, to that, we have our safety program that goes throughout the 
state.  Those projects are pretty well evenly divided through the state.  In 
fact, many of them are in the rural areas.  In the Northern Nevada, we are 
finishing the Carson Bypass and that project will advertise, I believe, in 
February.  There are not too many other capacity projects in Northern 
Nevada in the next few years… 

Sandoval: Yeah. 

Terry: …other than USA Parkway.  I don't know if I summarized or not for you. 

Sandoval: Well, no.  And this isn't a check-your-memory question. 

Terry: Yeah, I know. 

Sandoval: What is the jeopardy if we put this off until next meeting?  Because what I'd 
like to see is a synopsis of what's going on.  I mean, this is a huge document 
that I know took a lot of time.  But to have, you know, a synthesis of what 
you just talked about and how much money is involved would be very 
helpful to my deliberation in terms of approving this.  And I mean, again, I 
can look at all of that, but I really need a little bit more help.  I don't want to 
speak for the other Board members, but I'd like to see just an executive 
summary of what that is. 

24 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Wallin: Governor, can I… 

Sandoval: Yes, Madam Controller.  Excuse me. 

Wallin: Thank you, Governor.  One comment I'd like to make--because I look at this 
and it is, it's very difficult.  It's very non-transparent, okay.  And when we've 
gone out on the county tours, it's been actually more transparent.  So if we 
could have some summaries like that where, you know, okay, here's the 
county and here's a list of all the projects and, you know, the estimated dates 
we're going to do them and how much we're going to spend, I think that 
would give me more comfort, you know, because this here, it's great, a lot of 
detail.  But I'm an accountant.  I like to see totals and stuff, and I can't see a 
total here.  And it's really tiny, fine print to go through and try to add it up. 

Spencer: Right. 

Wallin: So I agree with you, Governor.  We should have some type of summary that, 
okay, Clark County, here's the projects, here's the total amount we're 
looking at spending.  And you can project it out, '15, '16, whatever, and 
same for all the different counties.  I think that I would appreciate that.   

Sandoval: Member Savage. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor.  And along the same lines as the Governor and the 
Controller, I would like to see the districts broken down with summary 
sheets totalizing annual fiscal amounts.  For example, District, you know, 
District 2 Washoe County, 2015, X amount.  2016, X amount.  Then you've 
got the short-range and you have the long-range, just a very short snapshot 
of the allocation, because the information is here.  I mean, all the answers to 
the test is here.  We know it's here.  And it's a very involved packet.  And I 
know the information is there, but it's just a matter of simplifying it and 
quickly reviewing some of the dollars.  And also, historically, you might 
look back at the last couple STIPs that we've had to do a comparison with 
some of those allowances, so that we can compare.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: And is the--my other question, we're okay if this gets approved in 
December.  Did you put it November for some cushion or are we all right? 

Malfabon: We're okay if we--one month postponement is not going to make a big delay 
to us. 

25 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Sandoval: Member Skancke. 

Skancke: I don't have any trouble with this.  I think--no, I'm just kidding.  First of all, 
Sondra, congratulations on your promotion. 

Rosenberg: Thank you. 

Skancke: Well-done, for taking over this effort.  I happen to agree with my 
colleagues.  I think if we could have kind of an executive summary, as the 
Governor said, or a cliff notes version of kind of broken down and make it 
easy for anyone to access this.  This is great information for us to have, and 
I think when you go to the eSTIP it'll be easier in that sense.  But I think, in 
order for us to kind of take a look, I think it's really important, as the 
Governor said, for the Board to have an idea of kind of what's happening in 
each district, so that we don't have to have the conversation over and over 
and over again about Reno's getting more than Las Vegas, and Elko--I mean 
we have to kind of stop those conversations.  And I think the way we do that 
is by having more information so we can… 

Rosenberg: Okay. 

Skancke: …move forward.  So that'd be great.  Thank you. 

Rosenberg: We can certainly do that.  And just for your reference, you know, that's one 
of the reasons we're moving towards that eSTIP.  It makes it a lot easier to 
produce lots of different types of reports with different information.  Right 
now, it's a giant access database, so it's a little cumbersome to get that 
information.  We're happy to do it for you.  But as we move towards that 
eSTIP, so hopefully in less than a year, we'll have that for you and we can 
produce various different types of reports based on whatever the query is 
that you all have. 

Malfabon: And I believe we have shortlisted the teams for the eSTIP… 

Rosenberg: Correct. 

Malfabon: …consultant interviews.  So it's… 

Rosenberg: Yes. 

Malfabon: …getting closer to reaching a contract with a firm… 

26 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Rosenberg: Yes. 

Malfabon: …to do that work. 

Sandoval: Mr. Gallagher, do I need to take action to postpone this item until next 
month? 

Gallagher: Governor, as the Agenda reads "For possible action," it is certainly the 
prerogative of the Board simply to postpone it for a month with that 
direction to staff.  A motion is not necessary. 

Sandoval: All right.  So do you have any questions on what we're seeking, 
Ms. Rosenberg, in terms of information? 

Rosenberg: I don't believe so.  I can follow up with the individual members if we do 
have any questions.  One other comment I will make is that, you know, this 
format is somewhat dictated by the federal regulations.  We can provide that 
summary in addition to this as a separate item in a future meeting, and still 
approve this document, or we can delay the entire approval.  Either way is--
we're willing to work with you. 

Malfabon: In December. 

Sandoval: Yeah.  And the point, no one's critical of this document. 

Rosenberg: Right. 

Sandoval: I mean it's very important and it lays everything out.  But as I said, for 
somebody who resides in any part of the state, including the Board, it's just 
important to have a place where we can go and have all that information in a 
few sheets instead of, you know, trying to have to distill it from that. 

Rosenberg: And that is also something we've been working on with our MPO partners to 
develop a unified plan where it's much simpler to access that sort of 
summary-type information. 

Sandoval: Yeah. 

Rosenberg: So it is in line with what we are working on. 

Sandoval: And as Member Skancke alluded to that, I mean we've had discussions on 
this Board with regard to proportionality and where the funding is going.  

27 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

And there's always a reason why the money goes where it is.  And this 
document is a product of submissions from the respective transportation 
organizations.  But I want to be able to answer the question, wherever I am 
in the state, why is this much being spent here and here and here and, you 
know, what are we doing.  And if I'm traveling this road, is there a plan to 
improve that later on.  These are just some basic questions that we should 
have available to all the public. 

Rosenberg: Absolutely. 

Sandoval: Mm-hmm.  So with that then, if there are no questions on what we're 
looking for then we will postpone Agenda Item No. 10 until our next 
meeting of December 2014.  We'll move on to Agenda Item No. 11, Update 
on the DBE Program. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Deputy Director for Southern Nevada, Tracy 
Larkin-Thomason, will present this item to the Board. 

Thomason: Good morning.  For the record, Tracy Larkin-Thomason, Deputy Director, 
because I know you always like hearing it twice.  So this is actually a fairly 
short and simple meeting--I mean presentation.  External Civil Rights, we 
have four main components in it; contract compliance.  And that's of the 
Nevada specifications, as related to external equal employment opportunity.  
This includes the tracking of the female and minority participation, tracking 
of the apprentice and trainee hours' participation, subcontractor performance 
such as the request to sublet non-payment of subissues, the DBE goal 
attainment labor compliance tracking.  And we work closely with the Labor 
Commissioner's Office also on that for wage issues. 

 For ADA, the American Disabilities Act, that's any complaints and 
compliance of projects using federal funds in providing ADA 
improvements, as well as comprehensive agency planning in our transition 
plan and basically planning with our project including that element.  Title 
VI, internal and external review of complaints relating to non-discrimination 
for race, color, and national origin, also covers environmental justice and 
limited English proficiency.  And then lastly, the Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise and the Small Business Enterprise.  It takes care of the 
certification process for them, setting goals, bid verification, and good faith 
efforts. 

28 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

 Within the department, this is our organizational chart.  There are 11 
positions in the external civil rights.  They answer directly to the Deputy 
Director in Southern Nevada.  There is basically, two in contract 
compliance, two in prevailing wage, one admin person, two in ADA, two in 
Title VI, and one DBE. 

 The Triennial Goal.  You have seen this earlier in the year, but basically this 
is covered under the federal regulations.  It's 49 CFR 26.  And there's several 
different ways to establish the triennial goal.  What Nevada DOT did was 
completed a disparity study in 2013.  This established a 4.5 base figure that 
we used.  And then it also requires FHWA in D.C., approval for the 
methodology use.  So we took the 4.5 base figure and we're allowed to do an 
upward adjustment.  So we were--included one upward adjustment that 
ended up with a final DBE goal approved at 5.59%.  And this represents the 
amount that needs to be expended on DBE and SBE participation over 
average yearly for federal aid.  So that's 5.59% of the federal aid that we 
receive. 

 And each--that's an average over three years.  I mean each year is 5.59%, 
but the goals are individually set for the project.  So I just want to 
differentiate between the fact that we have one three-year goal and then 
basically each goal might range--it could be zero, it could be 10%, it could 
be five.  It depends on the nature of the project.  The goal is--for the three 
years, 2014 to 2016.  And so far for federal fiscal year 2014, we have 
achieved 9.8%, so well-above what we expected. 

 Tracking of the DBE goals.  This is really becoming very critical.  And 
we're implementing a B2G now, which is a software package that tracks the 
DBE participation via the payroll.  So basically they look at how much has 
been paid towards it and then compares it to the overall project.  We have 
personnel who are familiar with the construction practices.  They are being 
trained, and they will be sent out to each of the crews to work with the REs 
on the software.  And basically, also, on the communication documentation.  
And then moving into next one, we call it a commercially useful function.  
These forms are done by the RE for every DBE that participates in a project. 

 Basically, they go out and physically observe if the DBE is performing the 
function that they are expected to be doing.  If they're using their own 
people and so on.  The form that we use is a little bit--we're working on it, 

29 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

because you also have suppliers and other things that participate in, so we 
are making note of that.  So basically, it's another way of tracking the DBE 
and SBE.  We primarily still just use DBEs, but--meetings with all the 
resident engineers statewide, we want to ensure that once the crews have the 
information that they basically know how to collect it and what to do with it 
when they have it.  This is very critical.  We have a lot of new REs.  We 
have a lot of people who have advanced through. 

 We also use a lot of contracted construction management, so we want to 
make sure that everyone knows how to follow it.  And workshops are being 
held with industry.  We've had three workshops now and we're discussing 
the processes with them, notification procedures.  I'm going to go a little bit 
into this a little bit later.  But basically, so everyone knows the expectations 
on this side. 

 The Unified Certification Program; this is a federal program that defines 
how a DBE firm becomes certified.  And in Nevada, we have six public 
agency members on the Board, and that's the two RTCs north and south, the 
two airports, Reno-McCarran and--I'm sorry, Reno-Tahoe and McCarran, 
Campo and NDOT.  Three of the agencies are certifying agencies, and that's 
the two airports and NDOT.  So basically, only three actually take the 
applications, review the applications, and then make recommendations.  All 
the applications are recommended to the certifying board, and it's a majority 
vote that defines whether it moves forward.  And on that, a lot of the criteria 
in there--and, again, it can be found online.  It's fairly clearly defined that it's 
based on business sides, ownership, control of business, and also personal 
net worth, and social and economic disadvantage.  So it's very clearly 
defined in the regs. 

 Outreach and Improvement Efforts.  Some of the things that we're doing, we 
brought in--FHWA sponsored.  We requested and they brought in from the 
City of Denver, Colorado DOT, Arizona DOT, and federal representatives 
from New Mexico DOT and, again, Arizona DOT--Arizona FHWA, I'm 
sorry, that basically have had very successful programs for that.  So they 
came in and talked to us about what worked for them, some of the 
challenges they had, how they overcame the challenges.  And this was 
presented to all the certifying agency boards.  We will be requesting them 
again to come back to bring in to a broader group, but in the meantime it 

30 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

was to get an idea of some of the challenges we have and some of the ways 
to overcome them. 

 We had DBE 101 training, for lack of a better word.  And NDOT and RTC 
cosponsored that, although FHWA did the presentation.  It basically gave a 
history of the DBE program and provided question and answers.  
Contractors, consultants, and DBEs were invited.  The AGC Training 
Coordination.  We are working with AGC north and south, although 
primarily in the south right now, about leveraging our resources to provide 
training to--basically, to the workforce in general.  And we are looking at, 
and this is a work in progress, but we are looking at providing full and 
partial scholarships basically for this training.  The type of training is like 
OSHA, 10-hour training OSHA, 30-hour training, flagging training, fall 
protection; those type of things. 

 We are working very closely with RTC Southern Nevada on coordination on 
events, basically on outreach programs.  And we're increasing our 
communication between the personnel.  Industry workshops.  Again, I 
mentioned that before.  When I say industry, I do mean the construction 
industry.  So, again, we're working with them on defining expectations and 
different ways of, like, notification, because non-attainment of DBEs during 
construction, is something that we've been looking at.  One of the things that 
we're looking at is, basically, a process that accelerates the escalation 
process with any issues that relates to DBE non-attainment.  So we're 
teaching our crews to make sure how to follow by maybe using like a 
resource-loaded work schedule ahead of time so we know what to expect 
during the contract. 

 So in other words, you may be 50% done with a project, but only have 
completed 30% DBE participation.  And that might be appropriate.  The 
DBE work might be at the end of the project.  But this way it's becoming, 
basically, a regular conversation of just kind of watching it and seeing that 
things are flowing right.  So if something does go right, both--everyone has 
a chance to, basically, work on it. 

 And UCP workshops, again, that's a unified certification program board.  
We've held two workshops and we're looking at our third.  We're looking at 
different types, basically, of leveraging our resources.  We're looking at if 
we can do a better website, how we can better outreach as a unit.  And, 

31 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

again, I keep emphasizing many of us are targeting the same workforce on 
there.  And many of--we have a lot of organizations that are doing outreach 
to specific areas--I mean to the DBE community.  So we're hoping that by 
getting a better sense of really what's out there and putting our resources 
together, one, we all--everyone benefits.  Bottom line is the DBEs have--
there should be more resources available to assist in the development.  And 
also, it's a better use of our money going out. 

 And last, we have the support of services contract.  This is a contract, its 
funding is provided by the federal government.  It is based on--it's a formula 
funding based on our allocations.  So it varies from year to year, but again 
it's formula funding.  It has a very broad application.  It covers direct DBE 
business development.  It can do training.  It can do networking.  So 
basically, we provide a plan to FHWA outlining how we'd like to use the 
funds and they approve it.  But we can--as we develop--as we work through 
the different programs, we can change what we do, so it does not have to be 
the same thing every year. 

 What we're looking at this year, and we have been working with the UCP 
Board--because, again, we're really looking at it as a statewide program and 
not just an agency program.  So we're--and we're looking at outsourcing and 
we have a survey that we adopted from Arizona DOT.  It's a very 
comprehensive survey that goes to each business and basically asks about 
their business plan, their marketing plan, how do you want to develop, do 
you want to develop, are you happy with the size you are, do you want to 
increase your bonding limit.  And basically, find out the gaps that we have 
in the base and determine what type of training and outreach would best 
benefit across the board. 

 If, you know, if someone is happy with where they are and they just need 
some training and stuff, that's what we need to get.  If it's someone that 
wants to advance then it's something--if we need to provide more business 
classes or more construction classes, what do we need to provide that would 
most benefit them.  And that's it. 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members?  Member Fransway. 

32 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  If a contractor came in below the 6%--I think it's 5.9, 
wasn't it--would they be no longer eligible as a legitimate bidder or would 
they have the opportunity to address that and get in compliance? 

Thomason: If a project went out, and let's just say the project would have--a specific 
project would have a goal, and let's say it's 6%.  If the bids came in and let's 
say the low bid came in at 5.5%, they would have to put in what they call a 
good faith effort.  Basically, they would have to very substantially show that 
they had made every effort to reach out to DBE firms.  They would have to 
show like phone calls, document calling them, negotiating with them, 
receiving bids from them.  I mean they have to really show a fair amount of 
work that they had tried to get it.  If they did not show a good faith effort 
upon review, it would go up to the next bidder.  So if the next bidder had 
7%, it would be awarded to the next one.  It does not preclude them from 
bidding on future projects, but it could cost them the bid even if they were 
the low bidder. 

Fransway: And is a subcontractor also obligated to have a DBE percentage, as far as 
their operation goes? 

Thomason: Not--we deal--our contract is with the prime, so they have subcontracting.  
One of the things that we are learning and we're kind of working through, is 
that if you have a subcontractor come in--so they subcontract to a DBE firm 
and they're expecting them to, let's just say $100,000 worth of work.  
However, if that subcontractor subs out to a non-DBE firm, that work does 
not count.  So if they subbed out $20,000, only $80,000 would count 
towards the DBE goal. 

Fransway: Okay.  That helps.  And the reason I'm asking these questions, because I was 
a little confused as I read through the packet relative to Item 4, when we 
approved that project, 3577.  It appears on Page 8 that the high bidder was 
going with a 13.56%, and then the high bidder chose the second highest 
bidder as his subcontractor, and the subcontractor went out at 6.13%.  I'm 
sorry it's--my questioning may be a little complicated, but I just noticed that 
and it was confusing to me. 

Thomason: I will probably have to look at the (inaudible). 

33 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Malfabon: Yeah, I can help you out on there.  Tracy doesn't have the paper.  But in this 
case, DBE goal was 6% and then the apparent low bidder, which was 
awarded earlier today, had a goal of--or a commitment of 13.56%.  So that 
becomes the new goal that Las Vegas Paving has to meet the 13.56% 
commitment, because that's what they established at bid time.  The 6.13% 
commitment by the second--apparent second low bidder, Road and Highway 
Builders LLC, that met the 6% goal. 

 So there could be cases where--and in this case, Las Vegas Paving exceeded 
the goal and that becomes the new DBE goal for that contract.  There are 
cases where all the bidders did their best, but they couldn't achieve that goal 
or commitment at bid time.  Then we look at the documentation they 
provided to see that they did their best efforts to achieve that goal and then 
make a determination that we present to the Board for our recommendation. 

Thomason: So as long as the bidder met the goal and if it was a low bidder, basically, it 
would awarded and the rest of them really aren't looked at.  It's really only 
when there's a problem with the first bidder and they didn't meet it, we 
would start looking at the next ones.  And I do look at it as if the first 
bidder--the lowest bidder did not meet the goal and everyone else exceeded 
it, they would be looking at why. 

Fransway: Okay.  So for this instance then, really the subcontractor did not bid a… 

Malfabon: No. 

Fransway: …DBE?  The subcontractor was part of the original bidding folks and… 

Malfabon: Yes… 

Fransway: …that's what his bid was at 6.13? 

Malfabon: No, the 6.13 was the second low bidder.  Apparently, it's the second.  But 
the point is that, as Tracy said, we have to watch what's happening between 
the subs.  We have a contract with the prime.  They make a commitment at 
bid time, but we also have to see that the subs are not subletting out their 
work to a non-DBE.  And that's one thing that we've learned through the 
construction industry, the feedback that we've received from our contractors 
is, “hey, sometimes I didn't know that my DBE sub was going to sub out a 
second tier to a non-DBE.”  And we're getting to these discussions and 

34 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

determining what's the best action to take.  Contractors, you have to 
anticipate that.  Tell the DBE subs that you're relying on their bid at bid time 
and that you're not expecting them to sublet out further to a second tier sub 
that's non-DBE.  So those types of conversations are very practical and 
useful for us to understand from the contractor's perspective what they're 
facing, too. 

Fransway: Okay.  Thank you, Governor.  Thank you, Tracy. 

Sandoval: A couple questions on--so if--within a bid there's the, for example, the 11 or 
12% DBE that's part of the bid, do we follow up afterwards to make sure 
that those same subcontractors were used? 

Thomason: That is--it's--actually, there's a new rulemaking that came out just about--it 
became effective November 3rd, came out last month, and they're very much 
emphasizing that.  And, yes, we do.  You have to follow up to see that they 
were used.  And then, also, in order to use another one--because sometimes 
something happens but then there's a request to basically replace that.  And a 
lot of what I just told you, I pointed out in the beginning on the tracking of 
DBE efforts.  That's something we're working on within the department.  
And, frankly, we're a work in progress.  And on there--there are things we 
need to look at and improve in our own processes, we're taking a look at.  
But what you're saying is correct.  That does need to be--and we're working 
on it. 

Malfabon:  And just to add in response, Governor.  There's controls in place to prevent 
bid shopping so the contractors at bid time--or within a couple hours after 
bid time have to report those major subcontractors.  And then once they're 
reported, we make sure through our contract compliance efforts to make 
sure we get the request to sublet and the subcontract agreements that are 
specific who the contractors say they're going to use.  So there's no bid 
shopping, trying to get a lower bid price from another sub and to replace one 
that they committed to at the time of bid.  So those controls are in place for 
non-DBEs as well as DBEs. 

Sandoval: So if I'm a contractor, and I bid, and I put down a specific DBE, if I'm going 
to change that I have to get the permission of the Department to do that? 

35 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Malfabon: Yes, you can--sometimes a DBE goes out of business or is not able to 
perform the work, then we work with the prime contractor to have a 
replacement DBE. 

Sandoval: Okay.  And then I just noticed on your org chart that there are five 
vacancies.  Are we going to be filling those? 

Thomason: We're working very hard.  It's slightly outdated, but one of the people there 
is now vacant and we filled one of the others, so we broke--kind of broke 
even there.  But, yes, we are working on them. 

Sandoval: Because that's part of the whole picture, isn't it, to have the individuals 
within the Department to be able to ensure that the DBE requirements are 
being met? 

Thomason: Correct. 

Malfabon: And to add also, Governor, that we are looking to other areas of the 
Department that can assist.  For instance, with the ADA program going to 
the engineering side to get some assistance on data collection for identifying 
the projects to go forward in the ADA program.  Another example is using 
temps.  Some of these service providers that can provide--meet the service 
needs and labor--experienced labor to at least keep going forward with some 
of these program activities while we're trying to fill these vacancies and get 
people trained. 

Sandoval: Other questions from Board members on Agenda Item 11?  Thank you very 
much.  Let's move to Agenda Item 12, Old Business.  Mr. Director. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor and Board members.  The first part of old business is 
the Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters and Monthly 
Litigation Report.  That's Items A and B for Item 12.  If there's any 
questions for our Chief Counsel, Dennis Gallagher, he can respond at this 
time. 

 Seeing none, the third part, Section C, is a Fatality Report.  Unfortunately, 
we're seeing a little bit higher statistics on fatalities compared to last year, so 
we'll be definitely watching that as we come to the year's end.  And as we 
learned last year, some of the data comes in from the law enforcement 
agencies, especially when somebody has been seriously injured and maybe 

36 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

suffers a death later, those statistics can change.  So we will keep on top of 
that and report the final year's at the appropriate time for the current 2014 
statistics in early part of 2015.  If there's any questions on the Fatality 
Report. 

 Seeing none, the fourth section, D, is the Update on the Research Program.  
As you recall, we presented how we go about selecting research projects 
previously, and we agreed to report on an informational basis on the projects 
that are selected.  This is not the consortium, which was a federal grant that 
you previously had approved expending additional state funds on to match.  
This is our normal federal research funds that has to be spent for this typical 
program. 

 So our process has been changed to more of a quarterly basis.  And you see 
before you, the two quarters for federal fiscal year 2014 are reported.  We 
received 33 problem statements.  So a problem statement is very brief, but 
outlines what the research is trying to accomplish.  Once NDOT reviewers 
ranked those problem statements, we solicit full proposals.  And the 
proposals will have the additional details about how they're going to conduct 
the research, how much time is needed for a schedule, and how much cost 
for the researchers' time and effort to conduct the research. 

 So there's a two-step ranking process.  Problem statements first, and then a 
full proposal second.  Sometimes we will select a proposal from universities.  
Sometimes they're from a technical engineering firm.  You can see that 
UNR, UNLV, and two consulting engineering firms received the research 
projects out of the nine selected proposals.  One thing that we're making 
sure of is that it is a fair process; that there's no bias for a particular 
researcher.  So we feel that, based on the input from the research staff, it is a 
fair process, but we want to continue to watch for a fair distribution of 
funds, but also see that the research that's conducted is something that's 
useful to the Department and not just theoretical. 

 So you can see that out of the research projects that were selected, there are 
several in the safety category, bridge category, traffic and planning, and 
some in maintenance.  One is in operations and incident management, the 
(inaudible) one that was through a consultant.  But there's--the summary is 
provided for approximately $1.5 million in research projects that were 

37 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

selected.  And our staff are available to answer any questions on any 
specific research proposal that was selected and funded. 

Sandoval: Do you keep also a column, Rudy, on what the overhead was on these 
various contracts?  And that was… 

Malfabon: The universities track… 

Sandoval: …(inaudible) my question because some of them get into be 40-50%.  And 
so this isn't a real number on that total cost, because that's not all research.  
We're getting charged overhead. 

Malfabon: We do have that--the overhead rate was something that was negotiated about 
half of what is the actual overhead to the university.  So it was a reasonable 
rate for the overhead, but it is just a portion of the actual overhead costs that 
are eligible federally. 

Sandoval: So what--do we know, for example, what some of those numbers are for 
these contracts? 

Malfabon: We can provide that next month, Governor. 

Sandoval: Okay.  All right.  No further questions, if you move on to 12-E. 

Malfabon: This is an update on the road relinquishment process that Member Fransway 
had requested.  So it gives you a schedule of what's been performed recently 
and what's coming up.  And I wanted to mention again to the Board about 
those upcoming public workshops in Elko, Las Vegas, and Carson City.  
The dates are provided there.  So later this week, and then into next week, 
we have those workshops.  So we're moving right along with that regulation 
making process and eventually the regulations that are proposed will be 
brought to the Board for your approval, then go over to the legislature for 
adoption formally.  Any questions on that update? 

Fransway: I have a question, Governor. 

Sandoval: Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Has notification been sent to those individual counties that would be 
interested in those meetings?  I don't see a time on here, Mr. Director. 

38 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

Malfabon: We'll make sure that they receive the actual notification.  As far as the 
details--I'm sorry, I don't have that in front of me.  But we'll reach out to the 
specific counties in those areas so that they're aware of the meeting location 
and the times… 

Fransway: Right. 

Malfabon: …for those meetings in advance. 

Sandoval: Board members, any questions with regard to Agenda Item No. 12?  We'll 
move to Agenda Item 13, which is Public Comment.  Before I take public 
comment, Rudy, I had another question that--not for answer today.  But 
there was some press within the last week or so with regard to a shortage of 
construction employees.  And I don't know if that's valid or not.  I see heads 
shaking.  But I think that it would--if we could just have a quick Agenda 
item.  If you could reach out to the industry to make--you know, given that 
Project NEON is coming up, the Boulder City Bypass, the USA Parkway.  I 
just want to feel comfortable that there aren't any workforce issues out there, 
and I don't even know if there were, if there's anything we can do about it.  
But just to kind of get an update of where we are, given the number of 
projects that are going to be beginning in the very near future. 

Malfabon: Yes.  And as you pointed out with the Boulder City Bypass, mentioning that 
project.  It's not only NDOT's work program that's substantial, it's other 
Public Works entities.  And as far as the private side is concerned, they're 
drawing on the same kind of pool of construction workers.  So it is an issue 
that we can report back later after we discuss that with the construction 
industry partners. 

Sandoval: Okay.  All right.  Public comment.  Is there any member of the public in Las 
Vegas that would like to provide public comment to the Board? 

Martini: None here, Governor. 

Sandoval: Is there any member of the public here in Carson City that would like to 
provide public comment to the Board?  Member Skancke. 

Skancke: This isn't a public comment.  I just wanted to bring up three things real 
quickly if I could, Governor.  One, just a reminder, I think at the last 
meeting on the billboard conversation we were going to, at some point, get 

39 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

some feedback on pending litigation or outstanding litigation, et cetera, any 
decisions that were made.  And I just want to remind that that would be 
helpful if we bring that item forward, if we had that before the next--the 
December meeting or January meeting, whenever you all decide to bring 
that forward. 

 My second issue is Sahara and I-15.  Recently, MGM Resorts International 
announced a rather large project at Sahara and Las Vegas Boulevard.  That's 
an 80,000-seat outdoor kind of stadium-type project.  And I think the 
Department and my recommendation would be we need to be proactive as 
opposed to reactive to that investment.  The types of venue or the types of 
entertainment-type--what do I want to say--the venues that are going to be in 
there are going to be rather substantial, and they will likely be sold out on a 
regular basis. 

 So as we look at Project NEON, I want to make sure that Sahara Avenue is 
going to be able to handle 80,000 to 100,000 at Las Vegas Boulevard and 
Sahara with the amount of parking and the amount of ingress and egress 
that's going on there.  That's going to be--have an impact on I-15 in the 
system.  And I'm not quite certain--I'm not an engineer, but the current 
design would probably not handle that type of impact.  So in order for us to 
keep our economy going, I just wanted to make you aware of that if you 
hadn't seen it and, hopefully, we can do something to be ahead of that 
instead of behind it. 

 And then the same thing at Russell Road and I-15.  There's some plans that 
are occurring there with the expansion of some convention space and other 
outside entertainment venues.  And I know that studies take a long time to 
get into the queue but, again, I think I'd like to recommend, Rudy, that we're 
more proactive than reactive to those types of things.  So whatever I can do 
to help with that, to facilitate any meeting with those respective properties or 
those respective companies, I'd be happy to do that.  But those are coming.  
And I know that Susan Martinovich is here today, and she used to say when 
she was the director, "When a thousand rooms were announced, we were 
five years behind."  And if we're going to be five years behind this, I'd like 
to get at least two years behind as opposed to five.  So thank you, Governor. 

Malfabon: Thank you for the heads-up.  And it definitely is an issue with the private 
development.  They keep those announcements close to the vest until they're 

40 

 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

November 10, 2014 
 

ready to announce.  And by that time, we are behind the curve.  And we will 
do our best to meet with those developers and see where we can play a role 
in making them successful. 

Skancke: Thank you. 

Sandoval: Anyone else?  Any other public comment?  Hearing none, we'll move to the 
final Agenda item, Adjournment.  Is there a motion to adjourn? 

Skancke: So moved. 

Sandoval: Member Skancke has moved.  Is there a second? 

Wallin: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by the Controller.  All in favor say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: I think we've set a record today of 10:30.  Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.  
This meeting… 

 

 

 

_____________________________   ______________________________ 

Secretary to the Board     Preparer of Minutes 

 

41 

 



MEMORANDUM

December 5, 2014 

TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director  
SUBJECT:      December 15, 2014, Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #4:  Approval of Contracts Over $5,000,000 – For Possible Action 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary:  

The purpose of this item is to present to the Board a list of construction contracts which are over 
$5,000,000 for discussion and approval. 

Background: 

The Department contracts for services relating to the construction, operation and maintenance of the 
State’s multi-modal transportation system. Contracts listed in this item are all low-bid per statute.  

The attached construction contracts constitute all contracts over $5,000,000 for which the bids were 
opened and the analysis completed by the Bid Review and Analysis Team and the Contract 
Compliance section of the Department from October 18, 2014, to November 21, 2014. 

Analysis: 

These contracts have been prepared following the Code of Federal Regulations, Nevada Revised 
Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, State Administrative Manual, and/or Department policies and 
procedures.  

List of Attachments: 

A) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Contracts for Approval, October 18, 2014, to
November 21, 2014.

Recommendation for Board Action:    

Approval of all contracts listed on Attachment A. 

Prepared by: Administrative Services Division 

1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
1 of 10



Attachment  

A 

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
2 of 10



 
STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

CONTRACTS FOR APPROVAL 
October 18, 2014 - November 21, 2014. 

 
 

1. October 10, 2014 at 1:30 PM the following bids were opened for Contract 3576, Project No. SI-
0147(002), SR 147 from 2 miles East of EUL of North Las Vegas CL 9.67 to approx. boundary 
Lake Mead NRA MP CL 14.23 phase 1 only, in Clark County, for 1.5 in. coldmilling, with 2 in. 
plantmix bituminous surface with 3/4 in. open grade, widen shoulders, flatten slopes, including 
drainage improvements: 

 Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc.  .............................................................. $5,553,726.00 
Las Vegas Paving Corporation ................................................................ $5,867,000.00 
Road and Highway Builders, LLC. ........................................................... $7,333,333.00 

 Engineer’s Estimate .............................................................................. $6,605,510.18 
 The Director recommends award to Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc. for $5,553,726.00 
  

 
 
 
 
 

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
3 of 10



Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
4 of 10



 

Line Item #1 – Contract 3576 

Project Manager: Lori Campbell 

Recent Work History: Plantmix Bituminous Surface 
in 1994 and a Chip Seal in 2011 

Length of Project: 4.56 miles 

Proceed Date: February 2, 2015 

Estimated Completion: Summer, 2015 

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
5 of 10



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Administrative Services 

November 14, 2014 
To: John Terry, Assistant Director - Engineering 
 Reid Kaiser, Assistant Director - Operations 
 Rudy Malfabon, Director 
 
From:  Teresa Schlaffer, Business Process Analyst III 
 
Subject:  Concurrence in Award for Contract No. 3576, Project No. SI-0147(002), SR 147 

from 2 Miles East of EUL of  North Las Vegas CL 9.67 TO Approx. Boundary 
Lake Mead NRA MP CL 14.23 Phase 1 Only, Clark County, described as 1.5 IN 
Coldmilling, with 2 IN Plantmix Bituminous Surface with 3/4 in Open Grade, 
Widen Shoulders, Flatten Slopes, Including Drainage Improvements, Engineer’s 
Estimate $6,605,510.18.  

 

This memo is to confirm concurrence in award of the subject contract. 
Bid proposals were opened on October 9, 2014.  Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc. is the 
apparent low bidder at $5,553,726.00 and they submitted a properly executed proposal, bid 
bond and anti-collusion affidavit.  The second low bidder is Las Vegas Paving Corporation with 
a bid of $5,867,000.00.   
 
The project is Federally funded, required 3% DBE participation and is not subject to State 
Bidder Preference provisions.  
 
The subcontractor listing documentation and DBE information submitted by the two lowest 
bidders has/have been reviewed and certified by the Contract Compliance Officer.The bid is 
below the Engineer’s Estimate Range, and a copy of the Unofficial Bid Results report is 
attached for your reference.  The BRAT Chairman has provided their concurrence to award, and 
their report is attached. 
 
Your concurrence in award of this contract by endorsement hereon is respectfully requested.  
Please return the approved copy to this office.  Upon receipt a packet will be prepared to obtain 
Transportation Board approval of the award at the next available meeting. 
 
Concurrence in award: 
 

________________________________  ________________________________  
     John Terry, Assistant Director        Reid Kaiser, Assistant Director 
 
 

________________________________ 
Rudy Malfabon, Director 

 
Enclosures: Unofficial Bid Results Report 
                    Contract Compliance Memo 

       BRAT Summary Report 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7070 
Fax:      (775) 888-7101 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A311C62E-ABCA-4C9B-8E01-22D38B1D6E35DocuSign Envelope ID: 8F81DB5B-7735-4054-B407-3E9B367E4123

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
6 of 10

https://trust.docusign.com
https://trust.docusign.com
https://trust.docusign.com
https://trust.docusign.com


Apparent Low Bidder Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc. $5,553,726.00

Apparent 2nd Las Vegas Paving Corporation $5,867,000.00

Apparent 3rd Road and Highway Builders LLC $7,333,333.00

Contract Number:
Designer:

3576

VICTORIA JEFFERY

JOHN BRADSHAWSenior Designer:

Estimate Range: R27 $6,600,000.01 to $7,950,000

Nevada Department of Transportation
Unofficial Bid Results

October 09, 2014

Working Days: 110

District: DISTRICT 1

$5,100

10/9/2014 1:30 pm

Project Number: SI-0147(002)

County: CLARK

SR 147 FROM 2 MILES EAST OF EUL OF NORTH LAS VEGAS CL 9.67 TO APPROX. BOUNDARY 
LAKE MEAD NRA MP CL 14.23 PHASE 1 ONLY

Location:

Liquidated Damages:

Bid Opening Date and Time:

Description: 1.5 IN COLDMILLING, WITH 2 IN PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH 3/4 IN OPEN GRADE, 
WIDEN SHOULDERS, FLATTEN SLOPES, INCLUDING DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS

Bidders:
Actual

Bid Amount

1 Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc.
3101 East Craig Road
North Las Vegas, NV  89030-
(702) 649-6250

$5,553,726.00

2 Las Vegas Paving Corporation
4420 South Decatur Boulevard
Las Vegas, NV  89103
(702) 251-5800

$5,867,000.00

3 Road and Highway Builders LLC
P.O. Box 70846
Reno, NV  89570
(775) 852-7283

$7,333,333.00

Page 1 of 1

DocuSign Envelope ID: A311C62E-ABCA-4C9B-8E01-22D38B1D6E35DocuSign Envelope ID: 8F81DB5B-7735-4054-B407-3E9B367E4123

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
7 of 10



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
CONTRACT COMPLIANCE SECTION 

 
October 29, 2014 

 
To:   Jenni Eyerly, Administrative Services Officer    
From:  Dana A. Olivera, Contract Compliance 
Subject: NDOT Bidder DBE & Subcontractor Information - Contract No. 3576 
 

 SR 147 from 2 Miles East of EUL of North Las Vegas CL 9.67 to Approx. Boundary Lake 
Mead NRA MP CL 14.23 Phase 1 only. 
 
 1.5 IN COLDMILLING, WITH 2 IN PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH ¾ IN 
OPEN GRADE, WIDEN SHOULDERS; FLATTEN SLOPES, INCLUDING DRAINAGE 
IMPROVEMENTS. 
 

The subcontractors listed by the apparent low bidder, Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc., 
and the apparent second low bidder, Las Vegas Paving Corporation, are currently licensed by 
the Nevada State Board of Contractors. 

 
The DBE Goal of 3% has been met with a 3.02% DBE committed by the apparent low 

bidder and a 6.03% committed by the apparent second low bidder, Las Vegas Paving 
Corporation, to Nevada certified DBE firms. Specific information regarding the DBE goal is 
available in the Contract Compliance Section. 
 
 
 
 
DAO/jl 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7497 
Fax:      (775) 888-7235 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A311C62E-ABCA-4C9B-8E01-22D38B1D6E35DocuSign Envelope ID: 8F81DB5B-7735-4054-B407-3E9B367E4123

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
8 of 10



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Administrative Services 

 
October 23, 2014 

To: Jenni Eyerly, Chief - Administrative Services 
 
From:  Bid Review and Analysis Team 
 
Subject:  BRAT Summary Report for Contract #3576 
   

The Bid Review and Analysis Team met on 10/21/2014 to discuss the Bids for the above 
reference contract.  The following were in attendance: 
 
Paul Frost, Chief Roadway Design Engineer 
Casey Connor, Assistant Chief Roadway Design Engineer 
Jeff Freeman, Assistant Chief Construction Engineer  
Scott Hein, Principal Roadway Design Engineer 
Shawn Howerton, Principal Roadway Design Engineer 
Victoria Jeffery, Designer 
Mary Gore, Assistant Chief, Administrative Services 
Teresa Schlaffer, BPA III, Administrative Services 
Paula Aiazzi, BPA I, Administrative Services 
Chris Wright, Safety Engineering 
Kimberly O’Kelley, Safety Engineering 
 
The Price Sensitivity Report (attached) showed no items were overly sensitive to the quantity 
estimates.  One item requires a quantity correction, but the new quantity does not affect the bid 
order. 
 
The apparent low bidder, Aggregate Industries SWR, Inc., submitted a bid approximately 16% 
under the engineer’s estimate. The BRAT recommends award of this contract. 
 
Submitted: 
 
 
 
Paul Frost, BRAT co-Chair  
 
cc: attendees 
 Jeff Shapiro, Chief Construction Engineer  

Pierre Gezelin, Legal 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7070 
Fax:      (775) 888-7101 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: A3D1BED0-8B63-4CCA-AFDE-6F376803F726DocuSign Envelope ID: A311C62E-ABCA-4C9B-8E01-22D38B1D6E35DocuSign Envelope ID: 8F81DB5B-7735-4054-B407-3E9B367E4123

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
9 of 10

https://trust.docusign.com
https://trust.docusign.com


Contract No: 3576 RE: Albert Free
Project No.: SI-0147(002) Designer: Victoria Jeffery
Project ID/EA No.:60630
County: CLARK $6,605,510.18 $5,553,726.00 $5,867,000.00 $313,274.00 -$1,051,784.19 84.08%
Range: R27 $6,600,000.01 to $7,950,000
Working Days: 110

Item No. Quantity Description Unit Engineer's Est. 
Unit Price

Low Bid 
Unit Price

2nd Low Bid 
Unit Price

Qty Chg Req'd to 
Chg Bid Order

% Change in  Qty 
Req'd

Low %
 of EE

Significantly 
Unbalanced

Quantity Check Comments

2010100 1.00               CLEARING AND GRUBBING LS 10,000.00 110,000.00 45,000.00 N/A N/A 1100.00% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2020990 65,720.00      REMOVAL OF BITUMINOUS SURFACE 

(COLD MILLING)
SQYD 1.25 1.35 1.00 895,068.57 1361.94% 108.00%

No
EE price ok.  Quantity verified.

2030140 93,300.00      ROADWAY EXCAVATION CUYD 8.00 8.85 9.00 -2,088,493.33 -2238.47% 110.63% No EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2030160 9,393.62        DRAINAGE EXCAVATION CUYD 15.00 5.05 14.00 -35,002.68 -372.62% 33.67% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2030550 91.70             V-TYPE DITCHES STA 700.00 200.00 280.00 -3,915.92 -4270.37% 28.57%

Yes
EE price ok, limited bid history.  Quantity 
verified.

2030680 21,427.00      GEOTEXTILE SQYD 2.50 1.80 1.50 1,044,246.67 4873.51% 72.00% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2060110 2,180.00        STRUCTURE EXCAVATION CUYD 24.00 22.25 26.60 -72,017.01 -3303.53% 92.71% No EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2110110 32,278.50      TOP SOIL (SALVAGE) CUYD 10.00 10.00 7.70 136,206.09 421.97% 100.00% No EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
2110190 23.20             SEEDING (TYPE A) ACRE 2,000.00 7,225.00 3,600.00 86.42 372.50% 361.25% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
3020130 36,530.00      TYPE 1 CLASS B AGGREGATE BASE TON 15.00 10.25 16.35 -51,356.39 -140.59% 68.33%

Yes
EE price ok.  Quantity error in plans, should 
be 26,350 tons.

4020100 1,468.50        PLANTMIXING MISCELLANEOUS AREAS SQYD 15.00 49.00 60.00 -28,479.45 -1939.36% 326.67%
Yes

EE price ok.  Quantity verified.

4020180 18,210.00      PLANTMIX SURFACING (TYPE 2)(WET) TON 90.00 80.00 75.00 62,654.80 344.07% 88.89% No EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
4030120 3,990.00        PLANTMIX OPEN-GRADED SURFACING 

(1/2-INCH)(WET)
TON 105.00 91.35 96.00 -67,370.75 -1688.49% 87.00%

No
EE price ok.  Quantity verified.

6042475 24.00             36-INCH METAL END SECTION EACH 800.00 3,110.00 3,475.00 -858.28 -3576.19% 388.75% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
6050190 1,070.00        36 - INCH HIGH DENSITY 

POLYETHYLENE PIPE, TYPE S
LINFT 100.00 67.15 56.50 29,415.40 2749.10% 67.15%

Yes
EE price slightly high but within historic 
range.  Quantity verified.

6100170 4,794.06        RIPRAP (CLASS 150) CUYD 65.00 37.25 43.00 -54,482.43 -1136.46% 57.31% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
6100190 2,005.00        RIPRAP (CLASS 300) CUYD 80.00 39.00 73.00 -9,213.94 -459.55% 48.75% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
6100460 3,173.00        RIPRAP BEDDING,(CLASS 150) CUYD 60.00 37.00 38.00 -313,274.00 -9873.12% 61.67% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
6100470 665.00           RIPRAP BEDDING,(CLASS 300) CUYD 80.00 39.00 60.00 -14,917.81 -2243.28% 48.75% Yes EE price ok.  Quantity verified.
6240140 110.00           TRAFFIC CONTROL SUPERVISOR DAY 1,555.00 1,025.00 100.00 338.67 307.89% 65.92%

Yes
EE price slightly high but within historic 
range.  Quantity verified.

6250490 1.00               RENT TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES LS 755,735.00 500,000.00 286,000.00 N/A N/A 66.16% Yes EE price ok.
6280120 1.00               MOBILIZATION LS 373,368.45 102,609.07 365,031.18 N/A N/A 27.48% Yes
6370190 1.00               DUST CONTROL LS 9,334.20 83,500.00 224,998.85 N/A N/A 894.56% Yes

Additional Comments:

Engineer's 
Estimate

Diff Between
 EE & Low

Low Bid 
% of EE

Aggregate 
Industries 

Las Vegas Paving 
Corp

Diff. Between
 Low & 2nd

DocuSign Envelope ID: A3D1BED0-8B63-4CCA-AFDE-6F376803F726DocuSign Envelope ID: A311C62E-ABCA-4C9B-8E01-22D38B1D6E35DocuSign Envelope ID: 8F81DB5B-7735-4054-B407-3E9B367E4123

Contracts for Approval Over $5,000,000 
10 of 10



MEMORANDUM
  December 5, 2014  

TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM: Rudy Malfabon, Director 
SUBJECT:      December 15, 2014, Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #5: Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 -  For Possible Action 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary:  

The purpose of this item is to provide the Board a list of agreements over $300,000 for 
discussion and approval following the process approved at the July 11, 2011 Transportation 
Board meeting.  This list consists of any design build contracts and all agreements (and 
amendments) for non-construction matters, such as consultants, service providers, etc. that 
obligate total funds of over $300,000, during the period from October 18, 2014, through 
November 21, 2014. 

Background: 

The Department contracts for services relating to the development, construction, operation and 
maintenance of the State’s multi-modal transportation system. The attached agreements 
constitute all new agreements, new task orders on existing agreements, and all amendments 
which take the total agreement above $300,000 during the period from October 18, 2014, 
through November 21, 2014. 

Analysis: 

These agreements have been prepared following the Code of Federal Regulations, Nevada 
Revised Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, State Administrative Manual, and/or 
Department policies and procedures. They represent the necessary support services needed to 
deliver the State of Nevada’s multi-modal transportation system.  

List of Attachments: 

A) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Agreements for Approval, October 18,
2014, through November 21, 2014

Recommendation for Board Action:    

Approval of all agreements listed on Attachment A. 

Prepared by:  Administrative Services Division 

1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 1 of 17



Attachment 

A 

Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 2 of 17



Attachment A

Line 
No 

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed

 Original 
Agreement 

Amount 

 Amendment 
Amount  Payable Amount Receivable 

Amount Start Date End Date Amend 
Date

Agree 
Type Project Manager Notes

1 19811 04 JACOBS 
ENGINEERING 
GROUP, INC

DESIGN BUILD 
PROGRAM 
ADMINISTRATION 

N 2,067,804.15  2,931,800.00   5,072,716.65    -           8/31/2011 3/31/2016           - Service 
Provider

PEDRO 
RODRIGUEZ

AMD 4 12-15-14: INCREASE AUTHORITY $2,931,800.00 
FROM $2,140,916.65 TO $5,072,716.65 AND EXTEND 
TERMINATION DATE FROM 04-30-15 TO 03-31-16 TO 
ASSIST THE DEPARTMENT WITH ADMINISTRATION 
SUPPORT SERVICES DURING THE DESIGN BUILD 
PROCUREMENT PHASE FOR THE USA PARKWAY 
PROJECT.                                                                                       
AMD 3 10-09-14: INCREASE AUTHORITY $50,000.00 
FROM $2,090,916.65 TO $2,140,916.65, DUE TO AN 
INCREASE IN THE SCOPE OF WORK TO HELP THE 
DEPARTMENT WITH SUPPORT SERVICES DURING 
THE ENVIRONMENTAL AND PRELIMINARY 
ENGINEERING PHASE OF THE PROJECT.                                                                                                                         
AMD 2 05-09-14: INCREASE AUTHORITY BY $23,112.50 
FROM $2,067,804.15 TO $2,090,916.65, AND EXTEND 
TERMINATION DATE FROM 09-30-14 TO 04-30-15 DUE 
TO AN INCREASE IN THE SCOPE OF WORK OF RIGHT 
OF WAY COST ESTIMATING ACTIVITIES.                                                                                                
AMD 1 08-29-13: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
09-30-13 TO 09-30-14 TO COMPLETE SCOPE TASKS 
FOR THE USA PARKWAY PROJECT ENVIRONMENTAL 
PHASE.                                                                                                                                 
08-31-11: ENVIRONMENTAL PHASE FOR USA 
PARKWAY SR 439 FROM US 50 TO I-80, LYON AND 
STOREY COUNTIES. NV B/L#: NV20081035082-R

2 51114 00 SPILLMAN 
TECHNOLOGIES

COMPUTER AIDED 
DISPATCH SYSTEM

N 442,000.00     -                  442,000.00       -           12/15/2014 12/31/2015           - Service 
Provider

KEVIN LEE 12-15-14: TO IMPLEMENT A COMPUTER AIDED 
DISPATCH (CAD) SYSTEM TO REPLACE THE 
ROADWAY REPORTING SYSTEM IN THE DISTRICTS. 
STATEWIDE. NV B/L#: NV20101073893-S

3 27114 00 H & K ARCHITECTS ARCHITECTURE 
DESIGN SERVICES

N 300,000.00     -                  300,000.00       -           12/15/2014 12/31/2016           - Service 
Provider

WILLIAM SCHULZ 12-15-14: ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR 
VARIOUS DEPARTMENT BUILDINGS. STATEWIDE. NV 
B/L#: NV19941047730-R

4 34314 00 JANI-KING OF LAS 
VEGAS, INC

JANITORIAL 
SERVICES

N 596,064.00     -                  596,064.00       -           12/15/2014 10/31/2018           - Service 
Provider

PETE 
KEOVORABOUTH

12-15-14: JANITORIAL SERVICES FOR THE 
APPROXIMATE 42,888 SQUARE FOOT TRAFFIC 
MANAGEMENT CENTER. PAID $12,957.92 MONTHLY 
UPON ACCEPTANCE OF THE WORK FOR 46 MONTHS. 
CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20071674545-R

State of Nevada Department of Transportation
Agreements for Approval

October 18, 2014 to November 21, 2014

Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 3 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 4 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 5 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 6 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 7 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 8 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 9 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 10 of 17



Page 1 of 1 

STATE OF NEVADA 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

M E M O R A N D U M

November 18, 2014

TO:  Tracy Larkin Thomason, P.E., Assistant Director 

FROM:  Kevin Lee, P.E., District Engineer 
Ann Conlin, Project Manager 

SUBJECT: Negotiation Summary for Spillman CAD system 

District 2 – Reno Adminstration received a preliminary estimate in the amount of $503,420 
for the implementation of the Spillman CAD shared system to be used by each district road 
operations staff. 

Spillman Technologies was selected by the Nevada Department of Transportation as the 
best software provider based on several criteria: Spillman CAD is currently being administered and 
operated by the State of Nevada Department of Public Safety (DPS) and the current contract has 
just been renewed for 6 more years, existing version of the Spillman CAD integrates mapping files 
developed by NDOT GIS, NDOT Road Operations Center (ROC) staff will have the capability to 
view the Nevada Highway Patrol CAD real-time calls and NDOT is leveraging technology currently in 
use in the state thus reducing implementation and support costs. 

Further negotications have resulted in a savings of $92,500 based on a signed agreement 
this calendar year.  Adjusted contract amount requiring approval is $442,000.  The scope of the 
software services for the CAD project provided by Spillman Technologies has been confirmed by 
both parties and includes the following deliverables: 

1. Contract Signing
2. Planning and Administration
3. Software Installation
4. Project Team Training
5. End User Training
6. Production System Implementation

The estimated timeframe is 1 year and key personnel who will be dedicated to this project is 
Doug Ashmore, Spillman System Administrator. 

Reviewed and Approved: 
 
_________________________ 

___________________, Assistant Director 

cc: Mary Martinez, District 1 – District Engineer 
Thor Dyson, District 2 – District Engineer 
Kevin Lee, District 3 – District Engineer 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 216EF47E-1143-4C44-81B5-7C22AC69E7EE

11/19/2014 | 10:50 PT

Deputy Director

Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 11 of 17

https://trust.docusign.com
https://trust.docusign.com


Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 12 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 13 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 14 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 15 of 17



Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 16 of 17



NDOT 
070-069 
Rev 09/14 

STATE OF NEVADA 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

November 26, 2014 
 
TO:  Tracy Larkin-Thomason, Deputy Director 
 
FROM: Pauline Beigel, Project Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Negotiation Summary for RFP RFP 343-14-061 Janitorial Services at the Traffic 

Management Center (TMC) 
 
 A negotiation meeting was held via telephone on October 21, 2014 with John Ferrari, of 
Jani King, and Pauline Beigel, Administrative Services Officer, of the Nevada Department of 
Transportation (DEPARTMENT) in attendance. 
 
 The DBE goal for this agreement has been established at zero percent (0%). 
 
 The scope of services that are to be provided by the SERVICE PROVIDER were 
reaffirmed by both parties at the outset. 
 
 The following schedule was agreed to by both parties: 
 

Janitorial services will be performed per the scope of services on a daily, semi-weekly, 
monthly, quarterly and semi-annual basis during the four year agreement period.   
 
 The DEPARTMENT's original estimate was $650,000.00 inclusive of all costs. 
 
 The SERVICE PROVIDER's original estimate was $596,064.00 inclusive of all costs. 
 
 The negotiations yielded the following: 
 

The total negotiated cost for this agreement, inclusive of all costs, for a four year period, 
has a not to exceed amount of $596,064.00. 
 
Reviewed and Approved: 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Deputy Director 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: EA627205-386A-424F-AAAC-84A1D83C73B6

Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 
Page 17 of 17

https://trust.docusign.com


MEMORANDUM
December 5, 2014  

TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director  
SUBJECT:      December 15, 2014, Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #6: Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements – Informational Item Only 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary:  

The purpose of this item is to inform the Board of the following: 
• Construction contracts under $5,000,000 awarded October 18, 2014, through November

21, 2014. 
• Agreements under $300,000 executed October 18, 2014, through November 21, 2014.
• Settlements entered into by the Department which were presented for approval to the

Board of Examiners October 18, 2014, through November 21, 2014.

Any emergency agreements authorized by statute will be presented here as an informational 
item. 

Background: 

Pursuant to NRS 408.131(5), the Transportation Board has authority to “[e]xecute or approve all 
instruments and documents in the name of the State or Department necessary to carry out the 
provisions of the chapter”. Additionally, the Director may execute all contracts necessary to 
carry out the provisions of Chapter 408 of NRS with the approval of the board, except those 
construction contracts that must be executed by the chairman of the board.  Other contracts or 
agreements not related to the construction, reconstruction, improvement and maintenance of 
highways must be presented to and approved by the Board of Examiners.  This item is intended 
to inform the Board of various matters relating to the Department of Transportation but which do 
not require any formal action by the Board.  

The Department contracts for services relating to the construction, operation and maintenance 
of the State’s multi-modal transportation system. Contracts listed in this item are all low-bid per 
statute and executed by the Governor in his capacity as Board Chairman. The projects are part 
of the STIP document approved by the Board.  In addition, the Department negotiates 
settlements with contractors, property owners, and other parties to resolve disputes. These 
proposed settlements are presented to the Board of Examiners, with the support and 
advisement of the Attorney General’s Office, for approval.  Other matters included in this item 
would be any emergency agreements entered into by the Department during the reporting 
period. 

1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 1 of 20



The attached construction contracts, settlements and agreements constitute all that were 
awarded for construction from October 18, 2014, through November 21, 2014, and agreements 
executed by the Department from October 18, 2014, through November 21, 2014.  There were 
two settlements during the reporting period. 

Analysis: 

These contracts have been executed following the Code of Federal Regulations, Nevada 
Revised Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, State Administrative Manual, and/or 
Department policies and procedures.  

List of Attachments: 

A) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Executed Agreements – Under $300,000,
October 18, 2014, through November 21, 2014

B) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Settlements - Informational,  October 18,
2014, through November 21, 2014

Recommendation for Board Action:   Informational item only 

Prepared by: Administrative Services Division 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 2 of 20



Attachment 

A 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 3 of 20



Attachment A

Line 
No

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed

Original 
Agreement 

Amount

Amendment 
Amount Payable Amount Receivable 

Amount Start Date End Date Amend Date Agree Type Project Manager Notes

1 18414 00 CITY OF LAS VEGAS WYOMING AVE RR 
SAFETY

Y 259,008.00       - 259,008.00       - 11/12/2014 12/31/2016           - Interlocal BRANDON 
HENNING

11-12-14: INSTALLATION OF RAILROAD SAFETY 
DEVICES ON WYOMING AVENUE AND AT WYOMING 
AVENUE RAILROAD CROSSING DOT #804-209T IN 
LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

2 26414 00 CITY OF RENO MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES SE 
MCCARRAN ROW

N - - - - 11/3/2014 12/31/2035           - Interlocal THOR DYSON 11-03-14: NO COST AGREEMENT TO DELEGATE 
AUTHORITY TO THE CITY OF RENO TO PERFORM 
MAINTENANCE SERVICES WITHIN THE SOUTH EAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD RIGHT-OF-WAY LIMITS, WASHOE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

3 29214 00 CITY OF HENDERSON CONSTRUCT MULTI-USE 
PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE

Y 2,000,000.00    - - 2,000,000.00    10/27/2014 12/31/2018           - Interlocal TONY 
LORENZI

10-27-14: RECEIVE REIMBURSEMENT FROM CITY OF 
HENDERSON FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A MULTI-USE 
PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE FOR BOULDER CITY BYPASS, 
CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

4 36814 00 WESTERN NEVADA 
COLLEGE (WNC)

UTILIZE NDOT PARKING 
LOT

N - - - - 10/1/2014 12/31/2018           - Interlocal PD KISER 11-05-14: NO COST AGREEMENT FOR UTILIZATION 
OF NDOT PARKING LOTS FOR PURPOSES OF 
CONDUCTING MOTORCYCLE SAFETY COURSE 
CLASSES, STATEWIDE. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

5 40614 00 TMCC FLAGGER 
CERTIFICATION

N - - - - 11/5/2014 9/30/2016           - Interlocal OSCAR 
FUENTES

11-05-14: NO COST AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE 
FLAGGER CERTIFICATION TRAINING, WASHOE, 
CLARK, ELKO, WHITE PINE, ESMERALDA, AND 
HUMBOLDT COUNTIES. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

6 48614 00 US FOREST SERVICE REMOVAL FLOOD 
STRUCTURE

N - - - - 10/9/2014 12/31/2024           - Interlocal JENNIFER 
MANUBAY

10-09-14: NO COST AGREEMENT FOR THE 
OPERATION, MAINTENANCE, AND REMOVAL OF 
FLOOD DIVERSION STRUCTURE ADJACENT TO THE 
RAINBOW CANYON SUBDIVISION, CLARK COUNTY. 
NVB/L#: EXEMPT

7 47614 00 NV ENERGY UTILITY ADJUSTMENT 
FOR PROJECT NEON

Y 490,521.00       - 490,521.00       - 10/17/2014 10/30/2017           - Facility TINA KRAMER 10-17-14: ADJUSTMENT OF UTILITIES FOR 
RELOCATION OF TRANSMISSION FACILITIES FOR 
PROJECT NEON, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19831015840

8 50514 00 KERN RIVER GAS 
TRANS CO

AUTHORIZE 
PRELIMINARY 
ENGINEERING COSTS

Y 58,191.00         - 58,191.00         - 11/10/2014 10/30/2018           - Facility TINA KRAMER 11-10-14: AUTHORIZE KERN RIVER TO INCUR 
PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING COSTS AND PROVIDE 
REIMBURSEMENT FOR COSTS, CLARK COUNTY. NV 
B/L#: EXEMPT

9 42214 00 DART FFY 2015 GRANT NV-18-
X038/X032

Y 641,444.00       - 641,444.00       192,875.00       10/1/2014 9/30/2015           - Grantee PAT 
TORVINEN

10-01-14: FFY 2015 5311 FUNDS - GRANT NV-18-X038 
AND NV-18-X032 FOR ON-DEMAND RURAL PUBLIC 
TRANSPORTATION FOR ELDERLY CITIZENS, 
DOUGLAS COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

10 45814 00 HUMBOLDT COUNTY 
SENIOR CENTER

FFY 2015 GRANT NV-16-
X037/02

Y 150,659.00       - 150,659.00       30,132.00         10/1/2014 9/30/2015           - Grantee PAT 
TORVINEN

10-01-14: FFY 2015 5310 FUNDS GRANT NV-16-
X037/02 FOR RURAL ELDERLY AND DISABLED 
PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION, HUMBOLDT COUNTY. 
NV B/L#: EXEMPT

State of Nevada Department of Transportation

Executed Agreements - Informational

October 18, 2014 to November 21, 2014

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 4 of 20



11 39314 00 NYE COUNTY SENIOR 
NUTRITION

FFY 2015 5311 GRANT 
FUNDS

Y 209,413.00       -                    209,413.00       69,831.00         10/1/2014 9/30/2015           - Grantee PAT 
TORVINEN

11-03-14: FFY 2015 5311 GRANT FUNDING FOR 
RURAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM FOR 
ELDERLY AND DIASBLED CITIZENS, NYE COUNTY. 
NV B/L#: EXEMPT

12 38914 00 WHITE PINE COUNTY FFY 2015 5311 GRANT 
FUNDS

Y 34,000.00         -                    34,000.00         9,500.00           10/1/2014 9/30/2015           - Grantee PAT 
TORVINEN

10-20-14: FFY 2015 5311 GRANT FUNDING FOR DIAL-
A-RIDE RURAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION FOR 
SENIORS, AND DISABLED CITIZENS, WHITE PINE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

13 41914 00 WHITE PINE COUNTY FFY 2015 5310 GRANT 
FUNDS

Y 171,360.00       -                    171,360.00       34,272.00         10/1/2014 9/30/2015           - Grantee PAT 
TORVINEN

10-20-14: FFY 2015 5310 GRANT FUNDING FOR DIAL-
A-RIDE RURAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION FOR 
SENIORS, AND DISABLED CITIZENS, WHITE PINE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

14 46014 00 MB INVESTMENTS 
LMN, LLC

MULTIUSE LEASE S-546-
CL-001.77

N 26,000.00         -                    -                    26,000.00         9/29/2014 7/31/2034           - Lease TINA KRAMER 09-29-14: MULTI-USE LEASE FOR PARCEL S-546-CL-
001.771, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20041255500

15 48214 00 CURTIS TOLLEFSRUD QUINN RIVER 4 N 2,900.00           -                    -                    2,900.00           11/14/2014 3/31/2019           - Lease TINA KRAMER 11-14-14: LEASE OF QUINN RIVER #4 MAINTENANCE 
STATION HOUSE TO NDOT EMPLOYEE IN 
HUMBOLDT COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

16 48314 00 KAP UGLADE QUINN RIVER 3 N 2,900.00           -                    -                    2,900.00           11/14/2014 3/31/2019           - Lease TINA KRAMER 11-14-14: LEASE OF QUINN RIVER #3 MAINTENANCE 
STATION HOUSE TO NDOT EMPLOYEE IN 
HUMBOLDT COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

17 43214 00 ASSET INSIGHT 
TECHNOLOGIES

WINTER MAINTENANCE 
TRAINING

N 27,300.00         -                    27,300.00         -                    10/29/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

BARBARA 
STEARNS

10-29-14: WINTER MAINTENANCE SNOW AND ICE 
CONTROL TRAINING BASED ON THE AASHTO GUIDE 
FOR SNOW AND ICE CONTROL, ELKO AND WASHOE 
COUNTIES. NV B/L#: NV20141655007-S

18 51214 00 CDM SMITH NOA MITIGATION PLANS 
BC BYPASS

N 250,000.00       -                    250,000.00       -                    11/14/2014 5/31/2015           - Service 
Provider

TONY 
LORENZI

11-14-14: SERVICES FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
MITIGATION PLAN FOR NATURALLY OCCURRING 
ASBESTOS (NOA) ON US-93 BC BYPASS PART 1, 
PHASE 3, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L# NV19771008410-
S

19 12012 02 CH2M HILL INC PROPOSED INTERSTATE 
STUDY

Y 2,500,000.00    -                    2,599,497.28    -                    7/23/2012 12/31/2014 10/29/2014 Service 
Provider

KEVIN VERRE AMD 2 10-29-14: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
10-31-14 TO 12-31-14 DUE TO UNFORSEEN 
CIRCUMSTANCES RELATED TO DEPARTMENT 
PERSONNEL CHANGES.                                                                 
AMD 1 08-29-14: INCREASE AUTHORITY BY 
$99,497.28 FROM $2,500,000.00 TO $2,599,497.28, 
AND EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 09-30-14 
TO 10-31-14 TO COVER AN ADDITIONAL STUDY 
AREA.                                                                                                                  
07-23-12: A PROPOSED INTERSTATE ROUTE 
CORRIDOR STUDY FROM CASA GRANDE, ARIZONA 
TO LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN AREA; A 
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE PROPOSED HIGH 
PRIORITY CORRIDORS FROM THE MEXICAN 
BORDER TO CASA GRANDE, ARIZONA AND FROM 
THE LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN AREA TO THE 
CANADIAN BORDER IS NECESSARY FOR A 
COMPREHENSIVE MULTI-MODAL STRATEGY FOR 
THE IMPROVEMENT OF THE MOVEMENT OF 
GOODS, PEOPLE, AND COMMERCE, CLARK 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19931065492-R

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 5 of 20



20 46914 00 ECO GREEN 
MAINTENANCE

BUTTON POINT REST 
AREA

N 69,888.00         -                    69,888.00         -                    10/22/2014 6/30/2017           - Service 
Provider

SANDY 
SPENCER

10-22-14: Q3-004-15 FOR JANITORIAL AND 
MAINTENANCE SERVICE AT BUTTON POINT REST 
AREA ON I-80 IN HUMBOLDT COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV20111362322-Q

21 47014 00 ECO GREEN 
MAINTENANCE

VALMY REST AREA N 76,800.00         -                    76,800.00         -                    10/22/2014 6/30/2017           - Service 
Provider

SANDY 
SPENCER

10-22-14: Q3-005-15 FOR JANITORIAL AND 
MAINTENANCE SERVICE AT VALMY REST AREA ON I-
80 IN HUMBOLDT COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20111362322-
Q

22 47314 00 GENERAL FENCE INC REPLACE CATTLE 
GUARD

N 115,440.00       -                    115,440.00       -                    11/4/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

TRENT 
AVERETT

11-04-14: Q3-002-15 TO REMOVE AND REPLACE 
FENCE ON US93 FROM MP EL 112 TO EL 117 IN 
ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20061261860-Q

23 35214 00 INSTRON (ILLINOIS 
TOOL WORKS)

UPDATES FOR SATEC 
600 RD

N 37,450.00         -                    37,450.00         -                    10/27/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

DEB 
MCCURDY

10-27-14: SOFTWARE AND ETHERNET UPDATE FOR 
SATEC 600 RD AND UPGRADE FOR SATEC 
400HVL1008, CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: NV20031279724-
S

24 49114 00 JANITORIAL NIA COSGRAVE REST AREA 
SERVICES

N 72,000.00         -                    72,000.00         -                    11/14/2014 5/31/2017           - Service 
Provider

SANDY 
SPENCER

11-14-14: Q3-007-15 TO PROVIDE JANITORIAL AND 
MAINTENANCE SERVICES AT THE COSGRAVE REST 
AREA IN PERSHING COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV20121314575-Q

25 47914 00 KELLEY EROSION 
CONTROL

REMOVE WEEDS AT IR 
580

N 248,000.16       -                    248,000.16       -                    10/29/2014 4/30/2018           - Service 
Provider

MARLENE 
RIVERA

10-29-14: Q2-009-15 TO REMOVE WEEDS, 
HYDROSEED, AND PLANT ESTABLISHMENT IN 
WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19941048701-Q

26 46214 00 LAS VEGAS PAVING RECONSTRUCT 
SOUNDWALL

N 86,397.00         -                    86,397.00         -                    10/22/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

JENNIFER 
MANUBAY

10-22-14: Q1-008-15 TO RECONSTRUCT SOUNDWALL 
AND BARRIER RAIL ON I-515 SOUTH OVER 19TH ST 
IN CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19581000650-Q

27 46414 00 LAS VEGAS PAVING REPAIR BRIDGE OVER 
VEGAS DRIVE

N 50,350.00         -                    50,350.00         -                    10/22/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

JENNIFER 
MANUBAY

10-22-14: Q1-009-15 TO REPAIR UNDERSIDE DECK 
OF BRIDGE OVER US 95 AT VEGAS DRIVE IN CLARK 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19581000650-Q

28 46514 00 LAS VEGAS PAVING MILL FILL US 93 N 119,000.00       -                    119,000.00       -                    10/17/2014 9/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

JENNIFER 
MANUBAY

10-17-14: Q1-011-15 TO MILL AND FILL AT MP105 ON 
US 93 IN LINCOLN COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19581000650-
Q

29 47514 00 LIVE YOUR 
PASSIONATE LIFE, 
INC

EMOTIONAL 
INTELLIGENCE CLASS

N 7,600.00           -                    7,600.00           -                    11/12/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

MARK EVANS 11-12-14: TWO, ONE DAY SESSIONS OF EMOTIONAL 
INTELLIGENCE TRAINING, CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: 
NV20101134549-S

30 49014 00 REMINGTON 
CONSTRUCTION 
COMPANY

REPLACE CATTLE 
GUARDS I-80

N 99,999.99         -                    99,999.99         -                    11/14/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

SANDY 
SPENCER

11-14-14: Q3-001-14 TO REMOVE 4 CATTLEGUARDS 
AND PLACE 1 NEW CATTLEGUARD ON I-80 EXIT 310 
IN ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L #: NV20071516052-Q

31 44014 00 ROLTA AMERICAS, 
LLC

APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT

N 100,000.00       -                    100,000.00       -                    10/27/2014 10/1/2015           - Service 
Provider

SHERRI 
MCGEE

10-27-14: SUPPORT SERVICES FOR APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES, CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: 
NV20141600900-R

32 43914 00 SAIC APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT

N 100,000.00       -                    100,000.00       -                    11/12/2014 6/30/2015           - Service 
Provider

DEB 
MCCURDY

11-12-14: SUPPORT SERVICES FOR APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES, CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: 
NV20131264972-R

33 24314 00 TIMMONS GROUP, 
INC.

APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT

N 100,000.00       -                    100,000.00       -                    10/27/2014 10/1/2015           - Service 
Provider

SHERRI 
MCGEE

10-27-14: SUPPORT SERVICES FOR APPLICATION 
DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES, CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: 
NV20141168085-R

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 6 of 20



34 41514 00 UPRR UPRR PRELIMINARY 
ENGINEERING

Y 10,000.00         - 10,000.00         - 10/28/2014 10/31/2018           - Service 
Provider

BRANDON 
HENNING

10-28-14: PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING TO INSTALL 
CONCRETE SURFACE AT US 50 SILVER SPRIINGS 
CROSSING (DOT#740-912C), LYON COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19691003146-S

35 41614 00 UPRR UPRR PRELIMINARY 
ENGINEERING

Y 20,000.00         - 20,000.00         - 10/28/2014 10/31/2018           - Service 
Provider

BRANDON 
HENNING

10-28-14: PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING TO INSTALL 
CONCRETE SURFACE AT VARIOUS RAILROAD 
CROSSINGS, CHURCHILL AND WASHOE COUNTIES. 
NV B/L#: NV19691003146-S

36 49714 00 UPRR CONCRETE SURFACE 
FRANKLIN WY

Y 5,000.00           - 5,000.00           - 11/19/2014 12/31/2016           - Service 
Provider

BRANDON 
HENNING

11-19-14: PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING TO INSTALL 
CONCRETE SURFACE AT THE FRANKLIN WAY 
RAILROAD CROSSING, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19691003146-S

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 7 of 20



Attachment 

B 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 8 of 20



Attachment B

Line 
No Type Second Party Settlement Amount Notes

1 SETTLEMENT OF EMINENT DOMAIN 
LAWSUIT

SMITH FAMILY TRUST 900,000.00 THE SETTLEMENT PROVIDES FOR $900,000.00 TO BE PAID TO SMITH FAMILY TRUST FOR 0.34 ACRES 
OF COMMERCIAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1224 WESTERN AVENUE IN LAS VEGAS FOR PROJECT 
NEON.

2 SETTLEMENT OF A CLAIM FOR LOST 
GOODWILL

JYTYJK, LLC, DBA WIRELESS TOYZ 50,000.00 SETTLEMENT IN THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF $50,000.00 AND DISMISSAL OF THE COUNTER-CLAIM TO 
FULLY RESOLVE THE LAWSUIT FOR PROJECT NEON.  

State of Nevada Department of Transportation
Settlements - Informational

October 18, 2014 to November 21, 2014



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 10 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements
Page 11 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 12 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 13 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 14 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 15 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 16 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 17 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 18 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 19 of 20



Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
Page 20 of 20

























































































 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

December 1, 2014 
 

TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM: Rudy Malfabon, P.E., Director 
SUBJECT: December 15, 2014 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
ITEM #10: Discussion and Possible Approval of the Annual Work Program Fiscal Year 

(FY) 2015, the 2016-2017 Short Range and Long Range Element, and 
Possible Acceptance of the 2015-2018 Statewide Transportation 
Improvement Program (STIP) – For Possible Action.   

 

Summary: 

This agenda item is to request acceptance of the FFY15-FFY24 Statewide Transportation 
Improvement Program (STIP) and approval of the 2015 NDOT Work Program.  NDOT staff has 
spent the last 12 months working with federal and regional agencies, local governments and 
planning boards to develop the enclosed Transportation System Projects (TSP) notebook for 
fiscal years 2015-2024.  This document contains the: 
 

Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), FY 2015-2018 
 
And the Work Program containing the: 
Annual Work Program (AWP), FY 2015 
Short Range Element (SRE), FY 2016-2017 
Long Range Element (LRE), FY 2018-2024 
 

Following consultations with Nevada’s seventeen counties and a thirty-day public comment 
period, the STIP, upon your action today, is then submitted to the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA), the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for approval and to the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for consultation.   
 
Since the November 10, 2010 board meeting, staff has developed an Executive Summary 
describing what these documents contain, how they are organized, how to find projects in the 
documents and summary information of the projects contained in the document.   
  
 
Background:  
 
Statewide Transportation Improvement Program 
 
The Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) lists all capital and non-capital 
transportation projects proposed for funding under Title 23 of the Federal-Aid Highway Act or 
the Federal Transit Act. Capital transportation projects improve the capacity of our highways by 
increasing the number of lanes and building new roads and/or road extensions. Also covered 
are improvements to public and federal lands highways, transit projects, pedestrian walkways, 
and bicycle facilities. A detailed description of the Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP) is located in “STIP Literature.” Statewide and MPO Projects financed through 
federal funding sources are listed separately as “CAMPO (Carson Area MPO) STIP Projects”, 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

 



“Clark STIP Projects”, “TMPO (Tahoe Area MPO) STIP Projects”, “Washoe STIP Projects”, and 
“Statewide STIP Projects”. The tables list projects by funding category and by Federal Fiscal 
year.  Within the STIP, transportation programs such as Highway Safety Improvement, State 
Highway Preservation, Interstate Maintenance, Bridge, Transportation Alternatives Program, 
Scenic Byway, Recreational Trails and Safe Routes to School are listed as grouped categories 
and not by individual projects. 
 
The Work Program 
 
The Work Program (WP) is composed of three elements: 

The Annual Work Program (AWP) lists the current fiscal year projects to include the 
Betterment projects completed by State Forces and District Contracts; 

The Short Range Element (SRE) lists projects state and local entities would like to 
initiated within the next two (2) to three (3) years; and 

The Long Range Element (LRE) list projects in the planning stage or extensions of 
current projects to be completed in four (4) to ten (10) years. 

Projects in the WP are sorted by county with each of the seventeen (17) counties represented 
with its own section with additional sections labeled CAMPO (Carson Area MPO), Clark, TMPO 
(Tahoe MPO), Washoe and Regional for those projects not pertinent to a specific county. 
 
The Work Program satisfies Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 408.203 requiring the Director of 
NDOT to submit a three (3) and ten (10) year list of transportation projects to the State 
Legislative Council Bureau (LCB) every even year, and the State Legislature every odd year. A 
detailed description of projects can be found in the “Work Program” section of the TSP. 
 
Analysis: 
 
The attached Transportation System Projects (TSP) book includes a section that describes the 
project development and selection process and compliance information to the Federal 
Legislation (MAP-21) Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century.  The Department is using 
conservative estimates for incoming revenue to develop the work program for Fiscal Year 2015. 
 
Recommendation for Board Action: 

Approval of Fiscal Year 2015 Work Program, the 2016-2024 Short and Long Range Elements 
and acceptance of the 2015-2018 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program.  

 
List of Attachments: 
 
Transportation System Projects for FY 2015-2024 Executive Summary 
 
 
Prepared by: 

Joseph Spencer, Transportation & Multimodal Planning Division 



 

 

2015-2024 Transportation System Projects 

Executive Summary 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 2015 

1

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

What is the TSP? 

The Transportation System Projects (TSP) is made up of two components, the Federal Fiscal 

Year (FFY) 2015-2018 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and the 2015-2024 

Work Program. 

 

2

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

The WP is approved by the State Transportation Board while the STIP is approved by FHWA 

and FTA.   

 

 

 

3

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

4

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

The STIP contains all transportation projects in the state that utilize a federal fund source and 

are regionally significant projects using state or local fund sources.  The WP contains all projects 

utilizing state funds and projects using federal funds. Each program is developed in accordance with 

state regulations (NRS 408.203), United States Code of Federal Regulations (US CFR) title 23 

(highway), title 49 (transit) and modified by the current congressional transportation bill (MAP-21). 

 

 

5

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



TSP Document Organization 
The 2015-2024 TSP is in a searchable PDF format and all page numbers referenced in this document are the PDF page numbers. 

The TSP is broken down in various sections as detailed in the table of contents (Pg. 9-10).  Each section is delineated by the 

appropriate tab through the document. 

The STIP Process (Pg. 13-54) covers in detail the various funding programs and how they are allocated to NDOT through the federal 
regulations of CFR Title 23, CFR Title 49 and the most current Transportation Bill (MAP-21). 

20 Year Fiscally Constrained Projection (Pg. 55-58) shows NDOT’s estimated Receipts and Expenditures for the next 20 years. 

Certifications (Pg. 59-82) are the various documents showing which agency is registered as an MPO and the various Lobbyist 
activities for each MPO and NDOT. 

STIP Fiscal Constraint (pg. 83-90) shows the various levels of funding broken down by MPO and Non MPO Statewide projects for the 
FFY15-FFY18 funding years. 

RTCSNV Project Pages (Pg. 91-242) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding years.  Each project has 
a description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as highlighted on the page.  Each 
funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section. 

RTCWA Project Pages (Pg. 243-302) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding years.  Each project has 
a description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as highlighted on the page.  Each 
funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section. 

CAMPO Project Pages (Pg. 303-330) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding years.  Each project has 
a description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as highlighted on the page.  Each 
funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section. 

TMPO Project Pages (Pg. 331-336) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding years.  Each project has a 
description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as highlighted on the page.  Each 
funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section. 

6

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Non-MPO Statewide Project Pages (Pg. 337-418) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding years.  
Each project has a description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as highlighted on 
the page.  Each funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section. 

Tribal Transportation Program Project Pages (419-446) shows by project the levels of funding through the FFY15-FFY18 funding 
years.  Each project has a description, location, project sponsor, project implementer and a sum of the total project cost as 
highlighted on the page.  Each funding year (bottom) and funding type (right) is totaled in the Cost By Phase section.  This 
information is presented by reference as submitted to FHWA by the BIA in its entirety. 

Work Program (Pg. 447-630) shows construction projects NDOT intends to start work on or participate in during the current FFY, 
construction projects NDOT plans to award to contractors and major maintenance work initiated by NDOT which may be completed 
by the end of FFY15.  It also includes the short range (FFY16-FFY17) and the long range (FFY18-FFY24) project plans that NDOT and 
the various MPOs plan to complete during the next 10 years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



How to Search for Projects 

As a searchable PDF the best way to search for a project (either in the STIP or WP) is by route number or specific 

road name, milepost or specific detail that a project may have or cover. 

The FY 2015-2024 TSP is available in its entirety or by section located on the NDOT website, here: 

http://www.nevadadot.com/About_NDOT/NDOT_Divisions/Planning/Program_Development/Statewide_Transpor

tation_Improvement_Program.aspx  

To search the document follow the following steps:  

1. Hover your mouse over the bottom of the page until a black box appears.   

 

 

 

8

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment

http://www.nevadadot.com/About_NDOT/NDOT_Divisions/Planning/Program_Development/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Program.aspx
http://www.nevadadot.com/About_NDOT/NDOT_Divisions/Planning/Program_Development/Statewide_Transportation_Improvement_Program.aspx


2. Click the adobe icon on the far right to start the PDF program. 

 

 

3. Once open click on the binoculars on the left side of the screen to start the PDF search engine. 

 

9

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

4. Enter the phrase or word to search for a project (ex: by route, street name or project name). 

 

5. Repeat as necessary to find multiple projects. 

 

 

 

10

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

The following graphs show by percentage the funding breakdown by year of Federal 

Funds, State Funds, Other funds (mostly local funds) and Total funds.  These funds are 

compared between Clark County, Washoe County and the remaining Counties of the 

State.  The past years FFY2011-2014 show past obligations while the future years show 

planned obligations.  These funds are also compared between the 3 NDOT Districts 

(Purple, Blue and Red Pie Charts). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

11

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

12

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2011 $672,364,397
Other Funds 2011 Total Funds 2011

Total Other Dollars 2011 $23,687,833

Total State Dollars 2011 $245,400,407
Federal Funds 2011

Total Federal Dollars 2011 $403,276,157
State Funds 2011

51%

18%
31%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

51%

12%
37%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

61%

30%9%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

51%

16%33%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

13

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2012 $403,712,102
Other Funds 2012

Total Other Dollars 2012 $14,339,368

Total State Dollars 2012 $130,095,492
Federal Funds 2012 State Funds 2012

Total Funds 2012

Total Federal Dollars 2012 $259,277,243

43%

9%

48%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

9%
25%

66%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

71%

21%
8%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

33%
15%

52%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

14

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2013 $8,286,397 Total Funds 2013 $375,601,429

Total Federal Dollars 2013 $314,974,672 Total State Dollars 2013 $52,340,361
Federal Funds 2013 State Funds 2013

Total Funds 2013Other Funds 2013

43%

17%

40%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

37%16%

47%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

77%

9%14%

Chart Title

Clark Washoe Other Co's

43%

17%

40%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

15

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2014 $71,165,926

State Funds 2014

Total Funds 2014 $728,400,288

Total State Dollars 2014 $76,344,427

Total Funds 2014

Total Federal Dollars 2014 $580,889,935
Federal Funds 2014

Other Funds 2014

76%

9%15%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

16%19%

65%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

86%

11%3%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

71%

10%19%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

16

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2015 $400,288,538 Total Funds 2015 $1,581,692,828

Total State Dollars 2015 $750,777,928
Federal Funds 2015 State Funds 2015

Total Federal Dollars 2015 $430,626,362

Total Funds 2015Other Funds 2015

49%

13%

38%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

85%

1%14%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

41%

58%

1%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

64%

19%
17%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

17

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2016 $835,618,912

Total State Dollars 2016 $170,436,875
State Funds 2016Federal Funds 2016

Total Federal Dollars 2016 $404,842,738

Total Funds 2016Other Funds 2016
Total Other Dollars 2016 $260,339,299

67%

13%
20%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

5%13%

82%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

58%

38%
4%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

52%

21%

27%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

18

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2017 $68,855,558 Total Funds 2017 $414,966,765

Total Federal Dollars 2017 $283,846,996 Total State Dollars 2017 $62,264,211
Federal Funds 2017 State Funds 2017

Total Funds 2017Other Funds 2017

68%

10%
22%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

8%6%

86%

Chart Title

Clark Washoe Other Co's

46% 51%

3%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

56%

16%
28%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

19

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2018 $781,292,685Total Other Dollars 2018 $254,011,880

Total State Dollars 2018 $152,869,048
State Funds 2018

Total Funds 2018

Total Federal Dollars 2018 $374,491,757
Federal Funds 2018

Other Funds 2018

69%

8%23%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

22%12%

66%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

21%

78%

1%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

44%

32%
24%

Clark Washoe Other Co's

20

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

The following graphs show by percentage the funding breakdown by year of Federal 

Funds, State Funds, Other funds (mostly local funds) and Total funds.  These funds are 

compared between the 3 NDOT Districts of the State.  The past years FFY2011-2014 

show past obligations while the future years show planned obligations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

21

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

22

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2011 $23,687,833 Total Funds 2011 $672,364,397
Other Funds 2011 Total Funds 2011

Total Federal Dollars 2011 $403,276,157 Total State Dollars 2011 $245,400,407
Federal Funds 2011 State Funds 2011

54%

27%
19%

District 1 District 2 District 3

73%

20%
7%

District 1 District 2 District 3

62%

35%
3%

District 1 District 2 District 3

61%

25%14%

District 1 District 2 District 3

23

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2012 $14,339,368 Total Funds 2012 $403,712,102
Other Funds 2012 Total Funds 2012

Total Federal Dollars 2012 $259,277,243 Total State Dollars 2012 $130,095,492
Federal Funds 2012 State Funds 2012

48%

31%21%

District 1 District 2 District 3

29%

45%

26%

District 1 District 2 District 3

73%

26%1%

District 1 District 2 District 3

42% 36%

22%

District 1 District 2 District 3

24

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2013 $375,601,429Total Other Dollars 2013 $8,286,397

Total State Dollars 2013 $52,340,361

Other Funds 2013 Total Funds 2013

Total Federal Dollars 2013 $314,974,672
Federal Funds 2013 State Funds 2013

48%

21%
31%

District 1 District 2 District 3

54%

31%15%

District 1 District 2 District 3

86%

11%3%

District 1 District 2 District 3

50%

22%28%

District 1 District 2 District 3

25

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2014 $71,165,926 Total Funds 2014 $728,400,288

Total Federal Dollars 2014 $580,889,935 Total State Dollars 2014 $76,344,427

Other Funds 2014 Total Funds 2014

Federal Funds 2014 State Funds 2014

81%

14%5%

District 1 District 2 District 3

41% 43%

16%

District 1 District 2 District 3

86%

14%
0%

District 1 District 2 District 3

77%

17%6%

District 1 District 2 District 3

26

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2015 $400,288,538 Total Funds 2015 $1,581,692,828
Other Funds 2015 Total Funds 2015

Total Federal Dollars 2015 $430,626,362 Total State Dollars 2015 $750,777,928
Federal Funds 2015 State Funds 2015

58%

33%9%

District 1 District 2 District 3

41%

59%

0%

District 1 District 2 District 3

90%

9%
1%

District 1 District 2 District 3

69%

29%2%

District 1 District 2 District 3

27

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2016 $260,339,299 Total Funds 2016 $835,618,912
Other Funds 2016 Total Funds 2016

Total Federal Dollars 2016 $404,842,738 Total State Dollars 2016 $170,436,875
Federal Funds 2016 State Funds 2016

78%

20%
2%

District 1 District 2 District 3

59%

38%3%

District 1 District 2 District 3

8%

69%

23%

District 1 District 2 District 3

57%

36%
7%

District 1 District 2 District 3

28

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Funds 2017 $414,966,765Total Other Dollars 2017 $68,855,558

Total State Dollars 2017 $62,264,211

Other Funds 2017 Total Funds 2017

Total Federal Dollars 2017 $283,846,996
Federal Funds 2017 State Funds 2017

86%

14%0%

District 1 District 2 District 3

86%

14%0%

District 1 District 2 District 3

12%
33%

55%

District 1 District 2 District 3

69%

24%7%

District 1 District 2 District 3

29

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Total Other Dollars 2018 $254,011,880 Total Funds 2018 $781,292,685

Total Federal Dollars 2018 $374,491,757 Total State Dollars 2018 $152,869,048

Other Funds 2018 Total Funds 2018

Federal Funds 2018 State Funds 2018

81%

16%
3%

District 1 District 2 District 3

25%
44%

31%

District 1 District 2 District 3

21%
79%

0%

District 1 District 2 District 3

49%
44%

7%

District 1 District 2 District 3

30

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following table shows the Federal, State, Other and Total funding breakdown by 

county and district over the FFY2011-FFY2018 years (The raw data used to create the 

previous pie charts). 

31

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

32

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 5,093,039$        1% 25,783,582$      10% ‐$                   0% 2,793,667$       0% 50,312,081$        12% 674,857$          0.2% 939,634$          0.3% 5,588,939$       1%
Churchill 318,250$           0% 1,054,118$        0% 705,116$           0% ‐$                   0% 11,810,728$        3% 9,791,404$       2% 496,604$          0.2% 3,141,404$       1%
Clark 205,196,053$   51% 111,055,347$   43% 135,169,020$   43% 443,291,873$  76% 210,699,688$      49% 269,697,381$  67% 193,277,108$  68% 256,981,803$  69%
Douglas 12,436,615$      3% 471,244$           0% 3,776,211$        1% 12,897,665$     2% 4,740,110$          1% 4,571,529$       1% 570,538$          0.2% 570,538$          0.2%
Elko 48,790,905$      12% ‐$                    0% 75,464,574$      24% 12,738,541$     2% 31,486,978$        7% 1,716,028$       0.4% 377,646$          0.1% 10,447,646$     3%
Esmeralda ‐$                    0% 107,258$           0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0% 8,412,189$          2% 19,539$            0.0% 8,949,539$       3% 19,539$            0.01%
Eureka 13,161,632$      3% 9,078,841$        4% 724,213$           0% 5,375,532$       1% ‐$                      0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Humboldt 1,585,644$        0.4% 35,750,286$      14% 6,685,834$        2.1% 9,812,994$       2% 586,783$              0.1% 791,479$          0.2% 137,406$          0.05% 137,406$          0.04%
Lander 6,029,515$        1% 4,341,040$        2% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0.0% 151,600$              0.04% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lincoln ‐$                    0% 2,537,972$        1% ‐$                   0.00% 158,945$          0.03% 110,100$              0.03% 110,100$          0.03% 110,100$          0.04% 110,100$          0.03%
Lyon 3,977,022$        1% 22,280,327$      9% 247,746$           0% 6,261,356$       1.1% 2,777,103$          1% 76,876$            0.02% 1,097,676$       0.4% 76,876$            0.02%
Mineral 5,414,312$        1% 286,437$           0% 9,444$                0.0% ‐$                   0.00% 77,821$                0.02% 77,821$            0.02% 77,821$            0.03% 77,821$            0.02%
Nye ‐$                    0% 195,757$           0.1% 7,749$                0.00% 2,624,899$       0.5% 248,103$              0.1% 8,441,853$       2% 305,103$          0.1% 4,580,103$       1%
Pershing 298,002$           0.1% 835,018$           0% 55,935$             0.02% ‐$                   0.00% 56,800$                0.01% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% 12,210,309$     3%
Storey 600,239$           0.1% ‐$                    0.0% 30,864$             0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                      0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Washoe 72,376,933$      18% 23,518,209$      9% 53,291,140$      17% 53,733,275$     9% 55,422,959$        13% 54,070,519$     13% 28,499,469$     10% 29,735,921$     8%
White Pine 2,391,363$        1% 116,200$           0.0% 3,614,317$        1.1% 58,819$            0.0% 315,488$              0.1% 5,819,500$       1% 24,500$            0.01% 24,500$            0.01%
Statewide 25,606,634$      6% 21,865,607$      8% 35,192,509$      11% 31,142,368$     5% 53,417,831$        12% 48,983,852$     12% 48,983,852$     17% 50,788,852$     14%
Total 403,276,157$   100% 259,277,243$   100% 314,974,672$   100% 580,889,935$  100% 430,626,362$      100% 404,842,738$  100% 283,846,996$  100% 374,491,757$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 205,196,053$   54% 113,896,334$   48% 135,176,769$   48% 446,075,717$  81% 219,470,080$      58% 278,268,873$  78% 202,641,850$  86% 261,691,545$  81%
District 2 100,514,412$   27% 74,228,935$      31% 58,116,456$      21% 75,685,964$     14% 125,197,602$      33% 69,263,006$     19% 31,681,742$     13% 51,401,808$     16%
District 3 71,959,059$      19% 49,286,367$      21% 86,488,938$      31% 27,985,887$     5% 32,540,849$        9% 8,327,007$       2% 539,552$          0% 10,609,552$     3%
Total 377,669,523$   100% 237,411,636$   100% 279,782,163$   100% 549,747,567$  100% 377,208,531$      100% 355,858,886$  100% 234,863,144$  100% 323,702,905$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 1,499,899$        1% 3,060,905$        2% 1,100,541$        2% 3,755,280$       5% 4,208,228$          1% 6,159,443$       4% ‐$                   0% 245,000$          0.2%
Churchill 1,813,812$        1% 7,233,526$        5.6% 2,191,271$        4% 1,021,041$       1% 3,151,967$          0.4% 1,564,764$       1% ‐$                   0% 14,300,000$     9%
Clark 125,602,904$   51% 11,898,956$      9% 19,112,966$      37% 12,561,127$     16% 637,237,729$      85% 9,393,511$       6% 5,093,511$       8% 34,168,700$     22%
Douglas 4,967,249$        2% 1,410,305$        1% 1,573,723$        3% 6,108,131$       8% 170,828$              0.02% 843,489$          0.5% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Elko 11,766,462$      5% 13,533,991$      10% 4,565,933$        9% ‐$                   0% 4,446,305$          1% 5,577,077$       3% 9,000,000$       14% 42,405,000$     28%
Esmeralda 17,881,483$      7% 1,389,745$        1% 192,658$           0% ‐$                   0.0% 9,903,625$          1% 871,000$          1% 470,000$          0.8% ‐$                   0%
Eureka 1,200,287$        0.5% 9,851,494$        8% 1,968,775$        4% 5,813,016$       8% ‐$                      0% 2,000,000$       1% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Humboldt 1,945,761$        1% 7,998,722$        6% 406,287$           1% 1,944,558$       3% 891,243$              0.1% 6,941,926$       4% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lander 13,815$             0.01% ‐$                    0.00% ‐$                   0.0% 1,259,006$       1.65% 151,600$              0.02% 2,750,000$       2% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lincoln 79,002$             0.03% 135,579$           0% 2,241,719$        4% 6,172,652$       8% 6,522,856$          1% 382,835$          0.2% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lyon 860,801$           0.4% 7,619,041$        6% ‐$                   0% 4,846,371$       6% 5,734,748$          1% 1,968,179$       1% 10,900,000$     18% 13,600,000$     9%
Mineral 656,918$           0.3% ‐$                    0% 699,291$           1.3% ‐$                   0.0% 153,629$              0.02% 452,251$          0.3% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Nye 13,048,735$      5% 22,514,171$      17% 4,384,354$        8% 9,573,841$       13% 530,079$              0.07% 2,082,506$       1% ‐$                   0% 225,000$          0.1%
Pershing 2,162,857$        1% 103,949$           0.1% 879,648$           1.68% ‐$                   0% 249,134$              0.03% 3,032,271$       2% ‐$                   0% 14,942,648$     10%
Storey ‐$                    0% 4,287,765$        3% 1,625$                0% ‐$                   0% 47,000,000$        6% 70,043,127$     41% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Washoe 29,744,533$      12% 32,637,399$      25% 8,412,678$        16% 14,220,474$     19% 9,148,747$          1% 21,579,686$     13% 3,781,700$       6% 17,468,700$     11%
White Pine 11,274$             0.005% 763,116$           0.6% 142,726$           0% 2,167,814$       3% 695,600$              0.1% 17,875,810$     10% 15,600,000$     25% ‐$                   0%
Statewide 32,144,615$      13% 5,656,828$        4% 4,466,165$        9% 6,901,117$       9% 20,581,610$        3% 16,919,000$     10% 17,419,000$     28% 15,514,000$     10%
Total 245,400,407$   100% 130,095,492$   100% 52,340,361$      100% 76,344,427$     100% 750,777,928$      100% 170,436,875$  100% 62,264,211$     100% 152,869,048$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 156,612,124$   73% 35,938,451$      29% 25,931,697$      54% 28,307,621$     41% 654,194,289$      90% 12,729,852$     8% 5,563,511$       12% 34,393,700$     25%
District 2 41,706,069$      20% 56,352,890$      45% 14,858,777$      31% 29,951,296$     43% 69,817,281$        10% 105,643,210$  69% 14,681,700$     33% 60,556,348$     44%
District 3 14,937,599$      7% 32,147,323$      26% 7,083,721$        15% 11,184,393$     16% 6,184,748$          1% 35,144,813$     23% 24,600,000$     55% 42,405,000$     31%
Total 213,255,792$   100% 124,438,664$   100% 47,874,196$      100% 69,443,310$     100% 730,196,318$      100% 153,517,875$  100% 44,845,211$     100% 137,355,048$  100%

Table 1 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by County by Federal Dollars

County
Federal Dollars 2011 Federal Dollars 2012 Federal Dollars 2013 Federal Dollars 2014 Federal Dollars 2015 Federal Dollars 2016 Federal Dollars 2017 Federal Dollars 2018

Table 3 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by County by State Dollars
State Dollars 2015 State Dollars 2016 State Dollars 2017 State Dollars 2018

County
State Dollars 2011 State Dollars 2012 State Dollars 2013 State Dollars 2014

Table 2 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by District by Federal Dollars
Federal Dollars 2015 Federal Dollars 2016 Federal Dollars 2017 Federal Dollars 2018

Table 4 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by District by State Dollars

District
Federal Dollars 2011 Federal Dollars 2012 Federal Dollars 2013 Federal Dollars 2014

State Dollars 2015 State Dollars 2016 State Dollars 2017 State Dollars 2018
District

State Dollars 2011 State Dollars 2012 State Dollars 2013 State Dollars 2014

33

DRAFT
Item #10 Attachment



$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 216,821$           1% 493,529$           3% ‐$                   0% 29,700$            0% 1,915,903$          0.5% 546,375$          0.2% 622,949$          1% 741,026$          0.3%
Churchill 16,750$             0.1% 144,387$           1.01% 22,380$             0.3% ‐$                   0.0% 121,156$              0.03% 106,956$          0.04% 117,756$          0.2% 121,956$          0.05%
Clark 14,496,748$      61% 10,141,736$      71% 6,375,293$        77% 61,366,254$     86% 162,649,819$      41% 152,224,949$  58% 32,019,542$     47% 52,694,587$     21%
Douglas 686,637$           3% 20,396$             0% 22,410$             0.3% 2,059,688$       3% 275,235$              0.1% 281,926$          0.1% 240,778$          0.3% 240,778$          0.1%
Elko 562,037$           2% ‐$                    0.0% 147,595$           2% ‐$                   0.0% 335,450$              0.1% 3,725,713$       1% 248,087$          0.4% 248,087$          0.1%
Esmeralda 2,381$                0.01% ‐$                    0.00% ‐$                   0.00% ‐$                   0% 42,601$                0.01% 3,596$               0% 3,596$               0.01% 3,596$               0%
Eureka 55,100$             0.2% 59,828$             0.42% ‐$                   0.0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                      0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Humboldt 29,914$             0.1% 2,500$                0% ‐$                   0.00% ‐$                   0.00% 66,879$                0.02% 191,131$          0.1% 28,347$            0.04% 28,347$            0.01%
Lander ‐$                    0% 25,230$             0.18% ‐$                   0.00% ‐$                   0.0% 19,900$                0% 4,500,000$       2% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lincoln ‐$                    0% ‐$                    0.0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0% 34,900$                0.01% 34,900$            0.01% 34,900$            0.1% 34,900$            0.01%
Lyon 139,804$           0.6% 18,681$             0.1% ‐$                   0.0% 5,814$               0.01% 126,663$              0.03% 47,583$            0.02% 73,383$            0.1% 47,583$            0.02%
Mineral 5,907$                0.02% 1,050$                0.01% ‐$                   0.00% ‐$                   0% 39,154$                0.01% 39,154$            0.02% 39,154$            0.1% 39,154$            0.02%
Nye ‐$                    0% 40,786$             0.28% ‐$                   0.0% ‐$                   0% 75,543$                0.02% 75,543$            0.03% 75,543$            0.1% 75,543$            0.03%
Pershing ‐$                    0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0% 14,200$                0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Storey 31,591$             0.1% ‐$                    0.00% ‐$                   0.00% ‐$                   0% ‐$                      0% ‐$                    0% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Washoe 7,185,177$        30% 2,963,738$        21% 773,840$           9% 7,704,470$       11% 234,230,043$      59% 98,254,653$     38% 35,044,703$     51% 199,429,503$  79%
White Pine ‐$                    0% ‐$                    0% 47,500$             1% ‐$                   0.0% 43,772$                0.01% 9,500$               0% 9,500$               0.01% 9,500$               0%
Statewide 258,966$           1% 427,507$           3.0% 897,379$           11% ‐$                   0% 297,320$              0.1% 297,320$          0.1% 297,320$          0.4% 297,320$          0.1%
Total 23,687,833$      100% 14,339,368$      100% 8,286,397$        100% 71,165,926$     100% 400,288,538$      100% 260,339,299$  100% 68,855,558$     100% 254,011,880$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 14,499,129$      62% 10,182,522$      73% 6,375,293$        86% 61,366,254$     86% 162,802,863$      41% 152,338,988$  59% 202,641,850$  86% 52,808,626$     21%
District 2 8,282,687$        35% 3,641,781$        26% 818,630$           11% 9,799,672$       14% 236,722,354$      59% 99,276,647$     38% 31,681,742$     13% 200,620,000$  79%
District 3 647,051$           2.8% 87,558$             0.6% 195,095$           3% ‐$                   0% 466,001$              0% 8,426,344$       3% 539,552$          0% 285,934$          0%
Total 23,428,867$      100% 13,911,861$      100% 7,389,018$        100% 71,165,926$     100% 399,991,218$      100% 260,041,979$  100% 234,863,144$  100% 253,714,560$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 6,809,759$        1% 29,338,016$      7% 1,100,541$        0% 6,578,647$       1% 56,436,212$        4% 7,380,675$       1% 1,562,583$       0.4% 6,574,965$       1%
Churchill 2,148,812$        0% 8,432,031$        2.1% 2,918,768$        1% 1,021,041$       0% 15,083,851$        1% 11,463,124$     1% 614,360$          0.1% 17,563,360$     2%
Clark 345,295,704$   51% 133,096,038$   33% 160,657,279$   43% 517,219,254$  71% 1,010,587,236$   64% 431,315,841$  52% 230,390,161$  56% 343,845,090$  44%
Douglas 18,090,501$      3% 1,901,945$        0% 5,372,344$        1% 21,065,484$     3% 5,186,173$          0.3% 5,696,944$       1% 811,316$          0.2% 811,316$          0%
Elko 61,119,404$      9% 13,533,991$      3% 80,178,102$      21% 12,738,541$     2% 36,268,733$        2% 11,018,818$     1% 9,625,733$       2% 53,100,733$     7%
Esmeralda 17,883,864$      3% 1,497,003$        0% 192,658$           0.1% ‐$                   0.0% 18,358,415$        1% 894,135$          0.1% 9,423,135$       2% 23,135$            0.003%
Eureka 14,417,019$      2% 18,990,163$      5% 2,692,988$        1% 11,188,548$     2% ‐$                      0% 2,000,000$       0.2% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Humboldt 3,561,319$        0.5% 43,751,508$      11% 7,092,121$        1.9% 11,757,551$     2% 1,544,905$          0.1% 7,924,536$       1% 165,753$          0.04% 165,753$          0.02%
Lander 6,043,330$        1% 4,366,270$        1.1% ‐$                   0% 1,259,006$       0.2% 323,100$              0.02% 7,250,000$       1% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Lincoln 79,002$             0.01% 2,673,551$        0.7% 2,241,719$        0.60% 6,331,597$       1% 6,667,856$          0.4% 527,835$          0.1% 145,000$          0.03% 145,000$          0.02%
Lyon 4,977,627$        1% 29,918,049$      7.4% 247,746$           0% 11,113,541$     2% 8,638,514$          0.5% 2,092,638$       0.3% 12,071,059$     3% 13,724,459$     2%
Mineral 6,077,137$        1% 287,487$           0% 708,735$           0% ‐$                   0.0% 270,604$              0.02% 569,226$          0.1% 116,975$          0.03% 116,975$          0.01%
Nye 13,048,735$      2% 22,750,714$      6% 4,392,103$        1% 12,198,740$     2% 853,725$              0.1% 10,599,902$     1% 380,646$          0.1% 4,800,646$       1%
Pershing 2,460,859$        0.4% 938,967$           0.2% 935,583$           0.2% ‐$                   0.0% 320,134$              0.02% 3,032,271$       0.4% ‐$                   0% 27,152,957$     3%
Storey 631,830$           0.1% 4,287,765$        1% 32,489$             0.0% ‐$                   0.0% 47,000,000$        3% 70,043,127$     8% ‐$                   0% ‐$                   0%
Washoe 109,306,643$   16% 59,119,346$      15% 62,477,658$      17% 75,658,219$     10% 298,801,749$      19% 173,904,858$  21% 67,325,872$     16% 246,634,124$  32%
White Pine 2,402,637$        0.4% 879,316$           0.2% 3,804,543$        1.0% 2,226,633$       0% 1,054,860$          0.1% 23,704,810$     3% 15,634,000$     4% 34,000$            0%
Statewide 58,010,215$      9% 27,949,942$      7% 40,556,053$      11% 38,043,485$     5% 74,296,761$        5% 66,200,172$     8% 66,700,172$     16% 66,600,172$     9%
Total 672,364,397$   100% 403,712,102$   100% 375,601,429$   100% 728,400,288$  100% 1,581,692,828$   100% 835,618,912$  100% 414,966,765$  100% 781,292,685$  100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 376,307,305$   61% 160,017,306$   43% 167,483,759$   50% 535,749,592$  78% 1,036,467,232$   69% 443,337,713$  58% 240,338,942$  69% 348,893,871$  49%
District 2 150,503,168$   24% 134,223,606$   36% 73,793,864$      22% 115,436,932$  17% 431,737,237$      29% 274,182,863$  36% 82,502,165$     24% 312,578,156$  44%
District 3 87,543,709$      14% 81,521,248$      22% 93,767,754$      28% 39,170,280$     6% 39,191,598$        3% 51,898,164$     7% 25,425,486$     7% 53,300,486$     7%
Total 614,354,182$   100% 375,762,160$   100% 335,045,376$   100% 690,356,803$  100% 1,507,396,067$   100% 769,418,740$  100% 348,266,593$  100% 714,772,513$  100%

Table 5 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by County by Other Dollars
Other Dollars 2015 Other Dollars 2016 Other Dollars 2017 Other Dollars 2018

Table 7 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by County by Total Dollars

County
Other Dollars 2011 Other Dollars 2012 Other Dollars 2013 Other Dollars 2014

Total Dollars 2015 Total Dollars 2016 Total Dollars 2017 Total Dollars 2018
County

Total Dollars 2011 Total Dollars 2012 Total Dollars 2013 Total Dollars 2014

District
Other Dollars 2011 Other Dollars 2012 Other Dollars 2013 Other Dollars 2014

Table 6 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by District by Other Dollars

Table 8 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned Obligations by District by Total Dollars

District
Total Dollars 2011 Total Dollars 2012 Total Dollars 2013 Total Dollars 2014 Total Dollars 2015 Total Dollars 2016 Total Dollars 2017 Total Dollars 2018

Other Dollars 2015 Other Dollars 2016 Other Dollars 2017 Other Dollars 2018

34

DRAFT
Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following shows a list of top projects by county for the next four years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

35

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

36

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



The following is a list summary list of major projects by county that are in the FFY2015-2018 STIP utilizing various fund sources

Carson City

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

CC200701 US 395 Carson City Freeway PKG 2B-3 42,000,000$     

CC20140017 I580 Carson City Road Rehab 4,900,000$       

Total 42,000,000$     -$                   -$                 4,900,000$       

Churchill

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

CH20110001 US 95 Shoulder Widening and Mill and Fill 10,000,000$     

Total -$                   10,000,000$     -$                 -$                   

Elko

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

EL20130003 I 80 Oasis Mill and Fill 19,000,000$     

EL20100045 I 80 Pequop Animal Corssing 11,008,053$     

EL20140026 I 80 W Carlin Mill and Fill 5,817,000$       

EL20140025 SR 277 Lamoille Highway Mill and Fill 5,217,000$       

EL20130001 US 6 Shoulder Widening 9,400,000$    

Total 30,008,053$     -$                   9,400,000$    11,034,000$     

Humboldt

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

HU20110002 Eden Valley Road Replace Birdge B-1658 5,402,000$       

Total -$                   5,402,000$       -$                 -$                   

Lyon/Storey

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

XS20140015 USA Parkway 47,000,000$     70,000,000$     

Total 47,000,000$     70,000,000$     -$                 -$                   

37

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Nye

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

NY20130001 US 95 Shoulder Widening 45,000,000$     

NY20140005 SR 160 Widen to4 Lanes 4,515,000$       

NY20140002 SR 372 at Pahrump Valley Blvd Construct Roundabout 2,225,000$       

NY20140001 SR 372 at Blagg Road Construct Roundabout 1,825,000$       

Total -$                   8,565,000$       -$                 45,000,000$     

Pershing

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

PE20100023 I 80 Dun Glenn Interchange Mill and Fill 12,852,957$     

Total -$                   -$                   -$                 12,852,957$     

White Pine

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

WP20140012 US 93 North of McGill Mill and Fill 6,262,000$       

Total -$                   6,262,000$       -$                 -$                   

38

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Washoe

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

WA200405
Pyramid Highway at McCarran Blvd Intersection Improvements 39,885,000$     

WA20120169
4th Street/Prater Way Cooridor at Evans Ave to Pyramid Way 

Multimodal Improvements 44,535,000$     

WA20140047 Kuenzli Lane to Pyramid Way Multimodal Improvemnts 6,451,000$       

WA20140045
Truckee River in Verdi Bridge Scour Countermeasures B-764 and G-

722
5,713,000$       

WA20130088
Construct 6 Lane Road way from South Meadows Parkway to Greg 

Street (South East Connector)
190,000,000$   

WA20150015 Widen Mira Loma Drive to Greg Street 45,000,000$     

WA200580 Construct New Interchange West of Tracy Clark 78,300,000$     

WA200607 Construct Interchange Improvements at Garson Road 78,300,000$     

WA2002231 Interchange Improvements at Patrick 9,100,000$       

WA20140048  SR 431 Truck Escape Ramp 8,100,000$       

Total 282,985,000$   50,248,000$     -$                 172,151,000$   

39

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



Clark

TSP Number Project Title FFY15 FFY16 FFY17 FFY18

CL200150013 CC-215 Northern Beltway 46,000,000$     

CL20140083 CC-215 Western Beltway 50,000,000$     

CL2006108 Construct New Bridge at Laughlin/Bullhead 35,550,041$     

CL200901 I 15 Interchange at Starr Avenue 41,184,549$     

CL20140134 MLK/Industrial Connector 27,571,167$     

CL200902 Rainbow Boulevard Improvements 11,625,979$     

NV20130054 Construct New Interchange at Sheep Mountain Parkway 16,541,000$  

CL20150003 Mandalay Bay Monorail Extension 90,000,000$     

CL200801 Construct new Interchange in Mesquite 22,000,000$     

CL20140073 Widen SR 160 Phase 1 25,000,000$     

CL20140074 Widen SR 160 Phase 2 45,000,000$     

CL20140071 Project Neon 546,000,000$   

CL200916 Widen I 15 North Phase 2 45,000,000$     

CL20140077 Widen I 15 North Phase 2B 37,000,000$  

CL20140083 Widen I 15 North Phase 3B 17,100,000$     

CL20140033 New Ramps I 15 North Phase 4 40,000,000$     

CL20130001 I 515 Seismic Retrofit at Las Vegas Viaduct 26,000,000$     

CL20120116 SR 604 Las Vegas Blvd Mill and Fill 16,000,000$     

CL20140085 Bridge Rehab Laughlin Highway SR 163 Rehab 10,000,000$  

CL20120114 SR 593 Tropicana Avenue Roadbed Modification 12,000,000$     

CL20140082 Boulder Bypass Utility Work 16,532,461$     

CL200704 US 95 North Phase 3A 55,300,000$     

CL20140123 I 15/CC 215 Tropical Interchange 12,571,750$     

CL20140004 Flamingo Road Corridor Improvements 40,300,000$     

Total 761,132,461$   303,747,187$   63,541,000$  155,856,299$   

40

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following shows a summary of funds by Federal, State, Other and Total funds 

for the past four years and the future four years. 

41

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



 

42

DRAFT

Item #10 Attachment



$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 33,670,288$               2% 57,515,511$        4% Carson City 9,416,625$          2% 10,612,671$        1%
Churchill 2,077,484$                 0.1% 25,240,140$        2% Churchill 12,259,650$        2% 19,016,731$        2%
Clark 894,712,293$             57% 930,655,980$      62% Clark 169,175,952$       34% 685,893,451$      60%
Douglas 29,581,735$               2% 10,452,715$        1% Douglas 14,059,408$        3% 1,014,317$          0%
Elko 136,994,020$             9% 44,028,298$        3% Elko 29,866,386$        6% 61,428,382$        5%
Esmeralda 107,258$                      0.0% 17,400,806$        1% Esmeralda 19,463,886$        4% 11,244,625$        1%
Eureka 28,340,218$               2% ‐$                      0% Eureka 18,833,572$        4% 2,000,000$          0%
Humboldt 53,834,757$               3% 1,653,074$          0.1% Humboldt 12,295,328$        2% 7,833,169$          1%
Lander 10,370,555$               1% 151,600$              0.01% Lander 1,272,821$          0.3% 2,901,600$          0%
Lincoln 2,696,917$                 0.2% 440,400$              0.03% Lincoln 8,628,952$          2% 6,905,691$          1%
Lyon 32,766,451$               2% 4,028,531$          0.3% Lyon 13,326,213$        3% 32,202,927$        3%
Mineral 5,710,193$                 0.4% 311,284$              0.02% Mineral 1,356,209$          0.3% 605,880$              0%
Nye 2,828,405$                 0.2% 13,575,162$        1% Nye 49,521,101$        10% 2,837,585$          0%
Pershing 1,188,955$                 0.1% 12,267,109$        1% Pershing 3,146,454$          1% 18,224,053$        2%
Storey 631,103$                      0.0% ‐$                      0% Storey 4,289,390$          1% 117,043,127$      10%
Washoe 202,919,557$             13% 167,728,868$      11% Washoe 85,015,084$        17% 51,978,833$        5%
White Pine 6,180,699$                 0.4% 6,183,988$          0.4% White Pine 3,084,930$          1% 34,171,410$        3%
Statewide 113,807,118$             7% 202,174,387$      14% Statewide 49,168,725$        10% 70,433,610$        6%
Total 1,558,418,007$          100% 1,493,807,853$   100% Total 504,180,686$       100% 1,136,348,062$   100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 900,344,873$             62% 962,072,348$      74% District 1 246,789,892$       54% 706,881,352$      66%
District 2 308,545,767$             21% 277,544,158$      21% District 2 142,869,032$       31% 250,698,539$      24%
District 3 235,720,250$             16% 52,016,960$        4% District 3 65,353,037$        14% 108,334,561$      10%
Total 1,444,610,889$          100% 1,291,633,466$   100% Total 455,011,961$       100% 1,065,914,452$   100%

Table 1 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by District by Federal Dollars

County
Federal Dollars FFY11‐14 Federal Dollars FFY 15‐18

Table 2 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by State Dollars

County
State Dollars FFY11‐14 State Dollars FFY 15‐18

Table 1 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by Federal Dollars

Table 2 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by State Dollars

County
State Dollars FFY11‐14 State Dollars FFY 15‐18

County
Federal Dollars FFY11‐14 Federal Dollars FFY 15‐18

43

DRAFT
Item #10 Attachment



$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
Carson City 740,050$                      1% 3,826,253$          0% Carson City 43,826,963$        2% 71,954,435$        2%
Churchill 183,517$                      0% 467,824$              0% Churchill 14,520,651$        1% 44,724,695$        1%
Clark 92,380,031$               79% 399,588,897$      41% Clark 1,156,268,276$    53% 2,016,138,328$   56%
Douglas 2,789,131$                 2% 1,038,717$          0% Douglas 46,430,274$        2% 12,505,749$        0%
Elko 709,632$                      1% 4,557,337$          0% Elko 167,570,038$       8% 110,014,017$      3%
Esmeralda 2,381$                          0% 53,389$                0% Esmeralda 19,573,525$        1% 28,698,820$        1%
Eureka 114,928$                      0% ‐$                      0% Eureka 47,288,718$        2% 2,000,000$          0%
Humboldt 32,414$                        0% 314,704$              0% Humboldt 66,162,499$        3% 9,800,947$          0%
Lander 25,230$                        0% 4,519,900$          0% Lander 11,668,606$        1% 7,573,100$          0%
Lincoln ‐$                              0% 139,600$              0% Lincoln 11,325,869$        1% 7,485,691$          0%
Lyon 164,299$                      0% 295,212$              0% Lyon 46,256,963$        2% 36,526,670$        1%
Mineral 6,957$                          0% 156,616$              0% Mineral 7,073,359$          0% 1,073,780$          0%
Nye 40,786$                        0% 302,172$              0% Nye 52,390,292$        2% 16,714,919$        0%
Pershing ‐$                              0% 14,200$                0% Pershing 4,335,409$          0% 30,505,362$        1%
Storey 31,591$                        0% ‐$                      0% Storey 4,952,084$          0% 117,043,127$      3%
Washoe 18,627,225$               16% 566,958,902$      58% Washoe 306,561,866$       14% 786,666,603$      22%
White Pine 47,500$                        0% 72,272$                0% White Pine 9,313,129$          0% 40,427,670$        1%
Statewide 1,583,852$                 1% 1,189,280$          0% Statewide 164,559,695$       8% 273,797,277$      8%
Total 117,479,524$             100% 983,495,275$      100% Total 2,180,078,217$    100% 3,613,651,190$   100%

$ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total $ % of Total
District 1 92,423,198$               80% 570,592,327$      50% District 1 1,239,557,962$    62% 2,239,546,027$   64%
District 2 22,542,770$               19% 568,300,743$      49% District 2 473,957,569$       24% 1,096,543,440$   31%
District 3 929,704$                      1% 9,717,831$          1% District 3 302,002,991$       15% 170,069,352$      5%
Total 115,895,672$             100% 1,148,610,901$   100% Total 2,015,518,522$    100% 3,506,158,819$   100%

Table 3 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by Other Dollars

County
Other Dollars FFY11‐14 Other Dollars FFY 15‐18

Table 4 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by Total Dollars

County
Total Dollars FFY11‐14 Total Dollars FFY 15‐18

Total Dollars FFY11‐14 Total Dollars FFY 15‐18

Table 3 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by Other Dollars

Table 4 ‐ FY2011‐2014 Past Obligations and FFY 2015‐2018 Planned 
Obligations Four Year Summary by County by Total Dollars

County
Other Dollars FFY11‐14 Other Dollars FFY 15‐18

County

44

DRAFT
Item #10 Attachment



 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

           
         November 21, 2014   

TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors  
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director   
SUBJECT:      December 15, 2014 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
ITEM #11:  Receive a Report of Status of Project NEON – Informational Item only 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary: 
 
This item is a follow up discussion from below Board Meetings: 

• June 25, 2012  
• November 6, 2012 
• April 8, 2013 
• June 10, 2013 
• October 14, 2013 
• January 13, 2014 
• April 14, 2014 
• August 18, 2014 

The following is an update on the progress of Project NEON. 
 
Schedule 
 
The Project Team has developed a schedule for the Design-Build Procurement for Project 
NEON. 
 
City of Las Vegas 
 
The City of Las Vegas and the Department have agreed to include the Grand Central 
Parkway/Industrial Road Connection. 
 
Update and Status of Right of Way (ROW) 
 
The Department is continuing ROW acquisitions for Project NEON. 
 
Background: 
 
The purpose of this agenda item is to provide an update on Project NEON progress. 
 
  

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

 



Analysis: 
 
Schedule 
 
The Project Team released a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for the Design Build 
Procurement on September 23, 2014.  Statements of Qualifications were due on November 20, 
2014.   
 
The project team is in the process of developing a draft Request for Proposals (RFP) and 
anticipates release of the RFP in March 2015. 
 
Major Milestones: 
 
December 2014 – Proposers Shortlisted 
January 2015 – Release of Draft RFP to the Shortlisted Proposers 
March 2015 – Release of Final RFP to the Shortlisted Proposers 
August 2015  – Proposals Due 
October 2015  – Preferred Proposer Selection (provided interviews are not necessary) 
December 2015 – Contract Execution 
 
City of Las Vegas 
 
The Department is currently working with the City of Las Vegas to draft a new agreement 
specific to the Design Build procurement method.  This agreement will include the City funded 
portions of Phase 2 as well as the Grand Central Parkway/Industrial Road Connection (Phase 
A).   
 
Update and Status of Right of Way 
 
ROW acquisitions are continuing to progress.  The most up to date information will be provided 
to the Board as part of the presentation. 
 
The Next Steps: 
 
The project team will continue to develop the RFP and proceed with the ROW acquisition 
process. 

 
List of Attachments: 
 
None 
 
Recommendation for Board Action:   
 
Informational item only. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Cole Mortensen, Senior Project Manager 
 



 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM: Rudy Malfabon, Director 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax: (775) 888-7201 

 
 
 
 

November 24, 2014 

SUBJECT: December 15, 2014 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item # 12: Briefing on the 2014 State Performance Management Report – 

Informational item only 
 

 

 
Summary: 

 
In accordance with NRS 408.133, the Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) has 
developed the updated FY 2014 Performance Management Report.    NDOT would like to brief 
the Transportation Board of Directors on this report prior to submitting to the Legislature. 

 
The major components of the report include: 

 
• Performance Management Dashboard (Executive Summaries) 
• Detailed Performance Management Data 
• Major Projects Annual Status Report 
• Benefit-Cost Analysis of Capacity Projects 
• Project Priority Rationale 
• Performance Management Plan 
• Las Vegas Convention And Visitors Authority Funded Projects 

 
 
Background: 

 
NDOT’s performance management is a collaborative process in which all the major divisions of 
the Department are involved in monitoring their annual and ultimate performance targets 
resulting in a customer-oriented, balanced, effective, efficient, transparent and performancebased 
decision making process. It is a dynamic process and improvements are incorporated into the 
performance management process as needed.  

 
NDOT’s performance management plays a vital role in the performance-based decision making 
process by; 

1) Ensuring investment accountability and transparency. 

2) Tracking and monitoring system performance.  

3) Helping to identify and implement efficient and cost effective performance-based programs. 

4) Linking projects to the vision, mission, and goals of the department.  

5) Helps to align performance targets with customer expectations. 

6) Helps in delivering high quality projects. 

 
 
 

  



Analysis: 

Of the 15 Performance Measures that the department monitors and tracks, all but three; Improve 
Employee Satisfaction, Maintain NDOT Facilities, and Emergency Management, Security and 
Continuation of Operations did not meet their performance targets. 

Five Performance Measures with at least two targets partially met their targets and they are; Reduce 
Work Place Accidents, Streamline Project Delivery-Bid opening to Construction, Maintain State 
Highway Pavement, and Streamline Project Delivery-Schedule and Estimate for Bid Advertisement. 

Recommendation for Board Action: 

Staff recommends that the Transportation Board accept the 2014 State Performance Management 
Report.   

List of Attachments: 

A.    Draft 2014 State Performance Management Report 

Prepared by: 

Peter Aiyuk, Chief Performance Analysis Engineer 



2014 
PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
REPORT 

NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

December 2014

2014 
PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT 

REPORT 
 

 
 

 

 

2014 
PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT 

REPORT 
 

 
 

 

 DRAFT1

Item #12 Attachment A



I

Prepared by the
Performance Analysis Division

NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
1263 SOUTH STEWART STREET

CARSON CITY, NV 89712
www.nevadadot.com

Rudy Malfabon, P.E.
Director

Brian Sandoval
Governor

2014
PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT

REPORT 

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
DEPARTMENT VISION, MISSION, AND GOALS ......................................................................... 1 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................... 2 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT DASHBOARD  (EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES) .................... 3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......................................................................................................... 5 

PERFORMANCE MEASURES .................................................................................................. 7 

PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD ............................................................................................... 8 

DETAILED PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT DATA ............................................................... 17 

STATE HIGHWAY FUND ANNUAL REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES ................................. 89 

MAJOR PROJECTS  ANNUAL STATUS REPORT....................................................................... 94 

TYPICAL PROJECT DEVELOPMENT PROCESS ................................................................. 95 

PROJECT STATUS SHEET EXPLANATION ......................................................................... 96 

MAJOR PROJECTS SUMMARY SHEETS .................................................................................... 97 

APPENDICES ................................................................................................................................. 129 

APPENDIX A ........................................................................................................................... 130 

BENEFIT-COST ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY PROJECTS ........................................... 131 

DISCUSSION OF THE CALCULATIONS OF COSTS AND BENEFITS .................... 133 

APPENDIX B ........................................................................................................................... 138 

PROJECT PRIORITY RATIONALE ............................................................................... 139 

APPENDIX C ........................................................................................................................... 143 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT PLAN .................................................................... 144 

APPENDIX D ........................................................................................................................... 155 

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY FUNDED PROJECTS .............. 156 

  

95
97
98
99

133
135
137
139
145
147
151
153
165
167

Item #12 Attachment A



State of Nevada Transportation Board Members 
 

Brian Sandoval   Chairman/Governor 

Mark Hutchison   Vice Chairman/Lt. Governor 

Adam Laxalt    Attorney General 

Ron Knecht    State Controller 

Tom Skancke    Member - District 1 

Frank Martin    Member - District 1 

Len Savage    Member - District 2 

Tom Fransway   Member - District 3 

 

NDOT Administration 
Rudy Malfabon   Director 

Bill Hoffman                  Deputy Director  

Tracy Larkin-Thomason  Deputy Director Southern Nevada 

John Terry    Assistant Director Engineering 

Reid Kaiser    Assistant Director Operations 

Sondra Rosenberg              Assistant Director Planning 

Robert Nellis     Assistant Director Administration 

NDOT Staff Involved 
 
Peter Aiyuk – Chief Performance Analysis Engineer 
Amir Soltani – Chief of Project Management 
Anita Bush – Chief Maintenance and Operations Engineer 
Jennifer Eyerly – Chief of Administrative Services 
Ken Mammen – Chief Traffic-Safety Engineer 
Jeff Shapiro – Chief Construction Engineer 
Kimberley King –Human Resources Manager 
Manuel Correa – Safety and Loss Control Manager 
Mark Elicegui – Chief Bridge Engineer 
Kenneth Lee – Equipment Superintendent 
Paul Saucedo – Chief of Right-Of-Way 
Paul Frost – Chief Roadway Design 
Darin Tedford – Assistant Chief Materials Engineer 
Sean Sever – Chief of the Communications Office 

 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



1

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

DEPARTMENT VISION, MISSION, AND 
GOALS  

 

  

 

 

 

 

MISSION 

Providing a better transportation system for 
Nevada through our unified and dedicated 

efforts  

 

 
VISION 

The Department is the nation’s leader in 
delivering transportation solutions, 
improving Nevada’s quality of life. 

STRATEGIC PLAN GOALS 
Optimize safety   

Be in touch with & responsive to 
customers  

Innovate  

Be the employer of choice  

Deliver timely & beneficial projects  & 
programs  

Effectively preserve & manage our assets  

Efficiently operate the transportation 
system   

CORE VALUES 
Integrity – Doing the right thing 

Honesty – Being truthful in our actions and 
our words  

Respect – Treating others with dignity  

Commitment – Putting the needs of the 
Department first  

Accountability – Being responsible for our 
actions 

 MISSION, VISION 
GOALS, and 

VALUES 

Item #12 Attachment A



2

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
NDOT’s Performance Management is a collaborative process in which all major divisions of the 
department are involved in monitoring their annual and ultimate performance targets resulting in a 
customer-oriented, balanced, effective, efficient, transparent and performance-based decision 
making process. It is a dynamic process and improvements are incorporated into the performance 
management process as needed. NDOT’s performance management plays a vital role in the 
performance-based decision making process.  It: 1) ensures investment accountability and 
transparency, 2) tracks and monitors system performance, 3) helps identify and implement efficient 
and cost effective performance-based programs, 4) links projects to the vision, mission, and goals  
of the department, 5) helps align performance targets with customer expectations, and 6) helps in 
delivering high quality projects. The Nevada 2007 Legislative Assembly Bill 595 requires the 
Department to develop a performance management plan for measuring its performance, which must 
include performance measures approved by the Board of Directors of the Department.  The specific 
requirements of the Assembly Bill 595 are as follows:  
 

1. Section 47.2 – Annual Report on Performance Measures and General Project 
Information  

Prior to December 31 of each year, the Director of the Department of Transportation shall prepare a 
report as follows:  

 Goals and objectives of the department and current status of meeting those goals  
 Schedule, scope, cost and progress of any current or proposed highway project  
 Funding sources, amount and expenditures of the department  
 The rationale used to establish priorities  
 Transportation Board and Legislative Directives  
 Recommended Plan Amendments   

2. Section 47.3 – Annual Report on Cost-Benefit Analysis for capacity projects that cost 
at least $25 million (NRS 408.3195).  

The annual report will include the criteria used in the cost-benefit analysis.  The resulting 
benefit/cost ratios will be reported to the Board.  Additionally, a written description of the analysis 
for any project must be submitted to the Board before the Board approves funds for project 
construction.  

3. Section 55.3 – Annual Report on projects funded through the Las Vegas Convention 
and Visitors Authority funding.  

The report will include funding, descriptions, status, timelines, and information on the completed 
projects, if any (NRS 244A.638).  

4. Section 55.5 – Quarterly Report on General Project information for the Blue Ribbon 
Task Force projects and any proposed super and mega (major) highway projects. 

The report will include funding, descriptions, status, timelines, and information on the completed 
projects, if any. Submit report to the Governor and the Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau 
for transmittal to the Interim Finance Committee.  
 

Item #12 Attachment A



3

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
DASHBOARD

(EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES)

Item #12 Attachment A



 

 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



5

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
NDOT’s Performance Management is a collaborative process in which all the major divisions of the 
department are involved in monitoring their annual and ultimate performance targets resulting in a 
customer-oriented, balanced, effective, efficient, transparent and performance-based decision 
making process. It is a dynamic process and improvements are incorporated into the performance 
management process as needed. NDOT’s performance management plays a vital role in the 
performance-based decision making process. It 1) ensures investment accountability and 
transparency, 2) tracks and monitors system performance, 3) helps identify and implement efficient 
and cost effective performance-based programs, 4) links projects to the vision, mission, and goals 
and objectives of the department, 5) helps align performance targets with customer expectations, 
and 6) helps in delivering high quality projects. 

NDOT has established 15 performance measures to track, monitor, and report performance of the 
major divisions and program areas. NDOT’s performance management system focuses on the 
critical aspects of a cohesive, integrated, and performance-driven approach. NDOT’s senior 
management is actively involved in the performance management process and supports the 
performance management process by conducting quarterly performance management updates to 
help guide the various program areas in meeting their targets. NDOT’s performance management 
system empowers staff to take ownership of the program, holds staff responsible for their division’s 
performance, helps diagnose and address problems faced by the divisions in meeting their targets, 
and effectively communicates its performance-based decision making process to the public and the 
legislature.  

In Fiscal year 2014, NDOT continued to monitor its performance-based management process. The 
performance management dashboard, and the detailed data trends sections of this report provides 
further information regarding NDOT’s performance in Fiscal Year 2014.  
  

Item #12 Attachment A



6

 

 

NDOT STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT PROCESS 
 
NDOTs Strategic Performance Management process is guided by comprehensive input from 1) our 
customers in the form of surveys and direct two-way communications, 2) the State Legislature and 
decision makers, 3) leadership, commitment, and support from NDOT top management, and 4) 
collaborative team support from the major divisions and program areas of NDOT. The process is 
part of the performance-based decision making process that includes identifying realistic and 
specific performance measures, establishing measurable and attainable targets, developing 
comprehensive and effective strategies to help achieve the targets, quarterly data collection and 
monitoring, and evaluating strategies to help allocate our resources most effectively and efficiently. 
The following graph shows the performance management process,  
 

 
 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



7

 

 

PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

 

 

1.Reduce Work Place Accidents 

2.Provide Employee Training 

3.Improve Employee Satisfaction 

4.Streamline Agreement Process 

5.Improve Customer and Public Outreach 

6.Reduce and Maintain Traffic Congestion 

7.Streamline Project Delivery- Bidding to Construction 

8.Maintain State Highway Pavement 

9.Maintain NDOT Fleet 

10.Maintain NDOT Facilities 

11. Emergency Management, Security and Continuity of 
Operations 

12.Reduce Fatal Crashes 

13.Project Delivery- Schedule and Estimate for Bid 
Advertisement 

14.Maintain State Bridges 

15.Streamline Permitting Process 

Item #12 Attachment A



8

 

 

PERFORMANCE DASHBOARD 
The following Performance Management Dashboard provides an executive summary of each of the 
15 performance measures and shows the status of the performance measure in Fiscal Year 2014. 
Detailed information regarding each performance measure is provided in the “Performance 
Management Detailed Data Trends” section of this report. 
 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: This Performance Measure has two parts to measure both the rate of work 
place injuries/illnesses and the severity of employee workplace injuries/illnesses. Comparing 
Calendar Year 2013 to Calendar Year 2012, work place accidents increased by 4.7 % and medical 
claims decreased by 11%. The total number of work place injuries increased by 8, while the total 
number of medical claims decreased by 12. Target one was not met because we attained a 4.7% 
increase compared to the target of 10% annual decrease, while target 2 was met by achieving 11% 
decrease compared to the annual target of 10% decrease. 
For detailed information about performance measure 1, please refer to page 19. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Reduce Work Place Accidents 

0 

2 

4 

6 

8 

10 

12 

14 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

12.44 

9.4 
10.4 10 9.6 10 

6.3 7 
7.9 

7.3 6.4 
5.3 

Injuries/Medical Claims Per 
100 Employees 

Injuries/100 Employees 

Medical Claims/100 Employees 

Item #12 Attachment A



9

 

 

 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2014, 3,527 employees attended required training sessions. The 
target is 100% compliance overall and the FY14 target was 78%. The average for the 11 required 
classes was 79% which shows an increase of 9.1% from last fiscal year’s average of 69.9%. For 
detailed information about performance measure 2, please refer to page 24.  
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: Percentage of Employees satisfied with the NDOT work environment. The 
percentage of employees surveyed who are extremely or somewhat satisfied with NDOT is 
currently 51%.  
For detailed information about performance measure 3, please refer to page 29. 
 

 

2. Provide Employee Training 

Average 79% 
compliance 

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
Percentage Employees Trained 
According to Requirements

Target 78% compliance annually

3. Improve Employee Satisfaction 

51% Satisfied
Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
Percentage Employees Satisfied With NDOT

Target 75% Annually

Item #12 Attachment A



10

 

 

 
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2014 in the 1st & 2nd quarters, NDOT processed 70% of all 
agreements within 45 days, and in the 3rd & 4th quarters 78% of all agreements were processed 
within 30 days. 
In the 1st and 2nd quarters the average number of calendar days to process an agreement excluding 
Cooperative and LPA agreements was 27 days, with 84% of agreements executed within 45 days. In 
the 3rd & 4th quarters the average number of days to execute agreements was 19 days. 
For detailed information about performance measure 4, please refer to page 33. 
 

70% Processed Within 
45 Days & 78% within 
30 days.

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 1st & 2nd Qtrs
Percentage Agreements Processed 
Within 45 days

Target

50% Annually

50% Annually

Performance Measure: 3rd & 4th Qtrs
Percentage Agreements Processed 
Within 30 days

Target

Current Status

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: In fiscal year 2014 a survey was conducted by the University of Nevada, Las 
Vegas, sponsored by the NDOT to determine customer satisfaction and rate certain services 
provided by the department. Survey questions and the responses have been grouped into four major 
categories which have been weighted. Overall, 71.4% of all citizens surveyed were satisfied with 
the services provided by the NDOT. For detailed information about this Performance Measure, 
please refer to page 37. 

4. Streamline Agreement Process 

60%

62%

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Percentage of Agreements Executed within 30 or 45 days

5. Improve Customer and Public Outreach 

Item #12 Attachment A



11

 

 

 

  
 

        

 
 
Executive Summary:  In the past including FY 2013 NDOT met its goals for system-wide 
Congestion Monitoring and Tracking System. The monitoring and tracking system was used in 
determining the congestion on the state maintained roadways in the core urban and rural areas.  
At present, the Department is in the process of developing a more practical, simple and robust 
methodology for Congestion tracking and measurement that will also enable and identify locations 
within the State network system that experience higher than the threshold congestion levels. 
Performance Analysis Division is working with Traffic Operations and Traffic Information 
Divisions in formulating this new approach. 
For detailed information about the last state-wide Congestion Monitoring and Tracking System 
performance measure, please refer to page 42.  
Definition of Level of Service D – Roadways operating at up to 8 miles per hour less than the Free 
Flow Speed or Posted Speed Limit, and the traffic carrying capacity of the roadway is less than 0.9 
  

 

 

Customer Satisfaction Satisfied Dissatisfied
Travel Time 70.52% 12.61%
Minimize Congestion 57.56% 20.78%
Congestion Acceptable 68.96% 31.04%
Safety 64.58% 17.75%
Notificaton 62.45% 16.55%
Community 40.86% 20.12%
Time 30.86% 46.61%
Overall Completed Work 79.66% 8.77%
Rest area 65.17% 18.35%
Weigh station 58.38% 9.61%
Warning 71.25% 13.77%
Debris 77.76% 9.01%
Striping 66.54% 18.75%
Signs 77.46% 8.41%
Lighting 64.28% 16.71%
Drains 56.40% 17.67%
Snow 56.50% 6.98%
Overall Safety 86.53% 13.47%

Efforts to keep drivers 
aware of issues

68.04% 7.44%

Agree Disagree
Fuel Tax 54.86% 18.84%
Tolls 21.82% 58.17%
Rush Hour 16.14% 67.07%
VMT 47.56% 27.21%

Positive Experience Not Positive Exp
Contact NDOT 79.55% 20.45%

64.41% 16.55%

35.10% 42.82%

Congestion

Construction Zones

 Commercial Truck

Safety

Funding

Average

Average

6. Reduce and Maintain Congestion Levels on 
the State Maintained Roadway System 

 

 

.

Item #12 Attachment A



12

 

 

 
  
Executive Summary: During FY 2014, NDOT kept 92% of its projects on schedule and 76% of the 
projects within budget on average. For detailed information about performance measure 7, please 
refer to page 44. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: This Performance Measure is reported by calendar year. During Calendar 
Year 2013, NDOT was unable to address the needs of categories 4 and 5 roadways to bring them up 
to the minimum condition target of 95%. Categories 1, 2, and 3 all met their performance target. 
For detailed information about performance measure 8, please refer to page 48.  
 

 

7. Streamline Project Delivery – Bid Opening 
to Construction Completion 

8. Maintain State Highway Pavement 

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
State Roadways maintained at “Fair 
or Better” condition

Target

Category 1: 95%
Category 2: 95% 
Category 3: 95%
Category 4: 95%
Category 5: 95% 

Category 1: 99.3%  
Category 2: 95.7%
Category 3: 95.6%
Category 4: 0%
Category 5: 0%
Category 4: 69.5%
Category 5: 30.2%  

Item #12 Attachment A



13

 

 

      

  
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2014, the percentage of the NDOT mobile equipment fleet 
requiring replacement increased by 13% over the prior year. The percentage of the fleet in 
compliance with preventive maintenance requirements to ensure the expected life of our vehicles is 
not compromised increased by 1.9% over the prior year. Performance measure 1 was not met, while 
Performance Measure 2 was met. 
For detailed information about performance measure 9, please refer page 56. 

 
 
 

 
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2013, NDOT incorporated a new method to measure the 
performance of the facility conditions that included finer details that did not exist before. This new 
methodology impacts comparative analysis of data if tracked prior to 2013. For fiscal year 2014, 
there was a 1% increase of percentage of facilities conditions up to code compared to fiscal year 
2013. This fell short of the target of 3% annual increase.  
For detailed information about performance measure 10, please refer to page 59. 

  

9. Maintain NDOT Fleet 

With Respect to 2007

1) 18.34% Increase
Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
1) Percentage Mobile Equipment In Need 
Of Replacement
2) Percentage Fleet In Compliance With 
Condition Criteria

Target
1) 1% Annual Decrease
2) 1% Annual Increase

2)  11.24% Increase

10. Maintain NDOT Facilities 

FY 
2008 

FY 
2009 

FY 
2010 

FY 2011 FY 
2012 

FY 
2013 

FY 
2014 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

82% 82% 86% 88% 87% 

55% 56% 

P
er

ce
n

t 

Performance  
 

Facilities Assessments Facilities Conditions 

Item #12 Attachment A



14

 

 

 
 
Executive Summary: Our performance measures require us to train, exercise and update our 
Emergency Operations and Security Plans on a two year cycle. We have combined several plans 
into two which has made it easier for Department personnel to locate, use and understand the plans.  
For fiscal year 2014 we achieved 87.5% compliance level, which did not meet our goal for the year 
of 100% compliance.  For detailed information about performance measure 11, please refer to page 
64. 

 

 
  

  
     
     
     

 

 
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2014, NDOT continued to work with our partners to implement 
the strategies of the Strategic Highway Safety Plan. For fiscal year 2013, the five year rolling 
average of fatalities was 255 compared to the pre-set target five year rolling average of 270. This 
led to a 5.6 percent decrease in fatalities which is higher than the Performance Measure target of 
3.1% reduction of five year rolling average.  
Because of the lag in fatal data information, the data presented for this Performance Measure is a 
recalculation of 2013 data and YTD 2014 data. The complete FY 2014 data will be provided in the 
2015 Performance Management Report.   
For detailed information about performance measure 12, please refer to page 70. 

                

11. Emergency Management, Security, and 
Continuity of Operations 

12. Reduce Fatal Accidents 

5.6% Reduction in 
the  5-year rolling 
average 

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
Number of fatalities on Nevada's 
streets and highways

Target
3.1% Reduction  of 5 year 
rolling average

Item #12 Attachment A



15

 

 

        
 

 
 
Executive Summary: This performance measure has been established as the percentage of 
scheduled projects advertised within the reporting year and the percentage of scheduled projects 
within the established construction cost estimate range.  
For detailed information about performance measure 13, please refer to page 74.  

  

 
 
Executive Summary: During calendar year 2013, NDOT replaced 2 bridges which were 
functionally obsolete.  
For detailed information about performance measure 14, please refer to page 80. 
 

                             
 

                                                                                                            *Graph based on 2013 Preservation Report data 

 

13. Streamline Project Delivery - Schedule 
and Estimate for Bid Advertisement 

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
1) Percentage Projects scheduled advertised 

within the reporting year.
2) Percentage Projects scheduled delivered 

within established cost estimate range

Target

1) Advertised within the 
reporting year - 70% 

2) Delivered within  
established cost 
estimate range – 70%

1) 75% Performance

2) 25% Performance 

14. Maintain State Bridges 

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 

19
98

 

20
00

 

20
02

 

20
04

 

20
06

 

20
08

 

20
10

 

20
12

 
45 

36 35 
27 

20 20 18 19 
16 17 21 

11 
17 

30 
24 28 

N
o.

 o
f B

ri
dg

es
 

Year 

Structurally Deficient Functionally Obsolete 

Item #12 Attachment A



16

 

 

 
 
Executive Summary: During FY 2014, NDOT Right-Of-Way Division processed 96.86% of 
encroachment permits within 45 days. Transportation Policy (TP) 10-1-3 ENCROACHMENT 
PROCESSING TIME SCHEDULE is to ensure timely and quality service for NDOT encroachment 
permit customers.  
For detailed information about performance measure 15, please refer to page 87. 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15. Streamline Permitting Process 

96.86% Processed 
Within 45 Days

Current 
Status:

Performance Measure: 
Percentage Encroachment Permits 
Processed Within 45 Days

Target 95% Annual

Item #12 Attachment A



17

DETAILED PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT  DATA

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



19

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure: 
The rate of injuries is reported as the number of work place injuries and illnesses (i.e. number of C-
1 forms filed) per 100 employees and number of injuries and illnesses requiring medical attention 
(i.e. number of C-3 forms filed) per 100 employees as documented through annual OSHA 300 Log 
Reporting data.  Data is based on calendar year per federal reporting requirements. 
 
Annual Target:  10 % Reduction Ultimate Target:  Zero 
 
Strategy Plan Support: 
Safety extends to all aspects of the Department from the roadways to the office. Identifying 
and reducing risk to the Department, our employees and the public is continuous.  This 
performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic 
Plan goals to: Optimize Safety and Be the Employer of Choice. 

Measurement and Supporting Data:    

        
Calendar Year  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Total # of Injuries  221 168 187 178 170 178 

# Injuries/All Employees  12.44% 9.4% 10.4% 10%  9.61% 10% 

Total # Medical Claims  139 130 116 95 110 98 

Medical/Employees  7.9% 7.3% 6.4% 5.3% 6.2% 5.51% 

Average Claim Cost  $8,680 $8,984 $7,361 $10,051 $9,192 $12,273 

Average # Employees  1768 1785 1798 1783 1769 1777 

Item #12 Attachment A



20

 

 

 

 
 

The annual Baseline is the average of 2008 through 2013.  Data is reported on a calendar year 
pursuant to federal OSHA reporting and State total is the average number of employees during any 
given quarter or year.  Claim costs include all medical expenses and any reserves.  The number of 
injuries reported by the end of CY2013 indicates that the injury rate is 96%of CY2012.  The target 
to reduce injuries by 10% was not met by the end of the year for total injuries, but injuries were 
reduced by 4%.     

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

12.44

9.4

10.4
10

9.6
10

6.3

7

7.9

7.3

6.4

5.3

Injuries/Medical Claims Per 100 Employees
Injuries/100 Employees Medical Claims/100 Employees

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

109

122

139
130

116

95
110

98

208

275

221

168

187
178

170
178

Number of Injuries & Claims

Number of Medical Claims Number of Injuries

Item #12 Attachment A



21

 

 

 
The majority of injuries sustained in CY2013 were due to lifting, struck by, and slip and falls which 
are three of the top four causes of injuries per Federal OSHA.  The number of struck by claims (14) 
remained the same for CY2012 and CY 2013.   The number of lifting claims went from (13) in CY 
2012 down to (12) in CY 2013.  

Strategies for Improvement in Calendar 2014: 

Short range to next reporting: 

1) Continue efforts to increase outreach in order to keep safety in the forefront and on employees’ 
minds.  2) Encourage employees to check out safety videos from the Safety/Loss Control Section 
newly developed video lending library program on SharePoint. 3) Conduct refresher defensive 
driving training for employees involved in motor vehicle accidents.  4) Continue to use ProLift 
program where highest injuries occur.  5) Continue to conduct OSHA 10/30 Hour Construction, 
Confined Space, Global Harmonization System, Defensive Driving and Fall Protection training 
classes.  6) Increase construction worksite, maintenance shop and highway work safety zone 
inspections to reduce employee exposure to serious hazards.  7) Complete the Active Shooter 
Lockdown Training.     
 
Long range: 
1) Implement additional means to reach staff with increased safety messages in order to bring safety 
to the forefront of employee thoughts and actions, including but not limited to a quarterly or bi-
monthly newsletter; brief communication to targeted work groups pertaining to safety issues 
specific to them; participating in NDOT academies and annual meetings as workload permits; and 
updating Safety/Loss Control Section SharePoint.  2) Increase ratio of staff in the Safety/Loss 
Control Section to total number of NDOT employees, which has had three staff since 1969.  A 
Safety Trainer was hired July of 2014.  This will provide improved support and consultation 
services to the Divisions and Districts on a consistent and continued basis and aid in maintaining 
agency compliance with State and Federal safety regulations. This is a requisite of the department’s 
safety program to perform at an optimum level and attain compliance with State and Federal safety 
requirements. 3) Evaluate the benefit of an Employee Safety Survey in order to assess the agency’s 
culture or attitude as it pertains to safety; and to develop and distribute an Employee Safety Survey 
and to evaluate the responses to determine areas of need within the safety program.   
4) Utilize the Safety Committee members to assist the Safety/Loss Control Section in recording 
and reporting all near miss accidents that could potentially result in a workplace injury requiring 
medical treatment and temporary total disability payments.    The data will be complied and 
analyzed by the Safety/Loss Control Section to measure the effectiveness or what new strategies 
may be implemented to reduce near miss accidents.      
 
ANNUAL EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE MEASURE 
Were the targets met? Yes 

What 'Strategies for Improvement' were successful? 
Increased communications by providing a safety calendar and bi-monthly safety e-mails have 
increased safety awareness and have prompted an overwhelming input from workers that are 

Item #12 Attachment A



22

 

 

committed to improve the safety program.  Since filling the vacant Safety/Loss Control Coordinator 
position in 2009 it increased the safety presence in the field and communications have been well 
received by all Districts, Divisions, and Maintenance Departments.   
As indicated in the CY 2012 performance measures report (13) motor vehicle/heavy equipment 
accidents were reported.  In CY2013 those types of accidents decreased to (3).   A joint effort with 
all Districts was developed to reduce those accidents by conducting additional training and 
performing frequent pre-trip and post-trip inspections of all vehicles.      
The Safety/Loss Control Coordinator conducted the majority of CPR/First Aid and AED training.  
This was completed and all of the Districts have safety staff certified to teach CPR/First Aid and 
AED.  Additional AED units were purchased by District I and District II for construction crews.    
A new vehicle database was created by the Safety and Loss Control Section and maintained by the 
Safety Manager.  The database has worked effectively to reduce motor vehicle and heavy 
equipment accidents in all Districts. 
Cooperative efforts between the Training Section and Safety and Loss Control to implement a 
learning management system to track all training were successful.  Several mandatory safety 
courses were identified in the system, specifically targeting new hires or new supervisory staff.   

 
What 'Strategies for Improvement' were not successful?  Why? 
The workers’ compensation MicroNiche software was installed and operational, but due to the 
complexity of the software restrictions, another software program was selected to meet the needs of 
the agency.  The JJ Kellar workers’ compensation software program is fully operational.              

What new 'Strategies for Improvement' will be initiated in Calendar 2014? 
Short range to next reporting:   

Continue outreach efforts and supporting the Training Section.  Claim costs has been added to the 
data and the Safety and Loss Control Section has worked diligently with the agencies third-party 
administration overseen by the State of Nevada Risk Management Division to provide the best 
medical treatment for the agencies employees and methods to control costs.  Strategies may include 
analysis to determine whether leading indicators such as the impact of safety training could be used 
rather than lagging indicators such as injury data.   

 
Long range:   
1) To continue identifying specific safety training that can be conducted by existing staff and take 
cooperative steps to insure courses are conducted, including Global Harmonization System 
refresher, CPR/First Aid, New Employee Safety Orientation, and OSHA mandated classes.  2) To 
take steps to update the worker compensation databases to insure accurate and consistent reporting.  
3)  As time and resources permit, to continue efforts to develop and distribute an Employee Safety 
Survey in order to assess the agency’s culture or attitude as it pertains to safety; and to evaluate the 
responses to determine areas of need within the safety program.  4) Increase travel budget for an 
effective safety presence at construction worksites, maintenance shops, yards and rural locations.  
The Safety Trainer will conduct safety training classes to all Districts, Divisions, and Maintenance 
Departments.     
 

Item #12 Attachment A



 

 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?   
Yes. 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?   
N o t  a t  t h i s  t i m e  

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain.    
There will be an increased cost to the Safety/Loss Control travel budget due to additional training 
conducted by the Safety Trainer and increased safety inspections.     
 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



24

 

 

 
 
 
Performance Measure: 
Percentage of employees trained in accordance with prescribed training plans and State statute 
training requirements. 
Ultimate Target:  100% compliance for all required training    
FY14 Target:  78% compliance for all required training 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
 

  Total Employees 
Requiring 
Training* 

% in compliance** for FY 
# Trained in 

FY 

Requirement 2012 2013 2014 2014 

Alcohol & Drug Program 485 58 77 88 165 

Defensive Driving 1630 - 67 78 380 

EEO 485 59 80 82 144 

EEO -Online 485 - 62 73 118 

Employee Appraisal/Work 
Performance Standards 485 69 79 77 149 

Global Harmonized System 
of Hazard Communication  1630 44 59 78 376 

Grievance Procedures 485 64 79 80 165 

Internet Security Awareness 1630 - 29 65 647 

Interviewing & Hiring 485 66 82 78 135 

Progressive Discipline 485 63 79 78 138 

Sexual Harassment 
Prevention 1630 85 76 93 1110 

      *Number of employees and supervisors on 6/30/14 

**The frequency of required attendance ranges from 
one time only to once every two years. 

    

Item #12 Attachment A



25

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

100 

Alcohol/Drug Defensive Driving EEO EEO Online 

%
 in

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

Course Title 

FY12 FY13 FY14 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

EA/WPS Global Harmonization Grievance Procedures Internet Security 

%
 in

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

Course Title 

FY12 FY13 FY14 

Item #12 Attachment A



26

 

 

 
 

Overview: 
NDOT strategies for meeting this performance measure are working.   Overall, the average number 
of people in compliance has increased over nine percentage points from FY2013, and the FY14 
target was exceeded by one percentage point.  A total of 3,527 seats were filled in the required 
training classes. Reporting on this performance measure could become even stronger if automated 
report generation became available, which would allow additional courses to be included in the 
report. 

Were the targets met? 
The target is 100% compliance overall and the FY14 target was 78%.  The average for the 11 
required classes was 79% which shows an increase of 9.1% from last fiscal year’s average of 
69.9%.   Additionally, the increase in compliance was higher in FY14 than in FY13, with the 
percentage in compliance increasing by 9.1% in FY14 compared to 6.4% in FY13. Only three 
classes failed to meet the target of 78%:   Employee Appraisal/Work Performance Standards at 
77%, the EEO-Online class at 73%, and Internet Security Awareness at 65%. Two of three classes 
that failed to meet the target are classes that must be taken online and NDOT employees have 
traditionally preferred live instruction. 

 
Which Strategies for Improvement were successful? 
Planning course offerings based on an analysis of how many employees are anticipated to fall out of 
compliance has been a successful strategy.   Reviewing this data each quarter has been helpful in 
adding new course offerings as needed. 
Quarterly follow-up with divisional training coordinator as well as reminders to employees have 
been helpful strategies in boosting compliance. 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

100 

Interviewing & Hiring Progressive Discipline Sexual Harassment 
Prevention 

%
 in

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

Course Title 

FY12 FY13 FY14 

Item #12 Attachment A



27

 

 

Working with the divisions and districts and a significant level of support from the Human 
Resources Division staff has been helpful in improving the accuracy of supervisors and managers 
being identified as such in the HR Data Warehouse system. 
Implementing an online option for the Global Harmonization course has been helpful in boosting 
completion of this class. 
The “Supervisors Hall of Fame” and the “Employee Hall of Fame” have proven to be a successful 
motivation tools. 
During Fiscal Year 14, NDOT’s Training Section began working with the agency’s Information 
Technology division and training staffs from other agencies including the Department of 
Administration; Department of Corrections; Department of Employment, Training and 
Rehabilitation; Department of Motor Vehicles; Division of Welfare; and Office of the Controller to 
work on setting priorities for better reporting through NEATS on mandatory classes. 

 
Which “Strategies for Improvement” were not successful? 
The effectiveness of the other strategies for improvement was limited because of time constraints 
related to implementing them more fully.   This included the strategies related to more involvement 
with Division Heads/District Engineers to promote high compliance numbers and providing 
additional options to employee with limited computer to access online classes.  

 
What new “Strategies for Improvement” will be initiated in FY 2015? 
Short range to next reporting: 

 Division heads and District Engineers will be enlisted to promote higher compliance 
numbers. 

 Develop additional options to provide the content of online courses, specifically Internet 
Security Awareness and Global Harmonization, to Maintenance Crews with limited 
computer access. 

 Develop additional reporting and promotion of results to motivate employees to attend 
training. 

 Work on additional options to make completing online classes such as Internet Security 
Awareness, EEO Online, and Global Harmonization more convenient for employees. 

 Complete the successful transition from using the Learning Portal to NEATS for reporting. 
 Find methods other than the Learning Portal to host online courses. 

Long range: 
 Continue to work with NDOT’s Information Services Division, the State’s Division of 

Enterprise IT Services, and other agencies to find improved automated reporting and 
reminders solutions. 

 Add additional classes to the performance measures that are required by Federal and State 
regulations for specific positions. 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  
Yes.    

have

successful

Item #12 Attachment A



28

 

 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
As the process and related information systems for reporting this information are improved, 
additional courses from specific areas should be included. 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?   If so, explain. 
Required training requires travel money, and budget limitations could have an impact of the 
availability of training in all locations. 

Target for Next Three Fiscal Years: 
Assuming no additional classes are added over the years, projected targets are: 
FY15: 86% 
FY16: 94%  
FY17: 98% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



29

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure: 
Percentage rating obtained from employees’ satisfaction surveys.  
Annual Target:  Overall rating 75% Ultimate Target:  Overall rating of 80%. 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Positive employee morale is critical to the success of the workplace. It is the backbone of a skilled 
and dedicated workforce and essential in attracting and retaining a quality staff.  A satisfied 
workforce will excel at their duties.  This benefits the Department and our customers.  This 
performance measure works towards meeting the Nevada Department of Transportation’s Strategic 
Plan goals to: optimize safety, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, innovate, be the 
employer of choice, deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, effectively preserve and 
manage our assets, and efficiently operate the transportation system. 

Measurement and Supporting Data:  
 

Percentage of employees who are extremely or somewhat satisfied with NDOT 

FY 2008 (Base Number) 70% 

FY 2009 67% 

FY 20010 62% 

FY 2011 50% 

FY 2012 48% 

FY 2013 50% 

FY 2014 51% 

 
Was the annual target met?   
No.   
Fifty one percent (51%) of employees are extremely or somewhat satisfied with the Nevada 
Department of Transportation as an employer as compared to seventy percent (70%) the base year.  
The percentage did increase from fifty percent (50%) last year.     
  

Item #12 Attachment A



30

 

 

.    
 
 
The 2008 Performance Measure Survey was launched on July 14, 2008 and closed on August 15, 
2008; 764 employees responded to the 2008 survey.  The 2009 Performance Measure Survey was 
launched on July 13, 2009, and closed on August 2, 2009; 616 employees responded to the 2009 
survey.  The 2010 Performance Measure Survey was launched on May 18, 2010 and closed on June 
25, 2010; 905 employees responded to the 2010 survey.  The 2011 Performance Measure Survey 
was launched on June 23, 2011, and closed on July 15, 2011; 598 employees responded to the 2011 
survey.  The 2012 Performance Measure Survey was launched on May 29, 2012, and closed on July 
1, 2012; 718 employees responded to the 2012 survey.  The 2013 Performance Measure Survey was 
launched on June 13, 2013, and closed on July 19, 2013; 621 employees responded to the 2013 
survey.   The 2014 Performance Measure Survey was launched on June 10, 2014, and closed on 
July 29, 2014; 1,020 employees responded to the 2014 survey.   
Employee participation in the survey increased significantly this fiscal year, and is by far the 
highest level of participation in the survey to date. 

 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?   
The percentage of employees who strongly or somewhat agree that the physical conditions in their 
work area are good has increased six percent (6%) this year with a four percent (4%) increase from 
the baseline year.  The percentage of employees who strongly agree or somewhat agree that the 
amount of work that they have is reasonable has increased nine percent (9%) from last year with an 
overall increase of two percent (2%) from the base year.  The percentage of employees who 
strongly or somewhat agree that there is adequate staffing in their department has increased six 
percent (6%) from last year with an overall increase of one percent (1%) from the base year.  The 
percentage of employees who strongly or somewhat agree they have been provided appropriate 
training for their position has increased five percent (5%) from last year and five percent (5%) from 
the base year. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014

70

67

62

50

48 50 51

%
 Sa

tis
fa

ct
io

n

Employee Satisfaction

Item #12 Attachment A



31

 

 

The percentage of employees who strongly or somewhat agree that they have the equipment to do 
their job well increased six percent (6%) this year with a one percent (1%) increase from the 
baseline year.  This increase may be due to the money identified for critical needs vehicles in last 
year’s strategies.  However, there were still comments about unsafe and rundown vehicles.  
 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why? 
The overall target was to increase employee satisfaction to seventy-five percent (75%).  The 
percentage of employees who would recommend the Nevada Department of Transportation to a 
friend as a good place to work was fifty-one percent (51%) in 2014, which is a decrease from 
seventy-five percent (75%) in 2008 but an increase from forty-five percent (45%) in 2013. 
The current economic environment and overall decrease in State pay and benefits is continuing to 
have a direct impact on the satisfaction of the Nevada Department of Transportation employees.  
The percentage of employees who are somewhat dissatisfied or extremely dissatisfied with salaries 
is sixty-one percent (61%). The percentage of employees who are somewhat dissatisfied or 
extremely dissatisfied with benefits is fifty-two percent (52%).    Employees continue to comment 
that they do not get paid enough. 
Many employees mention that they love their job but were discouraged by things such as pay cuts, 
furloughs, and merit pay freezes.  Regarding pay, one employee said, "My main dissatisfaction is 
regarding salary.  NDOT is not competitive with other agencies throughout the state and of course 
not at all with the private sector.  I believe this is one of the reasons the attrition rate is so high." 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014

75

66

42
41 43 45 51

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Fiscal Year

Employee Would Recommend NDOT

Item #12 Attachment A



32

 

 

 
 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015? 
 Short range to next reporting:   

1. The Department’s Strategic Plan will be reevaluated and updated.  The Mission and 
Goals of the Department will be reemphasized and communicated throughout the 
Department. 

2. The Department will request suggestions from employees on ways of improving 
NDOT’s communication with employees.  Beginning immediately, these suggestions 
will be collected through the employee suggestion box.  Additionally, next year’s survey 
will request specific suggestions from employees regarding improving communication. 

3. The Department will continue to evaluate pay inequities.  
4. Five million dollars has been identified for critical needs light duty vehicles and heavy 

equipment.  The districts and divisions will work with their Assistant/Deputy Directors 
to identify critical needs light duty vehicles and heavy equipment. 

5. We will continue to encourage and require supervisory training, in compliance with 
regulations, that includes communication, management styles, and coaching.  This 
strategy directly correlates with Performance Measure #2. 

6. We will communicate to employees that the survey results have been reviewed.  
Throughout the year we will communicate with employees and tie those 
communications back to the survey results. 

 
 Long range:   

Continue conducting and analyzing annual satisfaction surveys and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Director’s Office for addressing employee satisfaction.  

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  
Yes, this performance measure works towards meeting the Nevada Department of Transportation’s 
Strategic Plan goals to: optimize safety, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, innovate, 
be the employer of choice, deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, effectively preserve 
and manage our assets, and efficiently operate the transportation system. 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?   
No; however, employee job satisfaction hinges in part on pay and benefits.  Until pay and benefits 
are restored we are not likely to see improvement in the results of the survey.   
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain.   
No. 

 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



33

 

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure:   
Percentage of Agreements executed within 30 days from when division submits agreement to 
the date when it is fully executed, excluding time the agreement is with the second party for 
signature or awaiting Transportation Board approval.  

 
Ultimate Target: 90%       Annual Target:  50% 
 

Strategy Plan Support: 
An agreement is the instrument used to procure a variety of services for NDOT.  The Agreement 
Services section ensures that NDOT procures these services in accordance with established laws, 
rules and regulations.  Delays in executing agreements has a tremendous impact on the operations, 
delaying what can often be critical services, or services that impact the timely delivery of projects.  
Agreements for services over $300,000 require approval of the Transportation Board; agreements 
less than $300,000 and certain services exempt from Board approval (such as right of way 
acquisitions and interlocal agreements) can be executed with approval from the NDOT Director. 
This performance measure helps meet the department’s mission to provide a better transportation 
system for Nevada through our unified and dedicated efforts by helping to accomplish the goals of: 
delivering timely and beneficial projects and programs; being responsive to our customers; 
effectively preserving and managing our assets; and efficiently operating the transportation system. 

 
Summary: 
For the fiscal year 2014 there were two different performance measurement data sets.  The method 
of measurement was updated on 1/1/2014 to exclude the number of days an agreement was with the 
second party for signature and the number of days it was waiting for Transportation Board approval.  
For quarters 1 and 2 the average number of calendar days for agreements (measured from the time 
they were submitted to Agreement Services until the time of agreement execution) was 40 days.  
70% of all agreements were executed in 45 days or less.  This exceeds the annual target of 50%, but 
falls short of the overall target of 90%.   
It is significant to note that Cooperative and Local Public Agency (LPA) agreements took an 
average of 84 days and 92 days respectively to execute, significantly skewing the overall numbers.  
The extended length of time to execute is largely due to the time it takes for the outside agency to 
sign the agreement.  Removing the Cooperative and LPA agreements from the data for quarters 1 
and 2 shows an average number of calendar days to execute agreements of 27 days, with 84% of 
agreements executed within 45 days.  
For quarters 3 and 4 the average number of days to execute agreements (measured from the time 
they were submitted to Agreement Services until the time of agreement execution, excluding the 
time they were out for second party signature) was 19 days.  78% of all agreements were executed 
in 30 days or less.  This falls short of the target of 90%. 

Item #12 Attachment A



34

 

 

 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 

 

 Number of 
agreements 
executed 

Number 
executed 
within 45 
calendar  
days 

% 
executed 
within 45 
calendar 
days 

Number of 
Cooperative & 
LPA 
agreements 
executed 

Number of 
Cooperative 
& LPA 
agreements 
executed 
within 45 
days 

% 
Cooperative 
& LPA 
agreements 
executed 
within 45 
days 

1st & 2nd Qtr 
FY 2014 

222 155 70% 46 7 15% 

 Number of 
agreements 
executed 

Number 
executed 
within 30  
days 

Number 
executed 
within 30  
days 

   

3rd & 4th 
Qtr 2014 

249 
 

195 
 

78% N/A N/A N/A 
 

  
 
    

Item #12 Attachment A



35

 

 

 
* This graph excludes LPA Agreements 

 
Strategies for Improvement: As applicable 
Short range to next reporting:   
Train Agreement Services staff on the performance measure process, the goal and purpose of the 
measure, and how their work impacts the measures. Update agreement manuals, templates and 
forms.  Provide instructional PowerPoint presentations, checklists, and information about the 
procurement process on SharePoint, and encourage all Department employees who procure services 
to view the material.  Conduct agreement training for Department staff as needed, especially for 
project managers who do not regularly procure services.  Continue to monitor processing of 
agreements by tracking the progress on the agreement log.   
 
Long range:  
Thoroughly assess the current performance measure, data collected, it’s relevance to reporting 
actual performance, and make revisions as applicable. Have all Agreement Services staff 
understand the performance measure, what is measured, and how each stage of processing an 
agreement affects the measure.  Provide quarterly feedback to staff about the current processing 
time, and implement continuous improvements to decrease processing time without sacrificing 
accuracy and adherence to laws, rules & regulations. 

60%

62%

64%

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Percentage of Agreements Executed within 30 or 45 days

Item #12 Attachment A



36

 

 

Were the targets met?   
NO 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful? 
Tracking agreements using the tracking log was successful in identifying when an agreement had 
taken longer than it should have to process, allowing Agreement Services to follow up with the 
Project Manager.  Keeping track of the many stages of processing an agreement helped identify 
where in the process the delay occurred.  Training staff on the performance measures helped 
identify additional key information that would help us track our performance, such as the date the 
Project Manager sent the agreement to the second party.  It also made staff motivated to meet the 
new target of 90% and to keep that in mind when performing their daily tasks. 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why? 
N/A 

What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015? 
Short range to next reporting: 
An issue was identified in processing quote agreements, where Agreement Services staff weren’t 
accepting electronic documents, requiring hard copies to be mailed back and forth several times 
between the Project Manager, Agreement Services, Legal, and the Director’s Office.  The 
Agreement Services Manager is working to have all staff accept electronic documents in order to 
more efficiently process quote agreements (other kinds of agreements are already accepted in 
electronic formats). 
In addition, Agreement Services will implement DocuSign to electronically route agreements and 
possibly agreement-related backup documentation through the approval process using email and 
online signatures.  This should shorten both the time the agreement is within NDOT and the time it 
takes to obtain second party signature. 

 
Long range strategy: 
Implement DocuSign to take full advantage of its efficiencies in getting agreements signed.  
Implement the Electronic Procurements and Tracking (ePats) system to facilitate agreement 
tracking.  Continue to assess the relevance of performance measure data, revising the measure as 
necessary to accurately reflect the time it takes to process an agreement.   

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 
Yes 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
No 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
Yes.  Procuring services more expediently will make Department operations more efficient, 
resulting in faster delivery of projects, more timely maintenance of facilities, and an overall higher 
standard of service provided.  This will result in overall cost savings. 
 

YES

Item #12 Attachment A



37

 

 

 

 
Performance Measure: 
Numerical ratings obtained from public opinion and customer/user surveys. 
Annual Target: Annual increases in public opinion and customer/user ratings. 
Ultimate Target: Increases in public opinion and customer/user ratings. 

Overview of performance measure: 
Public opinion, users (customers) as well as elected officials surveys will assess public 
information, outreach activities, and how well the Department is performing in the eyes of our 
customers. It is important to know that we are doing the right things to be transparent, 
accountable, and efficient. This performance measure works toward meeting the Department of 
Transportation Strategic Plan goals and to be in touch with our customers. 

 
Measurement and Supporting Data: 
NDOT contracted with the University of Nevada, Reno (UNR) and University of Nevada, Las 
Vegas (UNLV) to collect public opinions on the satisfaction level of NDOT’s performance. Two 
maintenance customer satisfaction surveys of Nevada residents were conducted by the Center for 
Research Design and Analysis at UNR in conjunction with Maintenance and Operations Division in 
2009 and 2011. A comprehensive customer satisfaction survey was accomplished by UNLV in 
cooperation with the Performance Analysis Division in 2014. 

The 2014 customer satisfaction survey was designed and used to gain insights about the public 
impressions of congestion, construction, maintenance, safety, and funding, as well as to determine 
differences between different regions in Nevada. The method chosen to collect data involved 
utilizing the Cannon Survey Center (CSC), operating within UNLV. CSC collected 2,636 responses 
using a combination of phone interviews, in-person interviews, and online distribution. In addition, 
696 responses were collected from several smaller population groups independently from the CSC 
with the help of a small contractor (ADV Solutions) and the Transportation Research Center (TRC). 
In most cases, the residents were satisfied with the transportation system in Nevada. 

 
Summary of the survey results: 
The following chart and graphs show the customer Level of Satisfaction on the overall NDOT’s 
performance based on the 2014 Customer Satisfaction Survey. 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



38

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Customer Satisfaction Satisfied Dissatisfied
Travel Time 70.52% 12.61%
Minimize Congestion 57.56% 20.78%
Congestion Acceptable 68.96% 31.04%
Safety 64.58% 17.75%
Notificaton 62.45% 16.55%
Community 40.86% 20.12%
Time 30.86% 46.61%
Overall Completed Work 79.66% 8.77%
Rest area 65.17% 18.35%
Weigh station 58.38% 9.61%
Warning 71.25% 13.77%
Debris 77.76% 9.01%
Striping 66.54% 18.75%
Signs 77.46% 8.41%
Lighting 64.28% 16.71%
Drains 56.40% 17.67%
Snow 56.50% 6.98%
Overall Safety 86.53% 13.47%

Efforts to keep drivers 
aware of issues

68.04% 7.44%

Agree Disagree
Fuel Tax 54.86% 18.84%
Tolls 21.82% 58.17%
Rush Hour 16.14% 67.07%
VMT 47.56% 27.21%

Positive Experience Not Positive Exp
Contact NDOT 79.55% 20.45%

64.41% 16.55%

35.10% 42.82%

Congestion

Construction Zones

 Commercial Truck

Safety

Funding

Average

Average

Item #12 Attachment A



39

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



40

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Strategies for Improvement: 
Short Range to next reporting:  
N/A 

Long Range:  
N/A 

Annual Evaluation of Performance Measure 
Was the annual target met? 

Item #12 Attachment A



41

 

 

Since a customer survey was not conducted last year, a comparative analysis could not be done to 
determine if the target was met. 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?  
N/A 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  
N/A 

What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be implemented in FY 2015? 
 
Short range to next reporting:  
Conduct customer surveys from now forward using the same format and survey questions so 
comparisons can be made between subsequent years. 

 
Long Range: 
Request for permission to conduct Customer Surveys at most every- other year, rather than yearly. 
This will allow the Department ample time to evaluate the results and make the necessary 
improvements before the next survey is undertaken. Also, besides cutting down on the cost of 
yearly surveys, it will not be a nuisance to customers to responding to survey questions. 
 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?  
No 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  
To conduct a well designed public survey is expensive. Analyzing the results takes time which has 
fiscal implications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



42

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure: 
Urban roadways – Maintain congestion at Level of Service D for 85% of State urban roadways 
Rural roadways – Maintain congestion at Level of Service D for 90% of State rural roadways 

Definition of Level of Service D – Roadways operating at up to 8 miles per hour less than the 
Free Flow Speed or Posted Speed Limit, and the traffic carrying capacity of the roadway is less 
than 0.9. 

Current Status:  
N / A  
Ultimate Target: Reduce congestion by 1% per year to reach the ultimate target of 90% of 
State urban roadways at Level of Service D, and 95% of State rural roadways at Level of Service 
D. 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure is one of the most important performance indicators of the 
NDOT maintained roadway system. It integrates the outcome of our overall investments into one 
measure that is a direct result of the collaborative efforts of the various divisions of NDOT. It 
will help reduce congestion and will help identify bottleneck locations on the NDOT 
maintained roadway system, which will be prioritized for improvements depending upon the 
funding and resources availability. It works towards meeting the Department of Transportation 
Strategic Plan to efficiently operate the transportation system by reducing the level of congestion 
and increasing safety. 
This Congestion Monitoring System will be an evolving process and will be updated regularly 
as more data is integrated into it from the Southern Nevada RTC’s Freeways and Arterials 
System of Transportation, and the Washoe County’s future Traffic Management Center, Synchro 
models, and other sources as needed. 

Summary: 
During FY 2010, NDOT developed its first system-wide Level of Service Monitoring and 
Tracking system that is used in determining congestion on the state maintained roadways in 
urban and rural areas. This established the base conditions for the Level of Service monitoring 
system. 
At present, the Department is in the process of developing a more practical, simple and robust 
methodology for Congestion tracking and measurement that will also enable and identify locations 
within the State network system that experience higher than the threshold congestion levels. 
Performance Analysis Division is working with Traffic Operations and Traffic Information 
Divisions in formulating this new approach. 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



43

 

 

Supporting Documentation: 
Highway Capacity Manual, AASHTO, Daily Traffic Volume Data, Peak Hourly Volume 
Data, Truck Percentages, Service Flow tables, Commuter and Non-Commuter Traffic, Roadway 
Terrain and Grades, Directional Factors, Hourly Factors, Functional Class, Number of Lanes, 
Free Flow Speed data, Peak Hour Factors, and Peak Service Flow Rates. 

Were the targets met? 
N/A  
Methodology is being modified for FY 2014  

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 
Yes. 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
In the modified methodology, other indicators such as vehicle delay and travel time will be evaluated 
if they could supplement this performance measure in the core urban areas. 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact? 
Yes. Improving congestion by 1% per year will require investments into the roadway system. 
The fiscal impact of such improvements will be determined accordingly. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



44

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
Performance Measure:  
Percentage of projects within established range of cost estimate and schedule to completion 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals by providing timely and beneficial construction projects.  This measure helps to optimize 
safety for road users, be in touch with and responsive to our customers (road users), and efficiently 
operate the transportation system. 

Measurement and Supporting Data:  
FY 2014 ended with 76% projects reported complete within budget and 92% reported complete 
within schedule. Historical numbers are shown in the table below: 
 
 

  % Completed Within Budget % Completed On Schedule 

   FY 2010 96 84 

FY 2011 76 86 

FY 2012 71 78 

FY 2013 76 77 

FY 2014 76 92 

   

Annual Target:  80% Ultimate Target:  80% 

Item #12 Attachment A



45

 

 

 
 
FY 2014 Budget Performance:  Performance is based on an average of quarterly reviews of all 
open construction contracts (64 – 69 depending on the time of year).  This includes active projects 
where construction activities are ongoing and projects where construction is complete and the 
contract is being administratively closed out.  For the fiscal year an average of 76% of open 
contracts performed within budget.   Of the projects that exceeded budget targets, 68% had change 
orders in excess of 3% of the bid price.  The other projects (32%) resulted from actual pay 
quantities exceeding estimated pay quantities. 
 
FY 2014 Schedule performance:  Performance is based on an average of quarterly reviews of all 
contracts (16 – 31) depending on the time of year actively under construction.  For the fiscal year an 
average of 92% of active contracts performed within the original scheduled timeframe.  Reasons for 
exceeding schedule targets included but are not limited to encountering utility conflicts, drilled shaft 
construction issues and increases in the planned quantities. 
 

Strategies for Improvement: 
Short range to next reporting: 
   

 Continue working with Design to improve the quality of designs 
 Minimize avoidable change orders 
 Implementation of P6 professional construction scheduling training and specifications 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014

88

76
71

76 76

95

86

78 77

92

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Fiscal Year

Percent of Projects Completed On Schedule And Within Budget Constraints

% Completed Within Budget % Completed On Schedule

Item #12 Attachment A



46

 

 

 Continue working to improve management techniques 
 Continue active participation of Bid Review and Analysis Team 
 Implementation of new Partnering and DRT specifications, training and methods  
 Continue with annual RE Academy Training / RE Conferences 
 Continue with implementation of electronic documentation software and training 

 

Long range:   
 

 Once P6 and eDocumentaions software are fully implemented, refine methods for tracking 
budget and schedule performance utilizing the new systems 

 Develop and standardize one set of performance measures for budget and schedule.  
 Automate the process so that performance measures are reviewed and discussed at monthly 

contract briefing meetings 
 

Were the targets met?  Yes with exceptions.  Efforts to determine the best parameters for analysis 
of budget and schedule performance of active, open, and closed contracts will continue. Through 
progressive review of processes and data sets the Department will promote accuracy and efficiency 
necessary to evaluate a goal of 80%; NDOT’s goal of 80% for both is being studied and will be 
maintained for the time being.   

 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?  It is difficult to identify a specific short 
term strategy that was “successful” because measuring budget and schedule performance on a 
construction project is a somewhat complex process involving many activities, personnel and other 
factors.  Some factors are beyond the control of the NDOT and contractor personnel actively 
involved in the project (example: market fluctuations in material pricing).  Department personnel 
are actively involved with improving the quality of design, minimizing avoidable change orders, 
enhancing scheduling techniques and partnering with stakeholders on a daily basis as part of our 
core mission.  We are confident that the implementation of electronic documentation and P6 
scheduling software’s will have a direct impact on the success of these performance measures.  
 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why?  See above. 

What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY 2015? 
 

 Staff Accountability:  Procedures for upper management reviews of projects with significant 
cost and schedule overruns will be fine tuned.    

 Contract Closeouts:  Efforts are continually ongoing to streamline contract closeouts.  
NDOT is putting a high priority on working internally and with contractor to closeout 
contracts in a timely manner.  

 
 Electronic Documentation:  Training and implementation of electronic documentation will 

occur during FY 2015increasing our process efficiencies and reduce overall project costs to 
the Department.  

Item #12 Attachment A



47

 

 

 
 P6 Professional Scheduling:  Training and implementation of P6 professional scheduling 

software will increase the Departments knowledge of reviewing contractor schedules and 
ensuring contracts on staying on schedule.   

 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 

This performance measure is not a direct measure of NDOT’s performance on construction projects 
due to many factors beyond NDOT’s control (increased / decreased competition, contractor bids, 
market forces, acts of god, contractor expertise, etc...).  But time and money are important factors in 
any construction project and should be measured.  We intend on monitoring similar performance 
measure research at a national level (AASHTO, FHWA, etc…) to refine NDOT’s methods and 
improve performance.   
 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?  No 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
Not monitoring schedule and budget performance can have fiscal impacts related to contractor 
payments, labor, equipment and material costs, administration costs, roadway maintenance costs, 
user delay costs, etc…  Schedule and budget performance must be monitored to minimize those 
impacts and attempt to mitigate them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



48

 

 

 
 
 
Performance Measure:  
 
Percentage of state maintained roadways in fair or better condition. 
 
Ultimate Target: 
 
Perform annual rehabilitation as necessary to maintain the condition of the roadway network in conformance 
with the established goals and additional rehabilitation as necessary to eliminate the accumulated backlog. 
 
Annual Target: 
  

 

 
 
Strategy Plan Support: 
 
This performance measure supports the Department’s Strategic Plan to effectively preserve and maintain 
NDOT’s assets. In order for the Department to maintain the roadway network in fair or better condition, 
rehabilitation work is performed on the roadways each year.  To increase the percentage of pavements in 
“Fair” or better condition, rehabilitation work must be constructed on all roads in excess of the rate of 
deterioration of the pavement. 

 
The Department uses its Pavement Management System (PMS) in determining deterioration rates to predict 
the future condition of pavements and to monitor the condition of all of the state-maintained pavements in 
order to prioritize which pavements need rehabilitation. Proactive rehabilitation strategies are developed for 
pavements on a case-by-case basis to accommodate the particular needs of each project.  

 
Proactive pavement rehabilitation is the most cost-effective way to use limited funds.  Proactive pavement 
rehabilitation means working on roads in a timely and economical manner to maintain or improve the 
roadway network.  Reactive pavement rehabilitation means waiting until the pavement has deteriorated 
below an acceptable level and then performing more expensive rehabilitation construction strategies. Being 
proactive instead of reactive is 4 to 6 times more cost effective when utilizing transportation funding. 
However, the use of proactive pavement rehabilitation practices on every road is not possible due to financial 
constraints.  

 
 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
 
Current Pavement Condition of the State-Maintained Road Network 
 
The state-maintained roadway network consists of 5,393 centerline miles of roads.  The entire system of 
state-maintained roads is classified into five categories based on traffic levels and each category of roads is 
divided into six condition levels. An explanation of how these roads are divided into categories is included 
later in this report. 

Category 1: 95% Minimum 
Category 2: 95% Minimum 
Category 3: 95% Minimum 
Category 4: 95% Minimum 
Category 5: 95% Minimum 

Item #12 Attachment A



49

 

 

A pavement condition target of 95% minimum fair or better has been established for each category of road.  
This target represents a reasonable condition in which the road should be maintained.  It also represents a 
balance between condition and expense. It is known that smoother roads in better condition are less 
expensive to maintain and rehabilitate. Inversely, when roads become rough and cracked or rutted, more 
money must be spent to bring them back to acceptable condition.  Under current funding levels, an 
expectation of fair or better condition is a realistic balance between available funding and acceptable 
condition. A description of each of the condition categories listed below is also included later in this report.  

 
TABLE 1 illustrates the current condition of the roadway network for which NDOT is responsible and 
includes the annual targets which have been established for the condition of the roads. For this particular data 
collection period, only 5,123 miles of the total 5,393 miles of the roadway network were surveyed and are 
reported on in this table. 
 
 
TABLE 1. Pavement Condition versus Annual Target by Road Category      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



50

 

 

Pavement Preservation Repair Work for the State-Maintained Road Network 
 
During fiscal years 2013 and 2014, NDOT advertised approximately $241M worth of contract maintenance 
and rehabilitation pavement repair work. These expenditures addressed the preservation needs for 
approximately 392 miles of roads. TABLE 2 contains a financial summary of the advertised maintenance and 
rehabilitation pavement repair work that was accomplished on the state-maintained roadway network during 
fiscal years 2013 and 2014 along with the corresponding amount of mileage that was improved. 
 
TABLE 2. Advertised Pavement Repair Work for Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014 

Fiscal 
Year 

Contracted Maintenance 
Repair Work Expenditures 

and Mileage 

Contracted Rehabilitation 
Repair Work Expenditures 

and Mileage 

Total  
Contracted Maintenance 

and Rehabilitation Repair 
Work Expenditures and 

Mileage 

2013 
$17,386,000 $123,657,522 $141,043,522 

64 Miles 64 Miles 128 Miles 

2014 
$19,496,131 $80,967,615 $100,463,746 

210 Miles 54 Miles 264 Miles 

Biennium 
Total 

$36,882,131 $204,625,137 $241,507,268 

274 Miles 118 Miles 392 Miles 

 
 
Backlog of Pavement Preservation Repair Work 
Due to funding constraints, a backlog of pavement preservation repair work has accumulated over the years.  
In TABLE 1, a red line is visible at the bottom of the fair condition level. The established goal of 95% fair or 
better requires that 95% of the roads are above the red line. The backlog is calculated by multiplying the 
percentage of miles in excess of 5% that are below the red line by the estimated cost of rehabilitating those 
roads. The total backlog cost is shown in TABLE 3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



51

 

 

TABLE 3. Backlog of Pavement Preservation Repair Work for Entire Network  

 Category 1 
Roads 

Category 2 
Roads 

Category 3 
Roads 

Category 4 
Roads 

Category 5 
Roads 

Deficient Pavement 
(In Miles) 

0 0 0 219 1061 

Estimated Cost Per Mile to 
Rehabilitate Pavement $2.1M $1.3M $0.7M $0.6M $0.5M 

Total Cost to Rehabilitate 
Pavement Per Road Category $0M $0M $0M $131.4M $530.5M 

Total Backlog of Pavement 
Preservation Repair Work $661.9M 

 
 
Effects of Future Funding on Backlog and Pavement Condition 
 
The estimated total backlog of pavement preservation work is only a part of the funding gap that currently 
exists in the budget for maintenance and rehabilitation. As illustrated by the red line in Figure 1 below, in 
spite of an average $132 million dollars spent annually on the roads in the state-owned roadway network, the 
average condition of the roads continues to deteriorate.  
 
Currently, on average, only 75% of the entire state-owned roadway network is in fair or better condition. It 
has been estimated that an additional $191 million dollars needs to be spent on our roads annually to simply 
maintain the current condition, represented by the yellow line. To improve the condition of the network to 
meet the established goals, an additional $662 million dollars, divided across a number of years, would need 
to be spent to eliminate the backlog, shown as the green line. The total amount of funding required 
maintaining the condition of the roads at a higher level, meeting the goal of 95%, would likely be less than 
the total of $132 million and $191 million due to the lower cost of maintaining roads in better condition. 
These estimates are based on current conditions, predicted future conditions, current material and 
construction costs and current deterioration models. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



52

 

 

FIGURE 1. Effects of Additional Funding on Pavement Condition 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Information 

In order to effectively monitor the condition of all the state-maintained pavements and to 
prioritize which pavements need rehabilitation, NDOT has classified the 5,393 miles of roads 
on the state-maintained roadway network into five separate road prioritization categories.  
These categories are based on heavy truck equivalent single axle loads (ESALs), average daily 
traffic (ADT), and federal guidelines for highway classification descriptions. The roads within 
each category have similar in-place pavement thicknesses, similar rates of deterioration, and 
require similar timing for maintenance and rehabilitation work. 
TABLE 4 lists the five separate road prioritization categories and corresponding descriptions. 
Also listed are several examples of easily recognized roads throughout the state to assist with 
understanding the significance of the descriptions. 

 
 

 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



53

 

 

TABLE 4. NDOT’s Road Prioritization Categories    

Road 
Prioritization 

Categories 
1Description Examples 

1 Controlled Access Roads 

IR015, Clark County 

IR580, Washoe County 

IR080, Elko County 

2 

ESAL > 540 

or 

ADT > 10,000 

SR146, St. Rose Parkway, Clark County 

US050, Lincoln Highway, Carson City 

SR227, Fifth Street, Elko County 

3 

540 ≥ ESAL > 405 

or 

1,600 < ADT ≤ 10,000 + NHS 

SR157, Kyle Canyon Road, Clark County 

SR028, Lake Tahoe Area, Douglas County 

SR225, West Urban Limits of Elko, Elko County 

4 

405 ≥ ESAL > 270 

or 

400 < ADT ≤ 1,600 

SR158, Deer Creek Road, Clark County 

SR206, Foothill Road/Genoa Lane, Douglas County 

SR228, Jiggs Road, Elko County 

5 ADT ≤ 400 

SR156, Lee Canyon Road, Clark County 

SR121, Dixie Valley Road, Churchill County 

SR229, Secret Pass Road, Elko County 

1ESAL is an acronym for “Equivalent Single Axle Load.” This engineering concept is the basis for the method used to quantify 
the standard loading of trucks and count the heavy trucks that travel on roads.  ADT is an acronym for “Average Daily Traffic .” 
The Pavement Management System includes the ADT data, as provided by NDOT’s Traffic Division, for every road in the 
state-maintained roadway network.  NHS is an acronym for the “National Highway System.” The NHS consists of roads 
important to the nation’s economy, defense, and mobility as defined by the United State’s Department of Transportation. 

 

The concept that pavements should provide a smooth, comfortable, and safe ride for travelers requires a 
pavement condition rating system that includes all the attributes important to travelers. These attributes 
include travelers’ responses to motion and appearance as demonstrated by a smooth riding surface that 
is free from cracking, patching, and potholes. A pavement condition rating system has been developed 
that objectively measures all the attributes that are important to travelers. This rating system is called 
the Present Serviceability Index (PSI).  

The PSI pavement condition rating system values are calculated using pavement roughness 
measurements and mathematical formulas that quantify pavement distresses such as cracking, raveling, 
rutting, and potholes. These measurements and formulas are combined and standardized into an 
objective rating scale numbered from zero to five. Pavements rated from four to five are interpreted as 
pavements in “new” or very good condition with very smooth surfaces that are completely free of 
distress or irregularities. Pavements rated less than two are interpreted as pavements in very poor or 
failed condition having the roughest of surfaces that are no longer navigable at the posted speed limit. 
The PSI pavement rating system is used to quantify the pavement condition for each route within the 
state-maintained roadway network. 

TABLE 5 illustrates how the PSI rating scale is subdivided into six separate sections that correspond to 
pavements in very good, good, fair, mediocre, poor, and very poor or failed condition. Descriptions of 
the various pavement conditions include the types of distresses that typically occur at each condition 
level. 

Item #12 Attachment A



54

 

 

  TABLE 5. NDOT’s Road Prioritization Categories 

Pavement 

Conditions  

PSI 

Rating Scale 
Description of Pavement Conditions  

Very Good 5.00 to 4.00 
Pavements in “Very Good” condition have an excellent, very smooth ride 
quality and are completely free of pavement distress. Pavements are in 
“new” condition. 

Good 3.99 to 3.50 

Pavements in “Good” condition have a very smooth ride quality and begin 
to show minor distresses that are typically environmental rather than load 
related. Distresses include minor non-wheelpath longitudinal and transverse 
cracks as well as minor surface raveling.  

Fair 3.49 to 3.00 

Pavements in “Fair” condition have a good ride quality except noticeable 
environmental distress has developed. Non-wheelpath longitudinal and 
transverse cracks are frequent. There is light surface oxidation and weathering.  
Structural distress in the form of ruts and fatigue cracks begin to occur. 

Mediocre 2.99 to 2.50 

Pavements in “Mediocre” condition have a barely acceptable ride quality and 
have accumulated significant environmental and structural distresses. 
Pavements have non-wheelpath longitudinal cracking and transverse cracks so 
closely spaced that block cracks develop.  Ruts and fatigue cracks are present. 

Poor 2.49 to 2.00 

Pavements in “Poor” condition have a poor ride quality and have accumulated 
large amounts of environmental and structural related distresses. The non-
wheelpath longitudinal and transverse cracks are severe. The surface is 
weathered, rutted, and fatigue cracks are widespread.  

Very Poor 

or 

 Failed 

< 2.00 

Pavements in “Very Poor” condition have a very poor ride quality and have 
accumulated significant environmental and structural distresses. The surface is 
pitted and there are wide non-wheelpath longitudinal and transverse cracks. 
Networked, spalled fatigue cracks and deep ruts are prevalent. The deterioration 
is so advanced potholes are prevalent.  The roads are no longer navigable at the 
posted speed limits. 

 
 
 
Strategies for Improvement: 
Short Range to next reporting: 

 
1. Use pavement prediction models to anticipate future pavement condition levels. This will help to 

predict what amount of funding will be required in the future. 
2. Collect pavement condition data as frequently as possible to provide the most accurate information 

regarding the state-maintained roadway network. 
 

Long Range: 
 

1. Assist in the effort to distribute limited funding in the most appropriate manner, addressing the 
targets for all performance measures. 

Item #12 Attachment A



55

 

 

2. Monitor the effects of rehabilitation and preservation strategies versus the actual needs of the system 
and make any necessary updates and adjustments to the rehabilitation program. 

3. Take steps to create decision tree models that will document the decision making processes used 
when determining the timing of pavement rehabilitation work and the selection of the type of repair 
strategy used. 

 
Annual Evaluation of Performance Measure 
Was the annual target met? 
The annual target was met for road Categories 1 through 3, but not for Categories 4 and 5.  Current funding 
levels do not allow meeting the annual target in every Category. 
 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful? 
Previous performance measure strategies for improvement such as focusing on high volume roads have 
resulted in road Categories 1 through 3 meeting the targets for pavement condition. This is important due to 
the amount of traffic and the cost to rehabilitate those roads. Categories 4 and 5 roads are allowed to 
deteriorate into less than fair conditions because of funding constraints. Without increased funding for 
pavement rehabilitation the condition of the roads will continue to decline. 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  
None 
What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be implemented in 2015? 
Short range to next reporting: 
The Department will concentrate on implementing the strategies listed above. 
 

Long Range: 
 
The Department will concentrate on implementing the strategies listed above. 
 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 
 
Based on the deterioration rates of state-maintained roadways, the annual and ultimate targets represent what 
is realistic, cost effective and acceptable.   

 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
 
Other performance measures exist and have been investigated by the Department.  This measure accurately 
portrays the experience of the travelling public and what condition is reasonable for the roadway network.   

 
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact? If so, explain. 
 
Yes, the impact of under-funding the annual needs of the system will lead to an increased backlog and 
deterioration of the entire roadway network.  Proactively applying rehabilitation and preservation strategies 
to the state-maintained roadway network can extend pavement service life and reduce costly reconstruction 
project costs by 4 to 6 times.  Costly reconstruction projects not only impact the Department’s budget, but 
impact the travelling public for longer periods of time due to longer construction projects. 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



56

 

 

 

 
 
Performance Measures: 
There are two performance measures for the maintenance of the Department’s fleet of mobile 
equipment: 

(A) Percentage of fleet requiring replacement – this measure is the percentage of the fleet that 
have reached the age or mileage that requires replacement.  

(B) Percentage of fleet in compliance with condition criteria – this measure is the percentage of 
the fleet that is maintained as per Department preventive maintenance requirements so that the 
expected life span of our vehicles is not compromised.  As the fleet is maintained on the 
mileage and/or hourly requirements, compliance has been met. 

Annual Target: 
(A) Declining Rate of 1% per year  
(B) Increasing Rate of 1% per year. 

Ultimate Target: 
(A) 10%  
(B) 95% rate of compliance for mileage/hourly 
requirements 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
 

 Replacement Criteria 
Measured Annually Condition Criteria 

Change  

FY  2007 38.65 % 60.30 %   
FY  2008 34.96% 62.55 % -3.69% +2.25 % 
FY  2009 39.18 % 66.30 % +.53 % +6.00 % 
FY  2010 49.01% 68.84 % +10.36 % +8.84 % 

FY  2011   48.88% 65.42% +10.23% +5.12% 

FY 2012 52.86 % 69.86 % +14.21% +9.56 % 

FY 2013  44.00 % 73.41 % +5.35 % +13.11% 

FY 2014 56.99% 75.28% +18.34% +11.24% 

 

Strategy Plan Support 
In Fiscal Year 2010 the Equipment Division initiated a Rebuild Program that extends the life of 
equipment for an additional life span. Equipment that has reached or exceeded replacement criteria 
is rebuilt to like-new condition for considerably less than the cost of purchasing new equipment. The 
Rebuild Program also assists in assuring that NDOT is adequately equipped for its work effort in 
maintaining public safety.  

Item #12 Attachment A



57

 

 

The vehicles in the fleet are important to deliver projects and maintain a safe highway system. 
Equipment in good condition ensures the ability to perform NDOT’s business practices and 
provides a safe and secure tool for staff.  These performance measures work towards meeting the 
Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to: Optimize safety, Be in touch with and 
responsive to our customers, Innovate, Be the employer of choice, Deliver timely and beneficial 
projects and programs, Effectively preserve and manage our assets, and Efficiently operate the 
transportation system. 
 

 

Strategies for Improvement: 
Short range to next reporting: 
1) a. Revise replacement criteria by increasing usage criteria in selected class codes 
    b. Removing age criteria in other specified class codes. 
    c. Implement policy controls for equipment replacement. 
2) a. Analyze quarterly Preventive Maintenance (PM) due and accomplished on core fleet. 
    b. Develop enforceable policy for non-compliance of PM standards. 

 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014

38.7

35.0

39.2

49.0 48.9

52.9

44.0

57.0

60.3
62.6

66.3
68.8

65.4

69.9

73.4
75.3

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Fiscal Year

Equipment Fleet Status

Vehicles Requiring Replacement (%) Vehicles in Compliance with Condition Criteria (%)

Item #12 Attachment A



58

 

 

Long range: 
1) a. Reduce fleet size by usage assessments. 
    b. Minimize retention of replaced vehicles.  
2) a. Perform annual fleet condition audit. 
    b. Develop Predictive Maintenance Program.  

ANNUAL EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE MEASURE 

Was the annual target met?   
No on 1.  Yes on 2.  

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful? 
(A) We were successful in minimizing the number of vehicles retained. 

(B) We were successful in performing a condition audit of the fleet which identified vehicles that 

needed further attention. 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why? 
(A) Strategies to reduce replacement deficit were detrimentally effected from a loss of funds. 

(B) Unable to develop a Predictive Maintenance Program due to lack of available personnel. 

What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY 2015? 
Short range to next reporting: 
(A) Attempt to rebuild more units. 

(B) Improve notification process for timely preventive maintenance. 

Long range: 
(A) Reduce fleet size through utilization assessments. 

(B) Develop Predictive Maintenance Program. 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  
Yes. 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
No. 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
(A) Yes – Meeting the target will require substantial use of funds. 
(B) Yes – Meeting the target extends the life of the vehicle while ensuring the safety and 

reliability of the fleet, thus reducing the need to utilize funds for repairs and replacements. 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



59

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure: 
Percent of facilities assessments completed and percent of facilities conditions and priority needs.  

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
 

FY 2011 87% 

FY 2012 87% 

FY 2013 (New Method – Base Number) 53% 

FY 2013 55% 

FY 2014 56% 

 

 

3.98% 

67.19% 

92.78% 

10.88% 

40.20% 
48.96% 

6.27% 

62.50% 

97.51% 
90.15% 93.01% 

P
er

ce
n

t  

NDOT Facilities Conditions  
 

Annual Target:  Increase by 3% Ultimate Target:  100%  

Item #12 Attachment A



60

 

 

 
                 NOTE: For FY 2008 through FY 2012, the Facilities Performance Measure were based on code-related work only. 

 
 

For FY 2013, the new performance measure is based on facilities assessments, conditions and priority needs completed. 
 

 

Initial results from changing to the New Method of measuring Performance Measure #10: 
Percentages have dropped overall due to including finer details in previous categories and adding 
categories that didn’t exist before. Added categories capture the entire Architecture workload. Data 
has been updated to include the results from the new 2012 Assessment Study by GML Architects. 
The report is a Statewide Summary of the buildings and other facilities in all 3 Districts. All the 
Department facilities are listed by District and District totals are available. Under the Accessibility 
category, the smallest ADA infraction was considered, therefore the % complete is very low. Under 
the Energy Conservation category, the % complete is very low because most buildings are very old 
and have many opportunities for energy conservation improvements. 

Strategies for Improvement: 
Short range to next reporting: 
Work on improving the data in the following columns: Energy Conservation and Environmental as 
data become more complete. 

 
Long range: 
The expanded categories for calculating this performance measure will aid us to develop a defined 
work plan with prioritized projects, tied to Architecture’s budget for successful accomplishment of 
goals and objectives.  

FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

82% 82% 
86% 88% 87% 

55% 56% 

P
er

ce
n

t 

Performance  
 

Facilities Assessments Facilities Conditions 

Item #12 Attachment A



61

 

 

 

ANNUAL EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE MEASURE 
Was the annual target met?  
No.  The percentage of performance was increased by 1% over the base number established last 
year.  Facilities improvements for the Past 2014 fiscal year are listed below. 
Life Safety Improvements included for this fiscal year: 

 HQ Lab Building Fire Alarm Report - DONE 
 HQ 2nd & 3rd floor sprinkler drawings – Bidding Oct. 2014 
 Disconnect switch upgrades at fuel pumps – PARTIAL – Haw. & Yer. 
 Fire sprinkler at the East Annex – CANCELED – Bldg. to be VACATED 

Mechanical Improvements included: 
 D3 Elko Progress Lab Ventilation and Controls Upgrade - DONE 
 D2 HQ Boiler Upgrade at the Sparks Equipment Yard - DONE 
 D1 LV HVAC Upgrades at Lab Building & Equipment Shop Building - DONE 

Lighting Improvements included: 
District 1 

 Tonopah – Admin., Crew, Fuel - DONE 
District 2 

 Cold Springs- Site, Shop, Storage - DONE 
 Fallon- Admin., Safety - DONE 
 Fernley- Admin., Salt, Admin., Fuel - DONE 
 Hawthorne- Maint. Sta., Vehicle Storage - DONE 
 Lovelock- Maint. Sta. - DONE 
 Wellington- Fuel, Maint. Sta., Vehicle Storage - DONE 
 Yerington- Crew Office, Maint. Sta., Vehicle Storage - DONE 

District 3 
 Elko- Parts and Repair shop - DONE 
 Ely- Shop, Admin, Maint.Sta., Cold Storage, Vehicle Stor., Crew office - DONE  
 Winnemucca- Admin. - DONE 

Painting Improvements to the facilities at the following locations: 
 Alamo - DONE 
 Glendale - DONE 
 Goldfield – Building Bay Extension done – no painting needed 
 Las Vegas South – carry over to 2015 
 Panaca - DONE 

One new building was constructed: 
 Roop Street Annex Building – DONE 

 What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?   
The development of a new method of calculating PM#10 which incorporates everything we do (the 
old method only included selected code elements such as the fire sprinklers and electrical items 
included in the 2005 Facility Assessment Report).  The new method will utilize the 2012 

Item #12 Attachment A



62

 

 

Assessment Study that provides data on categories such as Accessibility, Painting, Roofs, Life 
Safety (Building Code related), Lighting and Electrical, Mechanical Systems, Energy Conservation, 
and Environmental (wash pads and storm water). Additional elements such as New Building Needs, 
Remodels or Additions, and Tenant Improvements are also included.  This data will be used to 
measure the facilities needs and the progress towards maintaining our facilities in an effective 
manner. 

 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why?  
The old method of calculating this performance measure was limited in scope and the items were 
difficult to track.  There were many items of work that were not captured when measuring our 
performance.  It did not provide meaningful and easily identifiable elements that could be tracked to 
show improvement or lack of improvement. 
The new method is set up to be a “living document” allowing staff to input data and monitor the 
progress of improving our facilities.  Items will be easier to track and the data gives a better picture 
of our program. 

 
What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015? 
Short range to next reporting:   
Track our 2015FY program and look at how we can make improvements. 
Project Managers are learning how to use the PM#10 chart with their annual work load. 
 
Long range:   
Defining a work plan with prioritized projects and tying the work plan to Architecture’s budget. 
This will be used as a roadmap for successful accomplishment of goals and objectives. 
 
Facilities improvements that will complete in the New 2015 fiscal year are listed below: 
Target % increase complete is estimated at 2% for the FY 2015  
ADA, Accessibility: 

 Ely Admin. Bldg. Entrance and other Ely ADA 
 Valmy Rest Area 
 Elko Admin Bldg. Entrance 

Roofing: 
 Mountain Springs 

Contact 
 Fallon M.S. 
 Goldfield M.S. 
 Battle Mountain 

Life Safety Improvements included for this fiscal year: 

Item #12 Attachment A



63

 

 

 HQ 2nd & 3rd floor sprinkler drawings – Bidding Oct. 2014 
 Carson HQ Bldg. emergency notification system 
 Carson HQ Bldg. C-Cure swipes at interior doors 
 New security cameras at HQ and all Districts 

Mechanical Improvements included: 
 D2 - CC Vehicle Storage Boiler, and remove Shop Boiler   
 D2 – Reno, Equip Shop  
 HQ Motor Pool Boiler 
 CC HQ Lab, Replace Chiller 

Lighting or Electrical Improvements included: 
District 2 

 Generators at 6 M.S. – Incline, Mt. Rose, Spooner, Galena, CC, and Comanche 
District 3 

 Elko-Yard and Interior Lights 
 Cosgrave Rest Area 
 Winnemucca Power Distribution Upgrade 

Painting Improvements to the facilities at the following locations: 
 Austin, Eureka, Ely 
 Hawthorne, Cold Springs, Fallon 
 Las Vegas South, Searchlight, Indian Springs 

Environmental: 
 Elko Wash Pad and Drainage 
 Carson Yard Storm Drainage 

Remodels and Additions: 
 Fallon Bay Extension 
 Fernley Bay Extension 

Tenant Improvement Projects: 
 Roop Street Bldg. – Move Construction Division to SW corner of Roop Bldg. 
 HQ – Hydrology Move to 2nd Flr. 
 District 2 Reno – Progress Lab T.I. 

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  Yes. 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?  No. 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain.   
Yes. Since this is a new performance measure, we will evaluate and monitor the fiscal impacts and 
the performance levels before establishing any changes to our yearly target. 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



64

 

 

 

 
 
 Performance Measure:  
Percent of emergency plans that have been completed, training and education have been provided to 
appropriate personnel, the plans have been tested and exercised and the plan has been updated to 
accommodate changes in departmental processes, federal guidelines, etc. Training and updates 
should be completed on a biennial basis. Plans include:  
 
• NDOT Homeland Security Plan  
• NDOT Emergency Operations Plan  
Ultimate Target: 100%     Annual Target: 100% 
 

 
  
 
Strategy Plan Support: 
 NDOT’s emergency plans provide clear guidance on how NDOT will continue to perform critical 
functions and operations in the event of an emergency or disaster. Being prepared and ready for an 
emergency is paramount for keeping systems operating during such times, as well as being in a 
position to respond to health and safety issues. This performance measure works towards meeting 
the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to:  
• Optimize Safety  
• Be in touch with and responsive to our customers  
• Innovate,  

Item #12 Attachment A



65

 

 

• Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs,  
• Effectively preserve and manage our assets  
• Efficiently operate the transportation system.  

 
Summary: July 2013 – June 2014:  
 
The NDOT Emergency Management/Homeland Security section is working to update the NDOT 
Homeland Security Plan. This update will include a complete re-structure of the Plan, to include 
department wide security measures and to coordinate security efforts currently taking place within 
the Department. This effort will include a survey of the NDOT divisions and districts, research 
regarding other state DOT’s security plans, federal guidelines and current practices. The NDOT 
Emergency Management/Homeland Security section will also conduct an exercise upon completion 
of a draft plan to test the efficacy of the plan prior to finalizing the document. The new Security 
Plan is scheduled to be completed before the end of the calendar year.  
 
The NDOT Emergency Management/Homeland Security section is continuing to work with the 
NDOT Traffic Operations Division, IT Division, and the Locations Division (GIS) on developing 
an Emergency Operations Center (EOC) mapping program for use in the NDOT DEOC. NDOT 
GIS is in the process of hiring a contractor to assist with developing a web application that will 
allow NDOT personnel to track road status during emergencies, and share that information with 
other agencies via the internet. The software for this application is still in development, and a date 
for completion has not been set yet.  
 
The “Operation Burst” exercise series was completed in the fourth quarter after the NDOT 
Homeland Security/Emergency Management section hosted a functional exercise in District III to 
test the District Annex to the NDOT Emergency Operations Plan. The exercise, named “Operations 
Eastern Burst”, used an extreme weather scenario to simulate emergency operations in the District, 
and focused on the roles and responsibilities of the Road Operations Center during a disaster.  
An After Action Report/Improvement Plan (AAR/IP) will be drafted and disseminated for review 
during the next quarter.  
 
The NDOT Emergency Management/Homeland Security section continues to work with the NDOT 
Traffic Operations Division on a communications annex to the NDOT Emergency Operations Plan. 
The annex will develop procedures for prioritizing and maintaining communications within the 
NDOT DEOC when activated.  
 
The NDOT Emergency Management/Homeland Security section, in collaboration with the NDOT 
Safety section of the Human Resources Division, HQ Buildings and Grounds, and the NDOT 
Architecture section, has completed the Department Lockdown and Evacuations procedures. Pilot 
training classes have been held for the HQ Hall, Room and Floor Monitors. Training is being 
scheduled for all NDOT Headquarters personnel. Work on District Lockdown and Evacuation 
procedures will take place in the near future.  
 
A Security Task Force has been established to provide direction and guidance as security measures 
are developed and implemented for the Department. Personnel from the Maintenance and Asset 
Management Division, Human Resources Division and Building and Grounds have been included 
in this Task Force. District representatives are also being sought to participate in the Task Force.  

Item #12 Attachment A



66

 

 

 
The NDOT Homeland Security/Emergency Management section began working with the Nevada 
Division of Emergency Management (NDEM) in the acquisition and storage of sand bags for use 
when needed during emergencies. NDEM is purchasing the sandbags, and NDOT is transporting 
and storing the sandbags at our Hotsprings facility. The acquisition of the sandbags will be 
completed in the first quarter of next year.  
 
The regular quarterly update of the NDOT Emergency Operations Center Contact List was updated 
on time in the fourth quarter.  
 
Training:  
During this fiscal year, the following training was provided or attended by NDOT personnel:  
 
August 19-23, 2013 - Jim Walker and Chris Joncas attended a Peer Exchange of emergency 
management personnel from the DOT's nationwide. This peer exchange included an exercise to 
compare practices by DOT's from across the nation and classes on current emergency management 
practices.  
 
September 17-18, 2013 - Chris Joncas provided a training session to the Maintenance Supervisors 
throughout NDOT on the responsibilities of NDOT and NDEM during emergencies.  
 
September 11-12, 2013 - Chris Joncas attended a Terrorism Liaison Class with the Nevada 
Terrorism Analysis Center.  
 
September 27, 2013 - Vicky Thompson and Anita Bush attended training conducted by the Division 
of Emergency Management regarding public assistance during emergencies. 
 
October 8, 2013 – Training was held regarding how the Lockdown and Evacuation procedures are 
going to be presented to the NDOT Headquarters personnel. Modifications were made to the 
training materials following this training to improve the presentation.  
 
November 19-21, 2013 - Chris Joncas and Vicky Thompson attended the ICS-300 class hosted by 
the Nevada Division of Emergency Management. This class focuses on the necessary skills to 
manage an Emergency Operations Center during a disaster.  
 
December 5, 2013 – Training was conducted for the Chief of the Logistics unit within the NDOT 
EOC. There have been significant changes in the personnel assigned to these positions, and training 
was necessary to acquaint people with their roles and responsibilities during disasters. 
 
January 23 2014 – Training was conducted for Hall, Room and Floor Monitors of the NDOT HQ 
building on security lockdown and evacuation procedures. Three training sessions were conducted 
this day.  
 
January 27, 2014 - Training was conducted for Hall, Room and Floor Monitors of the NDOT HQ 
building on security lockdown and evacuation procedures.  
 
February 4, 2014 – Jim Walker participated in a Joint Critical Infrastructure Partnership Workshop 
Webinar held by the National Infrastructure Protection Program.  

Item #12 Attachment A



67

 

 

February 4, 2014 – Vicky Thompson participated in a separate session of the Joint Critical 
Infrastructure Partnership Workshop Webinar held by the National Infrastructure Protection 
Program. 
 
April 21 2014 – Training from the Nevada Mental Health Division (Emergency Support Function 8-
1) was attended by NDOT personnel to learn their capabilities to better support emergency 
operations and provide better coordination in the State Emergency Operations Center.  
 
April 22, 2014 – An 8 hour training session was attended by NDOT staff regarding response and 
planning considerations in Active Shooter situations.  
 
May 13, 2014 – The Inter-Tribal Emergency Response Commission (ITERC) provided training 
regarding working with the Nevada tribes during emergencies.  
 
Exercises:  
During this fiscal year, the following exercises were provided or attended by NDOT personnel:  
 
July 9, 2013 - Operation Lock 'N' Roll, a tabletop exercise, was held to test the new Lockdown 
Procedures and Evacuation Procedures being developed for inclusion in the NDOT Homeland 
Security Plan. This exercise was attended by the Directors Office, as well as key personnel from 
throughout the Department. Following the exercise, an After Action Report/Improvement Plan 
(AAR/IP) was created and used to update the Lockdown Procedures and Evacuation Procedures 
During this quarter, the following exercises were provided or attended by NDOT personnel:  
 
October 24, 2013 - Operation Northern Burst, a functional exercise, was held in District 2 to test the 
District 2 annex to the NDOT Emergency Operations Plan. This was the first functional exercise 
conducted by NDOT at the District level. Further exercises are planned for District 1 and District 3.  
 
November 12, 2013 – Arkstorm, a regional flood exercise, was held by the Nevada Division of 
Emergency Management. NDOT participated in this exercise by staffing the Emergency Support 
Function 01 position at the State Emergency Operations Center as required by the NDOT 
Emergency Operations Plan.  
 
December 5, 2013 – A follow-up exercise to the main Arkstorm exercise was conducted by Washoe 
County Emergency Management. NDOT participated to provide information to Washoe County on 
how coordination with the county during an emergency would take place according to the NDOT 
Emergency Operations Plan. 
 
February 19, 2014 - Operation Southern Burst, a tabletop exercise, was conducted in District 1 
using an inclement weather scenario to test the interaction between the District EOC and the District 
1 Road Operations Center.  
 
March 14, 2014 – Arkstorm, a regional flood scenario tabletop exercise, was conducted by the 
Nevada Division of Emergency Management at the Washoe County Regional EOC. NDOT District 
2 personnel participated. 
 
May 14, 2014 – Caltrans held a Functional Exercise to test their Alternate Emergency Operations 
Center using an earthquake and tsunami scenario. NDOT personnel assisted with the exercise as 
evaluators.  

Item #12 Attachment A



68

 

 

June 10, 2014 – The NDOT Emergency Management/Homeland Security section conducted a 
Functional Exercise for District III management to test the District Annex to the NDOT EOP, 
especially regarding the use of the District III Road Operations Center.  
 
June 25, 2014 – NDOT personnel from the Maintenance and Asset Management Division and from 
District I participated in a Tabletop exercise hosted by Nevada Division of Emergency Management 
using an earthquake scenario in Lake Tahoe 
 
Updates:  
The following plans/procedures received updates during this quarter:  
No updates were completed during this quarter.  
 
Strategies for Improvement: As applicable  
 
Short range:  
 
A functional exercise was conducted in District 3, and an After Action Report/Improvement Plan 
(AAR/IP) is being prepared. The AAR/IP will provide guidance for updating NDOT’s emergency 
plans and procedures, and will be used to ensure the plan updates are relevant to NDOT’s needs.  
 
Training is currently being planned for all NDOT Headquarters personnel regarding the recently 
completed Headquarters Lockdown and Evacuation procedures. Following this training, efforts will 
begin to create Lockdown and Evacuation procedures for the Districts and Annex buildings.  
A significant update to the NDOT Homeland Security Plan is in progress. This update will 
document the security efforts currently in place within the Department, and attempt to establish a 
coordinated method of improving and implementing additional security measures.  
 
 
Long range:  
Exercises will continue to be held at least twice each year, with the After Action Reports being used 
to update our Emergency Operations and Security plans. Training will be held in preparation for 
these exercises, as well as after the exercises to mitigate areas of improvement indentified in the 
exercises.  
 
Were the targets met?  
Yes  
 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?  
Conducting exercises successfully tests and provides training for NDOT personnel on disaster 
response activities. It also provides valuable feedback needed to update our plans and procedures. 
Regular exercises will remain a fundamental part of our strategy. Training is also being supplied to 
the Districts at an accelerated pace based on their requests and feedback received from the exercises 
Consolidation of the Emergency Operation Plans (State Level Emergency Operations Plan, District 
Emergency Operations Plan, Continuity of Operations Plan, and Southern Nevada Evacuation Plan) 
into one plan with multiple annexes has proven to be successful. All feedback from the personnel 
involved in emergency operation has been positive, indicating it is more efficient and easier to 
respond when there is only one plan to reference.  
 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful? Why?  

Item #12 Attachment A



69

 

 

We were not able to complete the update of the NDOT Homeland Security Plan in FY 2013 as 
planned due to additional requirements being added. The inclusion of Lockdown and Evacuation 
procedures for the HQ complex have added complexity to the planning process, and caused a delay 
in completing the update of the plan. The NDOT Homeland Security Plan update is now projected 
to be completed by the end of calendar year 2014.  
 
What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015?  
Short range:  
The strategies implemented to date have been successful in achieving our performance measures. 
We will continue to combine Emergency Operations and Security plans as much as possible to 
reduce the number of plans to be exercised and updated.  
 
Long range strategy:  
Emergency Management and Homeland Security Plans have been consolidated in the latest update 
to simplify the planning process, and make it easier for NDOT staff to find information during 
actual events. Since achieving 100% compliance with our performance measures, efforts will now 
focus on improving the security stance of the department and completing the necessary tasks to 
remain compliant with our performance measures.  
 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  
Yes  
 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?  
This Performance Measure has been revised to reflect the merging of separate plans. The Mobile 
Fleet Security Plan has already been incorporated into the NDOT Homeland Security Plan. The 
Continuity of Operations Plan, District Level Emergency Operations Plan and the Southern Nevada 
Evacuation Plan have been included into the NDOT Emergency Operations Plan. Performance 
Measure 11 has been modified to reflect these changes 
 
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact? If so, explain.  
No fiscal impact is anticipated.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



70

 

 

 
 
Performance Measure: 
Number of fatalities on Nevada’s streets and highways. 
Annual Target:  Average annual decrease of 
the five-year rolling average by 3.1% resulting 
in halving traffic fatalities and serious injuries 
by 2030.  
The “pre-set” target was set from the 2011 data 
and the newly added adjusted target is the actual 
five year rolling average adjusted down 3.1%. 
This provides us a range instead of a single 
number as a goal and provides reporting 
consistency with the Office Of Traffic Safety.  

Fiscal year 2014Target:  
Decrease motor vehicle fatalities from the 2008-
2012 five year average of 266 by three percent, 
to the projected 2010-2014 number of 258, by 
December of 2015. 
 

                       Ultimate Target:  Zero  

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
 

Year 
Number of 
Fatalities 

Benefits Of Lives 
Saved Over The 

Prior Year (Millions 
of Dollars) 

Five-Year Rolling 
Average 

Number of 
Fatalities 

Pre-Set 
Target Five-
Year Rolling 

Average 

Target 
Adjusted 
From Five 

Year Rolling 
Average 

2005 427 -$198.4       
2006 432 -$31.0       
2007 372 $372.0 397     
2008 324 $297.6 390     
2009 243 $502.2 360     
2010 257 -$86.8 326     
2011 246 $68.2 288 288   
2012 262 -$99.2 266 279   
2013 265 -$18.6 255 270   

2014 YTD 218 $291.4 250 262   
2015       254 258 
2016       246 TBD 

 

1 

Item #12 Attachment A



71

 

 

 

 

 

Strategies for Improvement: 
Short range to next reporting: 
Continue the State’s five-year Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP) implementation. 5 

 Promote Zero Fatalities to the public (the fifth E of safety, everyone) 
 www.zerofatalitiesnv.com website 
 Media 
 Grassroots Marketing 

 Safety Summit to be held in  Reno in March 2015 (The SHSP will be updated after the 
Safety Summit) 

 Expand the Road Safety Audit (RSA) program by completing the mitigations database 
and tracking tools associated with the RSA program.  We will also be including “work 
zone” RSA’s in major projects as a standard item. 

 Continue to invest NDOT’s safety funds on strategies identified in the SHSP  
 Implement cost effective improvements to keep vehicles in their lane 
 Analyze crash data to locate sites with a high number of run-off-road crashes and 

install shoulder and centerline rumble strips 
 Expand the systemic safety program beyond centerline rumble strips 

154 

176 

123 
129 

115 

134 
131 

102 

187 

128 

100 
106 108 

105 

113 

93 
80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

200 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013  YTD 2014 

N
U

M
BE

R 
of

 F
A

TA
L 

CR
A

SH
ES

 
NUMBER of FATAL CRASHES 

ON SYSTEM OFF SYSTEM 

Item #12 Attachment A



72

 

 

 Flashing Yellow Arrows, Roundabouts, median cable rail projects, 
shoulder widening and slope flattening, turn pockets on state routes with 
posted speeds over 55MPH. 

 Perform pedestrian corridor studies to identify engineering improvements for 
inclusion in future projects. 

 Follow the principles of access management 
 Implement geometric intersection improvements 

 Continued cooperation and close coordination with and support the Office of Traffic 
Safety’s efforts with public education programs for TV/radio ‘spots’ to increase safer 
behavior by the public and their “Joining Forces” campaign with Law Enforcement. 

 
 Continuing the  safety capacity building initiative to grow the safety discipline throughout 

Nevada by (a) developing stronger ties to our universities and (b) rolling out the Highway 
Safety Manual to transportation safety professionals throughout the state  

Long range: 
 Introduce new safety mitigations to Nevada for assessment and adoption into policy. 
 Participate in the development and expansion of the Traffic Incident Management program 

in order to efficiently manage traffic crashes. 
 Bring safety to the planning process as a quantitative measure. 
 Keep Nevada at the forefront of the Safety initiatives at the national level. 

 
Was the annual target met?  Yes. 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?   
NDOT has been targeting run-off-the-road crashes and has found success by coordinating safety 
improvements with NDOT roadway projects by (a) incorporating median cable barrier into NDOT 
projects currently under design (b) identifying safety improvements in the planning process through 
NDOT’s Road Safety Audit program and (c) identifying slope flattening locations for future 
projects (d) the Department adopting the use of the “safety edge” as a standard practice. The 
Department has established a Traffic Incident Management (TIM) program in cooperation with 
Southern Nevada RTC, Nevada Highway Patrol and emergency responders to efficiently manage 
traffic crashes in the Las Vegas area. The TIM program is now underway in northern Nevada.  
Safety messages are now being coordinated statewide through the SHSP Strategic Communications 
Alliance (SCA).  Safety partners throughout the state now have a messaging calendar so each 
partner will be speaking about the same issue at the same time, thereby amplifying the message. 
 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why?   
In general, strategies implemented by NDOT and our safety partners appear to be effective in 
reducing the number of fatalities.  Two strategies, primary seatbelts and automated enforcement 
were not approved by the legislature in 2011 and were not even considered in the 2013 legislature, 
therefore cannot be implemented as identified in the SHSP. The primary seat belt law may come 
back up in the next legislative cycle.  Staffing resources at all agencies are always a challenge, with 

Item #12 Attachment A



73

 

 

more staffing resources available, strategies for improvement would be more quickly, 
comprehensively, and effectively implemented. 

 
What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015? 
Short range to next reporting:  
Given the relatively short duration for implementation of our low cost engineering strategies, the 
Safety Division does not anticipate revising our short term strategies.  We will continue to 
implement strategies identified in the Strategic Highway Safety Plan and work closely with our 
safety partners to continue to reduce the frequency of fatal crashes.   

 
Long range:  
Implement the updated Nevada Strategic Highway Safety plan’s strategies, many of which may be 
short term for specific locations, but long term for their aggregate effect of implementing them in 
enough locations to drive down the fatal and injury numbers.  Those improvements as noted above 
that are provided to NDOT Planning and those for our five-year project list (such as slope 
flattening) will take a longer timeframe for realization. The States Zero Fatalities campaign has 
gained momentum and has reached 60% of the States residence in one form or another in the three 
years it has been active. We will be seeking a goal of 75% in market reach   in the next 4 years. 
Safety Engineering is also planning on conducting up to three Corridor “Safety Management Plans” 
each year statewide for the next four years. 

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?   
No.  This measure is an indicator of how the entire State is performing in regards to reducing traffic 
fatalities.  Approximately half of traffic fatalities do not occur on NDOT maintained roadways.  The 
Department cannot achieve the goal without the cooperation and assistance of our partners in the 
areas of law enforcement, education, emergency medical response and all of the Local Public 
agencies. The DOT is constantly improving the working relations with the Local entities to help 
achieve this goal. See Chart “on system/off system” on page 2. 
 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?   
Yes.  If the desire is to measure the NDOT performance then a measure more closely aligned to our 
program and that can be directly influenced by this Department should be considered. 
 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain.   
Yes.  The Department will continue to spend funds for improving the safety of the State and the 
Local transportation systems.  We will also continue working with our partners to take advantage of 
opportunities to reduce the severity and frequency of motor vehicle crashes throughout the State.  
Every life saved and serious injury avoided lessens or eliminates the cost to the families whose lives 
would have been affected as well as reduces the need for response by law enforcement, emergency 
medical services, and trauma centers.  

 

Item #12 Attachment A



74

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure: 
This performance measure has been established as the percentage of scheduled projects advertised 
within the reporting year and the percentage of advertised and awarded projects within the 
established construction cost estimate ranges.  The construction cost estimate ranges are +/-15% of 
the October estimate of construction costs and +/-10% of the engineer’s estimate of construction 
costs at time of bid.   
 
The performance measure incorporates majority of projects advertised by the Department.  
Contracts handled through the districts and maintenance sections were not included as they are 
developed through a separate process than the typical transportation project.  Capital improvement 
projects completed by the Architecture Division were also excluded from this performance measure.   
 
The list of scheduled projects was established early during the yearly reporting period of October 1 
– September 30.  This reporting period for the performance measure was established to match the 
federal fiscal year.  A large percentage of the Department’s program is delivered using federal 
funds.  The Department strives to use all available federal funds every year.  Being able to meet the 
federal obligation authority limits every year is a goal of the Department.  Doing so, enables the 
Department to request and in most cases receive additional obligation authority, allowing us to 
spend more federal funds and therefore produce more projects for the state.   
  
Annual Target:      70%       Ultimate Target:        80% 
 
Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals by providing timely and beneficial construction projects.  This measure helps to optimize 
safety for road users, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, and efficiently operate the 
transportation system. 
 

Project Delivery Data: 
At the beginning of the reporting period, 16 projects were planned/scheduled for delivery, of which 
12 were delivered. 
Over the course of the reporting period a total of 19 projects were delivered. 

 12 were planned for delivery at the beginning of the reporting period 
 7 were not planned  

 1 was a contingency project that was delivered once funding was identified 
 2 were emergency projects to repair a damaged road and to address a safety issue 

Item #12 Attachment A



75

 

 

 
Over the course of the reporting period, 12 planned and delivered projects were measured for 
performance within the established construction cost estimate range, of which; 

 3 project award costs were within the +/- 15% range of the October estimate of 
construction costs.  

 9 project award costs were not within the +/- 15% range of the October estimate of 
construction costs.  

 4 project award costs were within the +/- 10% range of the engineer’s estimate of 
construction costs at time of bid.  

 8 project award costs were not within the range of +/- 10% of the engineer’s estimate 
of construction costs at time of bid.  
 

 
 

 
Measurement and Supporting Data: 
The established list of scheduled projects included 16 projects.  Of the 16 projects, 12 (75%) 
projects were advertised within the reporting year.  Of the 12 projects that were scheduled and 
delivered for this reporting year, 3 (25%) of the project’s award costs fell within +/- 15% of the 
October cost estimate and 4 (33%) of the project’s award costs fell within +/- 10% of the engineer’s 
estimate at time of bid.   

Item #12 Attachment A



76

 

 

 

  
 

Were the annual targets met? 
The delivery target of 70% of scheduled projects was met this year with a performance of 75%.   
The awarded construction cost estimate target of 70% of delivered projects within +/- 15% of the 
October cost estimate was not met this year with a performance of 25%.   
The awarded construction cost estimate target of 70% of delivered projects within +/- 10% of the 
engineer’s estimate at bid was not met this year with a performance of 33%.   
Although we met our performance for project delivery, the projects that did fail were delayed due to 
scope change, lack of local agency agreement or environmental impacts.   
Although we did not meet our performance for construction cost estimates, almost all of the failed 
estimates were due to the awarded construction cost estimates coming in below the engineer’s 
estimate at bid. 
  

What new “Strategies for Improvement” will be initiated? 
Short range for next reporting period: 

 Continue to document reporting criteria and establish clear definitions for the criteria 

 Document if cost estimates are risk based  
 Establish consistent construction project cost estimate elements for cost comparison  
 Establish standard cost estimate milestones for alternative delivery (i.e., CMAR & DB) 
 Incorporate Betterment projects into the performance measurement since they are being 

developed in Design and administered as a 4 digit contract. 
 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to establish the list of projects to be 

measured early 
 Continue working with impacted divisions on establishing the 5 year plan 

 Identify projects earlier 

 Prioritize projects for resource management 

Item #12 Attachment A



77

 

 

 Prioritize projects to meet funding levels 
 Continue to monitor project progress through monthly status meetings to identify and 

address risks to schedule 
 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to verify project cost estimates early 
 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to have PSAMS data updated 
 Evaluate the performance measure target levels for both the construction cost estimate and 

project delivery schedule performance 
 
Long range: 

 Review contingency and risk factors and evaluate impacts to project schedule and cost 
estimates 

 Standardize contingency and risk factors  
 Establish process for early price checks of project cost estimates 
 Use Scoping effort to improve scope of work, estimate and schedule of projects 
 Incorporate planning and environmental efforts into project development 
 Use the 5 year plan to 

 Identify projects earlier 

 Prioritize projects for resource management 

 Prioritize projects to meet funding levels 
 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 
The performance measure provides a measure of how well we are doing at producing projects 
within the year. It does not identify where the issues are.  However, the documentation done during 
the tracking of the performance measure should help identify where there are issues in the process.   
From there, the Department can develop and/or modify processes or procedures to improve those 
areas.  The performance measure can then be used to evaluate the effectiveness of the changes. 
 

Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
There does not appear to be a better performance measure at this time but we feel there are some 
adjustments to the tracking data that can be made to add value to the performance measure.   
 
The initial construction cost estimates established at the beginning of the reporting period are at 
various levels (i.e., planning, 30%, 60%, 90% and final engineers estimate) and therefore it is 
difficult to make an “apples to apples” comparison with the award estimate and determine the true 
performance issues.  We have introduced the construction cost estimate (engineer’s estimate) at 
time of bid as a second performance measurement criterion. This second data point gives us a 
consistent comparison to the award price and a measurement of our cost estimate development 
performance during the design of a project.  Originally we had established measurement criteria of 

Item #12 Attachment A



78

 

 

+/-25% within the October cost estimate and +/-15% within the engineer’s estimate at bid.  We have 
since adjusted the ranges to better align with the past year’s measurement range so we could 
maintain an “apples to apples” performance history.  For the new measurement range for the 
engineer’s cost estimate at time of bid we decided to adjust it to +/-10% so it aligns with the 
performance indicator established by the Department and the FHWA. 
 

Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
Yes.  Meeting the yearly targets will allow the Department to optimize project funding and 
potentially deliver more projects. 

 
Were the annual targets met? 
The delivery target of 70% of scheduled projects was met this year with a performance of 75%.   
The awarded construction cost estimate target of 70% of delivered projects within +/- 15% of the 
October cost estimate was not met this year with a performance of 25%.   
The awarded construction cost estimate target of 70% of delivered projects within +/- 10% of the 
engineer’s estimate at bid was not met this year with a performance of 33%.   
Although we met our performance for project delivery, the projects that did fail were delayed due to 
scope change, lack of local agency agreement or environmental impacts.   
Although we did not meet our performance for construction cost estimates, almost all of the failed 
estimates were due to the awarded construction cost estimates coming in below the engineer’s 
estimate at bid. 
  

What new “Strategies for Improvement” will be initiated in FY 2015? 
Short range for next reporting period: 

 Continue to document reporting criteria and establish clear definitions for the criteria 
 Document if cost estimates are risk based  

 Establish consistent construction project cost estimate elements for cost comparison  
 Establish standard cost estimate milestones for alternative delivery (i.e., CMAR & DB) 
 Incorporate Betterment projects into the performance measurement since they are being 

developed in Design and administered as a 4 digit contract. 
 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to establish the list of projects to be 

measured early 
 Continue working with impacted divisions on establishing the 5 year plan 

 Identify projects earlier 
 Prioritize projects for resource management 
 Prioritize projects to meet funding levels 

 Continue to monitor project progress through monthly status meetings to identify and 
address risks to schedule 

 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to verify project cost estimates early 
 Continue to coordinate with all impacted divisions to have PSAMS data updated 
 Evaluate the performance measure target levels for both the construction cost estimate and 

project delivery schedule performance 

Item #12 Attachment A



79

 

 

 
Long range: 

 Review contingency and risk factors and evaluate impacts to project schedule and cost 
estimates 

 Standardize contingency and risk factors  
 Establish process for early price checks of project cost estimates 
 Use Scoping effort to improve scope of work, estimate and schedule of projects 
 Incorporate planning and environmental efforts into project development 
 Use the 5 year plan to 

 Identify projects earlier 
 Prioritize projects for resource management 
 Prioritize projects to meet funding levels 

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 
 
The performance measure provides a measure of how well we are doing at producing projects 
within the year. It does not identify where the issues are.  However, the documentation done during 
the tracking of the performance measure should help identify where there are issues in the process.   
 
From there, the Department can develop and/or modify processes or procedures to improve those 
areas.  The performance measure can then be used to evaluate the effectiveness of the changes. 
 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 
There does not appear to be a better performance measure at this time but we feel there are some 
adjustments to the tracking data that can be made to add value to the performance measure.   
The initial construction cost estimates established at the beginning of the reporting period are at 
various levels (i.e., planning, 30%, 60%, 90% and final engineers estimate) and therefore it is 
difficult to make an “apples to apples” comparison with the award estimate and determine the true 
performance issues.  We have introduced the construction cost estimate (engineer’s estimate) at 
time of bid as a second performance measurement criterion. This second data point gives us a 
consistent comparison to the award price and a measurement of our cost estimate development 
performance during the design of a project.  Originally we had established measurement criteria of 
+/-25% within the October cost estimate and +/-15% within the engineer’s estimate at bid.  We have 
since adjusted the ranges to better align with the past year’s measurement range so we could 
maintain an “apples to apples” performance history.  For the new measurement range for the 
engineer’s cost estimate at time of bid we decided to adjust it to +/-10% so it aligns with the 
performance indicator established by the Department and the FHWA. 
 
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
 
Yes.  Meeting the yearly targets will allow the Department to optimize project funding and 
potentially deliver more projects. 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



80

 

 

 

 

 
Performance Measure: 
Number of Department owned bridges which are categorized as Structurally Deficient (SD) or 
Functionally Obsolete (FO). 
 

Summary: 
Number of Department owned bridges which are categorized as Structurally Deficient (SD) or 
Functionally Obsolete (FO). Base figure is 37 of 1045 bridges (State Highway Preservation Report 
– 2007. This base figure was established based on the federal eligibility requirements of the 
Highway Bridge Program (HBP) in effect at the time) 
Prior to MAP 21, eligibility and priority for funding projects under the HBP was based on a 
bridge’s Sufficiency Rating and other factors. The Sufficiency Rating is a numerical assessment of a 
bridge’s serviceability and is based on condition assessment inspection and inventory data. Its value 
varies from 0 to 100, with 100 representing no deficiencies.  Previously, under the HBP, a bridge 
was eligible for replacement when its Sufficiency Rating was less than 50 and was eligible for 
rehabilitation when its Sufficiency Rating was less than or equal to 80. In addition to meeting the 
Sufficiency Rating requirement, a bridge also had to be classified as either Structurally Deficient or 
Functionally Obsolete. (A bridge is considered Structurally Deficient when key elements reach an 
established level of deterioration. A bridge is considered Functionally Obsolete when it no longer 
adequately serves either the road it carries or the undercrossing route.)  Additionally, seismic 
retrofit and scour mitigation activities were eligible activities under the HBP program. MAP 21 
combined the HBP program with other funding categories; however, the criteria previously used in 
the HBP program are still relevant factors to consider when prioritizing potential bridge projects. 
 

Annual Target:  
Replace or rehabilitate at least one Department owned SD or FO bridge annually. The goal is 
evaluated based on the contracts awarded in a given calendar year. Tables have been included to 
allow for ease of tracking.  The tables do not include structures that are subject to routine 
preservation and maintenance (such as expansion joint replacement, repair of deck cracking, etc.) 
activities included in 3R or District Betterment projects 
Ultimate Target:  Zero. 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



81

 

 

    TRACKING OF PROJECTS THAT MEET PERFORMANCE MEASURE CRITERIA:  
Year  Target Met 

Y-N/# of 
Bridges 

Structure #’s County Contract # Description of Work/Comments 

2008 Yes/1 B-89 CL 3360 Replacement of Bunkerville Br.  

2009 Yes/1 H-788 CL 3366BD Replacement of Wm Springs Br. 
(FO) 

2010 No - - - - 

2011 No - - - 3476 bid rejected 

2012 Yes/4 G-884 E/W 

G-885 E/W 

EU 3525 Rehab & Seismic retrofit 

2013  Yes /2 B-1066 E/W EL 3540 Carlin Retrofit- remove from FO 
list.  

2014 Yes/2 B-395 

G-324 

EU 3557 Replace bridges on FREU 02 @ 
Dunphy. Contract awarded 3/14. 

2015 Expected to/2 G-29* PE - Removal of off-system SD bridge 
(No Replacement) Project delayed 
from 2014. Current Doc 11/14  

   B-100 CH - Replace SD bridge on SR 115.  
Scheduled Doc 5/15. 

*Removal of SD bridge included in Performance Measure Tracking 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



82

 

 

   TRACKING OF PROJECTS THAT DO NOT MEET PERFORMANCE MEASURE CRITERIA: 
Year  # of 

Bridges 
Owner Structure 

#’s 
County Contract 

# 
Description of 
Work/Comments 

2008 -  - - - - 

2009 -  - - - - 

2010 -  - - - - 

2011 2 NV I-843 E/W WA 3443 I-80 Seismic retrofit 

 1 NV I-1452 CL 3445 I-515 Seismic retrofit 

 1 EL B-1942 EL 3459 Replace S. Fork Owyhee 
River Br 

 2 NV I-975N/S CL 3447DB Replace I-15 Bridges 
(Not SD or FO) 

2012 1 CH B-1592 CH 3515 Replace Alcorn Rd Br 

 16 NV Various HU 3524 Rehab structures and 
seismic retrofit (some) of 
I-80 structures in 
Winnemucca. 

 2 NV G-927 E/W EL 3461 Rehab & Seismic retrofit.  
I-80 Bridges.  Not SD. 

2013  1 EL B-1662 EL 3538R Replace Mary’s River Br.  
Contract completed 
11/13.  

 6 NV B-1111, 
1112, 1113 
E/W 

EL 3540 Seismic Retrofit/Rehab of 
I-80 bridges @ Carlin 
Tunnel.  Contract 
awarded 5/13. 

2014 2  I-1773, I-
1774 

WA 3574 Seismic retrofit of  I-580 
Airport Ramps. (I-1774 is 
FO) Bids Open 6/14. 

 1 Reno B-178 WA - Virginia St. Br 
replacement. Scheduled 
Doc 8/14. 

2015 4 NV H-948, G-
949, G-953, 
I-956 

CL - Seismic Retrofit of I-15 
structures.  Scheduled 
Doc 11/14. 

 1 LY B-1610 LY - Replace SD off-system 
Nordyke Rd Bridge.  
Scheduled Doc 11/14.  

 4  NV B-1262 N/S, 
B-1263 N/S 

DO - Seismic retrofit, scour 
and rehab of multiple 
structures on US 395. 
Scheduled Doc 11/14  

 3 NV I-1261, I-812  WA - Seismic retrofit, scour 

Item #12 Attachment A



83

 

 

N/S and rehab of multiple 
structures on US 395.  
Scheduled Doc 11/14. 

2016 4 NV B-764 E/W, 
G-772 E/W 

WA -  Scour mitigation at I-80 
bridges at Truckee river. 
Delayed from 2015.  
Scheduled Doc 11/15.   

 1 HU B-1658 HU - Replace Eden Valley Rd. 
Br @ Humboldt River. 
Delayed from 2015. 
Scheduled Doc 3/16   

2017 1 NV B-1351 WA  Scour mitigation of G-
1351 at Truckee River on 
SR 447 near Nixon. 
Delayed from 2015. 
Scheduled Doc 3/17 

 
A table has been included in order to provide historical reporting of SD and FO bridges. 
 

 TOTAL 
STATE 
OWNED 
BRIDGES 

STATE SD 
BRIDGES  

STATE FO 
BRIDGES 

COMMENTS  

2006 
BASELINE 

1045 20 17 2007 Data. 

2008 1056 20 30 2009 Data.  The increase in the 
number of FO bridges was due to 
refined inspection methods for 
measuring lateral underclearance. 

2010 1064 18 24 2011 Data.   

2012  1116 19 28 2013 Data. 
NOTES: Bridge counts shown are based on the number of SD and FO bridges as reported in the NDOT State Highway Preservation Report.  This 
report is published every 2 years.      

 
Descriptions of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete bridges from the 2013 Nevada 
State Highway Preservation Report are included below for information.   
A bridge is considered Structurally Deficient (SD) when significant load-carrying elements are 
found to be in poor condition, has insufficient load carrying capacity and may have weight limits 
posted to remain in service, or may be more susceptible to flooding with significant traffic impacts.   
A bridge is considered Functionally Obsolete (FO) when the original design geometrics such as 
shoulder width, land width, lateral clearance and vertical clearance do not meet current standards.  
FO bridges may be more susceptible to congestion, collisions, or flooding because of the restrictive 
clearances and geometrics.  

Item #12 Attachment A



84

 

 

Due to the fact that these terms cause undue concern, FHWA is considering changing the 
terminology.  These terms do not imply that the bridge is unsafe.  Safety and maintenance concerns 
are identified during regularly scheduled inspections. 

 
                                                                                                          *Graph based on 2013 Preservation Report data 

 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals to: Optimize safety, Innovate, Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, and 
effectively preserve and manage our assets.  These goals can be met in the following ways:  Safety 
for the motoring public will be optimized by replacing structurally deficient and rehabilitating 
functionally obsolete bridges.  The Bridge Division will seek and implement innovative solutions to 
the challenges faced by the Bridge Program.  The Division will deliver timely and beneficial bridge 
projects and programs.  Meeting this performance measure will help effectively preserve and 
manage Department assets. 
 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
In FY 2007 – There were 37 State owned bridges in Nevada that were Structurally Deficient or 
Functionally Obsolete and were eligible for federal funding.  Additionally, there were 34 bridges 
needing repair/replacement owned by local agencies that were also eligible for federal funding.  
Please refer to the table above for additional data.  

 
Strategies for Improvement: 
Short range to next reporting:   
Evaluate programmed projects for possible preservation actions, corrective maintenance and risk 
reduction activities and include these activities into project scope as appropriate.  
NDOT Bridge Division provides information regarding state bridge policies and practices to local 
agencies in order to cooperate with and assist them.    

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 

1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 

45 
36 35 

27 
20 20 

18 19 

16 17 21 

11 17 

30 
24 28 

N
o.

 o
f B

ri
dg

es
 

Year 

Structurally Deficient Functionally Obsolete 

Item #12 Attachment A



85

 

 

Long range:  
Perform bridge rehabilitation and replacement as allowed under the MAP 21 program.    Continue 
to consider previous criteria used to establish eligibility under the previous HBP program, and 
utilize preservation strategies to extend performance and serviceability of elements commonly 
causing deterioration of structures.  These include repairs such as deck repair/replacement, deck 
overlays, replacement of bridge joints, fatigue crack repair and repainting of steel structures.  
Maintain seismic retrofit program and scour mitigation program to minimize risks from these 
extreme events.   
 
Seek additional funds to reduce the time frame of eliminating structurally deficient or functionally 
obsolete bridges, which is estimated to take at least 37 years with present funding level, based on 
the current number of Deficient bridges.  At current funding levels, this time frame will increase as 
Nevada’s bridges age and the number of bridges categorized as structurally deficient or functionally 
obsolete increases. 
 

ANNUAL EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE MEASURE 
 
Was the annual target met?   
The target is expected to be met. 

 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful?   
The current strategies have had mixed success when considering the annual goal established in 
October 2010.  Originally, the goal of replacing/rehabilitating 1 bridge biennially was successful.   
 

What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were not successful?  Why?   
N/A 
 
What new ‘Strategies for Improvement’ will be initiated in FY2015? 
Short range to next reporting:  
Additional short range strategies beyond those stated have not been identified. 

Long range:   
Additional long range strategies beyond those stated have not been identified. 

 
Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired?  
Yes.  The performance measure does allow tracking of the state owned SD/ FO bridges.  

 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered? 

Item #12 Attachment A



86

 

 

No.  Use of a percentage based measurement (as some states use) was considered.  A percentage 
based measure could show a decrease in SD/FO bridges (thus an improvement), as new structures 
are added to the inventory.  This could occur with no decrease in the actual number of SD/FO 
bridges; therefore, the numerical based measure is viewed as superior. 

 
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?   
Not at this time.  The performance measure was established based on the current revenue.  As the 
bridges age and deteriorate and the infrastructure grows, additional structures will become SD 
and/or FO, increasing the number of these structures in Nevada’s inventory. 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



87

 

 

 
 

Performance Measure:  
Percentage of permits issued or rejected within 45 days of receipt.  

Ultimate Target: 95%        Annual Target: 95% 

 

Measurement and Supporting Data: 
We exceeded the targeted performance measure for this year of 95%, for this fiscal year by 
processing 96.86% of all permits statewide. 

 
Overview of Performance Measure: 
The Performance Measure identified for the R/W Division was to process 95% of encroachment 
permits within 45 days. The development of Transportation Policy (TP) 10-1-3 
ENCROACHMENT PERMIT PROCESSING TIME SCHEDULE set a 45 working day process for 
all accepted encroachment permit applications.     

 
Were the targets met?   
Yes.  As stated above, 96.86% of all permits processed were done within 45 days or less. The year-
end performance measure for each district is as follows:  District 1 achieved 95.51%, processing 
356 permits, District 2 achieved 98.92% while processing 186 permits, and District 3 achieved 
98.41% while processing 63 permits.  District 1 accepted 457 permits, District 2 accepted 311 
permits, and District 3 accepted 132 permits. 

 
What ‘Strategies for Improvement’ were successful? 

The development of the Encroachment Permit TP and its 45 working-day requirement 
allowed the Department to address several issues that have resulted in significant improvement to 
the time necessary to process encroachment permits.  The pre-audit of all permits has been 
successful in resolving issues prior to submittal.  This allows us to resolve issues outside of the 
processing of permits that could have caused us to reject permits in the past. The simultaneous 
review of permits by all affected divisions continues to improve the processing time.  

  
The Encroachment Permit Process is a key component of IRWIN. The complete implementation of 
the IRWIN system as of October 1, 2011, has improved flow through the review process and will 
provide up to date and accurate reporting. It is critical that all Districts continue to use IRWIN and 
keep the information as up to date as possible. There is no anticipated direct fiscal impact for next 
year. 
 

Does this performance measure effectively measure what is desired? 

Item #12 Attachment A



88

 

 

Yes. The goal was to have 95% of all accepted applications processed within 45 working days.   

 
Is there a better performance measure that should be considered?   
No, this performance measure is the most applicable and is effective. 

 
Will meeting the next yearly target have a fiscal impact?  If so, explain. 
There is no anticipated direct fiscal impact for next year.   
 
Was the annual target met?   
Yes. 
 

Targets for Next Three Fiscal Years: 
FY15: 95% 
FY16: 95% 
FY17: 95% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



STATE HIGHWAY FUND
ANNUAL REVENUE AND

EXPENDITURES

89

Item #12 Attachment A



90

Item #12 Attachment A



91

 

 

STATE HIGHWAY FUND ANNUAL REVENUE AND 
EXPENDITURES  
 
Assembly Bill 595 in the 2007 Legislative Session included the requirement for the Department to 
report on the funding sources, amount and expenditures (Section 47.2).   There is an annual report 
entitled “Highway Special Revenue Fund” Financial Schedules for State Fiscal Year ending June 
30, 2014. The following three tables provide the required information:  

1) Schedule of Revenues and Receipts – Budgetary Basis  
2) Comparative Schedule of Expenditures and Disbursements – Budgetary Basic  
3) Highway Fund Balance – Budgetary Basis  

The first table reports that total FY 2014 revenues into the State Highway Fund were approximately 
$984 million while the second table contains the total FY 2014 actual expenditures, which were 
approximately $778 million. These two tables also include other detailed financial data about 
transportation-related revenues and expenditures. 
The third table indicates that the Highway fund balance decreased slightly from approximately $134 
million in FY 2012 to under $132.0 million FY 2013. 
 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



92

 

 

 

 

  

Schedule Of Revenues And Receipts - Budgetary Basis

2014 2013
State user taxes

Gasoline taxes 187,785$             185,651$             

Motor vehicle fees and taxes
Vehicle registration & bicycle safety fees 104,724                102,119                
Motor carrier fees 39,046                  36,729                  
Drivers license fees 23,132                  18,696                  
Special fuel taxes 79,094                  80,913                  

Total motor vehicle fees and taxes 245,996                238,457                

Total state revenue 433,781                424,108                

Federal Aid reimbursement
Department of Interior -                         (40)                         
Federal Aviation Administration 293                        253                        
Federal Emergency Management Administration 119                        -                         
Federal Highway Administration 324,761                342,743                
Federal Rail Administration -                         -                         
Federal Transit Administration 5,642                    7,817                    

Total Federal Aid 330,815                350,773                

Miscellaneous receipts
Departments of Motor Vehicles & Public
   Safety authorized revenue 72,205                  48,852                  
Appropriations from other funds 296                        242                        
Proceeds from sale of bonds 100,019                -                         
Agreement income 9,287                    36,093                  
Interest 571                        324                        
Sale of surplus property 356                        17                          
AB595 property tax 19,011                  19,481                  
AB595 bond revenue -                         10,605                  
Other sales & reimbursements 18,148                  18,506                  

Total miscellaneous receipts 219,893                134,120                

Total revenue and receipts - budgetary basis 984,489$             909,001$             

State of Nevada
Highway Special Revenue Fund

For The Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013
(In thousands)

Revenue

Item #12 Attachment A



93

 

 

 

 
 

 2013

Budgeted

Actual Using 
Budgetary 

Basis

Variance 
Favorable 

(Unfavorable)

Actual Using 
Budgetary 

Basis
Department of Transportation

Labor 128,223$        123,258$      4,965$           123,775$      
Travel 2,214               1,934             280                 1,884             
Operating 65,346             61,012           4,334             60,751           
Equipment 9,565               4,567             4,998             4,891             
Capital improvements 466,811          324,458         142,353         455,852         
Bond expenditures 100,026          5,928             94,098           -                  
Other programs 14,242             8,605             5,637             10,236           
   Total operations 786,427          529,762         256,665         657,389         

Cost of fuel sold to other agencies 3,821               3,501             320                 3,568             

Total Department of Transportation 790,248          533,263         256,985         660,957         

Department of Motor Vehicles (see Note 2) 116,927          90,912           26,015           85,520           
Department of Public Safety (see Note 2) 87,811             78,739           9,072             76,452           

204,738          169,651         35,087           161,972         

Appropriations to other funds
Board of Examiners -                   -                                   - -                  
Transportation Services Authority 2,410               2,410                              - 2,328             
Public Works Board 1,510               1,066             444                 552                 
Traffic Safety 186                  182                 4                     177                 
Investigations 344                  344                                  - 363                 
DMV Training Division 833                  797                 36                   791                 
Fleet Services Capital Purchase 627                  554                 73                   -                  
Legislative Counsel Bureau 5                       -                  5                     -                  
Dept of Information Technology -                   -                                   - -                  

Total appropriations to other funds 5,915               5,353             562                 4,211             

Other disbursements
Transfer to bond fund 84,000             70,101           13,899           79,788           

Total other disbursements 84,000             70,101           13,899           79,788           

Total expenditures & disbursements 
    - Budgetary basis 1,084,901$     778,368$      306,533$      906,928$      

Comparative Schedule of Expenditures and Disbursements - Budgetary Basis

For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2014 and 2013

2014

State of Nevada
Highway Special Revenue Fund

(In thousands)

Expenditures

Item #12 Attachment A



94

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Actual Fiscal year 
2011

Actual Fiscal Year 
2012

Actual Fiscal 
Year 2013

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS $0 $0 $0
RESTRICTED FUNDS 42,701,568 37,521,938 14,748,883
OTHER HIGHWAY FUND 215,694,432 238,099,062 119,249,117

$258,396,000 $275,621,000 $133,998,000

REVENUES $1,084,340,578 $1,039,119,285 $909,000,826
BOND PROCEEDS 0 0 0

$1,084,340,578 $1,039,119,285 $909,000,826

DEPT OF TRANS. NON-BOND EXPENDITURES $806,965,179 $924,297,994 $660,630,189
DEPT OF TRANS. BOND EXPENDITURES 0 0 0
EXP. &  APPROP TO OTHER AGENCIES 256,117,259 251,112,645 246,298,958

$1,063,082,438 $1,175,410,639 $906,929,147

CONTROLLERS OFFICE CAFR ADJUSTMENTS ($4,033,140) ($5,331,646) ($4,405,680)
ESTIMATED REVERSION TO FUND 0 0 0

($4,033,140) ($5,331,646) ($4,405,680)

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS $0 $0 $0
RESTRICTED FUNDS 37,521,938 14,748,883 26,510,031
OTHER HIGHWAY FUND 238,099,062 119,249,117 105,153,969

$275,621,000 $133,998,000 $131,664,000

ENDING FUND BALANCE:

  TOTAL ENDING FUND BALANCE :

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE:

  TOTAL BEGINNING FUND BALANCE:

  ADD:

  TOTAL ADDITIONS:

  DEDUCT:

  TOTAL DEDUCTIONS:

HIGHWAY FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)
STATE FISCAL YEARS 2011 -2013

  ADJUSTING ENTRIES:

  TOTAL ADJUSTING ENTRIES:

Item #12 Attachment A



95

MAJOR PROJECTS
ANNUAL STATUS REPORT

Item #12 Attachment A



96

Item #12 Attachment A



97

 

 

TYPICAL PROJECT DEVELOPMENT 
PROCESS 

The Department’s project development process typically consists of four major phases: 
planning, environmental clearance, final design, and construction. These phases are described in 
more detail below. The development process is based on federal and state laws and 
regulations, engineering requirements, and a departmental review and approval process. This 
appendix provides an overview of the four phase process, identifies major milestones within the 
phases, and describes the information developed during each phase. 

Project Planning Phase 
In this phase the project needs are analyzed and conceptual solutions are developed. Project 
descriptions, costs, and schedules are broadly defined. The planning phase typically addresses 
such issues as number of lanes, location and length of project, and general interchange and 
intersection spacing. The intent of this phase is to develop the most viable design alternatives, and 
to identify the best means to address risks and uncertainties in cost, scope and schedule. 

Environmental Clearance Phase 
For the environment clearance phase, major projects are subject to the National Environmental 
Policy Act (NEPA) to address potential social, environmental, economic and political issues. 
During this phase studies are conducted to define existing conditions, and identify likely impacts 
and mitigations so the preferred design alternative is selected from among the various alternatives. 
In this phase the project scope is more fully defined, right-of-way issues are generally identified, 
project costs and benefits are estimated, and risks are broadly defined.  Finally, a preliminary 
project schedule is determined.  At the conclusion of this phase, major projects are divided into 
smaller construction segments to address project’s social, environmental, economic and political 
issues as well as funding availability and constructability. 

Final Design Phase 
During this phase, the design of the selected alternative identified during the environmental 
clearance phase is finalized. In this phase the project scope is finalized, a detailed project design 
schedule and estimate is developed, and project benefits are fully determined. The right-of-way 
requirements are also determined and acquisition is initiated. Additionally, utilities relocation is 
initiated toward the end of the final design phase. At the end of this phase the project design and 
cost estimate are complete and the project is advertised for construction. 

Construction phase 
During this phase projects are constructed based on the final design plans. Depending on the nature 
of the project, utilities relocation might occur during early stages of this phase. Due to the 
complexity of major projects, a detailed construction schedule, traffic control plans, and 
environmental mitigation strategies are developed in consultation with the selected contractor. 

Item #12 Attachment A



98

 

 

PROJECT STATUS SHEET EXPLANATION  
The information contained on the project status sheet is centered on the Department’s 
project development process. This process typically consists of the four major phases: 
planning, environmental clearance, final design and construction. Additional details of these 
phases are contained in Appendix A, which details the project development process utilized by 
the Department of Transportation.  The project status sheets contain several items of information 
as follows: 

 
Project Description: Contains the preliminary project scope, which generally identifies features 
of the project i.e. length, structures, widening, and interchanges, and directs the project 
development process. 
 
Project Benefits: Summarizes the primary favorable outcomes expected by delivering the project. 
 
Project Risks: Indentifies the major risks that might impact project scope, cost, and schedule. 
Unforeseen environmental mitigation, right-of-way litigation, and inflation of construction 
materials or land values are only a few items that can adversely affect project development. 
Appendix B, Dealing with Project Risk, provides more details. 
 
Schedule: Provides the time ranges for the four primary phases of project development: 
planning, environmental clearance, final design, and construction. Generally the schedule, by 
state fiscal years, reveals the time range for starting or completing a phase. It indicates the 
starting range early in the development process and completion range latter in the process. 
Appendix B, Dealing with Project Risks, provides more details concerning the time ranges. 
 
Project Costs: Project cost ranges are provided by activity: 1) engineering activities that 
includes planning, environmental clearance and final design costs, 2) right-of-way acquisition, 
and 3) construction. Costs are adjusted for inflation to the anticipated mid-point of completing 
a phase. Appendix B, Dealing with Project Risks, provides more detail on the range of project 
cost estimates. 
 
What’s changed since last update? Contains summaries of the project scope, cost, and schedule 
changes, if any. 
 
Financial Fine Points: Includes the total expended project costs and brief summary of financial 
issues. 
 
Status Bars at the Bottom of the Form: Shows the percentage completion for the primary 
project development activities that are in progress: planning, environmental clearance, final design, 
right-of- way acquisition, and construction. 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



MAJOR PROJECTS
SUMMARY SHEETS

99

Item #12 Attachment A



100

Item #12 Attachment A



101

3.0 MAJOR PROJECTS 
I-15 Projects 

5
6

7

I-15 North Phase 2 Pkg A, C and D– Craig Road to Speedway Boulevard
I-15 North Phase 2 Pkg E – Craig Road to Speedway Boulevard
 I-15 North Phase 3 – Speedway Boulevard to Apex Interchange  

8
9

11
12

13
14
15
16
17

I-15 North Phase 4 – I-15/CC-215 Northern Beltway Interchange
I-15 NEON P3
I-15 Urban Resort Corridor Study
I-15 South Bermuda Road Interchange
I-15 South Pebble Road Overpass 
I-15 South Starr Avenue Interchange
I-15 South Cactus Avenue Interchange
I-15 South Las Vegas Boulevard from St. Rose Parkway to Sunset Road
I-15 South Phase 2 Sloan Road to Blue Diamond (SR 160)
I-15 South Sloan Road Interchange
I-15 South – Stateline to Sloan Road

I-515/US-95/US Projects

18

19

20
I-515 Freeway Improvements Study – Charleston Blvd. to Rancho Rd.
I-515/US-95/US93: Boulder City Bypass Phase 1 Pkg 2B 
I-515/US-95/US93: Boulder City Bypass Phase 1 Pkg 3
I-515/US-95/US93: Boulder City Bypass Phase 2- US-95 to Hoover Dam Bypass

22

US-95 Northwest Projects 

23

24US-95 Northwest Phase 2A – Ann Road to Kyle Canyon Road (SR 157)
US-95 Northwest Phase 2B – Ann Road to Kyle Canyon Road (SR 157)
US-95 Northwest Phase 3A – CC 215 Beltway Interchange
US-95 Northwest Phase 3B – CC 215 Beltway Interchange
US-95 Northwest Phase 3C – CC 215 Beltway Interchange
US-95 Northwest Phase 3D – CC 215 Beltway Interchange
US-95 Northwest Phase 3E – CC 215 Beltway Interchange
US-95 Northwest Phase 5 – Kyle Canyon Road (SR 157) Interchange

25

Northern Nevada Projects 

26

28
29

30
31

I-80 – Robb to Vista
US-395 North – McCarran Blvd. to Stead Blvd.
Pyramid Highway - US 395 Connection
US-395 Carson City Freeway Phase 2B – S. Carson St. to Fairview Dr.

27

10

32
33

34
35

4

Item #12 Attachment A



102

I 15 North - Part 2 Packages A, C & D

Craig Road (SR 573) to Speedway Boulevard

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Project Manager: Dwayne Wilkinson, P.E.

(702) 671-8879

Project Description:
Packages A, C and D are three of five 
construction packages that make-up the I 15 
North Part 2 project. 
This project consists of corridor improvements 
from Craig Road to Speedway Blvd which 
includes: 
Capacity Improvements - widening from Craig Rd 
to Speedway Blvd from 4 to 6 lanes 
Remove & replace PCCP with ACP (Craig to 
Lamb) 
Drainage Improvements 
Seismic retrofit of Craig Rd. Interchange 
Structure (I-956) 
Widen & seismic retrofit of 4 structures (G 958 N, 
G 958 S, G 961 N & G 961 S) over 2 UPRR 
crossings 
and ROW fence replacement. 
Improvements will be constructed within the 
existing 1-15 Right-of-Way. 
Project length: 4.8 miles. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
2014 - 2015
Construction:
2016 - 2018

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$ 3.4 - $ 3.8 M
Right of Way:
$0
Construction:
$ 42 - $ 48 M
Total Project Cost:
$ 45.4 - $ 51.8 M

Project Benefits:
Improve Safety 
Reduce Travel Times 
Decrease Congestion 
Improve Freeway Operations 
Increase life of pavement 
Increase I-15 N capacity to accomodate 
projected traffic 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope: Packages A, C & D are being combined for construction 
Schedule: Design 2014 - 2015 
Cost: Combining the packages results in savings - total value TBD 

Project risks:
Uncertainty of Future Construction Materials 
and Labor Costs 

Funding uncertainty for Construction 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Packages A, C & D Construction: $0 

Total funding expened for Design of all packages: $ 1,382,000 

Total funding expended for the Environmental Phase for all packages: $875,000 

Construction inflation escalation (2.7%) is to midpoint of construction 

Environmental

Final Design

Construction

July 
 2014

5

1
Item #12 Attachment A



103

I 15 North - Phase 2 Package E

Speedway Boulevard to Apex Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Proejct Manager: Dwayne Wilkinson, PE

(702)-671-8879

Project Description:
Part 2 Package E is one of five construction 
packages of the I 15 North Phase 2 Project 
Construct the remaining ITS elements 
between Speedway to Apex 
Improvements will be constructed within 
existing I 15 N Right-of-Way 
Project Length: 4.6 Miles 
This package is to be included in FAST 
Package H1

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Complete
Construction:
2015

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$ 0.1 M
Right of Way:
$ 0.0 M
Construction:
$ 2.0 - 2.1 M
Total Project Costs:
$ 2.1 - 2.2 M

Project Benefits:
Improve Freeway Operations
Improve Safety 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - FAST Pkg H has been split into 3 Pkgs. This project is 
included in FAST Pkg H1 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No Change 

Project risks:
Uncertainity of Construction Funding 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Will be advertised as part of FAST Package H1 

Final Design

Construction
July 

 2014

6

2
Item #12 Attachment A



104

I 15 North - Phase 3

Speedway Boulevard to Apex Interchange

Project Sponsors: NDOT

Project Manager: Dwayne Wilkinson, P. E.

(702) 671-8879

Project Description:
This is the third phase of improvements to 
the I-15 North Corridor between US 95 and 
Apex Interchange. 
Widen I-15 from four lanes to six lanes from 
Speedway Boulevard to the Apex 
Interchange. 
Project length: 4.6 miles 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental
Phase:
Complete
Final Design:
2018
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$10 - $12 million
Right-of-Way:
$3 - $3.6 million
Construction:
$75 - $85 million
Total Project Cost:
$88 - $101 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Reduce trip times 
Improve access to areas planned for 
development in North Las Vegas 
Improve operations 
Improve safety What's Changed Since Last Update?

Scope - No Change 
Schedule - Updated Final Design to 2018
Cost - No Change 

Project risks:
Project completion will depend on the 
availability of funding. 

Uncertainty of proposed Sheep Mountain 
Parkway terminus. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for phase 3: $0 (design phase not started) 

Total funding expended for I 15 North Environmental phase: $875,000 

Inflation excalation (2.7%) is to approximate midpoint of construction 

Funding source for this project has not yet been identified. 

Environmental 
complete

Design Complete
July 

 2014

7

3
Item #12 Attachment A



105

I 15 North - Phase 4

I 15 / CC 215 Northern Beltway Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT 

Project Manager: Dwayne Wilkinson, P. E.

(702) 671-8879

Project Description:
This is the last of four phases of improvements to 
the I-15 North Corridor between US 95 and Apex 
Interchange (15 miles). 
Construct new ramps to complete a system-to-
system interchange configuration at the I-15 / 
CC-215 Las Vegas Beltway interchange. 
Improvements will be constructed within the
existing I-15 and CC-215 Right-of-Way. 
Funding availability will require that this project 
be delivered it multiple Phases. Phasing will be 
determined during FY2015. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Start 2014 - 2018
Construction:
2018 - 2022

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$11.8 - $15.5million
Right-of-Way:
$2.6 - $3.2million
Construction:
$142.0 - $191.8 million
Total Project Cost:
$156.4 - $210.5 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity. 
Reduce trip times. 
Improve access to areas planned for 
development in North Las Vegas. 
Improve operations with full freeway-to-
freeway connectivity. 
Improve safety.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Working to break project into affordable construction packages 
to accommodate funding limitations. 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - Updated Cost Estimate using Cost Risk Assessment 

Project risks:
Cost and Schedule Impact of Stucture Design 

Cost and Schedule Impact of Utility 
Relocations 

Timely start and completion of Preliminary 
Engineering 

Railroad Involvement - UPRR Permits & 
Agreement Amendment 

Availability of Construction Funds 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended: $156,600 

Total funding expended for I-15 North Environmental phase: $875,000 

Escalation is to 2018 approximate midpoint of construction. 

Construction funding for this project has not yet been identified. 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete
July 

 2014

8

4
Item #12 Attachment A



106

Project NEON P3

I-15 Desert Inn Road 

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Project Manager: Cole Mortensen, P.E.

(775) 888-7742

Project Description:
HOV Direct Connector from US 95 to I 15 and I-
15 widening improvements from Spaghetti Bowl 
to south of Sahara; Add/Drop lanes at 
Oakey/Wyoming 
Local Access Improvements to Las Vegas 
Downtown Redevelopment 
New access to Alta 
I-15/Charleston Interchange Reconstruction 
Project Length: 4.83 miles 
*This project now includes what was previously
Phases 1-4 in a Public Private Partnership 
delivery. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Complete in 2013
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$34 - $36 Million
Right-of-Way and Utilities:
$285 - $295 Million
Construction:
$TBD

Total Project Cost:
$TBD

Project Benefits:
Will accommodate anticipated traffic increases 
New access to Downtown Redevelopment 
Reduce congestion along local streets and I-
15 
Extends HOV System 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - NEPA Re-evaluation approved 
Schedule - The anticipated delivery of Phase 1 has been delayed due 
to the analysis and development of the P3 RFP 
Cost - No change 

Project risks:
Complex construction in a high volume dense 
urban area 

Complexity in maintaining traffic, staging,
relocating utilities and reducing impacts 

Complex right-of-way issues may impact 
schedule and cost 

Funding uncertainty 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total Funding Expended: $88,700,000 

Inflation escalation (4%) to 2020 approximate midpoint of construction 

Additional Federal, State, Local and Regional Funding will be required 

As a result of the developing P3 project, anticipated costs will be developed. 

% Environmental 
Complete

Design Complete
July 

 2014

9

5
Item #12 Attachment A



107107

I 15 Urban Resort Corridor Study

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Jeff Lerud

(775) 888-7589

Project Description:
The I-15 Urban Resort Corridor Study along 
I-15 from I-215 (Bruce Woodbury Beltway) 
to the south, to US 95 (Spaghetti Bowl) to 
the north. 
Enhance access and mobility within the 
resort corridor; develop a phased 
implementation stragegy for future
improvements to I-15 in the resort corridor 
area in addition to currently planned 
improvements. 
Prepare an early action plan for near-term 
improvements to enhance mobility and
operations. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Completed
Environmental:
TBD
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
TBD
Right-of-Way:
TBD
Construction:
TBD
Total Project Cost:
TBD

Project Benefits:
Improve capacity, operations, safety, 
access and mobility. 
Meet stakeholders/public expectations. 
Improve quality of life. 
Support economic development. 
Reduce trip times. What's Changed Since Last Update?

Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No Change 
Planning Phase Completed 

Project risks:
Consensus building among the resort 
owners. 

Funding uncertainty. 

Economic development along the corridor 
could require design changes affecting 
scope, schedule and budget.

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended: $786,738

Planning complete July 
 2014

10

6
Item #12 Attachment A



108

I 15 South - Bermuda Road Interchange

Project Sponsor: City of Henderson

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South Project from Sloan to Tropicana 
has been broken into nine (9) Project 
elements to address funding and 
constructability opportunities. 
This is one element of the I-15 South 
project. 
Construct new interchange at Bermuda 
Road.

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
2026 - 2027
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$16 - $17.5 M
Right-of-Way:
$3.5 - $4 M
Construction:
$128.5 - $134.5 M
Total Project Cost:
$148 - $156 M

Project Benefits:
Interchanges on I-15 reduce congested 
traffic on the main line and associated 
regional facilities. 
Connect Regional traffic.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Schedule. Unfunded on 2035 RTP. 
Cost - No Change 

Project risks:
Unit price and property escalation may 
affect project cost. 

Funding uncertainty 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding not available until 2026-2030 per current Financial Plan. 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all 
phases): $3.5 million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% is to 2029 approximate midpoint 
of construction.

Funding Source (Financial Plan 2009): Q10 Extended ($57.1M) and 
STP Clark County ($60M). 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete  July 
 2014

11

7
Item #12 Attachment A



109

1

I 15 South - Pebble Road Overpass

Project Sponsor: Clark County

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South Project from Sloan to Tropicana 
has been broken into nine (9) Project 
elements to address funding and 
constructability opportunities. 
This is one element of the I-15 South 
Project. 
Construct overpass at Pebble Road and I-
15

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates/Removal from RTP)
Engineering:
$6.5 - $7 M
Right-of-Way:
$8 - $10 M
Construction:
$51.5 - $53 M
Total Project Cost:
$66 - $70 M

Project Benefits:
Interchanges on I-15 reduce congested 
traffic on the main line and associated 
regional facilities. 
Connect regional traffic. 
Improve origin destination time of travel.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - This project was removed from 2030 RTP. 
Cost - No Change

Project risks:
Unit price and property escalation may 
affect project cost. 

Lack of funding may push this project well 
into the future 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding not available until 2040. Project was removed from current 
Financial Plan. Project costs will be impacted due to inflation. 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all 
phases): $3.5 million 

Funding Source (Financial Plan 2009): Private Developers ($30M) 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete
July 

 2014

12

8
Item #12 Attachment A



110

I 15 South - Starr Avenue Interchange

Project Sponsor: City of Henderson

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South, from Sloan Road to Tropicana Ave. 
has been broken into nine packages to address
funding and constructability opportunities. 
Construct a new interchange at Starr Avenue 
with on & off-ramps 
Connect to Las Vegas Blvd (east side) and Dean 
Martin Drive (west side) 
I-15 over Starr Avenue and shifted 50 ft. to the 
east of the existing I-15.

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
2010-2016
Construction:
2016-2020

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates)
Preliminary Engineering:
$10 - $11 M
Right-of-Way:
$15 - $24 M
Construction:
$47 - $66 M
Total Project Cost:
$72 - $101 M

Project Benefits:
Improve access to I-15 with new interchange 
Connect east-west regional traffic from Las 
Vegas Blvd to/from Dean Martin Drive 
Improve I-15 mainline capacity

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change 

Project risks:
Uncertain Right of Way costs 

Material and labor cost escalation 

Availability of funding 

Utility & bill board relocation 

Cell phone tower, re-location potential or 
avoidance 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Starr Interchange: $122,500 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all phases): $3.5 
million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% for year 2018 approximate midpoint of 
construction. 

Funding Source (RTP 2035): Interstate Maintenance Discretionary ($3.44M), 
SAFETEA-LU Priority Project ($7.20M), Local Funds ($12.98 M), STP Clark 
County ($52.80 M) and Public Lands Highways ($1.19 M). 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete
July 

 2014

13

9 
Item #12 Attachment A



111

I 15 South - Cactus Avenue Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South Project from Sloan to Tropicana has 
been broken into nine (9) Project elements to
address funding and constructability 
opportunities. 
Construct new interchange at Cactus Avenue.

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Complete
Advertise:
Complete
Construction:
October 2014

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$5.5 - $6.5 M
Right-of-Way:
$8 - $15 M
Construction:
$43 M
Total Project Cost:
$56.5 - $64.5 M

Project Benefits:
Reduce congested traffic on I-15. 
Connect regional traffic.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No change 

Project risks:
Unit price and property escalation may affect 
project cost. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding expended for Cactus Interchange: $46.3 Million 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all phases): $3.5 
million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% is to 2014 approximate midpoint of 
construction 

Funding Source: Interstate Maintenance Discretionary ($4.9M), SAFETEA-LU 
High Priority Projects ($9.3M), STP Clark County ($30.6M), National Highway 
System ($16.9M), Old Ear Mark Remnant (0.14M), Section 115 Transfer Project 
(0.9M) and Utility Agencies (0.5M). 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete

% Construction

July 
 2014

14

10
Item #12 Attachment A



112

I 15 South - Las Vegas Boulevard 

St. Rose Parkway to Sunset Road

Project Sponsor: Clark County

Project Manager: Jason S. Tyrrell, P.E.

(702) 671-8852

Project Description:
I-15 South from Sloan to Tropicana has been 
broken into nine (9) Project elements to address
funding and constructability opportunities. 
This is one element of the I-15 South Project. 
Widening of Las Vegas Boulevard (parallel to I-
15) from St. rose Parkway (SR 146) to Sunset
Road from 2 to 3 lanes in each direction. 
Project Length: 7.2 miles 
This project will be constructed in two packages:
Package 1: Las Vegas Boulevard from Silverado
to Sunset - *Completed as of July 2011 
Package 2: Las Vegas Boulevard from St. Rose 
to Silverado Ranch 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Package 1- Complete , 

Package 2- 70%
Construction:
Package 1 -Complete, 

Package 2 TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental phase estimates):
Engineering:
$4 - $4.5 M
Right-of-Way:
$0
Construction:
$31.5 - $33 M
Total Project Cost:
$35.5 - $37.5 M

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No Change

Project risks:
Complexity in maintaining traffic staging,
relocating utilities and reducing impacts to 
traveling public.

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total NDOT Funding Expended for LV Blvd.: $4.3 M

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental studies (all phases): $3.5 
million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% is to 2011 approximate midpoint of 
construction.

Funding Source: STP Clark County ($8.3M) 

% Environmental 
Complete

% Design Complete
July 

 2014

15

11 
Item #12 Attachment A



I 15 South - Phase 2A/2B

Sloan Road to Blue Diamond (SR-160)

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South project from Sloan to Tropicana 
has been broken into nine (9) project 
phases to address funding and 
constructability opportunities. 
This is one element of I-15 South Project. 
Widen I-15 from Sloan Road to Blue 
Diamond Road from 6 to 10 lanes. 
Project Length: 8.2 miles
This project has been divided in two 
phases:
Phase 2A: Widening I-15 from Sloan to 
Blue Diamond (SR160) 6 to 8 lanes 
Phase 2B: Widen from Sloan to Blue 
Diamond (SR160) 8 to 10 lanes, restripe
collector-distributor ramps from Blue 
Diamond (SR160) to Tropicana Ave,
replace concrete section between I-215 & 
Tropicana Ave and replace Tropicana 
Interchange. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$47.5 - $51 M
Right-of-Way:
$0 
Construction:
$371 - $392.5 M
Total Project Cost:
$418.5 - $443.5 M

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No Change

Project risks:
Complexity in maintaining traffic staging,
relocating utilities and reducing impacts 
to traveling public. 

Sloan Interchange improvements to be 
constructed prior to widening to 
accommodate additional lanes 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding not available until 2016-2020 per current Financial Plan. 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all 
phases): $3.5 million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% is to approximate midpoint of 
construction.

Environmental 
Complete

Design Complete
July 

 2014

16

113

12
Item #12 Attachment A



I 15 South - Sloan Road Interchange

Project Sponsor: City of Henderson

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P.E.

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
I-15 South Project from Sloan to Tropicana 
has been broken into nine (9) project 
elements to address funding and 
constructability opportunities. 
This is one element of the I-15 South 
Project. 
Reconstruct interchange at Sloan Road.

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$19.5 - $21 M
Right-of-Way:
$35 - $40 M
Construction:
$156.5 - $162.5 M
Total Project Cost:
$211 - $223.5 M

Project Benefits:
Interchanges on I-15 reduce congested 
traffic on the main line and associated 
regional facilities. 
Connect Regional traffic. 
Improve origin destination time of travel.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No Change 

Project risks:
Unit price and property escalation may 
affect project cost. 

Sloan Interchange to be constructed prior 
to widening to accommodate additional 
lanes 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding not available until 2026-2030 per current Financial Plan. 

Total funding expended for I-15 South Environmental Studies (all 
phases): $3.5 million 

Inflation index distribution of 2% - 5% is to 2029 approximate midpoint 
of construction

Funding source (RTP 2035): STP Clark County ($65M) 

Environmental 
Complete

Design Complete: 
July 

 2014

17
114

13   
Item #12 Attachment A



I 15 South - Stateline to Sloan

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Assistant Chief Project Manager: Lynnette Russell, P. E. 

(702) 671-6601

Project Description:
Reconstruct interchange ramps at Primm, 
Jean and Sloan Interchanges to address 
safety issues.
Signing improvements with DMS signs on I-
15.
Shoulder improvements. 

Schedule:
Planning:
2013 - 2015
Environmental:
TBD
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$3 - $4 M
Right-of-Way:
TBD
Construction:
$35 - $50 M
Total Project Cost:
$38 - $54 M

Project Benefits:
Update ramp geometrics to current 
standards. 
Decrease congestion. 
Improve communications and driver 
awareness with message signs. 
Improve on/off ramps at Primm, Jean and 
Sloan Interchanges. 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope -Scope modified to Safety project 
Schedule - No Change 
Cost - No Change. 

Project risks:
Uncertainty of future construction 
materials and labor costs. 

Complex construction in a high volume 
rural area may affect schedule and costs.

Funding uncertainty.

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended: $0 

Funding: Government Services Tax $52 Million 

Inflation Index of 3% is to approximate midpoint of construction. 

Planning Scoping July 
 2014

18
115

14
Item #12 Attachment A



I 515 Freeway Improvements 

Feasibility Study and Final Design for one construction 
package

Rancho Drive at 95 to Wyoming Grade Separation on I-515 on 
the US 95 / I-515

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Dwayne Wilkinson

(702) 671-8879

Project Description:
Feasibility study will analyze traffic 
operations and safety from Rancho to 
Wyoming Grade Separation and identify 
improvement phasing to address corridor 
needs.
One construction package is presently 
planned to advertise in FY 2017 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Feasibility Study:
Begin Fall of 2014
Environmental:
2014-2015
Final Design:
2016
Construction:
2017

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
TBD
Right-of-Way:
TBD
Construction:
TBD
Total Project Costs:
TBD

Project Benefits:
Identifity and implement operational and 
safety improvements to be constructed 
based on funding availability.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Analyze safety and operational improvements from 
Rancho to Wyoming Grade Separation 
Schedule - RFP anticipated to go out August 2014 
Cost - Overall construction costs TBD

Project risks:
Individual phases and funding obligations 
are unknown at this time. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Funding for first construction package is yet to be identified, but the goal 
is to begin construction in FY 2017 

% Environmental 
Complete July 

 2014

19
116

15   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 93 / US 95 Boulder City Bypass - Phase 1 Package 2B

Foothills Drive Grade Sep to Railroad Pass Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager : Tony Lorenzi, P.E.

(775) 888-7317

Project Description:
Construct West Frontage Road to Subgrade 
Construct Retaining Wall 
Construct Drainage Features 
Relocate Henderson Utilities (sewer and water)

Schedule:
Planning:
Completed
Environmental:
Completed
Final Design:
Completed
Construction:
Begin early 2015

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$350 - $500 k
Construction:
$11 - $13 million
Major Utility Relocation:
$11 - $13 million
Total Project Cost:
$11 - $14 million

Project Benefits:
Improves operations for Trucks from US 93 to US 95 
Improves local circulation 
Provides complete utility corridor for all underground 
utilities 
Improves Truck access to Industrial area 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope: No change 
Schedule: Construction moved to early 2015 
Cost: Cost range changed based on updated engineering estimates 
Package 2B was cancelled due to NOA and will be delivered as a part of 
Package 3 in Fall 2014 
Limits of Frontage Road revised on the south end

Project risks:
Concurrent utility relocations may affect schedule

Utility agreements are a major risk 

Hazardous materials found during construction 

A study was published announcing the presence of
Naturally Occurring Asbestos in the project vicinity. 
Further studies are necessary to quantify the amount 
of asbestos. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Inflation escalation (4%) is to 2015 approximate midpoint of construction. 

Additional Federal, State, Local, and Regional Funding will be required. 

Final Design
completed

Construction
completed

July 

 2014

20

117

16
Item #12 Attachment A



US 93 / US 95 Boulder City Bypass - Phase 1 Package 3

Foothills Drive Grade Sep to Silverline Road north of US 95

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager : Tony Lorenzi, P.E.

(775) 888-7317

Project Description:
Realignment of US 93 / US 95 to create an access 
controlled facility from Foothill Drive to US 95. 
One new diamond interchange along with one Frontage 
Road will be constructed. 
Direct Connector Ramps from the new facility to and 
from US 93 will be constructed. 
Direct Connector Ramps from US 95 to the new facility 
will be constructed. 
Existing access will be perpetuated. 
Project length: 2 miles 

Schedule:
Planning:
Completed
Environmental:
Completed
Final Design:
Package 3 Advertise Fall 

2014
Construction:
Early 2015

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$1 - $1.5 million
Right-of-Way:
Incidental
Construction:
$65 - $80 million
Total Project Cost:
$66 - $82 million

Project Benefits:
Improves safety by eliminating a signal at US 93 and 
Railroad Pass Casino. 
Improves operations for Trucks from US 95 to US 93.
Improves operations for peak trips from Boulder City 
to Las Vegas. 
Improves local circulation.
Completes initial bypass phase. What's Changed Since Last Update?

Scope: Package 4 was split into two segments. Northern half will be incorporated 
into Package 3 and the southern half will be incorporated into the RTC's Design-
Build contract for Phase 2. 
Schedule: Package 3 delivery moved to Federal FY2014 to meet the RTC's 
schedule 
Cost: Cost range changed based on new engineering estimate and the packages 
being combined into Package 3 
Package 2B, utility relocations and Package 5 added to Package 3 for delivery 
as single contract 

Project risks:
Unit price and property escalation may affect project 

Resource conflict with other on-going projects 

Field Changes 

Increased Roadway Excavation unit prices due to
additional blasting 

Multiple utility relocations need to be done
concurrently 

Hazardous materials found during construction 

A study was published announcing the presence of
Naturally Occurring Asbestos in the project vicinity. 
Further studies are necessary to quantify the amount 
of asbestos. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for BC Bypass Environmental studies (all phases): $5,199,679 

Inflation escalation (4%) is to approximate midpoint of construction. 

Project is completely funded for FY2014

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

21

118

17   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 93 / US 95 Boulder City Bypass - Phase 2

Silverline Road north of US 95 to the Nevada Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Tony Lorenzi, P.E.

(775) 888-7317

Project Description:
Provide connection between Phase I from north of the 
US 95 to tie into the Hoover Dam Bypass at Nevada 
Interchange 
Provide limited access bypass to the south of Boulder 
City for US 93 traffic 
4 lane divided highway facility 
Require several bridge structures over existing access 
roads and to provide wildlife access 
NDOT working with RTC to administer Design-Build
Procurement for Phase 2 
Project length: 12.5 miles 
Project was approved to be administered using Design-
Build delivery method by the RTC Board of 
Commissioners following the passage of AB413 for fuel 
tax index Bill 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
2014-2015
Construction:
2015-2018

Project Cost Range:
(Planning phase estimates)
Engineering:
$15 - $25 million
Right-of-Way:
$2 - $4 million
Construction:
$250 - $350 million
Total Project Cost:
$270 - $380 million

Project Benefits:
Reduce congestion of US 93 through Boulder City 
Provide additional safety to existing US 93 within 
Boulder City 
Decrease travel time from Las Vegas to 
Nevada/Arizona border

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Package 4 of Phase 1 was eliminated by splitting into two segments. 
The southern half was incorporated into Phase 2 project limits 
Schedule - RTC of Southern NV to proceed with Design/Build: RFP issued 
4/14/14 with an anticipated NTP in Dec 2014 
Cost - Currently the RTC has a construction cost estimate of approximately $275 
million 

Project risks:
Aggressive procurement schedule - need to start 
construction Fall 2014 

Unit price escalation may affect project cost. 

Difficult design & construction issues in a
mountainous terrain may affect cost & schedule. 

A study was published announcing the presence of 
Naturally Occurring Asbestos in the project vicinity. 
Further studies are necessary to quantify the amount 
of asbestos. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding Expended (Engineering & Right-of-Way): $3,198,701 

Total funding Expended for BC Bypass environmental studies (all phases): $5,199,679 

Inflation escalation (4%) is to 2016 approximate midpoint of construction. 

RTC Southern Nevada to fund majority of work using AB413 fuel tax indexing revenues 

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

22

119

18
Item #12 Attachment A



120

US 95 Northwest - Phase 2A

Ann Road to Durango Drive

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the second phase of the US 95 Northwest Project 
that extends from Washington Avenue to Kyle Canyon 
Road 
Alleviate congestion within the corridor by increasing 
capacity 
Project length: 3.04 miles 
This project is the first of 2 phases 
Phase 2A : Ann Road to Durango Drive
Phase 2B: Durango Drive to Kyle Canyon Road

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Complete
Advertise Project:
Complete
Construction:
Start April 2014 - Complete 

1st Quarter 2016

Project Cost Range:
(Construction Phase Estimates):
Engineering:
$2 - $3 million
Right-of-Way:
$0, No acquisitions required
Construction:
$40 - $44 million
Total Project Cost:
$42 - $47 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change

Project risks:
Change in site conditions 

Contractor delays

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 2: $1.32 million

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all phases): $5 million 

Funding source: 

Federal: $36.2 million 

State: $1.9 million 

Local: $1.5 million

% Design Complete

% Construction
Complete

July 

 2014

23

19   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 2B

Durango Drive to Kyle Canyon Road

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Project Manager: Jenica Keller , P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the second phase of the US 95 Northwest 
Project that extends from Washington Avenue to 
Kyle Canyon Road 
Alleviate congestion within the corridor by 
increasing capacity 
Project length: 2.45 miles 
This is the second of 2 phases 
Phase 2A: Ann Road to Durango Drive 
Phase 2B: Durango Drive to Kyle Canyon Road

Schedule:
Planning :
Complete
Environmental :
Complete
Final Design:
Complete in 2018
Advertise:
2018

Project Cost Range:
(Environmental Phase Estimates):
Engineering:
$2 -$3 million
Right of Way:
$0, No acquisitions required 
Construction:
$37 - 41 million
Total Project Cost :
$39 - $44 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify the corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project cost 

Complex design issues may impact schedule 
and scope

Complex right of way and utilities issues may 
impact schedule and cost 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 2: $1.3 million

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all 
phases) : $5 million 

Inflation escalation (2.7%) to midpoint of construction in 2017. 

Funding source : TBD 

% Design complete July 
 2014

24 121

20
Item #12 Attachment A



122

21   
US 95 Northwest - Phase 3A

Clark County 215 Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT, City Las Vegas and Clark County

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P. E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the third phase of the US 95 Northwest project 
that extends from Washington Avenue to Kyle Canyon 
Road 
Construct new system to system interchange at CC 215 
This project is anticipated to be constructed in 5 phases 
Phase 3A: Ramps providing north to east, west to south 
and east to south movements (2015) 
Phase 3B: Major utility relocations (2018) 
Phase 3C: Widen CC215 interchange at Sky Pointe, 
provide local access to Sky Pointe and Centennial 
(2021) 
Phase 3D: Widen CC215 interchange at John Hebert 
and provide local access to Oso Blanca (2024)
Phase 3E: Final interchange ramps (2027)

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design (All Phases):
Ongoing
Final Design (3A):
Complete in 2015
Advertise (3A):
2015

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates):
Engineering (All Phases):
$13.6 - $14.3 million
Right-of-Way (All Phases):
$0 - $0.4 million
Construction (All Phases):
$219 - $276 million
Construction (3A):
$25 - 30 million
Total Project Cost (All Phases):
$233 - $290 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project cost 

Complex right of way and utility issues may impact
schedule and costs. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 3: $2,800,000 

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all phases): $5 million 

3a: Inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of construction 2018 

Funding source: TBD 

% Design Complete 
(All Phases)

% Design Complete 
(3A)

% ROW Complete 
(All Phases)

July 

 2014

25

Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 3B

Clark County 215 Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT, City Las Vegas and Clark County

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the third phase of the US 95 Northwest 
project that extends from Washington Avenue to
Kyle Canyon Road 
Construct new system to system interchange at 
CC 215 
This project is anticipated to be constructed in 5 
phases 
Phase 3A: ramps providing north to east, west to 
south and east to south movements (2015) 
Phase 3B: major utility relocations (2018) 
Phase 3C: widen CC 215 interchange at Sky 
Pointe, provide local access to Sky Pointe and
Centennial (2021) 
Phase 3D: widen CC 215 interchange at John 
Herbert and provide local access to Oso Blanca
(2024) 
Phase 3E: final interchange ramps (2027)

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Ongoing

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates):
Engineering:
$
Right of Way:
$
Construction:
$
Total Project Cost:
$

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Project divided into 5 phases 
Schedule - Updated for each phase 
Cost - Updated for each phase 

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project cost 

Complex right of way and utility issues may 
impact schedule and cost 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 3: $2,800,000 

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all phases): 
$5 million 

3B: inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of construction 2019 

Funding source: TBD 

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

26
123

22
Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 3C

Clark County 215 Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT, City of Las Vegas and Clark County

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the third phase of the US 95 Northwest 
project that extends from Washington Avenue to
Kyle Canyon Road 
Construct new system to system interchange at 
CC 215 
This project is anticipated to be constructed in 5 
phases 
Phase 3A: ramps providing north to east, west to 
south and east to south movements (2015) 
Phase 3B: major utility relocations (2018) 
Phase 3C: widen CC 215 interchange at Sky 
Pointe, provide local access to Sky Pointe and
Centennial (2021) 
Phase 3D: widen CC 215 interchange at John 
Herbert and provide local access to Oso Blanca
(2024) 
Phase 3E: final interchange ramps (2027)

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Ongoing

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates):
Engineering:
$
Right of Way:
$
Construction:
$
Total Project Cost:
$

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Project divided into 5 phases 
Schedule - Updated for each phase 
Cost - Updated for each phase 

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project cost 

Complex right of way and utility issues may 
impact schedule and cost 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 3: $2,800,000 

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all phases): 
$5 million 

3C: inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of construction 2025 

Funding source: TBD 

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

27
124

23   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 3D

Clark County 215 Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT, City Las Vegas and Clark County

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the thris phase of the US 95 Northwest 
project that extends from Washington Avenue to
Kyle Canyon Road 
Construct new system to system interchange at 
CC 215 
This project is anticipated to be constructed in 5 
phases 
Phase 3A: ramps providing north to east, west to 
south and east to south movements (2015) 
Phase 3B: major utility relocations (2018) 
Phase 3C: widen CC 215 interchange at Sky 
Pointe, provide local access to Sky Pointe and
Centennial (2021) 
Phase 3D: widen CC 215 interchange at John 
Herbert and provide local access to Oso Blanca
(2024) 
Phase 3E: final interchange ramps (2027)

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Ongoing

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates):
Engineering:
$
Right of Way:
$
Construction:
$
Total Project Cost:
$

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Project divided into 5 phases 
Schedule - Updated for each phase 
Cost - Updated for each phase 

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project cost 

Complex right of way and utility issues may 
impact schedule and cost 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 3: $2,800,000 

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all phases): 
$5 million 

3D: inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of construction 2025 

Funding source: TBD 

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

28
125

24
Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 3E

Clark County 215 Interchange

Project Sponsor: NDOT, City Las Vegas and Clark County

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the third phase of the US 95 
Northwest project that extends from 
Washington Avenue to Kyle Canyon Road 
Construct new system to system
interchange 
This project is anticipated to be constructed 
in 5 phases 
Phase 3A: ramps providing north to east, 
west to south and east to south movements
(2015) 
Phase 3B: major utility relocations (2018) 
Phase 3C: widen CC 215 interchange at
Sky Pointe, provide local access to Sky 
Pointe and Centennial (2021) 
Phase 3D: widen CC 215 interchange at 
John Herbert and provide local access to 
Oso Blanca (2024) 
Phase 3E: final interchange ramps (2027)

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
Ongoing

Project Cost Range:
(Final Design Phase Estimates):

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Project divided into 5 phases 
Schedue - Updated for each phase 
Cost - Updated for each phase 

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project 
cost 

Complex right of way and utility issues 
may impact schedule and cost 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended for Phase 3: $2,800,000 

Total funding expended for US 95 Northwest Environmental Studies (all 
phases): $5 million 

3E: Inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of construction 2028 

Funding source: TBD 

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

29
126

25  
Item #12 Attachment A



US 95 Northwest - Phase 5 Kyle Canyon Road
Interchange

Project Sponsor: City of Las Vegas and NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Jenica Keller, P.E.

(775) 888-7321

Project Description:
This is the fifth phase of the US 95 
Northwest Project that extends from 
Washington Ave to Kyle Canyon Road 
Alleviate congestion within the corridor by 
increasing capacity 
Provide new and improved freeway 
connections to improve regional 
connectivity, consistent with land use 
planning 
Construct new interchange at Kyle Canyon 
Road 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
Engineering:
$2.5 - $3 million
Right-of-Way:
$1 - $1.5 million
Construction:
$32 - $36.5 million
Total Project Cost:
$35.5 - $41 million

Project Benefits:
Increase capacity 
Improve safety 
Improve access 
Meet stakeholder/public expectations 
Reduce trip times 
Reduce vehicle emissions 
Reduce idling 
Beautify corridor 
Improve driver comfort 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change

Project risks:
Unit price escalation may affect project 
cost 

Complex design issues may impact 
schedule and scope

Complex right of way and utility issues 
may impact schedule and costs. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total Expended for Final Design: $0 (Design phase not started) 

Total Expended for Environmental Studies (all US 95 Northwest 
phases): $5 million 

Inflation escalation (4%) to midpoint of Construction in 2027 

Funding source: TBD

Design complete July 
 2014

30
127

26
Item #12 Attachment A



128

I 80 Robb to Vista

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Jeff Lerud

(775) 888-7589

Project Description:
Make operational and capacity improvements to 
I-80 from Robb Drive to Vista Blvd. 
Make operational and capacity improvements to 
the I-80/I-580 interchange (Spaghetti Bowl) 
Early Action and Phase 1 (I-80 Robb to Vista 
Design-Build) projects from Washoe County 
Freeway Corridor Study scoping report 
completed. 
Phase II scoping will commence after completion 
of the I-80 Robb to Vista design/build project. 
Project Length: 10.4 miles 

Schedule:
Planning:
2008 - 2014
Environmental:
TBD
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Planning Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$85 - $105 million
Right-of-Way:
$95 - $125 million
Construction:
$900 - $1.1 billion
Total Project Cost:
$1.08 billion - $1.33 billion

Project Benefits:
Improve operations and capacity along I-80. 
Improve safety 
Provide better connectivity between I-80 and I-
580/US 395. 
Accommodate future projected traffic. 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change 
Schedule - Planning extended 
Cost - No change 

Project risks:
Limited Right-of-Way 

Phase II and beyond unfunded- delay in 
identifying needed funds will affect schedule 
and increase costs. 

Environmental process not started - Project 
cost, scope and schedule may be impacted. 

Resources may need to be reallocated to 
higher priority projects - project cost, scope 
and schedule may be impacted.

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total Funding Expended by NDOT: $140, 000 

Inflation escalation (4%) is to 2020 approximate midpoint of construction 

Additional Federal, State, and local funding will/may be required 

Planning Complete July 
 2014

31

27   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 395 North - McCarran Blvd to Stead Blvd

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Senior Project Manager: Jeff Lerud, P.E.

(775) 888-7589

Project Description:
Widen US 395 to increase capacity and improve 
traffic operations. 
Modify interchange ramps and cross streets as
necessary to improve operations. 
Widen bridge structures at Stead, Lemmon Drive, 
Golden Valley, UPRR, Virginia Street, Panther 
Valley, Parr Blvd and Clear Acre Lane if 
necessary. 
Perpetuate drainage features. 
Replace and install new signs. 

Schedule:
Planning:
TBD
Environmental:
TBD
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Planning Phase Estimates)
Engineering:
$7 - $9 million
Right-of-Way:
$3 - $6 million
Construction:
$70 - $85 million
Total Project Cost:
$80 - $100 million

Project Benefits:
Relieve heavy peak hour congestion and 
reduces crashes associated with congestion. 
Reduces travel time. 
Improves overall traffic operations.

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No Change 
Schedule - The project has been put on hold subject to funding 
availability. 
Cost - No Change 

Project risks:
Environmental requirements. 

UPRR Clearance and requirements. 

Unknown Right-of-Way and utility impacts. 

Impact of new development in the region. 

Concurrent planning associated with the 
Pyramid Connector. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended: $50,000 

Inflation escalation (4%) is to approximate mid-point of construction 

No funding has been identified for this project

Planning Complete: July 

 2014

32
129

28
Item #12 Attachment A



Pyramid Highway/US 395 Connection 

Project Sponsor: Washoe County RTC and NDOT

Washoe RTC Project Manager: Doug Maloy, P.E.

NDOT Project Manager: Dale Keller, P.E.

www.pyramidus395connection.com

Phone: (775) 888-7603

Project Description:
Calle de la Plato to La Pasada- Transition from 4 
Lane Arterial to 6 lane freeway 
La Pasada to Sparks Blvd. - Develop Pyramid
alignment into 6 lane freeway with frontage 
roads. 
Continue 6 lane freeway from Sparks Blvd. to 
Dics Dr. either on the Pyramid alignment with 
frontage roads or on a separate alignment to the 
west. 
Extend 6 lane freeway through Sun Valley to US-
395 
Widen and improve Pyramid highway from Disc 
Dr. to Queen Way 
Widen and extend Disc Dr. to Vista Blvd.

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
2010 - 2015
Final Environmental 
Impact Statement 
(FEIS):
Winter 2014
Record of Decision 
(ROD):
Spring 2015
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Planning phase estimates)
Engineering:
$40M - $60M
Right-of-Way:
$100M - $150M
Construction:
$410M - $660M
Total Project Costs:
$550M - $870M

Project Benefits:
Address congestion and safety along the 
Pyramid Highway and McCarran Blvd. 
Corridors 
Provide alternative access to freeway system 
Improve safety 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - No change. 
Schedule - No change 
Cost - No change.

Project risks:
Construction in a dense urban residential area 

Funding sources for all phases not identified 

Complex right of way and utility issues may 
impact schedule and costs. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total RTC Funding Expended - $7,300,000 

Inflation escalation (2.7%) to midpoint of construction in 2020 

% Environmental 
Complete July 

 2014

33130

29   
Item #12 Attachment A



US 395 Carson City Freeway - Phase 2B

South Carson Street to Fairview Drive

Project Sponsor: NDOT

Project Manager: Jeff Lerud, P. E.

(775) 888-7589

Project Description:
This project will be delivered in four packages. 
Construction is complete for Phase 2B Packages 
1 & 2. 
Phase 2B Package 3 & 4 will complete the 
remainder of the project 
Construct 3 miles of 4 lane access controlled
Freeway which will complete the nine mile 
system around the state Capitol. 
Complete the interchange at Fairview Drive -
providing full traffic movements. 
Construct the South Carson Street Interchange. 
Construct over four miles of sound walls to
mitigate traffic noise. 
Construct flood control facilities including 
detention basins, channels, box culverts, and the
Freeway drainage system. 
Project length: 3.37 miles. 

Schedule:
Planning:
Complete
Environmental:
Complete
Final Design:
TBD
Construction:
TBD

Project Cost Range:
(Final design phase estimates):
Engineering:
$11 - $13 million
Right-of-Way:
$30 - $32 million
Construction:
$100 - $150 million
Total Project Cost:
$137 - $190 million

Project Benefits:
Relieve traffic congestion on Carson Street 
through Carson City and local streets along 
the freeway corridor. 
Reduce travel times through the region. 
Provide flood control protection. 
Improve opportunities for economic 
development along the corridor and downtown. 

What's Changed Since Last Update?
Scope - Package 3 & 4 will complete the remainder of the Freeway 
Schedule - TBD 
Cost - No change 

Project risks:
Project completion date will depend on the 
availability of funds. 

Concurrent utility relocation will be required. 

Changes in design standards could affect 
schedule and budget. 

New development along the corridor. 

Financial Fine Points(Key Assumptions):
Total funding expended: $54 million 

Inflation escalation (2.7%) to midpoint of construction in 2017. 

Construction funding source: TBD

% Design Complete

% ROW Complete
July 

 2014

34
131

30
Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



APPENDICES

133

Item #12 Attachment A



134

Item #12 Attachment A



135

APPENDIX A

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



137

 

 

BENEFIT-COST ANALYSIS OF CAPACITY 
PROJECTS  

The Department is required under NRS 408.3195 to conduct benefit cost analysis for larger 
highway capacity projects. Specifically, prior to submitting a project to the Board for approval, the 
Department will prepare such a written analysis for highway projects that will increase capacity 
on the State Highway System and cost at least $25 million. Subsequently, this analysis was done 
and is being reported on active projects before the Department requests the Board to approve 
funding for construction, including right-of-way acquisition and utility work. The Benefit-Cost 
(B/C) ratio calculations are being done on the larger capacity projects that are expected to 
be funded for construction within 10 years and, thereby, appear in the Transportation System 
Projects document. The policy that governs the analysis of benefits and costs, TP 1-11-1, is 
included at the end of the section entitled Discussion of the Calculations of Costs and Benefits. 
Furthermore, B/C analysis has been done for some projects that do not meet the minimum dollar 
threshold but the information will beneficial to management for decision making purposes.   
The B/C ratios for several projects have been determined in FY 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 
2013 and 2014. The following table reports the B/C ratio results of a total of 3 7  projects.  
  
Blue Ribbon Task Force Projects (FY 2008) NPV B/C 
I-15 South Corridor – Tropicana Avenue to Sloan Road 4.11 
US 95 Northwest Corridor – Rainbow Blvd to Kyle Canyon Road 3.63 
I-15 North Corridor – Spaghetti Bowl to Apex 3.39 
I-15 – NEON (Sahara Avenue to Spaghetti Bowl) 1.97 
I-515 – Spaghetti Bowl to Foothills Road 1.94 
    
Other Major Projects (FY 2009) NPV B/C 
US 395 – Moanna to I-80 Northbound Add Lane 2.34 
US 395 – Carson City Freeway (1996 updated in 2009) 4.44 
    
Other Major Projects (FY 2010) NPV B/C 
I-80 – Design-Build 3.57 
  

Other Major Projects (FY 2011) NPV B/C 
I-580/Meadowood Complex Improvements 2.70 
I-215/ Airport Connector Interchange 3.08 
  
Other Major Projects (FY 2012) NPV B/C 
SR 160 (Blue Diamond) from SR 159 to Mountain Springs 2.10 
S. McCarron Phase 1, Mira Loma Dr. to Greg St. 3.57 
S. McCarron Phase 2, Mira Loma Dr. to Greg St. 2.47 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



138

 

 

Other Major Projects (FY 2013) NPV B/C 
I-15 Interchange at Milepost 118 in Mesquite, Nevada 5.0 
Boulder City Bypass Phase I: Foothills Drive to US-93/US-95 Interchange 0.9 
I-15 Pavement Rehabilitation: Dry Lake Rest Area to Logandale/Overton Interchange 1.7 
I-80 Pavement Rehabilitation Dunphy Interchange to Emigrant Pass Interchange 1.2 
North 5th Street Super Arterial Phases 1C & 1D: Carey to Cheyenne 12.6 
SR 160 Widening: SR 159 to Mountain Springs 2.1 
US 93 Pavement Rehabilitation & Truck Climbing Lanes 8.3 
South McCarran Boulevard – Phase I Virginia Street to Mira Loma Drive 3.57 
South McCarran Boulevard – Phase II Mira Loma Drive to Greg Street 2.47 
US 395 Southern Corridor E Clearview Drive SR 88 2.13 
US-50 Widening Project Chaves Road to Roy’s Road 1.9 
I-80 West of Emigrant Pass Interchange Pavement Rehabilitation 1.1 
F Street Connection Washington Ave. to Bonanza Road 1.15 
Wadsworth Bypass Road (PLIR 35) Pyramid Lake Indian Reservation Washoe County, 
Nevada 

1.6 

 0.24 
  
  
  
 

  
Project Neon-Phase III: Charleston Boulevard Interchange Improvements 2 
Boulder City Bypass Phase II: Proposed US-93/US-95 Interchange to West of the 
Hoover Dam Bypass 

1.5 

Project Neon-Phase V: I-15 Reconstruction south of Oakey Boulevard and the 
Northbound Direct Connect Ramp 

2.2 

Project Neon Phase II: Oakey Blvd / Wyoming Ave. Railroad grade separation,  and 
Martin Luther King/ Industrial Connection 

0.1 

Project Neon-Phase IV: Southbound Direct Connect Ramp 2.9 
US 95 North-Phase 2A (Ann Road to Durango Drive) 4.2 
I-15 Pavement Rehabilitation: Dry Lake Rest Area to Logandale/Overton Interchange 1.7 
Carson City Freeway I-580/US 395 Phase 2B-3, Fairview Drive to Snyder Avenue 2.73 
SR 593 Tropicana Avenue: Dean Martin Drive to Boulder Highway (The project starts 
at Dean Martin Drive and ends at SR 582 Boulder Highway (SR 593 CL‐3.50 to -
10.85)) 

2.5 

  

I-580 From Mt. Rose Highway to Washoe Valley 

Other Major Projects (FY 2014)

Item #12 Attachment A



139

 

 

DISCUSSION OF THE CALCULATIONS OF 
COSTS AND BENEFITS  

Introduction  
The determination of the benefit and costs has received considerable use for many decades. The 
process was first proposed by a French engineer by the name of Dupuit in 1844. The method 
provides an analysis framework whereby many benefits and costs are quantified. It has become a 
widely used tool and enables the decision-making process of ranking projects to become 
more transparent. For the private sector it is a tool to guide private investment and has been 
certainly helpful to assist assessing the cost effectiveness of public projects. For the private 
sector, normally economic efficiency is the primary objective, but the public sector needs to 
consider economic equity as well. As the social and environmental factor became important, the 
economic analysis of projects came more complex and, therefore, more difficult. 
The application of the B/C ratio calculations for this Annual Report compares each proposed 
project with a set of factors that are converted to monetary values. This appendix discusses the 
input data needed to conduct a B/C ratio calculation, which includes: travel time benefits, 
crash benefits, motor vehicle emissions and cost benefits, vehicle operating cost benefits, 
and capital cost. In addition, the limitation of the B/C analysis is presented. 

Input  
Travel Time Benefits:  
Highway speeds and volumes came from the Regional Transportation Commissions and 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations regional travel demand models. For the value of travel time, 
the personal travel was 50% of local median wage while business travel by truck/bus drivers 
was 100% of the mean wage for these occupations plus fringe benefits. The wage value in Clark 
County came from the Nevada Department of Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation. A 50% 
fringe was used because it was an average of several labor groups. The same data were obtained 
for Carson City/Douglass County and Washoe County, and identical calculations were 
performed. Vehicle occupancy was based in household surveys, census data and travel demand 
output. 
 
           Table E-1 Travel Cost and Vehicle Occupancy 

Location Personal 
Travel 

Business 
Travel 

Vehicle 
Occupancy 

Clark County $11.04 $34.33 1.45 
Carson City/Douglass County $10.48 $33.77 1.43 
Washoe County $11.26 $34.54 1.28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



140

 

 

Crash Benefits:  

The freeway and expressway, with controlled access, crash rates are normally lower than local 
streets and roads that had little or no access control. Consequently, by increasing freeway capacity 
more travelers will benefit from lower accident rates. The rates are illustrated in Table E-2.  

 
Table E-2 Nevada Crash Severity numbers of the larger Counties 

Location Traffic Crashes 
Percentage2

 

Number of 
Crashes2

 PDO1,2 INJURY2
 FATAL2

 
Crash 
rates 

Clark County 80.91 34549 19164 15231 154 218.12 

Washoe County 11.62 4960 2483 1755 25 146.92 

Carson City/Douglas County 2.63 1122 794 321 7 145.02 

Note: 
1
 Property Damage Only 

2 
Number of crashes in 100 million vehicle miles of travel  

Table E-3 Nevada Crash Rates & VMT by County 

 
 

COUNTY TOTAL CRASHES
% OF TOTAL 

CRASHES TOTAL AVM
% OF TOTAL 

AVM CRASH RATE

CARSON 666 1.56% 365,199,263 1.55% 182.37

CHURCHILL 351 0.82% 297,001,340 1.26% 118.18

CLARK 34549 80.91% 15,839,721,817 67.19% 218.12

DOUGLAS 456 1.07% 408,469,675 1.73% 111.64

ELKO 495 1.16% 720,945,449 3.06% 68.66

ESMERALDA 20 0.05% 97,192,656 0.41% 20.58

EUREKA 67 0.16% 141,668,045 0.60% 47.29

HUMBOLDT 148 0.35% 368,206,693 1.56% 40.19

LANDER 67 0.16% 125,416,851 0.53% 53.42

LINCOLN 130 0.30% 126,302,439 0.54% 102.93

LYON 278 0.65% 425,263,834 1.80% 65.37

MINERAL 37 0.09% 122,581,600 0.52% 30.18

NYE 297 0.70% 696,445,287 2.95% 42.65

PERSHING 60 0.14% 253,836,538 1.08% 23.64

STOREY 44 0.10% 38,355,233 0.16% 114.72

WASHOE 4960 11.62% 3,376,014,706 14.32% 146.92

WHITE PINE 75 0.18% 172,061,279 0.73% 43.59

TOTAL 42700 100.00% 23,574,682,705 100.00% 181.13
Crash Rates Expressed In Crashes Per 100,000,000 Vehicles Miles Traveled.

Nevada State Demographer 10/1/2010

FY 2014
ANNUAL VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED, AND CRASH STATISTICS

Item #12 Attachment A



141

 

 

The total cost of accident types is contained in Table E-4. These costs were derived Highway Safety 
Manual adjusted to 2013 dollars. 

Table E-4 Accident Cost Assumptions (2013 dollars)  

Accident Type Cost  
 

Fatality $5,339,711 
Injury (Avg. A, B & C) $149,563 
Property Damage Only $9,638 

 
Motor Vehicle Emissions and Cost:  
The rate of motor vehicle emissions and associated health cost was based on data from California 
and are contained in Table E-5.  
 

Table E-5 Vehicle Emission Health Cost Assumptions (Dollars/Ton)  

Emission Type Cost 
Carbon monoxide $135 
Fine Participates $448,761 
Nitrogen oxides $54,743 
Hydrocarbons $7,861 

 
Vehicle Operating Costs:  
 The consumption of fuel was determined by the average speed and the zone to zone 

distances. The fuel consumption rates were based on data from 2000 California Air 
Resources Board and expressed as gallons per mile and is a function of speed 

 Auto/Bus-$10.40: (50 percent of $14.32 times occupancy rate); Mean hourly wage, all 
occupations, Washoe County. 2011Nevada Occupational Employment & Wages 
(OES); http://www.nevadaworkforce.com/?PAGEID=67&SUBID=117. Accessed on 
November 2014. 

 Trucks-$25.50 ($21.25 times 20.0 percent for benefits); Mean hourly wage, truck drivers, 
heavy and tractor-trailers, Washoe County. 2011 Nevada Occupational Employment & 
Wages (OES); http://www.nevadaworkforce.com/?PAGEID=67&SUBID=117. Accessed on 
November 2014. 
 

Cost per Gallon of Fuel: 

 Mid-Grade Fuel: $3.539/gallon. Source: AAA Daily Fuel Gauge Report, Nevada Average, 
November 4, 2014. http://fuelgaugereport.opisnet.com/NVmetro.asp  

 Diesel fuel: $3.873/gallon. Source: AAA Daily Fuel Gauge Report, Nevada Average, 
November 4, 2014. http://fuelgaugereport.opisnet.com/NVmetro.asp 

Item #12 Attachment A



142

 

 

 

Non-fuel Operating Costs 
Car 

($/mile) 
Truck 

($/mile) 
Tires  $0.0101 $0.0244 
Depreciation  $0.2636 $0.3402 
Maintenance  $0.0471 $0.1093 
Insurance  $0.0684 $0.0679 
License, Registration, 
Taxes  

$0.0421 $0.0223 

Finance Charge  $0.0582 $0.1697 

 
Capital Cost:  
The capital cost included all implementation costs, but not any maintenance and repair costs. 
Likewise transit service costs were not included. 

Limitations  
In general, it is difficult to convert all diverse costs and benefits into monetary values. At times 
funding limitations might require the selection of an alternative that does not have the highest 
B/C ratio, simply because there is not sufficient funding. While the B/C ratio calculation reported 
herein is an excellent parameter to help select projects or alternatives, it does have limitations. 
One limitation deals with the project cost impact on humans; therefore, a factor, i.e. 
community impact, will need to be addressed. 
Another limitation deals with the system impact of large highway capacity projects. Correcting a 
significant urban freeway congestion problem at a particular site moves the primary 
‘bottleneck’ (site of congestion) to another location. Such a project will probably have 
considerable benefit within the project limits, but might not provide much, if any, overall system 
improvement. Consequently, at least one area wide factor is needed to address the system wide 
impacts. One of the Department’s new performance measures is: percent of daily vehicle miles 
of travel at Level of Service E or worse.  This measure is called the ‘system congestion index’. 
Another limitation with a benefit-cost analysis is that many times a project will have an 
economic development benefit component. This economic development component is very 
difficult to quantify monetarily. Different items that can be considered when trying to estimate 
the economic development component include the number of marginal jobs that a project 
will enable to be created, the increase in property values along a project, the amount of new 
tax revenues generated for all levels of government because of the project, and the marginal 
increase in total Nevada gross product. Each of these items is problematic to estimate by 
themselves, then to try to estimate the change in these items induced because of transportation 
projects becomes extremely difficult. For these reasons, the economic development component is 
not normally considered in a typical NDOT benefit-cost analysis. 
Nationally, discount rates vary from zero to 7% and sometimes higher. Modeled national inflation 
rates fluctuate considerably as well; however, NDOT staff believes that the spread between 
inflation and the discount rate is the important factor. NDOT staff has modeled the discount rate 
from 0% to 4% higher than inflation and performed sensitivity analyses on a wider range. In 
most cases, the discount rate and the inflation rate have very little impact on the results of the 

Item #12 Attachment A



143

 

 

benefit/cost analysis. The discount rate of 7% is used because of OMB (Office of Management 
and Budget) Circular A-94 and is applied to all benefit/cost analyses. 
The final limitation is the level of favorable public opinion toward a project. If there is a negative 
public perception toward a particular project, even if the perception is not justified, a high 
priority score might not suffice for a project to proceed toward implementation. In summary, 
even a good project needs public support; consequently, the level of public acceptance will be 
documented, most likely during the NEPA process. 
Once the projects have been prioritized, they must be distributed among the various funding categories, 
meaning that a lower priority project might be funded before a higher priority because it is in a category 
with much more funding. Additionally, a lower priority project might be simple and easy to design and 
build compared with a large scale project might have major mitigation issues. In this case, the lower 
priority would likely be constructed first. 
 
 
 
  

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



145

APPENDIX B

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



147

 

 

 

PROJECT PRIORITY RATIONALE  
INTRODUCTION  
Every year, the Department is responsible for the programming of federal and state funding for a 
wide range of transportation improvement projects across the state. Allocating these significant 
resources in an equitable, efficient, and effective manner requires a multifaceted approach. The 
Department has adopted flexible, yet accountable procedures to meet the needs of the traveling 
public, advance the Department’s goals and priorities, and address the needs of a myriad of 
constituencies across the state.  
The Board, comprised primarily of elected officials, provides oversight on the project selection 
process. The Board annually approves the Transportation System Projects, which contains the 
Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), Annual Work Program, and Short and 
Long-Range Elements. Upon its approval in the fall of every year, the Transportation System 
Projects document is forwarded to the U.S. Department of Transportation for final approval.  
Project priority rationale should be guided by our “Statewide Long-Range Transportation Plan” 
containing ‘Guiding Principles’ that provide policy guidance for the development and operation of 
the Nevada Transportation System. These guiding principles include the following topics: 1) Safety, 
2) Mobility and Accessibility, 3) Environmental Stewardship, 4) Fiscal Responsibility, 5) Freight 
Movement, 6) Asset Management, and 7) Customer Service.  For the purpose of this discussion, 
these principles that directly affect the transportation system are characterized as follows:  

1) Safety – To improve the safety of all modes of travel  
2) Mobility – To provide a multimodal, interconnected and efficient system  
3) Environmental – To ensure the system is considerate to the human and natural  
4) environment  
5) Fiscal Responsibility – To maximize the transportation funding and invest it wisely  
6) Freight Movement – To improve the safety and efficiency of motor carriers  
7) Asset Management – To protect the transportation system assets  

The following subsections describe the more significant funding programs used by the Department 
to follow the guiding principles of the Statewide Long-Range Transportation Plan. The programs 
include: Capacity Projects, Bridge, State Highway Preservation, Highway Safety Improvement, and 
Transportation Enhancement. 
  

CAPACITY PROJECTS PROGRAM  
The Department cooperates in the development and ensures adoption of Regional Transportation 
Plans and Regional Transportation Improvement Programs in Nevada.  Projects within the 
jurisdiction of the four Metropolitan Planning Organizations must be included within the 
Transportation System Projects document without change from regional planning documents 
approved by the Metropolitan Planning Organizations.  
The Department evaluates the capacity project budget by focusing on that portion of the Department 
budget that is both available to apply towards capacity projects and under the direct control of the 
Department. This “Potential Capacity Budget” is calculated by adding federal and state components 

Item #12 Attachment A



148

 

 

that meet the above criteria.  With the approval of the 2007 AB 595, the Department now requires a 
benefit/cost analysis on capacity improvement projects that cost at least $25 million.  In addition, 
the Department requires that major projects included in the Transportation System Projects 
document be evaluated by standard criteria including project feasibility.  
As of 2005, entities not within Metropolitan Planning Organizations’ jurisdictions are requested to 
submit a Project Submittal Application for proposed transportation improvement projects. 
Applications are due to the Program Development Division by January 1. Those projects submitted 
for consideration are evaluated by a project evaluation team utilizing criteria based on current 
conditions, project impact, and project complexity. Using these criteria, proposed transportation 
improvement projects are ranked and submitted to the Director for consideration. The Director 
recommends the selection of projects advancing into the Annual Work Program of the 
Transportation System Projects document. 
 

BRIDGE PROGRAM  
Highway assets are managed using two systems: A pavement management system and a bridge 
management system. Both systems provide an inventory of existing assets, their condition, needed 
repairs, and repair priorities.  The bridge management system aids in identifying bridges in need of 
replacement and rehabilitation.  Federal Highway Bridge Program funds are available to replace and 
rehabilitate substandard publicly owned highway bridges.  While the primary focus of this program 
is to replace or rehabilitate bridges, these funds can also be used for:  

 Conducting federally mandated inspection on all existing bridges  
 Compiling federally mandated inventory information  
 Upgrading bridges to resist seismic activity  
 Mitigating potential scouring of bridge supports due to flooding  

Eligible expenses are funded at ninety-five percent federal funds with a five percent match by the 
bridge’s owner. A minimum of fifteen percent of the federal funds must be applied to bridges off 
the federal-aid system.  The remaining balance of federal funds may be applied to bridges on the 
federal-aid system.  Bridges on federal and tribal lands are also eligible but are neither authorized 
nor administered by the Department.  
There are approximately 1952 bridges open to the public in Nevada that are owned and maintained 
by the Department and local agencies.  Additionally, several bridges are owned and maintained by 
federal agencies and a few by private entities.  Priority of replacement and rehabilitation projects 
are based on a bridge’s Sufficiency Rating. The Sufficiency Rating is a numerical assessment of a 
bridge’s serviceability, and is calculated based on a compilation of select inventory data and 
condition assessment data.  The importance of a bridge to the transportation system and rate of 
deterioration are also considered when selecting replacement and rehabilitation projects. 
  
 

STATE HIGHWAY PRESERVATION PROGRAM  
The Department maintains 5,393 miles of highways. The total number of miles fluctuates annually 
as new highways are constructed and others are eliminated due to Relinquishment and Road 
Transfer activities to counties and cities, prompted by the 1999 Assembly Concurrent Resolution 

Item #12 Attachment A



149

 

 

(ACR) 3. These highways carry 50 percent of Nevada’s traffic and 72 percent of the heavy trucks. 
The Department is responsible for protecting highway assets and preserving existing highways. 
Highway assets are managed using two systems: a pavement management system and a bridge 
inventory system. Both systems provide an inventory of existing assets, their condition, needed 
repairs, and repair priorities. The basic principle of pavement preservation is that timely lower-cost 
improvement will save money and better serve the public.  For example, timely overlays will cost 
about 25 percent of the cost of waiting a few more years when reconstruction is necessary.  At 
present, approximately $323 million is needed annually for pavement preservation projects to 
maintain the present quality of highway pavements. To preserve the state highway system at low 
cost, action plans are used that optimize the use of available funds. The Department’s action plan in 
priority order is as follows:  
To apply timely overlays on Interstate and other Principal Arterials, Minor Arterials, and other 
moderate to high volume roads.  
To further develop economical repair strategies for our low-volume roads.  
To continue coordinating and integrating routine pavement maintenance activities with planned 
overlay and reconstruction work.  
Within this action plan, individual projects are prioritized based on pavement age, traffic volume, 
axle loads, and condition. From this analysis, an action list is formulated based on the financial 
consequences of not doing the project. Further assessment data is collected from field surveys in 
conjunction with district-engineer offices. Collaboratively, repair strategies are formulated along 
with an appropriate funding level to accomplish the Department’s preservation and other goals.  
 

HIGHWAY SAFETY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM  
The overall objective of the Highway Safety Improvement Program is to implement effective safety 
measures that reduce the number and severity of crashes on Nevada highways. The Highway Safety 
Improvement Program consists of several components, namely:  

1) Collecting and maintaining data files for crashes, traffic volumes, and highway features.  
2) Analyzing data files to determine high crash sites  
3) Conducting Safety engineering studies in order to develop highway safety improvements.  
4) Establishing priorities for implementing safety improvements.  
5) Programming and implementing highway safety improvement projects.  
6) Evaluating crashes before and after the implementation of safety improvements.  
7) Determining the overall effectiveness of the prescribed safety improvements.  

The Department also cooperates with the agencies listed below to implement the Nevada Strategic 
Highway Safety Plan.  

 Department of Health/Bureau of Family Health Services  
 RTC of Washoe County  
 Department of Public Safety/Office of Traffic Safety Department of Public Safety/Nevada 

Highway Patrol 
 Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration  
 Department of Motor Vehicles  

Item #12 Attachment A



150

 

 

 Federal Highway Administration  
 Nevada Sheriffs’ and Chiefs’ Association  
 RTC of Southern Nevada  
 Nevada Association of Counties 

  

TRANSPORTATION ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM  
The Transportation Enhancement Program requires that ten percent of the Federal Surface 
Transportation Program (STP) monies apportioned to each state be set aside for the funding of 
enhancements to the transportation system.  Transportation Enhancement Program funding includes 
activities such as:  

 Pedestrians and bicycles facilities  
 Safety and educational activities for pedestrians and bicyclists  
 Acquisition of scenic easements and scenic or historic sites  
 Landscaping and other scenic beautification  

 Rehabilitation of historic transportation buildings, structures, or facilities  

 Environmental mitigation of water pollution and habitat connectivity  
 Establishment of transportation museums  

Local governments, state agencies, and federal agencies may submit applications for project 
funding. Private groups may apply for project funding, but must apply through a public entity or 
agency. Projects must be for one of the categories specified by law and must be related to surface 
transportation.  
Enhancement projects are prioritized for funding by the Statewide Transportation Technical 
Advisory Committee.  Members of this committee represent a wide range of transportation interests, 
including several local, state, and federal agencies.  Within the urbanized area, the Metropolitan 
Planning Organizations initially prioritizes projects in their jurisdictions. A subcommittee of the 
Statewide Transportation Technical Advisory Committee prioritizes projects from the non-
urbanized areas of the state. The Statewide Transportation Technical Advisory Committee approves 
and recommends to the Director a final priority list of projects. Upon the Director’s approval, the 
enhancement projects are included in the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP).  
 

  

Item #12 Attachment A



151

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



153

 

 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
INTRODUCTION 
The Department has developed performance measures among the four major divisions that were 
developed to support the achievement of the seven Department Strategic Plan Goals, which are to: 

1) Optimize safety 
2) Be in touch with and responsive to our customers 
3) Innovate 
4) Be the employer of choice 
5) Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs 
6) Effectively preserve and manage our assets 
7) Efficiently operate the transportation system  

These performance measures are designed to quantify progress in meeting those goals.  The fifteen 
performance measure topics are listed below.  The following performance measures plan includes 
the actual performance measures, annual and ultimate targets, the performance measure champions, 
brief discussion of the strategy plan support, measurement and supporting data, and short and long 
range strategies.  Additionally, an annual evaluation of the performance measures is included.  

ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 
Reduce Work-Place Accidents 
Provide Employee Training 
Improve Employee Satisfaction 
Streamline Agreement Execution Process 
Improve Customer and Public Outreach 

PLANNING DIVISION 
Reduce and Maintain Traffic Congestion 
Reduce Fatal Crashes 

OPERATIONS DIVISION 
Streamline Project Delivery: Bid Opening to Construction Completion 
Maintain State Highway Pavement 
Maintain NDOT Fleet 
Maintain NDOT Facilities 
Emergency Management, Security, and Continuity of Operations 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
Streamline Project Delivery:  Schedule and Estimate for Bid Advertisement  
Maintain State Bridges 
Streamline Permitting Process  

Item #12 Attachment A



154

 

 

1.  REDUCE WORK PLACE ACCIDENTS 
Performance Measure:  

1) The rate of work place injuries/illnesses per 100 employees. 
2) The rate of medical claims per 100 employees for work place injuries/illnesses requiring 

medical attention. 

The rate of injuries is reported as the number of work place injuries and illnesses per 100 employees 
and number of injuries and illnesses requiring medical attention per 100 employees as documented 
through annual OSHA 300 Log Reporting data.  Data is based on calendar year per federal reporting 
requirements. 
 
Annual Target:  10 % Reduction Ultimate Target:  Zero 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Administrative Services- Safety and Loss Control Manager 
Administrative Services- Human Resources Manager 

Support Divisions:  
All 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Safety extends to all aspects of the Department from the roadways to the office.  Identifying and 
reducing risk to the Department, our employees and the public is continuous.  This performance 
measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to: Optimize 
Safety and Be the Employer of Choice.  
 

2.  PROVIDE EMPLOYEE TRAINING 
Performance Measure: 
Percentage of employees trained in accordance with prescribed training plans and State statute 
requirements. 
 
Annual Target:  75 % Ultimate Target:  100% 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Administrative Services- Employee Development Manager 
Administrative Services- Human Resources Manager 

Support Divisions:   
All 

Item #12 Attachment A



155

 

 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Competency Training of the workforce keeps employees safe and helps to reduce injuries, lost time, 
and litigation. Competency Training also provides the skills and abilities to enable employees to 
achieve higher job performance. This benefits the Department and Nevada’s citizens by providing a 
high-quality and safe transportation infrastructure.  This performance measure has a positive impact 
on all of the Department of Transportation’s Strategic Plan goals, especially: Optimize safety, be 
the employer of choice, deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, effectively preserve 
and manage our assets, and efficiently operate the transportation system. Both NAC and Division 
Matrix training are addressed by Training Section competency Training programs. 
 

3.  IMPROVE EMPLOYEE SATISFACTION 
Performance Measure: 
Percentage rating obtained from employees’ satisfaction surveys.  
 
Annual Target:  Overall rating 75% Ultimate Target:  Overall rating of 80%. 
 

Division(s) Responsible:  
Administrative Services- Human Resources Manager 

Support Divisions:  
All 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Positive employee morale is critical to the success of the workplace. It is the backbone of a skilled 
and dedicated workforce and essential in attracting and retaining a quality staff.  A satisfied 
workforce will excel at their duties.  This benefits the Department and our customers.  This 
performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals 
to: optimize safety, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, innovate, be the employer of 
choice, deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, effectively preserve and manage our 
assets, and efficiently operate the transportation system. 
 

4.  STREAMLINE AGREEMENT EXECUTION PROCESS 

Performance Measure:  
Percentage of Agreements executed within 30 days from when division submits agreement to the 
date when it is fully executed, excluding time the agreement is with the second party for signature 
or awaiting Transportation Board approval. 
Annual Target:  50% Ultimate Target:  90%. 
 

 

Item #12 Attachment A



156

 

 

Division(s) Responsible:    
Administrative Services- Asst. Director Administrative Services 
Administrative Services- Chief of Administrative Services 

Support Divisions:  
All (unless specific agreement types are looked at) 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Agreements are the core of all of our business practices, and must be completed prior to any action 
being taken.  A delay has a tremendous impact in the operations of the Department.  This 
performance measure works toward meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals 
as follows: Speeding up the agreement process will help deliver timely and beneficial projects and 
programs. It also assists with being responsive to our customers.   
 

5.  IMPROVE CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 
Performance Measure: 
Numerical ratings obtained from public opinion and customer/user surveys. 
Annual Target:  Annual increases in public opinion and customer/user ratings. 
Ultimate Target: Increases in public opinion and customer/user ratings.   

Division(s) Responsible:   
Communications Office- Chief of the Communications Office 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Public opinion and user (customer) surveys will assess public information and outreach activities, 
customer processes, and how well the Department is performing in the eyes of our customers.  This 
is important so we know that we are doing the right things to be transparent, accountable, and 
efficient.  This performance measure works toward meeting the Department of Transportation 
Strategic Plan goals to be in touch with and responsive to our customers. 
 

6. REDUCE AND MAINTAIN CONGESTION LEVELS ON THE 
STATE MAINTAINED ROADWAY SYSTEM 
Performance Measure:  
Urban roadways – Maintain congestion at Level Service of D for 85% of State urban roadways 
Rural roadways – Maintain congestion at Level of Service D for 90% of State rural roadways  
Definition of Level of Service D – Roadways operating at up to 8 miles per hour less than the Free 
Flow Speed or Posted Speed Limit, and the traffic carrying capacity of the roadway is less than 0.9.  
Ultimate Target: Reduce congestion by 1% per year to reach the ultimate target of 90% of State 
urban roadways at Level of Service D, and 95% of State rural roadways at Level of Service D  

Item #12 Attachment A



157

 

 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Traffic Information System – Chief Traffic Information System 
Performance Analysis – Chief Performance Analysis Engineer 
Traffic Operations – Chief Traffic Operations Engineer 

Support Divisions:   
Roadway Systems, Location, Maintenance and Asset Management 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure is one of the most important performance indicators of the NDOT 
maintained roadway system. It integrates the outcome of our overall investments into one measure 
that is a direct result of the collaborative efforts of the various divisions of NDOT. It will help 
reduce congestion and will help identify bottleneck locations on the NDOT maintained roadway 
system, which will be prioritized for improvements depending upon the funding and resources 
availability. It works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan to efficiently 
operate the transportation system by reducing the level of congestion and increasing safety. 
This Congestion Monitoring System will be an evolving process and will be updated regularly as 
more data is integrated into it from the RTC’s Freeways and Arterials System of Transportation, 
and the Washoe County’s future Traffic Management Center, Synchro models, and other sources as 
needed. 
 

7. STREAMLINE PROJECT DELIVERY: SCHEDULE AND 
ESTIMATE FROM BID OPENING TO CONSTRUCTION 
COMPLETION 
Performance Measure: 
Percentage of projects within established range of cost estimate and schedule to completion 
 
Annual Target:  80% Ultimate Target:  80% 
 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Construction- Chief Construction Engineer 

Support Divisions:  
All 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals by providing timely, beneficial construction projects.  This measure helps to optimize safety 
for road users, be in touch with and responsive to our customers (road users), and efficiently operate 
the transportation system. 

Item #12 Attachment A



158

 

 

 

8.  MAINTAIN STATE HIGHWAY PAVEMENT 

Performance Measure:  
Percentage of state maintained roadways in fair or better condition. 

 
Annual Target:  95% 

 
Ultimate Target:  100% 

Division(s) Responsible:  
Materials Division- Chief Materials Engineer 

Support Divisions:   
Materials, Maintenance & Asset Management, Construction, Design, Project Management, 
Performance Analysis and the Districts. 

Strategy Plan Support:   
Proactive pavement has a huge benefit in maximizing limited funds.  Being proactive instead of 
reactive is more cost effective (4:1) in utilizing transportation project dollars.  Pavement condition 
is also directly related to user vehicle maintenance and safety, and highway capacity.  This 
performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation’s Strategic Plan 
goals to: optimize safety and be in touch with and responsive to our customers by providing smooth, 
quality pavements. To effectively preserve and manage our assets is a goal supported by 
implementing the Department’s pavement preservation program.   
 

 
9.  MAINTAIN NDOT FLEET 
Performance Measures: 

1) Percentage of fleet requiring replacement – this measure is the percentage of the fleet that 
have reached the age or mileage that requires replacement. 

2) Percentage of fleet in compliance with condition criteria – this measure is the percentage of 
the fleet that is maintained as per Department preventive maintenance requirements so that 
the expected life span of our vehicles is not compromised.  As the fleet is maintained on the 
mileage and/or hourly requirements, compliance has been met.    

 
Annual Target:    
1) Declining Rate of 1% per year  
2) Increasing rate of 1% per year. 
 

 
Ultimate Target:   
1) 10%  
2) 95% rate of compliance for mileage/hourly 
requirements 

Item #12 Attachment A



159

 

 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Equipment Division- Equipment Superintendent 

Support Divisions:  
Districts, Divisions 

Strategy Plan Support: 
The vehicles in the fleet are important to deliver projects and maintain a safe highway system.  
Equipment in good condition ensures the ability to perform NDOT’s business practices and 
provides a safe and secure tool for staff.  These performance measures work towards meeting the 
Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to: Optimize safety, Be in touch with and 
responsive to our customers, Innovate, Be the employer of choice, Deliver timely and beneficial 
projects and programs, Effectively preserve and manage our assets, and Efficiently operate the 
transportation system. 
 

 
10.  MAINTAIN NDOT FACILITIES 
Performance Measure: 
Percent of facilities assessments completed and percent of facilities conditions and priority needs. 
 
Annual Target:  Increase by 3% Ultimate Target:  100%  

Division(s) Responsible:  
Maintenance and Operations- Chief Maintenance Operations Engineer 

Support Divisions:   
Districts, Administrative Services 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Facility Condition Analysis (FCA) reports will ensure our buildings comply with building and 
safety codes, are safe and properly maintained. Each Department owned and maintained facility will 
be evaluated on a seven year cycle. Completion of the priority work items will return the facility to 
normal operation, defer deterioration, correct fire/life safety hazard, or correct ADA requirements.  
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals to optimize safety, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, innovate, be the 
employer of choice, effectively preserve and manage our assets, and efficiently operate the 
transportation system. 

 
 

Item #12 Attachment A



160

 

 

11. EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT, SECURITY AND 
CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS 
Performance Measure: 
Percent of emergency plans that have been completed, training and education have been provided to 
appropriate personnel, the plans have been tested and exercised and the plan has been updated to 
accommodate changes in departmental processes, federal guidelines, etc.  Training and updates 
should be completed on a biennial basis.  Plans include: 
NDOT Homeland Security Plan  
NDOT Emergency Operations Plan 
Annual Target:  100% Ultimate Target:  100%  

Division(s) Responsible: 
Maintenance and Operations- Chief Maintenance Operations Engineer    

Support Divisions:   
All 

Strategy Plan Support: 
NDOT’s emergency plans provide clear guidance on how NDOT will continue to perform critical 
functions and operations in the event of an emergency or disaster.  Being prepared and ready for an 
emergency is paramount for keeping systems operating during such times, as well as being in a 
position to respond to health and safety issues.  This performance measure works towards meeting 
the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to:  

 Optimize Safety  
 Be in touch with and responsive to our customers 
 Innovate, 
 Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs,  
 Effectively preserve and manage our assets 
 Efficiently operate the transportation system 

 

12.  REDUCE FATAL CRASHES 
Performance Measure: 
Number of fatalities on Nevada’s streets and highways. 
 
Annual Target:  An average annual decrease of 
the five-year rolling average by 3.1% resulting 
in halving traffic fatalities and serious injuries 
by 2030.  

Ultimate Target:  Zero  

Item #12 Attachment A



161

 

 

Division(s) Responsible:   
Safety Division- Chief Traffic/Safety Engineer    

Support Divisions:   
All 

Strategy Plan Support: 
All drivers and highway system users should expect a safe highway system.  Through efforts of 
engineering, enforcement, education, emergency response and the will of the highway users, fatal 
crashes can be eliminated.  The strategies for this performance measure will be based on the Nevada 
Strategic Highway Safety Plan.  This performance measure also works towards meeting the 
Department of Transportation Strategic Plan goals to: Optimize safety, Be in touch with and 
responsive to our customers, Innovate, Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, 
Effectively preserve and manage our assets, and Efficiently operate the transportation system. 
 

13.  STREAMLINE PROJECT DELIVERY:  SCHEDULE AND 
ESTIMATE FOR BID ADVERTISEMENT  

Performance Measure: 

Percentage of scheduled projects advertised within the reporting year and within the established 
construction cost estimate range. 

Annual target: 70% 

Ultimate Target:  80% 

Division(s) Responsible: 
Project Management Division- Chief of Project Management 
Roadway Design Division- Chief Roadway Design Engineer 

Support Divisions:  
All units within the Department that are involved with project development. 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals to: Be in touch with and responsive to our customers, Deliver timely and beneficial projects 
and programs, Optimize safety and effectively preserve and manage our assets. Goals are met by: 

 Keeping NDOT customers appraised of project risks, opportunities, costs, scope and 
scheduling issues;  

 Implementing standards to improve communication, coordination, and decision making 
resulting in efficient delivery of projects;  

Item #12 Attachment A



162

 

 

 Focusing and managing available resources towards implementing projects that preserves 
NDOT’s assets, improves safety and relieves congestion. 
 

14.  MAINTAIN STATE BRIDGES 

Performance Measure: 
Number of Department owned bridges which are categorized as Structurally Deficient (SD) or 
Functionally Obsolete (FO). Base figure is 37 of 1045 bridges (State Highway Preservation Report 
– 2007. This base figure was established based on the federal eligibility requirements of the 
Highway Bridge Program (HBP) in effect at the time) 
 
Prior to MAP 21, eligibility and priority for funding projects under the HBP was based on a 
bridge’s Sufficiency Rating and other factors. The Sufficiency Rating is a numerical assessment of a 
bridge’s serviceability and is based on condition assessment inspection and inventory data. Its value 
varies from 0 to 100, with 100 representing no deficiencies. A bridge is eligible for replacement 
when its Sufficiency Rating is less than 50 and is eligible for rehabilitation when its Sufficiency 
Rating is less than 80. In addition to meeting the Sufficiency Rating requirement, a bridge must also 
be classified as either Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete. A bridge is considered 
Structurally Deficient when key elements reach an established level of deterioration. A bridge is 
considered Functionally Obsolete when it no longer adequately serves the road it carries. 
 
Annual Target:  Replace or Rehabilitate at least one Department owned structurally deficient or 
functionally obsolete bridge. The goal is evaluated based on the contracts awarded in a given year.  
Ultimate Target:   Zero  

Division(s) Responsible:  
Structures Division- Chief Structures Engineer   

Support Divisions:  
Design, Project Management, and Districts 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals to: Optimize safety, Innovate, Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, and 
effectively preserve and manage our assets.  These goals can be met in the following ways:  Safety 
for the motoring public will be optimized by replacing structurally deficient and rehabilitating 
functionally obsolete bridges.  The Structures Division will seek and implement innovative 
solutions to the challenges faced by the Bridge Program.  The Division will deliver timely and 
beneficial bridge projects and programs.  Meeting this performance measure will help effectively 
preserve and manage Department assets. 
 

15.  STREAMLINE PERMITTING PROCESS 

Item #12 Attachment A



163

 

 

Performance Measure: 
Percentage of permits issued or rejected within 45 days of receipt. 
 

Annual Target:  95% Ultimate Target:  95%  

Division(s) Responsible:  
Right of Way Division- Chief of Right of Way 

Support Divisions: 
Districts, Project Management, Design, Traffic/Safety and Others as needed 

Strategy Plan Support: 
Every encroachment to connect or work on state right of way requires a permit.  This is a large area 
of our customer service.  We must be assured the impact to the system is safe and will not 
negatively compromise the system, but we must meet the customer’s needs for a timely response for 
their economic development.  The majority of permits are relatively simple; however some are very 
complicated and require an extended technical review, thus the reason for the goal being less than 
100. This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic 
Plan goals to optimize safety, be in touch with and responsive to our customers, innovate, and 
deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs. 

  

 

 

 Focusing and managing available resources towards implementing projects that preserves 
NDOT’s assets, improves safety and relieves congestion. 
 

14.  MAINTAIN STATE BRIDGES 

Performance Measure: 
Number of Department owned bridges which are categorized as Structurally Deficient (SD) or 
Functionally Obsolete (FO). Base figure is 37 of 1045 bridges (State Highway Preservation Report 
– 2007. This base figure was established based on the federal eligibility requirements of the 
Highway Bridge Program (HBP) in effect at the time) 
 
Prior to MAP 21, eligibility and priority for funding projects under the HBP was based on a 
bridge’s Sufficiency Rating and other factors. The Sufficiency Rating is a numerical assessment of a 
bridge’s serviceability and is based on condition assessment inspection and inventory data. Its value 
varies from 0 to 100, with 100 representing no deficiencies. A bridge is eligible for replacement 
when its Sufficiency Rating is less than 50 and is eligible for rehabilitation when its Sufficiency 
Rating is less than 80. In addition to meeting the Sufficiency Rating requirement, a bridge must also 
be classified as either Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete. A bridge is considered 
Structurally Deficient when key elements reach an established level of deterioration. A bridge is 
considered Functionally Obsolete when it no longer adequately serves the road it carries. 
 
Annual Target:  Replace or Rehabilitate at least one Department owned structurally deficient or 
functionally obsolete bridge. The goal is evaluated based on the contracts awarded in a given year.  
Ultimate Target:   Zero  

Division(s) Responsible:  
Structures Division- Chief Structures Engineer   

Support Divisions:  
Design, Project Management, and Districts 

Strategy Plan Support: 
This performance measure works towards meeting the Department of Transportation Strategic Plan 
goals to: Optimize safety, Innovate, Deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs, and 
effectively preserve and manage our assets.  These goals can be met in the following ways:  Safety 
for the motoring public will be optimized by replacing structurally deficient and rehabilitating 
functionally obsolete bridges.  The Structures Division will seek and implement innovative 
solutions to the challenges faced by the Bridge Program.  The Division will deliver timely and 
beneficial bridge projects and programs.  Meeting this performance measure will help effectively 
preserve and manage Department assets. 
 

15.  STREAMLINE PERMITTING PROCESS 

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



165

APPENDIX D

Item #12 Attachment A



Item #12 Attachment A



167

LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND 
VISITORS AUTHORITY

FUNDED PROJECTS

Item #12 Attachment A



168

 

 

NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 LAS VEGAS CONVENTION AND VISITORS AUTHORITY FUNDED PROJECTS 

Information as of August 19, 2014 
  

       Summary of AB595 bonding revenues programmed or scheduled to date: 
 

        Budget Account 4665 Rev Code 4118 - AB595 LVCVA Bond Reimb. Received to Date: $278,785,223 
  

     
  

* Projects Programmed (P); Scheduled (S); Contract Price (C):   

  
     

  

  
 

PCEMS 
# EA # Location Description Amount 

  (A) 1-03323 73389 

I 15 from I 215 to Sahara 
Interchange.  "Gap Project" 

Construct Express Lanes 
(Widen from 8 to 10 Lanes). 

$21,002,679  

  (C) 1-03344 60405 

I 15 From Blue Diamond 
Road (SR 160) to Tropicana 
Avenue (SR 593).  Design-
Build South 

Capacity Improvements, 
New Ramps and Collector-
Distributor Roads. 

$246,820,948  

  (P) 1-03344 73423 

I 15 From Blue Diamond 
Road (SR 160) to Tropicana 
Avenue (SR 593).  Design-
Build South 

Capacity Improvements, 
New Ramps and Collector-
Distributor Roads. 

$10,961,595  

  

   
 
 
(S) 7-03007 73824 

SR 593, Tropicana Avenue, 
from CL 0.49 to CL 0.65; 
SR 604, Las Vegas Blvd, 
CL 37.99 to CL 38.11 

Tropicana pedestrian bridge 
escalators replacement: 
Remove and replace sixteen 
escalators  

 
 
 

$17,727,550  

  

                                                                                                       
                                                               Total                          $298,512,773                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                       
Note: Bond Revenue to be reimbursed upon NDOT expenditure & billing.                                                            

  
     

  

  
 

 

  
 

 

              

 

Item #12 Attachment A



Brian Sandoval
Governor

Rudy Malfabon, P.E.
Director

Prepared by the
Performance Analysis Division

NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
1263 SOUTH STEWART STREET

CARSON CITY, NV 89712
www.nevadadot.com

Item #12 Attachment A



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 December 2, 2014 
TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 

FROM: Rudy Malfabon, Director 
SUBJECT: December 15, 2014 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #13: Briefing on the Draft February 2015 State Highway Preservation Report – 

Informational item only 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary: 
 
Pursuant to NRS 408.203 which states, “The Director of the Nevada Department of 
Transportation shall report to the Legislature by February 1 of odd-numbered years the progress 
being made in the Department’s 12-year plan for the resurfacing of state highways.  The report 
must include an accounting of revenues  and expenditures in the preceding two fiscal years, a 
list of the projects which have been completed, including mileage and cost, and an estimate of 
the adequacy of projected revenues for timely completion of the plan.” 
 
NDOT would like to brief the Transportation Board of Directors on this report before officially 
submitting it to the Legislature. 
 
The pavement portion of this document has changed from years past, it is now being written by 
the Materials Division in lieu of Performance Analysis.  This change was made since part of the 
charge of The Materials Division is to document the state of the condition of Nevada’s highways. 
 
The major components of this report include: 
 

• Executive Summary 
• Pavement Preservation Data and Summaries 
• Backlog Need 
• Pavement Preservation Action Plan 
• Bridge Preservation Data and Summaries 
• Bridge Preservation Action Plan 
• Detailed Charts and Tables  

 
To preserve the existing highway and bridge system at its current condition, NDOT will need to 
spend $323 million annually on pavement preservation and $15 million annually on bridge 
preservation.  Currently, there are 1,280 miles of deficient pavements that would cost $661.9 
million to repair, and 34 bridges (15 NDOT, 19 non-NDOT) that are currently structurally 
deficient with $119 million needed to address this bridge work. These amounts are needed to 
eliminate both pavement and bridge calculated backlogs to meet current goals. 
 
The backlog has been increasing over the years primarily due to the fact that the State’s annual 
increasing pavement and bridge preservation needs far outweigh the current federal and state 
highway fund revenues. 

 
  

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 



Background:  
 
NDOT’s pavement network is comprised of 5,393 centerline miles and is classified into 5 
different categories by the amount of truck traffic they carry (equivalent single axel load or 
ESAL), average daily traffic volumes (average daily traffic or ADT) and guidelines given to us by 
the Federal Highway Administration.  NDOT’s approach to maintaining each category is 
different since we believe the more traveled roadways should be held to a higher standard. 
 
The five categories are: 
 

1. Controlled Access Roads – I15, I80, I515 and I580 
2. ADT over 10,000 and ESALS > 540 – SR146 St. Rose Parkway, US50 in Carson City, 

SR227 in Elko 
3. 1,600<ADT<10,000, 540>ESALS>405 and NHS – SR157 Kyle Canyon Road, SR28 

Lake Tahoe, SR 225 in Elko 
4. 400<ADT<1,600, 405>ESAL>270 – SR158 Deer Creek Road, SR206 Foothill Road, 

SR228 Jiggs Highway  
5. ADT<500 

 
There are 1,952 bridges in our inventory, with NDOT maintaining 1,154, the counties and cities 
maintaining 733, other local agencies maintaining 49, private entities maintaining 10 and other 
state agencies maintaining 6.  Of these bridges, 1578 bridges being in good condition (81%), 
314 bridges are in fair condition (16%), 24 bridges are in poor condition (1%).  Comparing these 
numbers with the previous year’s inspection, “good” bridges increased by 6% and fair bridge 
condition has decreased by 3% and poor condition bridges remain the same.  
 
Analysis: 
 
Pavement: 

 
The pavement condition rating system NDOT uses to characterize our highways is 
called the Present Serviceability Index or PSI.  This system measures anything that will 
affect smoothness; cracking, raveling, rutting and potholes.  PSI numbers range 
between 1 and 5, with 5 being new pavement and 1 being failed.     
 

Bridge: 
 

Bridges are managed using the National Bridge Inventory as outlined by the Federal  
Highway Administration.  Bridge serviceability is characterized by the use of a numerical 
evaluation called the Sufficiency Rating.  The Sufficiency Rating is used to assess the 
overall condition of a bridge and assists in the prioritization of bridge preservation efforts.  
Sufficiency Ratings vary from 0 to 100.  A 100 Sufficiency Rating represents a bridge 
with no deficiencies.   
 

List of Attachments: 
 

A. Draft February 2015 State Highway Preservation Report  
 
Recommendation for Board Action: 
 
Informational Item Only. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Reid Kaiser, Assistant Director, Operations 
 



N
EV

AD
A 

DE
PA

RT
M

EN
T 

O
F 

TR
AN

SP
O

RT
AT

IO
N

STATE
HIGHWAY
PRESERVATION
REPORT

February 2015

DRAFT

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

State of Nevada 
Department of Transportation 

 

 

 

 

State Highway Preservation Report 
 

 

 

 Report to the 2015 Legislature 
 As Required by Nevada Revised Statute 408.203 (3) 
 

 

 

 
February 2015 

(Biennium 2013-2014) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nevada Revised Statute 408.203(3) 
 
 

The director of the Nevada Department of Transportation shall report to the 
Legislature by February 1 of odd-numbered years the progress being made in the 
Department's 12-year plan for the resurfacing of state highways.  The report must 
include an accounting of revenues and expenditures in the preceding two fiscal 
years, a list of the projects which have been completed, including mileage and cost, 
and an estimate of the adequacy of projected revenues for timely completion of the 
plan. 

 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
State of Nevada 

Department of Transportation 
 

 
Mission 

 
The Department provides a better transportation system for Nevada through unified 
and dedicated efforts. 

 
 

Vision 
 

The Department is the nation’s leader in delivering transportation solutions, 
improving Nevada’s quality of life.  
 

 
Values 

 
The efforts of Department employees to attain the Department goals will be governed 
by the following Department’s Core Values:  
 
 Integrity – Doing the right thing 

Honesty – Being truthful in our actions and our words 
Respect – Treating others with dignity 
Commitment – Putting the needs of the Department first 
Accountability – Being responsible for our actions 

 
 

Goals 
 
The fulfillment of the Mission of the Department is to be attained within the guidelines 
of the Department’s seven Strategic Plan Goals.   They are: 
 

To optimize safety  
To be in touch with and responsive to our customers 
To innovate 
To be the employer of choice 
To deliver timely and beneficial projects and programs 
To effectively preserve and manage our assets 
To efficiently operate the transportation system  

 
 

 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Table of Contents 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................................................................. 1 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION SYNOPSIS ................................................................................. 2 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION SYNOPSIS ....................................................................................... 5 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION .......................................................................................................... 8 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................... 8 

THE PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM .............................................................................. 8 

ROADWAY NETWORK INVENTORY ......................................................................................... 8 

PAVEMENT CONDITION RATING SYSTEM ............................................................................ 12 

PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE AND REHABILITATION STRATEGIES .................................... 16 

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE ............................................................................................... 19 

COSTS OF CONSTRUCTION ................................................................................................... 26 

PAVEMENT CONDITION ........................................................................................................... 28 

PAVEMENT CONDITION GOAL ................................................................................................ 45 

BACKLOG OF PAVEMENT REHABILITATION WORK ............................................................ 47 

ADEQUACY OF PAVEMENT PRESERVATION FUNDS ......................................................... 49 

PROGRESS IN THE 12-YEAR PLAN FOR RESURFACING OF STATE HIGHWAYS ........... 50 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION SUMMARY ............................................................................... 52 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION .............................................................................................................. 55 

INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................................... 55 

THE BRIDGE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM ................................................................................... 55 

BRIDGE INVENTORY ................................................................................................................ 55 

BRIDGE CONDITION REPORTING .......................................................................................... 55 

BRIDGE CONDITION OVER TIME ............................................................................................ 67 

THE COST OF BRIDGE CLOSURE FOR OWNERS ................................................................ 70 

PROJECT PRIORITIZATION ..................................................................................................... 70 

STATE BRIDGE PRESERVATION FUNDING .......................................................................... 71 

BIENNIAL EXPENDITURES FOR FISCAL YEARS 2013 TO 2014 ......................................... 71 

BACKLOG OF BRIDGE PRESERVATION WORK ................................................................... 72 

PRESENT FUNDING VERSUS NEEDED FUNDING ............................................................... 73 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION ACTION PLAN ............................................................................... 76 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION SUMMARY ..................................................................................... 76 

 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

List of Figures 
 
FIGURE E1. Future State-maintained Roadway Network Funding Options .................................. 4 

FIGURE E2. Anticipated Costs, Funds and Backlog of Bridge Preservation Work ............................. 7 

FIGURE 1. Roadway Network Inventory Identified by Road Prioritization Categories ................ 10 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition.................................... 13 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition (Continued) ............... 14 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition (Continued) ............... 15 

FIGURE 3. Timing for Repair Strategies Based on PSI Rating System ....................................... 17 

FIGURE 4. Timing for Proactive and Reactive Pavement Rehabilitation Expenditures .............. 18 

FIGURE 5. Funding Sources and Construction Expenditures ...................................................... 20 

FIGURE 6. Fiscal Year 2013 Project Locations ............................................................................ 24 

FIGURE 7. Fiscal Year 2014 Project Locations ............................................................................ 25 

FIGURE 8. Average of Construction Cost Indices from Caltrans, CDOT, and UDOT ....................... 27 

FIGURE 9. Roadway Network Inventory Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ........... 29 

FIGURE 10. Road Prioritization Category 1 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ..... 30 

FIGURE 11. Road Prioritization Category 2 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ..... 31 

FIGURE 12. Road Prioritization Category 3 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ..... 32 

FIGURE 13. Road Prioritization Category 4 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ..... 33 

FIGURE 14. Road Prioritization Category 5 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ..... 34 

FIGURE 15. Average PSI and Expenditures for Roadway Network ............................................ 37 

FIGURE 16. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 1 .............................................. 38 

FIGURE 17. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 2 .............................................. 39 

FIGURE 18. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 3 .............................................. 40 

FIGURE 19. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 4 .............................................. 41 

FIGURE 20. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 5 .............................................. 42 

FIGURE 21. Change in Pavement Condition Over Time Based on Repair Strategies ................ 43 

FIGURE 22. Percentage of Miles per Road Category and Pavement Condition ......................... 46 

FIGURE 24. Future State-maintained Roadway Network Funding Options ...................................... 52 

FIGURE 25. Substandard Bridges ................................................................................................... 59 

FIGURE 26A. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges ....................... 60 

FIGURE 26B. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges ....................... 61 

FIGURE 26C. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges ....................... 62 

FIGURE 26D. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges ....................... 63 

FIGURE 26E. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges ....................... 64 

FIGURE 27. Nevada Bridge Conditions ........................................................................................... 66 

FIGURE 28. NDOT Bridges, Decade of Construction ....................................................................... 67 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 29. NDOT Bridge Conditions over Time ............................................................................. 68 

FIGURE 30. Structurally Deficient NDOT Bridges over Time ........................................................... 68 

FIGURE 31. Non-NDOT Bridge Conditions over Time ..................................................................... 69 

FIGURE 32. Structurally Deficient Non-NDOT Bridges over Time .................................................... 69 

FIGURE 33. Number of 50 Year Old Bridges by Decade ................................................................. 74 

FIGURE 34. Anticipated Costs, Funds and Backlog of Bridge Preservation Work ............................ 76 

 
List of Tables 
 
TABLE 1. NDOT’s Road Prioritization Categories .......................................................................... 9 

TABLE 2. Comparison of the USDOT and NDOT Road Classification Systems ......................... 11 

TABLE 3. Advertised Pavement Repair Work for Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014........................... 21 

TABLE 4. List of Rehabilitation Projects Advertised in Fiscal Year 2013 ..................................... 22 

TABLE 5. List of Rehabilitation Projects Advertised in Fiscal Year 2014 ..................................... 23 

TABLE 6. *PSI Pavement Condition by Road Prioritization Category .......................................... 28 

TABLE 7. District Pavement Condition Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ............. 35 

TABLE 8. County Pavement Condition Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) ............ 36 

TABLE 9. *Pavement Condition Based on Road Categories and Type of Repair Work ............. 44 

TABLE 10. Pavement Condition Versus Established Goal by Road Category ............................ 45 

TABLE 11. Backlog of Pavement Rehabilitation Work .................................................................. 48 

TABLE 12. Adequacy of Pavement Preservation Funds .............................................................. 50 

TABLE 13. Bridge Expenditures in Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014 ................................................. 72 

TABLE 14. Numbers of Bridges Rehabilitated, Replaced, or Seismically Retrofitted in Fiscal 

Years 2013 and 2014 ..................................................................................................................... 72 

TABLE 15. Backlog of Bridge Work, State Bridges 2015 ............................................................. 73 

TABLE 16. Anticipated Bridge Backlog, Costs, and Funds .......................................................... 75 

 
 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 

The Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) publishes the State Highway 

Preservation Report biennially to summarize the work performed and anticipated workload 

required to preserve the state-maintained roadway network and bridge infrastructure assets. 

This report provides the Nevada Legislature with 2013-2014 information that can be used to 

determine whether future revenues are adequate to maintain and preserve the infrastructure 

assets at a feasible and acceptable level. 

 

NDOT is responsible for maintaining 5,393 centerline miles of roads and 1,154 bridges. 

Although the state-maintained roadway network consists of only 20% of the roads in 

Nevada, the network is overwhelmingly important as 50% of all automobile traffic and 72% 

of all heavy truck traffic travel on these roads. 

 

The shortage of highway preservation funding is not new or even unique to Nevada. 

Transportation infrastructure funding, including highway preservation funding, is in short 

supply nationwide. The only dedicated highway revenue source in Nevada is fuel tax, which 

was last increased in 1992. The Nevada Legislature has recognized the need to invest in 

transportation and passed legislation that generated additional highway revenue from 

sources such as property taxes and room taxes. A safe, efficient, and reliable roadway 

network is important, and it promotes the general welfare of all the people in the State of 

Nevada. Adequate preservation funding is necessary since deteriorated roads and bridges 

can impede the general economic and social progress of the State. Investment in 

infrastructure will boost market economy, advance travel and trade, and provide a legacy 

from which future generations can prosper. 

 

Pavement preservation and bridge preservation for fiscal years 2013 and 2014 were both 

analyzed and presented in this report. Major findings and conclusions are summarized in 

Pavement Preservation Synopsis and Bridge Preservation Synopsis. 

1 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION SYNOPSIS 
NDOT’s Pavement Management System (PMS) is used to maintain and improve the 

condition of the entire state-maintained roadway network. This network consists of a 

5,393 mile inventory that is classified into five separate road prioritization categories. 

Each road prioritization category consists of pavements that share similar rates of 

deterioration and require similar timing for maintenance and rehabilitation repair work. 

The pavement in each road prioritization category is objectively rated and quantified 

using the Present Serviceability Index (PSI) pavement condition rating system. This 

rating system is divided into six sections that correspond to pavement in very good, 

good, fair, mediocre, poor, and very poor or failed condition.  

 

Various maintenance and rehabilitation repair strategies are constructed to improve 

pavement condition. Maintenance repair strategies include work such as chip seals, 

filling potholes, and patching. Rehabilitation repair strategies include work such as 

asphalt overlays and recycling methods. The cost and construction timing for the 

various repair strategies are significantly different and contingent on the pavement 

condition at the time of the repair. There is a significant cost saving when pavement is 

proactively rehabilitated in fair condition as compared to reactively reconstructed in very 

poor condition. Repair work costs as much as six times more for major reconstruction 

when pavement is in very poor or failed condition as compared to the less invasive 

rehabilitation techniques that can be used when pavement is in fair or better condition.  

 

A $270M expenditure was invested for maintenance and rehabilitation repair work in 

fiscal years 2013 and 2014. This expenditure included $182M investment of federal 

funds, $85M investment of state funds, and $2M investment of funds from other 

sources. Over $241M of repair work was contracted out to private contractors and $28M 

of repair work was performed by NDOT Maintenance personnel. The $241M of 

contracted repair work restored 392 miles of pavement to acceptable condition levels. 

Maintenance repair work was accomplished on 274 miles of pavement, and 

rehabilitation repair work was constructed on 118 miles of pavement. 

 

The PSI pavement condition rating for each road prioritization category was presented.  

This rating system was used to determine if long-term pavement preservation 

2 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

expenditures were adequate enough to maintain or improve the roadway network to 

acceptable condition levels. Long-term funding has not been adequate. It is anticipated 

that the overall average condition of the state-maintained roadway network will 

deteriorate from fair condition into mediocre condition within the near future. 

 

A pavement condition goal was established to provide a measure of the effectiveness of 

the maintenance and rehabilitation repair work constructed on state roads. The goal to 

maintain a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition was approved for each 

road prioritization category. Only road prioritization categories 1, 2, and 3 currently 

exceed the established pavement condition goal. The goal was not met for road 

prioritization categories 4 and 5 roads. 

 

The backlog of pavement rehabilitation work was calculated for the roadway network.            

The amount of funds necessary to eliminate the total backlog of pavement rehabilitation 

work was estimated at $661.9M. Included in the $661.9M backlog is 1,280 miles of 

deficient pavement with estimated costs for repair work that range from $0.5M to $0.6M 

per mile. The backlog was determined using the established condition goal to maintain 

a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. Although the current backlog is 

lower than previously reported estimates, its significance is not less noteworthy. 

 

An estimate of the adequacy of projected revenues for the timely completion of the 

resurfacing plan was ascertained. Projected revenues were not adequate and an 

additional expenditure of $191M is required each year in addition to the long-term 

average expenditure of $132M per year. Projected revenue of $323M is required each 

year to maintain the roadway network at 2014 PSI pavement condition levels. The 

$323M per year expenditure does not include the funds necessary to reduce the 

$661.9M backlog of pavement rehabilitation work. 

 

The progress in the 12-year plan for resurfacing of state highways was examined and 

three different budget scenarios were investigated. The investigation included the 

comparison of the predicted percentage of roads in fair or better condition for years 

2015 through 2028 with three different budget scenarios of $132M, $323M, and $378M 

per year expenditures for pavement preservation repair work.  

 
3 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 The first budget scenario included an average $132M per year expenditure for 

pavement preservation repair work since this budget is the actual average 

expenditure for pavement preservation work from 2009 through 2014. The $132M 

per year budget scenario would result in the average percentage of roads in fair or 

better condition to deteriorate from 75% to less than 50% of roads in fair or better 

condition by the year 2028. Moreover, the $661.9M backlog of pavement 

rehabilitation work would substantially increase over time. 

 The second budget scenario consisted of an average $323M per year expenditure 

for pavement preservation repair work. The $323M per year budget scenario would 

result in a stagnant pavement condition of 75% of roads in fair or better condition 

for years 2015 through 2028. Furthermore, the backlog of rehabilitation work would 

not be reduced or eliminated.  

 The third budget scenario contained an average $378M per year expenditure for 

pavement preservation repair work through the year 2026. The $378M per year 

budget scenario would incrementally improve the condition of the entire roadway 

network from 75% to 95% of roads in fair or better condition. Additionally, the 

backlog of pavement rehabilitation work would be completely eliminated. FIGURE 

E1 illustrates the comparison of the predicted percentage of roads in fair or better 

condition with three different funding options including $132M, $323M, and $378M 

per year expenditures for pavement preservation repair work.  

$132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132

$191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191

$55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Pe
rc

en
tag

e o
f R

oa
ds

 in
 Fa

ir o
r B

ett
er

 C
on

dit
ion

Fu
nd

s i
n M

illi
on

s 

YEAR

$132M

$323M

$378M

$323M

GOAL

 
FIGURE E1. Future State-maintained Roadway Network Funding Options 

4 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION SYNOPSIS 
The Nevada Department of Transportation is responsible for inspecting and reporting the 

condition of all the bridges open to the public in Nevada, except bridges on federal lands.  

There are currently 1,952 public bridges in NDOT bridge inventory.  NDOT maintains 1,154 

bridges; county and city governments maintain 733 bridges; other local agencies maintain 

49 bridges; private entities maintain 10 bridges; and other state agencies maintain 6 bridges.  

The bridge inventory data, together with other factors, allow NDOT to identify preservation 

priorities and monitor the state’s effort to maintain bridges in a structurally sound, functional, 

and safe condition. 

 

The “Sufficiency Rating” is a numerical rating used to assess the overall condition of a 

bridge and assists in the prioritization of bridge preservation efforts.  Generally, bridges with 

Sufficiency Ratings more than 80 are considered “good”, ratings of between 50 and 80 can 

be considered “fair”, and ratings less than 50 are considered “poor”.  Of the 1154 bridges 

maintained by NDOT, only 7 or 0.6% have a Sufficiency Rating less than 50 and are 

considered to be in poor condition. 

 

Structures with low condition or load ratings may be classified as “Structurally Deficient.”  

Structurally Deficient bridges are not necessarily unsafe or dangerous.  Rather, these 

bridges become a priority for corrective measures, and may be posted to restrict the weight 

of vehicles using them.  If a deficiency is determined to be severe, or the load carrying 

capacity is extremely low, the bridge would be closed to protect the travelling public. Of the 

bridges maintained by NDOT, only 15 or 1.3% are considered to be Structurally Deficient. 

 

Currently, Nevada bridge conditions compare very favorably to the bridge conditions in many 

other states, even though more than half of NDOT’s bridges are over 40 years old.  

However, since older bridges generally have a useful service life of about 50 years, many of 

NDOT’s bridges will require more rehabilitation and replacement in the near future.   

 

When bridges deteriorate and require closure, the resulting detours can be very disruptive to 

traffic.  In both rural and urban bridge closures, the user costs due to travel delays or 

additional crashes will often be quite significant until the bridge is reconstructed or repaired.  

User costs due to delay or crashes can be in the hundreds of thousands of dollars per day.  

The importance of bridge maintenance and rehabilitation cannot be overemphasized. 
5 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

The Nevada Department of Transportation spent a total of approximately $33 million in fiscal 

years 2013 and 2014 on bridge preservation.  NDOT spending for bridge preservation the 

previous two years was approximately $22 million total.  The increased spending on bridge 

corrective maintenance, rehabilitation, seismic retrofit, and replacement the last two fiscal 

years decreased the backlog of bridge work by over $5 million.  However, decreases in 

funding are expected to reduce future bridge preservation funding below the current need of 

approximately $15 million a year to about $11 million a year. 

 

While the anticipated decrease in bridge preservation funding will increase the backlog of 

bridge work, a much greater funding deficiency is likely to occur because of the age of 

NDOT’s bridges.  Many of NDOT’s bridges are approaching the end of their useful life and 

the need for bridge preservation funds is expected to increase greatly over the next decade.  

The majority of the increase in bridge preservation funds needed is an increase in the 

replacement of old bridges.  

 

Since NDOT already has 339 bridges over 50 years old, the current practice of replacing 

approximately 1 bridge a year is a replacement rate of less than 0.3% of the bridges over 50 

years old.  A replacement rate of 2% a year necessary to replace the bridges over 50 years 

old bridges before they reach 100 years old.  If a 2% annual replacement rate is reached in 

ten years and is maintained for another ten years the number of bridges over 50 years old 

will begin to stabilize.  Twenty years from now NDOT would have approximately 580 bridges 

over 50 years old and would be replacing 12 bridges each year.   

 

NDOT’s current backlog of bridge preservation work is approximately $119 million.  Under 

the current funding plan, the $119 million backlog is expected to gradually increase to $338 

million in FY 2027.  Increased spending in bridge corrective maintenance, rehabilitation, and 

replacement is necessary to preserve NDOT’s bridge assets and to avoid costly bridge 

closures and emergency bridge replacements. 

 

If bridge preservation spending is increased to match the forecast costs shown in FIGURE 

E2, the current backlog of bridge work can be maintained.  If the funding is gradually 

increased as shown over the next ten years, the forecast bridge preservation cost is 

expected to level off at approximately $48 million per year.  

 
6 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 

11.4 11.4 11.4 11.9 12.3 12.8 13.3 13.9 14.4 15.0 15.6 16.215.1 17.6 18.3 21.2 26.5 29.7 33.2 36.7 40.3 44.1 48.0 47.6

119.1 122.8 129.0 135.9 
145.3 

159.4 
176.3 

196.1 

218.9 

244.9 

274.0 

306.4 

337.8 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

C
os

ts
, F

un
ds

, a
nd

 B
ac

kl
og

 in
 M

ill
io

ns
 

Fiscal  Year

Anticipated Funds Forecast Costs Backlog

 

FIGURE E2. Anticipated Costs, Funds and Backlog of Bridge Preservation Work 

7 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION 
 

INTRODUCTION 
The Nevada Department of Transportation's (NDOT’s) effort to preserve the state-

maintained roadway network is summarized in this report. This roadway network 

consists of only 20% of the roads in Nevada. However, the roadway network is 

overwhelmingly important and considered to be one of the state’s most valuable assets. 

Approximately 50% of all traffic and 72% of all heavy trucks travel on state-maintained 

roads. The following discussion will explain how NDOT uses its available pavement 

preservation funds to maintain and rehabilitate the roadway network for the benefit of all 

Nevadans. 

  

THE PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
The Pavement Management System (PMS) includes the entire inventory of the state’s 

existing pavement assets and condition. The primary objective of the PMS is to maintain 

and improve the condition of the roadway network while maximizing pavement 

performance through the practical use of available funds. NDOT’s management of the 

pavement inventory allows maintenance and rehabilitation repair work to be prioritized 

in an objective and systematic manner. The PMS improves the efficiency of decision 

making, provides assessment on the consequences of decisions through comparative 

analysis, and ensures consistency of network and project level activities and results. 

 

ROADWAY NETWORK INVENTORY 
The state-maintained roadway network consists of 5,393 centerline miles of roads. 

Centerline miles are miles that indicate the length of the road, regardless of the number 

of lanes within each mile. In order to effectively manage 5,393 miles of roads, the 

roadway network is classified into five separate road prioritization categories.                   

These road categories are based on heavy truck equivalent single axle loads (ESALs), 

average daily traffic (ADT), and federal guidelines for highway classification 

descriptions. The roads within each category have similar in-place pavement 

thicknesses, similar rates of deterioration, and similar timing for maintenance and 

rehabilitation repair work.  

 

8 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

TABLE 1 lists the five separate road prioritization categories and corresponding 

descriptions. Also listed are several examples of easily recognized roads throughout the 

state to assist with understanding the significance of the descriptions. Additionally,    

FIGURE 1 is a map that highlights the state-maintained roadway network inventory 

identified by NDOT’s five road prioritization categories.  

 

TABLE 1. NDOT’s Road Prioritization Categories 

Road 
Prioritization 

Category 
1Description Examples 

1 Controlled Access Roads 

 
IR015, Clark County 
IR580, Washoe County 
IR080, Elko County 
 

2 

 
ESAL > 540 

or 
ADT > 10,000 

 

 
SR146, St. Rose Parkway, Clark County 
US050, Lincoln Highway, Carson City 
SR227, Fifth Street, Elko County 

3 

 
540 ≥ ESAL > 405 

or 
1,600 < ADT ≤ 10,000 + NHS 

 

 
SR157, Kyle Canyon Road, Clark County 
SR028, Lake Tahoe Area, Douglas County 
SR225, West Urban Limits of Elko, Elko County 

4 

 
405 ≥ ESAL > 270 

or 
400 < ADT ≤ 1,600 

 

 
SR158, Deer Creek Road, Clark County 
SR206, Foothill Road/Genoa Lane, Douglas County 
SR228, Jiggs Road, Elko County 

5 ADT ≤ 400 

 
SR156, Lee Canyon Road, Clark County 
SR121, Dixie Valley Road, Churchill County 
SR229, Secret Pass Road, Elko County 
 

1ESAL is an acronym for “Equivalent Single Axle Load.” This engineering concept is the basis for the  
method used to quantify the standard loading of trucks and count the heavy trucks that travel on roads.  
ADT is an acronym for “Average Daily Traffic.” The PMS includes the ADT data, as provided by NDOT’s 
Traffic Division, for every road in the state-maintained roadway network.  
NHS is an acronym for the “National Highway System.” The NHS consists of roads important to the  
nation’s economy, defense, and mobility as defined by the United States Department of Transportation. 

9 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 1. Roadway Network Inventory Identified by Road Prioritization Categories 

10 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

There are numerous methods used to classify roads. The United States Department of 

Transportation (USDOT) classifies roads for national purposes, and every state 

department of transportation classifies road inventory using methods that complement 

each unique PMS. TABLE 2 compares the USDOT’s method for classifying roads with 

NDOT’s method for classifying roads as described in TABLE 1. This comparison was 

developed so that individuals familiar with national classification terminology can 

correlate the associated NDOT road prioritization categories.      
 

TABLE 2. Comparison of the USDOT and NDOT Road Classification Systems    

USDOT’s  
Functional 

Classification 
Category 

Description Examples 
NDOT’s  

Road  
Prioritization 

Category 

1 Interstate 
Interstates are the highest classification of 
arterials and were designed and constructed 
with mobility and long-distance travel in 
mind. 

1 

2 

Principal 
Arterial – Other 
Freeways and 
Expressways 

The roads in this classification have 
directional travel lanes and are usually 
separated by some type of physical barrier. 
Access and egress points are limited to on-
ramp and off-ramp locations, or a very 
limited number of at-grade intersections. 

1 and 2 

3 Principal 
Arterial - Other 

The roads in this classification serve major 
centers of metropolitan areas, provide a high 
degree of mobility, and can also provide 
mobility through rural areas. 

2 

4 Minor Arterial Minor arterials link cities, larger towns, and 
other traffic generators such as resorts. 3 and 4 

5 Major Collector 

Major collector roads provide service to any 
county seat not on an arterial route, to the 
larger towns not directly served by higher 
systems, and to traffic generators of 
equivalent intra-county importance such as 
shipping points, parks, important mining, 
agricultural areas, and more. 

4 and 5 

6 Minor Collector 
Minor collectors distribute and channel trips 
between local roads and arterials, usually 
over a distance of less than three-quarters of 
a mile. 

*Not  
Applicable 

7 Local 
Local roads are not intended for use in long 
distance travel, except at the origin or 
destination end of the trip, due to their 
provision of direct access to abutting land. 

*Not 
Applicable 

*Nevada’s state-maintained roadway network serves the broad expanse within the state’s boundaries. 
Several USDOT classifications are developed to describe local county and city roads that are limited for 
use in long distance travel and do not encompass the types of roads for which NDOT is responsible. 

11 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

PAVEMENT CONDITION RATING SYSTEM   
The concept that pavement should provide a smooth, comfortable, and safe ride for 

travelers requires a pavement condition rating system that includes all attributes 

important to travelers. These attributes include travelers’ responses to motion and 

appearance as demonstrated by a smooth riding surface that is without cracking, 

patching, or potholes. A pavement condition rating system has been developed that 

objectively measures all the attributes that are important to travelers. This rating system 

is called the Present Serviceability Index (PSI).  

 

The PSI pavement condition rating system is calculated using pavement roughness 

measurements and mathematical formulas that quantify pavement distresses such as 

cracking, raveling, rutting, and potholes. These measurements and formulas are 

combined and standardized into an objective rating scale numbered from zero to five. 

Pavement rated from four to five is interpreted as pavement in new or very good 

condition with a smooth surface that is without distress or irregularities. Pavement rated 

less than two is interpreted as pavement in very poor or failed condition which has the 

roughest of surface that is no longer navigable at the posted speed limit. The PSI 

pavement condition rating system is used to quantify the pavement condition for each 

road within the state-maintained roadway network. 

 

FIGURE 2 demonstrates how the PSI pavement condition rating system is divided into 

six sections that correspond to pavement in very good, good, fair, mediocre, poor, and 

very poor or failed condition. Descriptions include pictures of what pavement would 

typically look like in each condition as well as a discussion of the various stages of 

disrepair as pavement deteriorates over time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

12 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Pavement 
Condition  

PSI 
Rating 
Scale 

Description of Pavement Condition  

Very Good 
5.00  
to  

4.00 

 

 
 
Pavement in very good condition has an excellent, very smooth ride quality   
and is without any pavement distress. Pavement is in new condition. 
 

Good 
3.99  
to  

3.50 

 

 
 
Pavement in good condition has a very smooth ride quality and begins to show 
minor distresses that are typically environmental rather than load related. 
Distresses include minor non-wheelpath longitudinal and transverse cracks as 
well as minor surface raveling.  
 

Pavement in good condition can especially benefit from preventive maintenance 
such as crack sealing and surface treatments such as chip, slurry, and scrub 
seals. Surface treatments reduce pavement deterioration and protect the 
pavement structure from water infiltration and weathering.  
 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition 
13 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Pavement 
Condition  

PSI 
Rating 
Scale  

Description of Pavement Condition  

Fair 
3.49  
to  

3.00 

 

 
 
Pavement in fair condition has a good ride quality except noticeable environmental 
distress has developed. Non-wheelpath longitudinal and transverse cracks are 
frequent. There is light surface oxidation and weathering. Structural distress in the 
form of ruts and fatigue cracks begin to occur. 
 

Pavement in fair condition is candidate for a surface treatment such as micro-
surfacing or double chip seal, and possibly a two inch overlay. An overlay applied on 
pavement in this condition will prevent the formation of more severe structural 
distress.    
 

Mediocre 
2.99  
to  

2.50 

 

 
 
Pavement in mediocre condition has a barely acceptable ride quality and has 
accumulated significant environmental and structural distresses. Pavement has non-
wheelpath longitudinal cracking and transverse cracks so closely spaced that block 
cracks develop.  Ruts and fatigue cracks are present. 
 

Pavement in mediocre condition is candidate for three inch or thicker overlays and 
may require patching before the new overlay is placed. Pavement structural 
deterioration is evident. 
 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition (Continued) 
14 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Pavement 
Condition  

PSI 
Rating  
Scale 

Description of Pavement Condition  

Poor 
2.49 
to  

2.00 

 

 
 
Pavement in poor condition has a poor ride quality and has accumulated large 
amounts of environmental and structural related distresses. The non-wheelpath 
longitudinal and transverse cracks are severe. The surface is weathered, rutted, and 
fatigue cracks are widespread.  
 

Lower volume roads are candidates for thick overlays or cold in-place recycling (CIR) 
and overlay repair. Higher volume roads will require reconstruction such as a full-
depth recycling and overlay repair. 
 

Very Poor 
or 

 Failed 
< 2.00 

 

 
 
Pavement in very poor condition has a very poor ride quality and has accumulated 
significant environmental and structural distresses. The surface is pitted and there are 
wide non-wheelpath longitudinal and transverse cracks. Networked, spalled fatigue 
cracks and deep ruts are prevalent. The deterioration is so advanced potholes are 
frequent. The road is no longer navigable at the posted speed limit. 
 

Pavement in this condition requires constant maintenance activity such as patching 
and filling potholes. Citizen complaints are common. This pavement always requires 
full-depth reconstruction and recycling the road may not be an option. 
 

FIGURE 2. PSI Rating System and Corresponding Pavement Condition (Continued) 

15 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE AND REHABILITATION STRATEGIES  
Pavement service life is a function of many parameters. The parameters of most 

consequence are the smoothness of the road and the amount of heavy truck loads that 

the pavement is expected to experience. New pavement has excellent characteristics 

such as a very smooth ride without any surface distress or defects. Limited funds are 

needed for pavement in new condition. However, the smooth ride will gradually become 

rough due to cracks, distress, or other types of defects as the pavement deteriorates. 

Therefore, it becomes necessary to spend an increasing amount of funds in order to 

maintain or rehabilitate the pavement to an acceptable condition level as the pavement 

deteriorates over time. The types and extents of distress or defects, along with the 

severity of the pavement roughness, determine what types of repair strategies are 

required for maintenance and rehabilitation repair work.   

 

Pavement preservation repair strategies are designated as either maintenance or 

rehabilitation. Maintenance repair strategies are applied early in the pavement service 

life when the ride quality is in good condition, or applied when the pavement needs 

protection. Maintenance repair strategies do not improve the load bearing capacity of 

the pavement. Examples of maintenance repair strategies include fog seals, crack 

sealing, chip seals, slurry seals, filling potholes, and patching. Rehabilitation repair 

strategies are constructed when the pavement is in fair or worse condition to prevent 

further deterioration, and to improve the load bearing capacity of the pavement. 

Examples of rehabilitation repair strategies include plantmix overlays, cold in-place 

recycling with plantmix overlay, and full depth recycling with plantmix overlay.            

The effective scheduling and budgeting for pavement preservation repair strategies are 

important components of a successful PMS.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 3 exhibits the construction timing for maintenance and rehabilitation repair 

strategies based on the PSI pavement condition rating system. Maintenance repair 

strategies are typically applied when a pavement has a PSI rating of 3.50 or more. 

Rehabilitation repair strategies are commonly constructed when a pavement has a PSI 

rating of 3.49 or less. The construction timing for maintenance and rehabilitation repair 

strategies changes for each road prioritization category.    

 

P
SI

 R
at

in
g 

Sc
al

e 
an

d
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
C

o
rr

es
p

o
n

d
in

g 
P

av
em

en
t 

C
o

n
d

it
io

n 5

Very Good

4
Good      Apply maintenance repair when PSI is 3.50 or greater.

     Construct rehabilitation repair when PSI is 3.49 or less.

1

Poor
2

Time in Years

0

Very Poor

Failed

3
Mediocre

Fair

 
FIGURE 3. Timing for Repair Strategies Based on PSI Rating System 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

The funds needed for the repair work required to improve roads to acceptable condition 

levels when pavement is in poor or worse condition are far greater than the funds 

needed for the repair work when pavement is in fair or better condition.               

FIGURE 4 shows the timing for the cost saving between proactive pavement 

rehabilitation and reactive major reconstruction based on the PSI pavement condition 

rating system. Project expenditures will significantly increase when pavement is allowed 

to deteriorate from fair condition into very poor or failed condition. Repair work costs as 

much as six times more for major reconstruction when pavement is in very poor or failed 

condition as compared to the less invasive rehabilitation techniques that can be used 

when pavement is in fair or better condition.  

 

NDOT proactively investigates opportunities to use resources wisely by repairing 

pavement in fair condition before the pavement deteriorates into worse, and thus more 

costly to repair condition. This philosophy of proactively constructing rehabilitation repair 

strategies lowers pavement life-cycle costs and better serves the taxpaying public. 
    

Failed

Fair

Good

Very Good

1

2

3

4

Time in Years

40% Drop in Quality

12% of Service Life

   $6 or more on "reactive" 
        …eliminates or delays spending

     major reconstruction here.

          Spending $1 on "proactive" pavement 
           rehabilitation before this point…

P
S

I 
R

a
ti

n
g

 S
ca

le
 a

n
d

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
C

o
rr

e
sp

o
n

d
in

g
 P

a
v

e
m

e
n

t 
C

o
n

d
it

io
n

             75% of Service Life

Poor             40% Drop in Quality  

Mediocre

5

0

Very Poor

 
FIGURE 4. Timing for Proactive and Reactive Pavement Rehabilitation Expenditures 

 

 

 

18 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE 
The pavement maintenance and rehabilitation repair work that is performed on the 

state-maintained roadway network is primarily funded by the federal government and 

State of Nevada highway-user revenue. This federal and state revenue generally 

consists of vehicle fuel tax and registration fees.  

 

The vehicle fuel tax collected by the federal government is funneled into the Federal 

Highway Trust Fund. Thereafter, the tax is reallocated back to the states according to 

the provisions in the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21) and 

various other appropriation bills. Motor vehicle license and registration fees along with 

excise taxes that the state collects are deposited into the State Highway Fund.           

Revenue from the State Highway Fund is allocated to NDOT and used for the 

maintenance and rehabilitation repair work on state roads.  

 

There were approximately $270,187,268 invested for maintenance and rehabilitation 

repair work on the state-maintained roadway network during fiscal years 2013 and 

2014. This expenditure included an $182,377,714 investment of federal funds, an 

$85,640,422 investment of state funds, and a $2,169,132 investment of funds from 

other sources. Other funding sources include support by local city and public works 

agencies as well as private utility and telecommunication enterprise with vested interest 

in localized areas.        

 

There were $241,507,268 of road repair work contracted out to private contractors and 

$28,680,000 of road repair work performed by NDOT Maintenance personnel.                  

Maintenance preservation repair work was accomplished by both private road 

contractors and NDOT personnel. The rehabilitation repair work was solely 

accomplished by private road contractors. FIGURE 5 displays the funding sources and 

construction expenditures information that includes both maintenance and rehabilitation 

repair work for fiscal years 2013 and 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 
19 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

Funding Sources Construction Expenditures

$85.64M

$182.38M

$2.17M

$241.51M

$28.68M

M
ill

io
ns

State Federal Other Private Contractors State Forces

 
FIGURE 5. Funding Sources and Construction Expenditures 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

NDOT advertised $241,507,268 of contract maintenance and rehabilitation pavement 

repair work during fiscal years 2013 and 2014. This obligated expenditure improved  

392 miles of roads to acceptable condition levels. TABLE 3 contains a financial 

summary of the advertised maintenance and rehabilitation repair work that was 

accomplished on the state-maintained roadway network during fiscal years 2013 and 

2014, along with the corresponding mileage that was improved.  

 

TABLES 4 and 5 are lists of the specific rehabilitation projects that were advertised 

during fiscal years 2013 and 2014. Maps were created to show the statewide locations 

where the rehabilitation projects were constructed. FIGURE 6 features the locations 

where fiscal year 2013 rehabilitation projects were built. FIGURE 7 highlights the 

locations where fiscal year 2014 rehabilitation projects were completed.  
 

TABLE 3. Advertised Pavement Repair Work for Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014 

Fiscal  
Year 

Contract 
Maintenance  
Repair Work  
Expenditure  
and Mileage 

Contract 
Rehabilitation  
Repair Work  
Expenditure  
and Mileage 

Total Contract  
Maintenance and 

Rehabilitation 
Repair Work  

Expenditure and Mileage 

2013 
$17,386,000 $123,657,522 $141,043,522 

64 Miles 64 Miles 128 Miles 

2014 
$19,496,131 $80,967,615 $100,463,746 

210 Miles 54 Miles 264 Miles 

Biennium 
Total 

$36,882,131 $204,625,137 $241,507,268 

274 Miles 118 Miles 392 Miles 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

TABLE 4. List of Rehabilitation Projects Advertised in Fiscal Year 2013  
 

FISCAL YEAR 2013 

Contract 
Number County Mileposts Length in Miles Road 

Category Cost 

3524 Humboldt 0.11 - 12.01 11.90 1 $27,802,509 

LOCATION:  I-80 FROM THE BEGINNING OF PCCP, 0.112 MILES EAST OF THE PE/HU COUNTY 
LINE, TO 0.345 MILES EAST OF THE TRAILING EDGE OF H-1256 AT THE W STRIP GRADE 
SEPARATION. 

SCOPE: RUBBLIZE, 1.5” STRESS RELIEF COURSE, 5" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE,  
WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE.  

3525 Eureka  2.79 - 15.73 12.94 1 $10,876,167 

LOCATION: I-80 FROM 0.771 MILES EAST OF THE TRAILING EDGE OF I-883 TO THE BEGINNING OF 
ASPHALT, 0.846 MILES WEST OF EMIGRANT PASS INTERCHANGE. 

SCOPE:  DOWEL BAR RETROFIT, PROFILE GRIND, SAW AND SEAL JOINTS. 

3533 Eureka 
Elko 

15.74 - 25.70  
0.00 - 1.09 11.06 1 $16,124,879 

LOCATION: I-80 FROM BEGINNING OF ASPHALT PAVEMENT, 0.846 MILES WEST OF EMIGRANT 
PASS INTERCHANGE TO 1.097 MILES EAST OF THE EU/EL COUNTY LINE.  

SCOPE: 2" MILL, 1" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE (TYPE 3), 3" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS 
SURFACE (TYPE 2C) WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE; PAVED CROSSOVER; CHAIN UP AREAS; 
AND WORK AT BEOWAWE INTERCHANGE. 

3540 Elko 7.50 – 9.33 1.83 1 $29,756,999 

LOCATION: I-80 AT THE CARLIN TUNNELS 

SCOPE: REPAIR TUNNEL, RENOVATE DRAINAGE SYSTEM AND IMPROVE LIGHTING; PERFORM 
WORK ON STRUCTURES B-1066 E/W, B-1111 E/W, B-1112 E/W, B-1113 E/W;  REPAIR PCCP WITH 
NEW ASPHALT SURFACE FROM MP EL 7.50 TO EL 9.33 (PACKAGE 2). 

3546 Clark 69.91 - 95.49  26.02 1, 4, and 5 $39,096,968 

LOCATION: I-15 FROM 0.103 MILES NORTH OF DRY LAKE ROAD TO 1.602 MILES NORTH OF 
LOGANDALE/OVERTON INTERCHANGE;  
FRCL10 ON THE WEST SIDE OF HIDDEN VALLEY INTERCHANGE FROM THE WEST CATTLEGUARD 
THEN 0.081 MILES WEST (0.081 MILES CAT 5 ROAD);  
FRCL11 AT THE MOAPA VALLEY INTERCHANGE WEST OF I-15 FROM 0.460 MILES SOUTH OF  
SR168 (0.186 MILES CAT 5 ROAD);  
FRCL17 AT THE I-15 CRYSTAL INTERCHANGE TO 0.338 MILES WEST (0.171 MILES CAT 4 ROAD).  

SCOPE: I-15: 3" MILL, 3" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE, WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE 
AND CONSTRUCT 2.5 MILE TRUCK CLIMBING LANE NORTHBOUND; 
FRCL10: 2" MILL, 2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE, WITH SEAL COAT; 
FRCL11: 3" MILL, 3" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE, WITH SEAL COAT;  
FRCL17: 2.75" MILL, 2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE, WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE;  
CONSTRUCT TRIPLE 5’x12’x54’ RCB. 

 
 
 
 
 

22 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

TABLE 5. List of Rehabilitation Projects Advertised in Fiscal Year 2014  
 

FISCAL YEAR 2014 

Contract 
Number County Mileposts Length in Miles Road 

Category Cost 

3550 Elko 
0.00 - 6.73  

21.88 - 25.47 
27.33 - 29.74 

12.73 2 $22,059,179 

LOCATION: SR227 FROM IDAHO STREET TO 0.15 MILES SOUTH OF JIGGS RD MP 00.000-6.730; 
SR535 FROM THE SOUTH CATTLEGUARD AT THE WEST ELKO INTERCHANGE TO 5TH SREET  
MP 21.880-25.470; SR225 FROM IDAHO STREET TO CATTLE DRIVE MP 27.330-29.740.  
SCOPE: 2" MILL, 2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH OPEN-GRADED COURSE AND  
3-3/4" MILL, 1" STRESS RELIEF COURSE, 2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH OPEN-
GRADED COURSE;  LANDSCAPING DESIGN AND REPAIRING BRIDGE STRUCTURES I-904          
AND G-1414. 

3558 Washoe 
8.17 - 17.88 (Cat 3) 
17.88 - 23.05 (Cat 2)  
23.05 - 24.41 (Cat 3) 

16.24 2 and 3 $11,587,287 

LOCATION: SR431 MT ROSE HWY FROM 0.11 MILES EAST OF THE MT ROSE SUMMIT TO US395. 

SCOPE: 2-1/2" MILL, 2-1/2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH OPEN-GRADED COURSE. 

3559 Humboldt 29.28 - 42.44  13.68 1, 4, and 5 $11,392,156 
LOCATION: I-80 FROM 1.474 MILES WEST OF THE GOLCONDA INTERCHANGE FROM THE 
CROSSOVER TO 0.967 MILES EAST OF THE PUMPERNICKEL VALLEY INTERCHANGE AND THE I-
754 BRIDGE ON FRHU05 OVER I-80 (13.16 MILES CAT 1 RD);  
FRHU13, SOUTH SIDE IRON POINT INTERCHANGE TO CATTLEGUARD (0.045 MILES CAT 5 RD); 
FRHU24, NORTH SIDE IRON POINT INTERCHANGE TO FRHU23 (0.106 MILES CAT 5 RD);  
FRHU25, SOUTH SIDE PUMPERNICKEL INTERCHANGE TO CATTLEGUARD (0.070 MILES CAT 5 RD);             
FRHU26, NORTH SIDE PUMPERNICKEL INTERCHANGE TO CATTLEGUARD (0.067 MILES CAT 5RD);  
FRHU05, SOUTH CATTLEGUARD TO SR789 (0.237 MILES CAT 4 RD). 
SCOPE: I 80: 2” MILL, 2” PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH 0.75” OPEN-GRADED COURSE 
AND I-754 BRIDGE REFURBISHMENT WORK; FRHU13, FRHU24, FRHU25, FRHU26: 2-1/2”MILL, 2-1/2” 
PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE; FRHU05: 3-3/4” MILL, 3” 
PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH 0.75” OPEN-GRADED COURSE. 

3561 
Carson 

City 
Lyon 

14.64 - 16.39  
 0.00 - 2.54 4.29 2 $7,018,885 

LOCATION: US50 FROM 0.343 MILES EAST OF DEER RUN RD TO THE CC/LY COUNTY LINE;  
US50 FROM THE CC/LY COUNTY LINE TO 0.499 MILES EAST OF THE JUNCTION WITH SR341.  

SCOPE: 2-3/4" MILL, 2" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE WITH 0.75" OPEN-GRADED COURSE;  
4" MILL, 4" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS SURFACE IN LANE #2 EASTBOUND AND WESTBOUND. 

3564 Douglas 0.00 - 3.86 3.86 3 $15,621,500 

LOCATION:  SR207, KINGSBURY GRADE, FROM THE JUNCTION WITH US50 TO 3.866 MILES EAST 
OF US50.   
SCOPE: PULVERIZE 13" DEPTH, 8" ROADBED MODIFICATION, 5" PLANTMIX BITUMINOUS 
SURFACE; CONSTRUCT STORMWATER IMPROVEMENTS, SEDIMENT WORK, AND STABILIZE 
SLOPES. 

3574 Washoe 22.58 - 25.34 2.76 1 $13,288,608 

LOCATION:  I580 MOANA LANE TO THE TRUCKEE RIVER GRADE SEPARATION; 
I580 AT AIRPORT RAMPS IN WASHOE COUNTY AT MILEPOSTS 23.36 AND 23.57. 
SCOPE:  CRACK SEALING, SPALL REPAIR, AND DIAMOND GRINDING; RECONSTRUCT 
SOUTHBOUND FROM MOANA LANE TO THE TRUCKEE RIVER GRADE SEPARATION; 
SEISMIC RETROFIT AND REHABILITATION OF STRUCTURES I-1773 (MP 23.57) and  
I-1774 (MP 23.36). 

23 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 6. Fiscal Year 2013 Project Locations 

24 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 7. Fiscal Year 2014 Project Locations 

25 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

COSTS OF CONSTRUCTION  
 
The costs for maintenance and rehabilitation repair work on highways fluctuate from 

year to year. The periodic year to year fluctuations are typically due to price spikes in 

the costs of steel and energy. However, the costs for maintenance and rehabilitation 

repair work on highways always trend in the upward direction over the long-term.  
 

NDOT recognizes that these periodic cost fluctuations complicate the project planning 

process and cause uncertainty in the highway construction industry. NDOT tries to 

mitigate this uncertainty by sharing the risk with contractors through fuel and asphalt 

escalation clauses in project contracts. However, sharing the risk of cost fluctuations 

does not eliminate the overall long-term increase in construction costs as reported by 

the Associated General Contractors of America (AGCA), the American Road and 

Transportation Builders Association, the Federal Highway Administration, and other 

data sources.  
 

The Construction Cost Index (CCI) is defined as the measure of the price of labor, 

material, equipment, transport, and other costs associated with highway construction. 

Several western state construction cost indices were reviewed for years 2009 through 

early 2014. The data included an average of the California DOT (Caltrans), Colorado 

DOT (CDOT), and Utah DOT (UDOT) indices. The data shows a slight decline in the 

average CCI between 2009 and 2010, and this decline is indicative of a short-term price 

fluctuation. However, the data also exhibits a steady increase in the average CCI from 

2010 through the first quarter of 2014. It is expected that this trend will continue into the 

future based on the current economic climate. FIGURE 8 indicates the average CCI 

data from Caltrans, CDOT, and UDOT for years 2009 through the first quarter of 2014.  

 

26 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Calendar YearA
ve

ra
g

e 
C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
C

o
st

In
d

ex
B

as
e 

Y
ea

r 2
00

7 
= 

10
0

 
Sources are located on the World Wide Web:  
1) http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/esc/oe/hist_price_index.html 
2) http://www.udot.utah.gov/main/uconowner. gf?n=10172725194241610 and 
3) http://www.coloradodot.info/business/eema/construction-cost-index 
FIGURE 8. Average of Construction Cost Indices from Caltrans, CDOT, and UDOT 

 
 

NDOT depends primarily on the revenue from fuel tax to fund road construction projects.        

Since much of this tax is not indexed to inflation, the purchasing power of the revenue for 

road construction is only about forty percent of what it was in 1992. The preservation of the 

state-maintained roadway network at acceptable condition levels becomes more challenging 

year after year. This challenge is due to the continuous increase in costs for road 

construction along with the consequences from neglecting the long-term effects of inflation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27 
 

Item #13 Attachment A

http://www.udot.utah.gov/main/uconowner.%20gf?n=10172725194241610
http://www.coloradodot.info/business/eema/construction-cost-index


 
 

PAVEMENT CONDITION 
A safe, efficient, and reliable roadway network is a matter of regional importance and 

promotes the general welfare of all people that live, work, and play in the state. 

Nevada’s pavement has ranked in the top one-half in the nation for the last several 

years as compared with the overall highway performance and efficiency of other states’ 

roadway networks as reported in the Annual Highway Report by the Reason 

Foundation. NDOT uses the PSI pavement condition rating system to evaluate and 

report the condition of the roadway network. The PSI pavement condition rating system 

was previously discussed and graphically shown in FIGURE 2. TABLE 6 presents the 

PSI condition data for each road prioritization category on the state-maintained roadway 

network. FIGURE 9 is a map of the state’s roadway network inventory identified by the 

PSI rating system. FIGURES 10 through 14 are maps of road prioritization categories    

1 through 5 identified by the PSI rating system. 

 
TABLE 6. *PSI Pavement Condition by Road Prioritization Category 

Road 
Category 1

Road 
Category 2 

Road 
Category 3

Road 
Category 4

Road 
Category 5

Roadway 
Network 

Totals
43.5% 40.4% 22.8% 3.7% 0.4% 17.7%

219 374 273 32 7 905
50.8% 39.4% 54.8% 28.0% 7.1% 31.9%

256 365 657 240 117 1,635
5.0% 15.9% 18.0% 37.7% 22.6% 21.1%

25 147 216 323 371 1,082
0.6% 3.0% 3.2% 21.2% 32.7% 15.3%

3 28 38 182 535 786
0.1% 0.9% 0.8% 7.2% 24.8% 9.5%
0.55 8 10 62 406 487
0.0% 0.4% 0.3% 2.1% 12.3% 4.5%

0 4 4 18 202 228

504 926 1,198 857 1,638 5,123

Condition
PSI                         

Rating                         
Scale

PSI Condition by Road Prioritization Category
Percentage (%) and Miles

Very Good 5.00 to 4.00

Good 3.99 to 3.50

Very Poor < 2.00

Total Miles

Fair 3.49 to 3.00

Mediocre 2.99 to 2.50

Poor 2.49 to 2.00

 
* 1)  Data as reported in the 2012 PMS Data Warehouse. 
   2)  The reported total of 5,123 miles includes hotmix asphalt pavement and excludes Portland 
        Cement Concrete Pavement (PCCP). PCCP is not included because of its unique service 
 life requirements and distress characteristics that vary significantly from hotmix asphalt   
 pavement. Each PCCP pavement segment is reviewed separately. The total state- 
 maintained roadway network mileage of 5,393 miles mentioned in the Roadway Network 
 Inventory section of the report is the official mileage count that includes PCCP roads. 

28 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 9. Roadway Network Inventory Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

29 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 10. Road Prioritization Category 1 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

30 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 11. Road Prioritization Category 2 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

31 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 12. Road Prioritization Category 3 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

32 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 13. Road Prioritization Category 4 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

33 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 14. Road Prioritization Category 5 Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

34 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

NDOT partitions the state into three districts in order to effectively manage the state’s 

pavement assets. District 1 includes the larger parts of Clark, Esmeralda, Lincoln, and 

Nye Counties. District 2 is comprised of most of Carson City, Churchill, Douglas, Lyon, 

Mineral, Pershing, Storey, and Washoe Counties. District 3 consists of the majority of 

Elko, Eureka, Humboldt, Lander, and White Pine Counties. TABLE 7 was developed to 

determine the pavement condition in each district identified by the PSI rating system. 

TABLE 8 was generated to evaluate the pavement condition in each county identified 

by the PSI rating system. 

 
TABLE 7.  
District Pavement Condition Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

District 

Average PSI Condition by Road Prioritization Category  
and Miles per District 

Road 
Category 1 

Road 
Category 2 

Road 
Category 3 

Road 
Category 4 

Road 
Category 5 

District 1 3.82 
135 mi 

3.62 
517 mi 

3.59 
278 mi 

3.16 
370 mi 

2.59 
541 mi 

District 2 3.98 
152 mi 

3.79 
291 mi 

3.53 
350 mi 

3.17 
253 mi 

2.37 
268 mi 

District 3 3.96 
217 mi 

3.87 
118 mi 

3.76 
570 mi 

3.12 
234 mi 

2.69 
829 mi 

Total All 
Districts 

3.93 
504 mi 

3.71 
926 mi 

3.65 
1198 mi 

3.15 
857 mi 

2.59 
1638 mi 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

TABLE 8.  
County Pavement Condition Identified by Present Serviceability Index (PSI) 

County 

Average PSI Condition by Road Prioritization Category 
and Miles per County 

Road 
Category 1 

Road 
Category 2  

Road 
Category 3  

Road 
Category 4  

Road 
Category 5  

Carson 
City 

3.78 
4 mi 

3.95 
14 mi 

2.86 
7 mi 

Not 
Applicable 

Not 
Applicable 

Churchill 4.06 
28 mi 

3.95 
48 mi 

3.61 
140 mi 

2.88 
25 mi 

2.23 
97 mi 

Clark 3.84 
128 mi 

3.49 
284 mi 

3.53 
135 mi 

2.82 
69 mi 

2.57 
72 mi 

Douglas Not 
Applicable 

3.82 
56 mi 

3.59 
26 mi 

3.58 
19 mi 

1.04 
2 mi 

Elko 3.99 
122 mi 

3.95 
80 mi 

3.82 
117 mi 

3.26 
112 mi 

2.66 
258 mi 

Esmeralda Not 
Applicable 

3.89 
97 mi 

Not  
Applicable 

Not 
Applicable 

2.63 
141 mi 

Eureka 3.75 
13 mi 

Not  
Applicable 

3.91 
54 mi 

2.59 
41 mi 

2.44 
71 mi 

Humboldt 3.92 
44 mi 

3.70 
38 mi 

3.68 
50 mi 

2.93 
23 mi 

2.82 
166 mi 

Lander 3.81 
19 mi 

Not  
Applicable 

3.74 
63 mi 

3.51 
41 mi 

2.56 
147 mi 

Lincoln Not 
Applicable 

Not  
Applicable 

3.86 
103 mi 

3.22 
145 mi 

2.09 
91 mi 

Lyon 4.11 
16 mi 

3.91 
30 mi 

3.75 
103 mi 

3.30 
77 mi 

2.44 
15 mi 

Mineral Not 
Applicable 

4.12 
93 mi 

3.55 
35 mi 

3.73 
11 mi 

3.03 
63 mi 

Nye 3.29 
7 mi 

3.71 
111 mi 

3.61 
49 mi 

3.26 
138 mi 

2.81 
252 mi 

Pershing 3.97 
75 mi 

Not  
Applicable 

Not  
Applicable 

2.61 
2 mi 

2.45 
112 mi 

Storey Not 
Applicable 

Not  
Applicable 

3.15 
11 mi 

3.20 
3 mi 

Not 
Applicable 

Washoe 3.98 
48 mi 

3.46 
75 mi 

3.20 
64 mi 

3.03 
116 

2.36 
17 mi 

White Pine Not 
Applicable 

Not  
Applicable 

3.73 
241 mi 

3.10 
35 mi 

2.67 
134 mi 

Total All 
Counties 

3.93 
504 mi 

3.71 
926 mi 

3.65 
1198 mi 

3.15 
857 mi 

2.59 
1638 mi 

 

36 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Past condition data were reviewed using the PSI pavement condition rating system to 

determine if the funds spent to perform maintenance and rehabilitation repair work were 

adequate enough to maintain or improve the average condition of the roadway network. 

FIGURES 15 through 20 are the results of this review. FIGURE 15 demonstrates the 

overall average PSI for the entire roadway network was in good condition from 2001 

through 2005, transitioned from good condition to fair condition in 2006, and steadily 

declined from 2007 through 2014. The overall average PSI did not improve in 2012 

despite the fact that $298.6M of rehabilitation and maintenance funds were spent in 

2011 to improve the roadway network. It is anticipated that the overall average condition 

of the roadway network will transition from fair condition to mediocre condition within the 

next few years.   

 

81.8 
98.2 97.4 

84.6 

116.4 

80.2 

50.2

80.5

159.7

116.0

287.1

130.4 123.7

81.0

7.
9 

13
.9

 

9.
9 

9.
9 

9.
6 

10
.4

 

17
.9

 

18
.7

 

25
.3

 

20
.0

 

11
.5

 

13
.8

17
.4

 

19
.5

3.55 3.56 3.51 3.45 3.39 3.29
3.23 3.20

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION AND 
MAINTENANCE FUNDS

IN MILLIONS
AVERAGE 

PSI

YEAR

REHABILITATION FUNDS MAINTENANCE FUNDS ROAD CATEGORIES 1-5 AVERAGE PSI
 

FIGURE 15. Average PSI and Expenditures for Roadway Network 
 
 

 

 
 

37 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 16 illustrates the long-term average PSI for road category 1 and the 

rehabilitation expenditure for each year from 2001 through 2014. Category 1 roads 

include the controlled access highways such as I-15, I-580, and I-80. These roads are 

highest in priority due to interstate economic importance. NDOT spends a substantial 

amount of funds to maintain these roads in very good condition each year. Regardless 

that an average $60M per year has been spent to rehabilitate this road category, the 

roads are very near transitioning from very good condition into good condition. It is 

expected that this transition will occur within a decade. 

 

41.6 

26.2 

49.4 

24.9 

40.1 

27.8 

50.2 45.9 

87.1 

39.9 

53.9 

24.2 

4.18 4.17 4.12 4.10 4.01 4.10 4.08 4.07

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION  
FUNDS 

IN MILLIONS
AVERAGE

PSI

YEAR
REHABILITATION FUNDS ROAD CATEGORY 1 AVERAGE PSI

208.2 123.0

 
FIGURE 16. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 1 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

38 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 17 shows the long-term average PSI for road category 2 and the rehabilitation 

expenditure for each year from 2001 through 2014. Category 2 roads include routes 

such as St. Rose Parkway/Lake Mead Drive, US-50 Lincoln Highway, and Fifth Street in 

Elko. The average PSI remained solidly in good condition for most of the reporting 

years. Recently, the average PSI has deteriorated to a point near the threshold of 

changing from good condition to fair condition. The average PSI for category 2 roads is 

expected to deteriorate into fair condition within several years. 

 

15.4 

41.9 

33.6 

47.5 49.5 

12.2 

0

27.3 
33.0 

47.5 

60.9 

44.8 

0

32.8

3.68 3.65 3.68 3.74 3.65 3.62 3.57 3.55

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION 
FUNDS

IN MILLIONS
AVERAGE 

PSI

YEAR
REHABILITATION FUNDS ROAD CATEGORY 2 AVERAGE PSI

 
FIGURE 17. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 2 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 18 displays the long-term average PSI for road category 3 and the 

rehabilitation expenditure for each year from 2001 through 2014. Category 3 roads 

include routes such as Kyle Canyon Road, SR-28 near Lake Tahoe, and SR-225 at the 

Elko west urban limits. The average PSI was at the high end of good condition for many 

years and has recently declined into the lower end of good condition. This category of 

roads is expected to deteriorate into fair condition within the next couple of years. 

 

21.8 22.4 

5.2 3.6

18.6 

37.6

0

7.3

34.2

16.8 

12.7 14.9 

0

23.5

3.83 3.86 3.84
3.74 3.72 3.66 3.56 3.51

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION 
FUNDS 

IN MILLIONS
AVERAGE 

PSI

YEAR
REHABILITATION FUNDS ROAD CATEGORY 3 AVERAGE PSI

 
FIGURE 18. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 3 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

40 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 19 demonstrates the long-term average PSI for road category 4 and the 

rehabilitation expenditure for each year from 2001 through 2014. Category 4 roads 

include routes such as Deer Creek Road, Foothill Road/Genoa Lane, and Jiggs Road. 

These roads were in good condition from 2001 through 2003, and thereafter 

transitioned into fair condition in 2004. The average PSI continued to deteriorate 

through the entire fair condition rating from 2005 through 2013, and transitioned into 

mediocre condition in 2014. The decline into mediocre condition occurred despite 

spending almost $17M in 2012. 

 

2.8
7.2

4.0
5.6

4.4 2.6 0 0
5.5 

0
5.4 

16.8 

0.3 0.2 

3.50 3.52 3.48 3.40 3.34
3.14 3.04 2.98

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION 
FUNDS

IN MILLIONS

AVERAGE 
PSI

YEAR
REHABILITATION FUNDS ROAD CATEGORY 4 AVERAGE PSI

 
FIGURE 19. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
41 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 20 presents the long-term average PSI for road category 5 and the 

rehabilitation expenditure for each year from 2001 through 2014. Category 5 roads 

include routes such as Lee Canyon Road, Dixie Valley Road, and Secret Pass Road. 

These roads have remained in a mediocre condition over the duration of the reporting 

period, with exception of year 2003. This stability in mediocre condition is due to the fact 

that the majority of the maintenance funds spent each year, as shown in green in 

FIGURE 15, are used for maintenance repair work on these low-volume roads.   
 

0.2 0.5
5.3 2.9 3.8 0 0 0 0

11.7

0 0 0.4 0.2

2.80
3.05 2.97 2.87 2.81

2.71 2.66 2.63

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

REHABILITATION 
FUNDS 

IN MILLIONS
AVERAGE 

PSI

YEAR
REHABILITATION FUNDS ROAD CATEGORY 5 AVERAGE PSI

 
FIGURE 20. Average PSI and Expenditures for Road Category 5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

In previous State Highway Preservation Reports, the roadway network was divided into 

four types of repair strategies that were based on the age of the pavement. These four 

repair strategies described the work that was needed on the roadway network.  

FIGURE 21 is included in the current State Highway Preservation Report for continuity 

purposes. FIGURE 21 presents the change in roadway network condition based on the 

need for preventive and corrective maintenance repair work as well as the need for 

overlay and major rehabilitation repair work. A significant rehabilitation program from 

1999 through 2002, along with the proactive plan of repairing pavement in fair condition 

before allowing pavement to deteriorate into conditions where repairs are six times 

more costly, helped to keep most pavement in the preventive and corrective 

maintenance repair categories for a few years. However, the roadway network is aging 

and allocated funding does not have the purchasing power of the past due to rising 

material costs and inflation. The amount of pavement that requires overlay or major 

rehabilitation repair work is now similar to the amount of work needed in 1987, when 

repair needs were amongst the highest ever recorded.   
 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

19
87

19
89

19
91

19
93

19
95

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

M
ile

s

State Highway Preservation Report Year

Preventive Maintenance Corrective Maintenance Overlay Major Rehabilitation

 
FIGURE 21. Change in Pavement Condition Over Time Based on Repair Strategies 

43 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

Currently, and in all future State Highway Preservation Reports, the work needed to 

repair the roadway network is divided into two types of repair categories rather than four 

types of repair strategies. These two types of repair categories include “maintenance” 

and “rehabilitation” repair work. Maintenance repair work consists of both preventive 

and corrective maintenance treatments. Treatments include repair work such as crack 

filling, chip seals, and patching. Rehabilitation repair work consists of both overlay and 

major rehabilitation construction work. Recommended repair work is contingent on the 

condition of the pavement. TABLE 9 summarizes the roadway network condition based 

on the road prioritization categories and the type of maintenance or rehabilitation repair 

work needed for each category of road. Of the 5,296 miles of pavement inspected, 

there were 3,423 miles of pavement in a condition that may require maintenance repair 

work and 1,873 miles of pavement in need of rehabilitation repair work. All newly 

rehabilitated roads are included in the maintenance repair category even though very 

little maintenance effort is required in the first few years of pavement service life.       

Newly rehabilitated roads are still monitored and any isolated areas in need of minor 

maintenance repair work are improved. 

 
TABLE 9. *Pavement Condition Based on Road Categories and Type of Repair Work 

Miles
Percentage     
of Roadway 

Network
Miles

Percentage        
of Roadway 

Network

1 513.85 9.70% 130.56 2.47% 644.41

2 658.02 12.43% 274.36 5.18% 932.39

3 557.78 10.53% 643.39 12.15% 1,201.17

4 529.49 10.00% 329.76 6.23% 859.25

5 1,163.70 21.97% 494.69 9.34% 1,658.39

Total for                                        
Road Categories 1 - 5 3,422.84 64.64% 1,872.77 35.36% 5,295.61

Road                                   
Prioritization                                                             

Category

Maintenance Repair Work Rehabilitation Repair Work 

Total                    
Miles

 
*The total 5,295.61 miles represents the total network miles based on age, including PCCP pavement. 
The age of a small portion of the roadway network is unknown and therefore not included in the total 
miles for TABLE 9.   
 

44 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

PAVEMENT CONDITION GOAL 
A pavement condition goal has been established to provide a measure of the 

effectiveness of the maintenance and rehabilitation repair work that is performed on 

state roads. The goal can also indicate the adequacy of funding appropriated for 

pavement repair work. A process was used to develop the pavement condition goal and 

several criteria were examined. Careful consideration was used to balance the cost of 

rehabilitation at varying pavement condition levels with the availability of funds. Other 

criteria used in the process included pavement deterioration rates, the effectiveness of 

maintenance repair work, traffic volume, the number of heavy trucks, and the cost to 

repair or replace roads in each particular road prioritization category. The pavement 

condition goal to maintain a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition was 

approved for each road category. TABLE 10 lists the current status of each road 

category with respect to the established pavement condition goal. Although categories 

1, 2, and 3 roads exceed the established pavement condition goal, a substantial amount 

of categories 4 and 5 roads do not meet the goal. 
 

TABLE 10. Pavement Condition Versus Established Goal by Road Category 

Road 
Category 1

Road 
Category 2

Road 
Category 3

Road 
Category 4

Road 
Category 5

Roadway 
Network 

Totals
43.5% 40.4% 22.8% 3.7% 0.4% 17.7%

219 374 273 32 7 905
50.8% 39.4% 54.8% 28.0% 7.1% 31.9%

256 365 657 240 117 1,635
5.0% 15.9% 18.0% 37.7% 22.6% 21.1%

25 147 216 323 371 1,082
0.6% 3.0% 3.2% 21.2% 32.7% 15.3%

3 28 38 182 535 786
0.1% 0.9% 0.8% 7.2% 24.8% 9.5%
0.55 8 10 62 406 487
0.0% 0.4% 0.3% 2.1% 12.3% 4.5%

0 4 4 18 202 228

504 926 1,198 857 1,638 5,123

95% 95% 95% 95% 95% ----

99.3% 95.7% 95.6% 69.5% 30.2% ----

YES YES YES NO NO ----

Condition Goal:                        
Min. Percentage of Roads in 

Fair or Better Condition

Current Condition:             
Percentage of Roads in Fair 

or Better Condition

Very Poor

Condition
PSI                         

Rating                         
Scale

PSI Condition by Road Prioritization Category
Percentage (%) and Number of Miles

Very Good 5.00 to 4.00

Good 3.99 to 3.50

< 2.00

Total Miles:

Does the current                              
condition meet                          

the condition goal?

Fair 3.49 to 3.00

Mediocre 2.99 to 2.50

Poor 2.49 to 2.00

 
45 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

FIGURE 22 displays the percentage of miles per road category as identified by the PSI 

pavement condition rating system. The majority of pavement in road category 1 is in fair 

or better condition. Road categories 2 and 3 pavement is in better average condition 

than the road category 4 pavement. The majority of pavement in road category 5 is in 

mediocre or worse condition. 

    

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Very Poor Poor
Mediocre

Fair
Good

Very Good

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

fM
ile

s
pe

r R
oa

d 
C

at
eg

or
y

Pavement Condition
Road Category 1

Road Category 2 

Road Category 3

Road Category 4

Road Category 5

 
FIGURE 22. Percentage of Miles per Road Category and Pavement Condition 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

BACKLOG OF PAVEMENT REHABILITATION WORK 
The backlog of pavement rehabilitation work has been defined as the funds necessary 

to rehabilitate roads to acceptable condition levels. The backlog of pavement 

rehabilitation work increases when funds are not spent at the optimal time in order to 

maintain roads at acceptable condition levels. Previously, NDOT calculated the backlog 

of pavement rehabilitation work based on the goal of keeping every mile of the state-

maintained roadway network in very good condition. However, the goal of maintaining 

every mile in the constant status of very good condition was not realistic or achievable.  

 

Currently, the contemporary practice of evaluating the condition of the roadway network 

based on the PSI pavement condition rating system, and the established pavement 

condition goal, is used to calculate a more realistic estimation of the backlog. The cost 

of rehabilitation work varies for each road category. Category 1 roads are more 

expensive to rehabilitate because of the required pavement widths and thicknesses that 

need to be repaired. Category 5 roads are the least expensive to rehabilitate because of 

narrow widths and thin pavement sections. TABLE 11 summarizes the backlog of 

pavement rehabilitation work for the state-maintained roadway network. The information 

includes the number of miles in each road category that are in less than fair condition as 

well as the cost of rehabilitation per mile. Only road categories 4 and 5 have deficient 

pavement that does not meet the established pavement condition goal to maintain a 

minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. Furthermore, the percentage of 

deficient miles in road categories 4 and 5 is substantial. There are 1,280 miles of 

deficient pavement that would cost $661.9M to repair.  

 

FIGURE 23 illustrates the $661.9M backlog of pavement rehabilitation work in 

percentage of miles per road category. There is 25.5% of road category 4 pavement in 

less than fair condition and 64.8% of road category 5 pavement in less than fair 

condition as observed by the total of the very poor, poor, and mediocre condition 

percentages. The $661.9M backlog of pavement rehabilitation work is expected to rise 

as pavement in mediocre condition deteriorates into more costly to repair conditions.  

 

 

 

 
47 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

TABLE 11. Backlog of Pavement Rehabilitation Work 

Road 
Prioritization 

Category 
1 2 3 4 5 

Deficient Pavement 
In Miles 0 0 0 219 1061 

Estimated Cost to 
Rehabilitate 

Pavement Per Mile 
$2.1M $1.3M $0.7M $0.6M $0.5M 

Total Cost to 
Rehabilitate 
Pavement 

Per Road Category 
$0M $0M $0M $131.4M $530.5M 

Total Backlog of 
Pavement 

Rehabilitation Work 
$661.9M 

 
 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Very Poor Poor
Mediocre

Fair
Good

Very Good

2.1 7.2

16.2
12.3

24.8 27.7

B
ac

kl
og

of
 R

eh
ab

ili
ta

tio
n 

W
or

k 
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f M

ile
s 

pe
rR

oa
d 

C
at

eg
or

y

Pavement Condition
 

FIGURE 23. Backlog in Percentage of Miles per Road Category 
48 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

ADEQUACY OF PAVEMENT PRESERVATION FUNDS 
The adequacy of pavement preservation funds can be determined by comparing the 

current and projected funding levels for repair work to the current and projected PSI 

pavement condition levels. The established pavement condition goal to maintain a 

minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition is also used to determine adequacy. 

Adequate funding would allow for pavement to be maintained in conformance to the 

established pavement condition goal. 

 

Analysis was performed on each road category to determine if there were enough funds 

available to maintain the pavement within conformance to the established pavement 

condition goal. FIGURES 16 through 20 demonstrate that funding and pavement 

condition levels for each road category vary from year to year. However, FIGURE 15 

shows that regardless the amount of funds spent, the average PSI pavement condition 

for the entire roadway network has continued to trend downwards. Only road categories 

1, 2, and 3 pavement meet the established pavement condition goal to maintain a 

minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. Road categories 4 and 5 pavement 

does not meet the established goal. Funds for pavement preservation repair work must 

be increased if the established goal is to be met. 

 
TABLE 12 is a summary of the average number of miles rehabilitated and scheduled for 

rehabilitation for years 2009 through 2019, in addition to the average funds spent and 

scheduled to be spent for pavement repair work each year. These averages include the 

actual amount of miles rehabilitated and funds spent for years 2009 through 2014, plus 

the projected amount of miles to be rehabilitated and corresponding funds for years 

2015 through 2019. TABLE 12 also contains the estimated additional miles that need to 

be rehabilitated and additional funds required to maintain each road category at 2014 

PSI pavement condition levels. The current average funding of $132M per year would 

need to be increased by $191M per year, for a total of $323M per year, in order to 

maintain each road category at 2014 PSI pavement condition levels. Additional funds 

are also needed to improve the condition of road categories 4 and 5 pavement to satisfy 

the established pavement condition goal. 

 
 
 

49 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
TABLE 12. Adequacy of Pavement Preservation Funds 

Road Prioritization Category 1 2 3 4 5 

Current Average 
Number of Miles 

Rehabilitated per Year 
42 33 30 8 2 

*Current Average 
Funds per Year $71M $30M $25M $5M $1M 

*Total Current Average 
Funds per Year $132M 

Additional Average Number 
of Miles Requiring 

Rehabilitation per Year 
8 44 70 49 80 

Additional Average 
Funds Required per Year $16M $57M $49M $29M $40M 

Total Additional Average 
Funds Required per Year $191M 

*Estimated average rehabilitation funds per year for years 2009 through 2019, excluding maintenance 
funds. 
 

PROGRESS IN THE 12-YEAR PLAN FOR RESURFACING OF STATE HIGHWAYS 
The amount of pavement preservation repair work has been restricted for many years 

due to long-term financial constraints. The funds allocated for the pavement 

preservation budget are limited because many funds are needed for other purposes 

such as capacity improvement projects and other program budget obligations. There 

are simply not enough funds available to preserve the state-maintained roadway 

network in a condition that satisfies the established pavement condition goal to maintain 

a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. 

 

FIGURE 24 illustrates what will happen to the condition of the state-maintained roadway 

network over the next twelve years using three different budget scenarios. An average 

of $132M will be used as the yearly pavement preservation budget for scenario one 
50 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

since this is the actual average expenditure for pavement rehabilitation work from 2009 

through 2014. Budget scenario one is represented by the red line and consists of 

spending an average of $132M per year on pavement rehabilitation work for the next 

twelve years. There are presently 75% of all state-maintained roads in fair or better 

condition. Spending an average of $132M per year will result in the average condition of 

the roads to deteriorate to less than 50% of roads in fair or better condition by the year 

2027. Furthermore, the $661.9M backlog of pavement rehabilitation work would 

substantially increase over time. 

 

FIGURE 24 demonstrates budget scenario two with the yellow line. There is an 

increased expenditure of $191M per year, in addition to the $132M per year base 

investment, for a total of $323M per year. Spending $323M per year on pavement 

rehabilitation work will result in a stagnant pavement condition level. The average 

condition of 75% of all roads in fair or better condition would remain the same from 

2014 through 2027. Although the roadway network would not deteriorate below 2014 

PSI pavement condition levels, the backlog of pavement rehabilitation work would not 

be reduced. Road categories 4 and 5 would never meet the established pavement 

condition goal to maintain a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. 

 

FIGURE 24 depicts budget scenario three with the green line. This budget scenario is 

the preferred PMS plan in a business environment where funding gaps are nonexistent. 

Increasing the $323M per year budget with an additional $55M per year through 2026, 

for a total of $378M per year, would gradually improve the pavement condition of the 

state-maintained roadway network. This budget would also eliminate the backlog of 

pavement rehabilitation work. This ideal budget scenario would accommodate the 

preservation needs of the entire roadway network and provide the funds necessary for 

all road categories to exceed the pavement condition goal established in TABLE 10. 

The blue line shows the condition of the pavement wherein 95% of roads are in fair or 

better condition. A budget of $378M per year would incrementally raise the percentage 

of roads in fair or better condition from now until 2027. Thereafter, the network 

pavement condition would level off and the budget could actually be reduced to $323M 

per year since the backlog of pavement rehabilitation work would be eliminated. 

51 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

$132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132 $132

$191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191 $191

$55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55 $55

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f R
oa

ds
 in

 F
ai

r o
r B

et
te

r C
on

di
tio

n

Fu
nd

s 
in

 M
ill

io
ns

 

YEAR

$132M

$323M

$378M

$323M

GOAL

FIGURE 24. Future State-maintained Roadway Network Funding Options 
 

PAVEMENT PRESERVATION SUMMARY 
The State Highway Preservation Report is presented to Nevada Legislature with the 

intent to fulfill the requirements as outlined in Nevada Revised Statute 408.203(3). 

NDOT is accountable to report the progress made on the resurfacing plan for state 

highways. The following aspects of the resurfacing plan have been addressed:  

 

 The pavement preservation revenues and expenditures for fiscal years 2013 and 

2014 were presented. The revenue for the maintenance and rehabilitation repair 

work constructed on state highways is primarily funded by the federal government 

and the State of Nevada. This revenue generally consists of vehicle fuel tax and 

registration fees. Approximately $270,187,268 were invested for road maintenance 

and rehabilitation repair work during the last biennium. FIGURE 5 illustrates the 

funding sources and construction expenditures for the road repair work. 

 

52 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 TABLES 3, 4, and 5 summarized the rehabilitation and maintenance repair work 

that was advertised in fiscal years 2013 and 2014. The information includes lists of 

projects along with the associated mileage and cost for each project. The project 

locations and scopes of work were also reported.  

 
 The pavement condition of the state-maintained roadway network was provided. 

The pavement condition was objectively measured with the Present Serviceability 

Index (PSI) rating system. This rating system quantifies pavement condition into 

one of six sections that correspond to pavement in very good, good, fair, mediocre, 

poor, and very poor or failed condition. The data were described using several 

methods including tabular format, maps, analysis by district and county distribution, 

and a long-term investigation displayed on column charts.  

 
 A pavement condition goal was established for the roadway network. The goal to 

maintain a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition was approved for 

each road category. The goal was determined through a process that considers 

numerous criteria including the balance of rehabilitation cost at varying pavement 

condition levels with available funds, pavement deterioration rates, effectiveness of 

maintenance repair work, traffic volume, number of heavy trucks, and cost of repair 

or replacement. 

 

 The backlog of pavement rehabilitation work was calculated based on the 

established goal to maintain a minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. 

TABLE 11 lists the estimated backlog for the entire state-maintained roadway 

network. A total of $661.9M is required to repair 1,280 miles of deficient pavement. 

 

 TABLE 12 was developed to document the adequacy of pavement preservation 

funds. The condition of the roadway network was predicted through 2019 based on 

deterioration rates and scheduled rehabilitation work. Predicted conditions forecast 

that the current average funding level of $132M per year is inadequate to maintain 

each category of road in conformance to the established goal to maintain a 

minimum of 95% of roads in fair or better condition. TABLE 12 also documents the 

additional amount of work and cost required to maintain each road category at 

2014 PSI pavement condition levels. The $132M average funding per year must be 

53 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

increased by an additional $191M per year, for a total of $323M per year, to simply 

maintain the roadway network at 2014 PSI pavement condition levels.                 

The proposed $323M per year allocation does not include the funds necessary to 

reduce the backlog of pavement rehabilitation work. 

 
 The progress in the 12-year plan for resurfacing of state highways was examined 

and three different budget scenarios were investigated. The first budget scenario 

included an average of $132M per year expenditure for rehabilitation repair work.         

The first budget scenario would result in the roadway network pavement condition 

level deteriorating from 75% to less than 50% of roads in fair or better condition by 

the year 2027. The second budget scenario included an average of $323M per 

year expenditure for rehabilitation repair work. The second budget scenario would 

result in a stagnant pavement condition level of 75% of roads in fair or better 

condition, and the backlog of rehabilitation work would not be reduced or 

eliminated. The third budget scenario included an average of $378M per year 

expenditure on rehabilitation repair work through the year 2026. This budget 

scenario would improve the roadway network pavement condition level to 95% of 

roads in fair or better condition, and completely eliminate the backlog of pavement 

rehabilitation work.   

 

 Supplementary information contained in the report includes: 

 An explanation of the state-maintained roadway network inventory including  

PMS inventory management through designated road prioritization categories  

1 through 5.  

 A description of the PSI pavement condition rating system that is used  

to objectively rank pavement conditions for many PMS purposes.  

 Definitions for maintenance and rehabilitation repair strategies as well as the 

optimal construction timing based on the PSI pavement condition rating system. 

 Commentary regarding the issues that besiege the costs for construction of  

state highway pavement rehabilitation projects.   

54 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION 
 
INTRODUCTION 
This report summarizes the Nevada Department of Transportation’s (NDOT) efforts to 

preserve the state’s bridge infrastructure which was constructed at an approximate cost 

of $2 billion. Preserving the bridge infrastructure is one of NDOT’s highest priorities. 

Numerous resources are employed to maintain bridges in structurally sound, functional, 

and safe condition. Although the focus in the following discussion is on state-maintained 

bridges, information on bridges maintained by other agencies is also included because 

these bridges are eligible for federal funds that are administered by NDOT.  Moreover, 

NDOT is responsible for inspecting and reporting the condition of all the bridges open to 

the public in Nevada, except bridges on federal lands. Bridges on federal lands are 

inspected and maintained by the federal government. 

 

THE BRIDGE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
Bridges are managed using the National Bridge Inventory (NBI) data which provides an 

inventory of bridge condition, location, needed repairs, load limits, susceptibility to 

flooding, and ownership information. A separate prioritization list enables NDOT to 

evaluate earthquake susceptibility and risks.  This data, together with other factors, 

allows NDOT to identify preservation priorities and monitor the state’s progress toward 

eliminating the backlog of bridge work. 

 

BRIDGE INVENTORY 
There are currently 1,952 public bridges in NDOT bridge inventory. A bridge is a 

structure spanning 20 feet or more that carries traffic over a depression or obstruction, 

and includes multiple box culverts and pipes. The maintenance of the bridge inventory 

is shared by many different organizations: NDOT maintains 1,154 bridges; county and 

city governments maintain 733 bridges; other local agencies maintain 49 bridges; 

private entities maintain 10 bridges; and other state agencies maintain 6 bridges. 

 

BRIDGE CONDITION REPORTING  
Bridge serviceability is characterized by the use of a numerical evaluation called the 

Sufficiency Rating. The Sufficiency Rating is used to assess the overall condition of a 

55 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

bridge and assists in the prioritization of bridge preservation efforts. Sufficiency Ratings 

vary from 0 to 100. A 100 Sufficiency Rating represents a bridge with no deficiencies. 

 

The condition assessment is based upon a physical inspection of the structure. The 

deleterious effects of age, environment, fatigue, hydrologic scour, settling, and traffic 

collisions are assessed in the evaluation. Every bridge in Nevada is inspected at least 

once every two years. Bridges in poor condition are inspected more often.  Inspection 

findings are factored into the determination of the bridge load, condition and Sufficiency 

Ratings. 

 

The load rating denotes the strength of the bridge compared to design-truck loading. 

Structures with low condition or load rating may be classified as “Structurally Deficient.”  

Structurally Deficient bridges are not necessarily unsafe or dangerous.  Rather, these 

bridges become a priority for corrective measures, and may be posted to restrict the 

weight of vehicles using them.  If a deficiency is determined to be severe, or the load 

carrying capacity is extremely low, the bridge would be closed to protect the travelling 

public.   

 

NDOT adheres to policies and procedures in accordance with the FHWA’s 

requirements.  The FHWA included the verbiage discussing Structurally Deficient 

bridges in a report to Congress entitled “2008 Status of the Nation’s Highways, Bridges, 

and Transit: Conditions and Performance.”  The verbiage was as follows:   

 

“Structurally Deficient bridges are not inherently unsafe. Bridges are considered 

structurally deficient if significant load-carrying elements are found to be in poor or 

worse condition due to deterioration and/or damage, or the adequacy of the waterway 

opening provided by the bridge is determined to be extremely insufficient to the point of 

causing intolerable traffic interruptions. That a bridge is deficient does not imply that it is 

likely to collapse or that it is unsafe. By conducting properly scheduled inspections, 

unsafe conditions may be identified; if the bridge is determined to be unsafe, the 

structure must be closed. A deficient bridge, when left open to traffic, typically requires 

significant maintenance and repair to remain in service and eventual rehabilitation or 

replacement to address deficiencies. To remain in service, Structurally Deficient bridges 

often have weight limits that restrict the gross weight of vehicles using the bridges to 
56 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

less than the maximum weight typically allowed by statute.” 

 

Bridges are considered Structurally Deficient if: 

 

• Significant load-carrying elements are found to be in poor condition. 

• Has insufficient load carrying capacity & may have weight limits to remain in 

service. (See picture below.) 

• More susceptible to flooding with significant traffic impacts. 

 

     

   Example of Structurally Deficient Bridge 

 

Bridge assessments also include appraisal ratings, which measure how well the bridge 

serves the public, or its functionality.  Included in the appraisal ratings are reviews of the 

deck geometry, under-bridge clearances, waterway adequacy, and approach geometry. 

Within this appraisal evaluation, a substandard structure is termed “Functionally 

Obsolete.” Like Structurally Deficient bridges, Functionally Obsolete bridges are able to 

serve the traveling public.  However, Functionally Obsolete bridges may be more 

susceptible to congestion, collisions, or flooding because of the restrictive clearances 

and geometrics. The 2008 FHWA Report included the following verbiage regarding 

Functionally Obsolete bridges:   

 

“Functional obsolescence is a function of the geometrics of the bridge in relation to the 

geometrics required by current design standards. While structural deficiencies are 

generally the result of deterioration of the conditions of the bridge components, 

functional obsolescence generally results from changing traffic demands on the 

57 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

structure. Facilities, including bridges, are designed to conform to the design standards 

in place at the time they are designed. Over time, improvements are made to the design 

requirements. As an example, a bridge designed in the 1930s would have shoulder 

widths in conformance with the design standards of the 1930s, but current design 

standards are based on different criteria and require wider bridge shoulders to meet 

current safety standards. The difference between the required, current-day shoulder 

width and the 1930s' designed shoulder width represents a deficiency. The magnitude 

of these types of deficiencies determines whether a bridge is classified as Functionally 

Obsolete.”   
 

Bridges are considered Functionally Obsolete if: 

 

• Original design geometrics such as shoulder width, lane width, lateral clearance and vertical 

clearance do not meet current standards.  (See pictures below.)   

• They may be more susceptible to congestion, collisions, or flooding because of the 

restrictive clearances and geometrics. 

 

                        
 Examples of Functionally Obsolete Bridges 

 

Although Functionally Obsolete bridges are generally not as great a concern as 

Structurally Deficient bridges, these bridges can also become a priority for corrective 

measures and may be posted for vehicle size restrictions. Due to the fact that these 

terms cause undue concern, FHWA is considering changing the terminology.  These 

terms do not imply that the bridge is unsafe.  Safety and maintenance concerns are 

identified during regularly scheduled inspections. 

 

58 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

There are 1,154 bridges on the state-maintained system that were reported in 2014. 

Based on the report, 189 or 16.4% of the bridges are Functionally Obsolete, and 15 or 

1.3% of the bridges are Structurally Deficient.  

 

There are 798 bridges that are maintained by Non-NDOT agencies that were reported 

in 2014. Based on the report, 36 or 4.5% of the bridges are Functionally Obsolete, and 

19 or 2.4% of the bridges are Structurally Deficient. FIGURE 25 summarizes the 

substandard bridge conditions on the state and locally maintained bridge network. 

 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

NDOT Bridges Non-NDOT Bridges

15 19

189

36

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Structurally Deficient Functionally Obsolete

 
FIGURE 25. Substandard Bridges 
 

FIGURES 26A, 26B, 26C, 26D, and 26E locate the Functionally Obsolete and 

Structurally Deficient bridges in the State’s bridge inventory. 

 
 

59 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 26A. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges 
(Bridges categorized as Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete may have less than desirable load carrying capacity or geometrics, 
but are not considered unsafe.  Please refer to the discussion in the Bridge Condition Survey section.) 

60 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 26B. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges 
(Bridges categorized as Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete may have less than desirable load carrying capacity or geometrics, 
but are not considered unsafe.  Please refer to the discussion in the Bridge Condition Survey section) 

61 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 26C. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges 
(Bridges categorized as Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete may have less than desirable load carrying capacity or geometrics, 
but are not considered unsafe.  Please refer to the discussion in the Bridge Condition Survey section) 

62 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 26D. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges 
(Bridges categorized as Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete may have less than desirable load carrying capacity or geometrics, 
but are not considered unsafe.  Please refer to the discussion in the Bridge Condition Survey section) 
 

63 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 
FIGURE 26E. Locations of Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete Bridges 
(Bridges categorized as Structurally Deficient or Functionally Obsolete may have less than desirable load carrying capacity or geometrics, 
but are not considered unsafe.  Please refer to the discussion in the Bridge Condition Survey section) 
 

 
64 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

In addition to the sufficiency rating, a bridge’s susceptibility to seismic activity is 

considered when assessing its condition or “health.” Nevada is the third most 

seismically active state in the US. Only California and Alaska are more seismically 

active. The central and western parts of Nevada are the most active, but southern 

Nevada does have the potential for damaging earthquakes. NDOT has replaced or 

retrofitted 135 bridge structures at a cost of over $45 million since it began including 

seismic activity as a component in the project prioritization process. Additionally, NDOT 

has placed a high priority on 97 more state-owned bridges in need of seismic 

retrofitting.  The cost to upgrade bridges in need of seismic retrofitting is estimated at 

$40 million. 

 

Generally, bridges with sufficiency ratings more than 80 are considered “good”, ratings 

of between 50 and 80 can be considered “fair”, and ratings less than 50 are considered 

“poor”. FIGURE 27 illustrates the condition of bridges in Nevada. Less than 1 % of the 

bridges in Nevada are considered to be in poor condition. NDOT goes above and 

beyond the requirement in inspecting bridges. Railroad crossings and pedestrian 

structures are not required to be inspected by the Federal Highway Administration. For 

the sake of public safety, NDOT inspects these bridges when they span NDOT facilities, 

but does not report these ratings. 

65 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

NDOT Bridges Non-NDOT Bridges

958

620

165

149

7

17

24

12

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Good Fair Poor Not Rated

 
FIGURE 27. Nevada Bridge Conditions 
 

 
Nevada bridge conditions compare very favorably to the bridge conditions in many other 

states, even though more than half of NDOT’s bridges are over 40 years old. Older 

bridges generally have a service life of at least 50 years. Recently built bridges are 

expected to have a design life of 75 years. This prolonged design life was achieved by 

improvements in material, design, and construction methods. FIGURE 28 shows the 

age distribution of the State’s bridges grouped by decade in which the bridge was 

originally constructed. 

66 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

1930s 1940s 1950s 1960s 1970s 1980s 1990s 2000s 2010s

43 35

96

359

190

113

149

106

58

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Decade of Construction
 

FIGURE 28. NDOT Bridges, Decade of Construction 
 
 
BRIDGE CONDITION OVER TIME 
FIGURE 29 illustrates NDOT maintained bridge conditions grouped by good, fair, and 

poor categories over time. The number of bridges in each category has remained fairly 

stable since 1996. FIGURE 30 shows that the number of Structurally Deficient bridges 

has decreased significantly from 1996 through 2014.  

 

FIGURE 31 demonstrates that the condition of locally-maintained bridges has retained a 

similar proportion of good, fair, and poor bridge conditions in comparison to the total 

number of bridges surveyed from 1996 through 2014. These conditions slightly 

improved over the years despite the fact that there were over two and half times as 

many bridges surveyed in 2014 as compared to 1996. FIGURE 32 depicts the number 

of Structurally Deficient non-NDOT bridges over time.  

67 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014

826 850 843 843 862 880 857 882 874
958

155 155 147 147 139 156 187 178 207
165

18 18 14 15 14
9 12 4 4

7

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Year of Condition Data

Good Fair Poor

 
FIGURE 29. NDOT Bridge Conditions over Time 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014

32

45

36 35

27

20 20
18 19

15

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Year of Condition Data
 

FIGURE 30. Structurally Deficient NDOT Bridges over Time 
 

68 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014

238 255
318

462
519

558 594
644

554
620

47
50

59

66

69

83
91

85

151

149

23
24

21

24

15

18
16

4 19

17

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Year of Condition Data

Good Fair Poor

 
FIGURE 31. Non-NDOT Bridge Conditions over Time 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014

22

28 28

32

24 24

20
17 18 19

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Year of Condition Data
 

FIGURE 32. Structurally Deficient Non-NDOT Bridges over Time 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

69 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

THE COST OF BRIDGE CLOSURE FOR OWNERS 
Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete bridge locations are displayed in 

FIGURE 26A through FIGURE 26E.  The deficient and obsolete bridges are primarily 

located on I-15 in Las Vegas and I-80 and US-395 in Reno. These routes connect 

Nevada with the rest of the country and carry hundreds of thousands of automobiles 

and trucks on a daily basis. Some Nevada Interstates bridges carry more than 100,000 

vehicles daily in Northern Nevada urban area and approximately 250,000 vehicles daily 

in Southern Nevada urban area. If closure of a bridge in rural Nevada was required, the 

detour might add a few hundred additional miles to the travelers’ journeys. A bridge 

closure and subsequent detours in urban areas will create extensive traffic jams and 

cause additional vehicle crashes. In both rural and urban bridge closures, the user costs 

due to travel delay or crashes will be quite significant until the bridge is reconstructed or 

repaired. Often, user costs due to delay or crashes can be in the hundreds of thousands 

of dollars per day. The importance of bridge maintenance and rehabilitation cannot be 

overemphasized. 

 

The economic impacts of a bridge closure and subsequent activities are widespread. 

For example, the nationally reported bridge collapse in Minneapolis, Minnesota in 2007 

had an economic impact on the state totaling $17 million in 2007 and $43 million in 

2008 due to user costs. The user costs were estimated at $247,000 per day due to 

added travel time. The Minneapolis Bridge carried 140,000 vehicles daily before the 

collapse. This account does not include the compensations to the deceased and injured 

and the law suit expenses. 

 

PROJECT PRIORITIZATION 
The bridge preservation program competes for funding with capacity improvement, 

operations, pavement, hydraulic, and safety projects and programs. Since available 

funding is never unlimited, engineers prioritize projects in such a manner that will 

improve the condition of the entire bridge infrastructure network while maximizing bridge 

performance and keeping costs to a minimum.  

 

Bridge projects are developed and prioritized based upon bridge condition (Sufficiency 

Ratings and Structurally Deficient status), essentiality for public needs (NHS status, 

70 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

ADT, and ADTT etc...), and association of other ongoing project work at the same 

location (pavement rehabilitation work etc…). Seismic retrofit work is prioritized based 

on a bridge’s earthquake vulnerability and importance. The seismic vulnerability of older 

state-owned bridges has been investigated. Certain bridge types, such as large 

culverts, do not need seismic retrofit.  

 

STATE BRIDGE PRESERVATION FUNDING 
Similar to pavement rehabilitation, bridge work is paid for with fuel taxes and vehicle 

registration fees. Historically, available funding has only been sufficient to offset annual 

preventive/corrective maintenance costs.  

 

Federal funds are available for bridge replacement, rehabilitation, or seismic retrofits.  

Typically, about 80% to 85% of federal funds are spent on bridge replacement and 

rehabilitation and about 15% to 20% of federal funds are spent on seismic retrofit work. 

 

Under federal funding guidelines, off-system bridges must receive more than $2 million 

of the available federal funds. Bridges are described as off-system when the bridges are 

not located on the federal aid highway system. Off-system roads include Rural Minor 

Collector and Rural and Urban Local roads. Bridges are described as on-system when 

the bridges are located on the federal aid highway system. The Interstate, Urban 

Collector, and Rural Minor Arterial roads are included in the federal aid highway system. 

Of the 1,154 state-maintained bridges, 1,079 bridges are on-system and 75 bridges are 

off-system.  Of the 798 county, city, other local agency, private, and other state agency 

bridges, 415 bridges are on-system and 383 bridges are off-system. 

 

BIENNIAL EXPENDITURES FOR FISCAL YEARS 2013 TO 2014 
TABLE 13 lists approximately $33 million worth of bridge preservation work that NDOT 

obligated in fiscal years 2013 and 2014.  

 

 

 

 

 
 

71 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

72 
 

TABLE 13. Bridge Expenditures in Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014 

 Repair Strategy 

Fiscal Preventive Corrective Seismic 
Year Maintenance Maintenance Rehabilitation Replacement Retrofit Total 

2013 $354,154 $7,568,596 $9,025,658 $384,384 $6,440,418 $23,773,210

2014 $439,263 $3,846,964 $0 $4,793,890 $0 $9,080,117 

Biennium Total $793,417 $11,415,560 $9,025,658 $5,178,274 $6,440,418 $32,853,327

 

TABLE 14 lists the numbers of bridges that NDOT rehabilitated, replaced, or seismically 

retrofitted in fiscal years 2013 and 2014.  

 

TABLE 14. Numbers of Bridges Rehabilitated, Replaced, or Seismically Retrofitted 
in Fiscal Years 2013 and 2014 

      Repair Strategy   
Fiscal   Federal- 

Rehabilitation Replacement 
Seismic 

Total Year Entity Aid System Retrofit 

2013 
State On-System 12 11 23 

Local/Other 
On-System 
Off-System 1 2 3 

2014 State On-System 
Local/Other Off-System 3 3 

  Total 12 4 13 29 
 
 
BACKLOG OF BRIDGE PRESERVATION WORK 
Ideally, bridges maintained in fair or good condition for as long as possible will extend 

bridge service life and reduce the need for bridge replacement. Currently, a backlog of 

approximately $119 million exists for bridge preservation work. Bridge preservation 

includes repair strategies such as corrective maintenance, rehabilitation, and 

replacement work. TABLE 15 lists the backlog of currently needed bridge repair work. 

Preventive maintenance needs are not included in the bridge project backlog because 

this work is performed using routine-maintenance funds.  

 

 

 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

 

TABLE 15. Backlog of Bridge Work, State Bridges 2015 
(Based on 2014 Condition Data)  

System 

Repair Strategy Required 

Total 
Corrective     Seismic 

Maintenance Rehabilitation Replacement Retrofit 
 Principal Arterial - 
Interstate $19,800,000 $9,280,000 $3,600,000 --  $32,680,000  
 Principal Arterial - 
Non-Interstate $8,360,000 $6,400,000 -- --  $14,760,000  

 Minor Arterial $3,480,000 $3,840,000 $6,300,000 --  $13,620,000  

 Major Collector $4,680,000 $3,520,000 -- --  $8,200,000  
 Minor Collector & 
Local $2,000,000 $3,360,000 $4,500,000 --  $9,860,000  

 System Not Identified -- -- -- $40,000,000  $40,000,000  

Total    $38,320,000   $26,400,000   $14,400,000   $40,000,000   $119,120,000  

 
 

PRESENT FUNDING VERSUS NEEDED FUNDING  
The majority of NDOT maintained bridges were built prior to the 1980’s.  These older 

bridges typically have a useful service life of about 50 years, although bridges that were 

built more recently are expected to have a useful service life of 75 years. It is anticipated 

that most bridges approaching 50 years old will require major rehabilitation or 

replacement relatively soon.  FIGURE 33 illustrates that many NDOT maintained 

bridges are approaching 50 years old and may be reaching the end of their useful 

service life.  The estimated cost to replace all of the NDOT maintained bridges that are 

currently over 50 years old is $470 million.  Because of the large number of bridges 

approaching 50 years old, the estimated cost to replace all of the NDOT maintained 

bridges that will be over 50 years old ten years from now is $1.5 billion. 

 
 

 

73 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

1980s 1990s 2000s 2010s 2020s 2030s 2040s

43 35

96

359

190

113

149

N
o.

 o
f B

rid
ge

s

Decade When the Bridges Become 50 Years Old
 

FIGURE 33. Number of 50 Year Old Bridges by Decade 
 
 

Replacing all of NDOT’s bridges over 50 years old is not practical to accomplish in five 

years or even ten years time.  The strategy to forecast future bridge preservation costs 

is to replace the bridges gradually over the next fifty years, before the bridges reach 100 

years old.  Replacing 2% of the bridges over 50 years old each year will allow for a 

gradual replacement of all the old bridges, but does not replace the bridges quickly 

enough to decrease the number of bridges over 50 years old.   Since NDOT already has 

339 bridges over 50 years old, replacing 1 bridge a year is a replacement rate of less 

than 0.3% which is inadequate.  Gradually increasing the replacement rate to 2% over 

the next ten years will ultimately require replacing 10 bridges a year because NDOT will 

have approximately 520 bridges over 50 years old at that time.  If a 2% annual 

replacement rate is maintained for the subsequent ten years the trends will begin to 

stabilize; Twenty years from now NDOT would have approximately 580 bridges over 50 

years old and would be replacing 12 bridges each year.  

74 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

The current backlog of bridge preservation work is estimated to be approximately $119 

million.  The $11 million anticipated for bridge preservation work annually is not 

expected to be adequate to reduce or maintain the existing backlog.  The current $15 

million average annual need for bridge preservation work is expected to increase rapidly 

in the near future as the average age of NDOT maintained bridges increases. TABLE 

16 lists the bridge costs, funds and backlog for 12 years starting FY 2015 assuming the 

bridge preservation funding remains at the anticipated level. FIGURE 34 illustrates the 

anticipated costs, funds and backlog growth of the bridge preservation based on TABLE 

16 data. Under the present funding plan, the current $119 million bridge backlog is 

expected to gradually increase to $338 million in FY 2027. 
 

TABLE 16. Anticipated Bridge Backlog, Costs, and Funds 
State-Maintained System (in millions of dollars) 

Extra Backlog of
Fiscal Preventive Preventive Funds Bridge
Year Maintenance Total Maintenance Total Needed *** Work
2015 14.7 0.4 15.1 11.0 0.4 11.4 3.7 119.1
2016 17.2 0.4 17.6 11.0 0.4 11.4 6.2 122.8
2017 17.9 0.4 18.3 11.0 0.4 11.4 6.9 129.0
2018 20.8 0.4 21.2 11.4 0.4 11.9 9.3 135.9
2019 26.0 0.4 26.5 11.9 0.4 12.3 14.1 145.3
2020 29.3 0.5 29.7 12.4 0.5 12.8 16.9 159.4
2021 32.7 0.5 33.2 12.9 0.5 13.3 19.8 176.3
2022 36.2 0.5 36.7 13.4 0.5 13.9 22.8 196.1
2023 39.8 0.5 40.3 13.9 0.5 14.4 25.9 218.9
2024 43.6 0.5 44.1 14.5 0.5 15.0 29.1 244.9
2025 47.5 0.5 48.0 15.1 0.5 15.6 32.4 274.0
2026 47.1 0.5 47.6 15.7 0.5 16.2 31.4 306.4
2027 337.8

Corrective 
Maintenance, 

Rehabilitation, 
Replacement & 
Reconstruction

Corrective 
Maintenance, 

Rehabilitation, 
Replacement & 
Reconstruction

Bridge Preservation Costs * Bridge Preservation Funds **
(Normal Annual Deterioration Costs) (Funds Planned for Preservation Work)

 
*    Inflation assumed at 3.00% per annum. Note:  Backlog of Bridge work is as of beginning of fiscal year;

**   Revenue growth rate assumed is 4.00% per annum.            preservation costs are those incurred during the fiscal year; and

*** Funds needed to maintain current backlog            preservation funds are those that are available during the fiscal year.  
 

75 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

11.4 11.4 11.4 11.9 12.3 12.8 13.3 13.9 14.4 15.0 15.6 16.215.1 17.6 18.3 21.2 26.5 29.7 33.2 36.7 40.3 44.1 48.0 47.6

119.1 122.8 129.0 135.9 
145.3 

159.4 
176.3 

196.1 

218.9 

244.9 

274.0 

306.4 

337.8 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

C
os

ts
, F

un
ds

, a
nd

 B
ac

kl
og

 in
 M

ill
io

ns
 

Fiscal  Year

Anticipated Funds Forecast Costs Backlog

 
FIGURE 34. Anticipated Costs, Funds and Backlog of Bridge Preservation Work 
 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION ACTION PLAN 
NDOT’s bridge preservation action plan is similar to plans detailed in previous State 

Highway Preservation Reports. The action plan is to preserve Nevada’s public bridges 

in good condition by implementing the following bridge management practices: 

 

• Replace or rehabilitate Structurally Deficient bridges before the bridges become 

hazardous or overly burdensome to users. 

• Seismically retrofit bridges that do not meet current seismic standards. 

• Apply timely corrective measures to existing structures. 

• Apply effective preventive maintenance strategies to existing structures. 

 

BRIDGE PRESERVATION SUMMARY 
Nevada has enjoyed the benefit of good bridge conditions as compared to the bridge 

conditions in many other states for quite a while.  Nevada’s preservation program and 

favorable environment has contributed to the good results.  However, NDOT’s bridge 

assets are aging.  After a useful life of 50 years, many of NDOT’s older bridges will 
76 

 

Item #13 Attachment A



 
 

require replacement.  NDOT’s current bridge replacement rate of 1 to 2 bridges a year 

will not keep up with the large number of bridges reaching the end of their useful life.  

Increased spending in bridge corrective maintenance, rehabilitation, and replacement is 

necessary to preserve NDOT’s bridge assets and to avoid costly bridge closures and 

emergency bridge replacements. If bridge preservation spending is increased to match the 

forecast costs shown in FIGURE 34, the current backlog of bridge work can be maintained.  

If the funding is gradually increased as shown over the next ten years, the forecast bridge 

preservation cost is expected to level off at approximately $48 million per year.  

 

77 
 

Item #13 Attachment A



S
T
A

T
E

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

 P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
 R

E
P

O
R

T

Brian Sandoval,
Governor

Rudy Malfabon, P.E.,
Director

Nevada Department of Transportation
1263 South Stewart Street
Carson City, Nevada 89712

(775) 888-7000
Fax (775) 888-7115

www.nevadadot.com

Item #13 Attachment A



 

MEMORANDUM 
 December 3, 2014   
TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director 
SUBJECT: December 15, 2014 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #14: Old Business  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
Summary: 
 
This item is to provide follow up and ongoing information brought up at previous Board 
Meetings. 
 
Analysis: 
 
a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters - Informational item only. 

 
 Please see Attachment A. 
 
b. Monthly Litigation Report - Informational item only. 

 
 Please see Attachment B. 

 
c. Fatality Report dated December 1, 2014 - Informational item only. 
 
 Please see Attachment C. 
 
d.          Report on Overhead Costs for the Research Program – Informational item only. 

         
       Please see Attachment D. 
 

e.          Report on Potential Construction Employee Shortage – Informational item only. 
 
 Please see Attachment E. 
 
f. Quarterly Report on Freeway Service Patrol – Informational item only. 
         

        Please see Attachment F. 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters - Informational item only. 
b. Monthly Litigation Report - Informational item only. 
c. Fatality Report dated December 1, 2014 - Informational item only. 
d. Report on Overhead Costs for the Research Program – Informational item only. 
e. Report on Potential Construction Employee Shortage – Informational item only. 
f. Quarterly Report on Freeway Service Patrol – Informational item only. 
 
Recommendation for Board Action: 
 
Informational item only. 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

 



Page 1 of 3

Contract Period Contract and Amendment Date

Nossaman, LLP Project Neon  3/11/13 - 3/11/15 3/11/13 1,400,000.00$      
Legal and Financial Planning  Amendment #1 1/14/14 2,000,000.00$      
NDOT Agmt No. P014-13-015 3,400,000.00$  3,400,000.00$      $   823,342.50 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Carrie Sanders
8th JD - A-12-664693-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

6/12/12 - 6/12/15 6/12/12  $    541,800.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P192-12-004  $    541,800.00  $    150,494.18 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Gendall
 8th JD - A-12-666487-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

8/21/12 - 2/21/15
Amendment #1

8/21/12
8/19/14

 $,541,800.00
Extension of Time 

NDOT Agmt No. P325-12-004  $    541,800.00  $    112,304.31 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Robarts 1981 Decedents Trust
 8th JD - 12-665880-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

10/23/12 - 9/30/16
Amendment #1

10/23/12
9/12/14

 475725
Extension of Time 

NDOT Agmt No. P452-12-004  $    475,725.00  $    405,302.66 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. MLK-ALTA
 8th JD - A-12-658642-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/13  $    455,525.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P508-12-004  $    455,525.00  $    255,171.84 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Highland Partnership 1980
 8th JD - 
Project Neon - Las Vegas

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/13  $    449,575.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P507-12-004  $    449,575.00  $    408,999.95 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Highland 2000-I, LLC
 8th JD - A-12-671915-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/13  $    449,575.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P501-12-004  $    449,575.00  $    616.77 

Laura FitzSimmons, Esq. Condemnation Litigation Consultation 12/16/12 - 12/30/14 12/16/12  $    300,000.00 
NDOT Agmt No. P510-12-004  Amendment #1 8/12/13  $    850,000.00 

 Amendment #2 1/22/14  $    750,000.00 
 Amendment #3 5/12/14  $    800,000.00 

 $    2,700,000.00  $    563,366.06 

Lemons, Grundy, Eisenberg NDOT vs. Ad America (Appeal)
 8th JD  - A-11-640157-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

1/22/13 - 1/22/15 1/22/13 $205,250.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P037-13-004  $    205,250.00  $    70,821.12 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. Wykoff
8th JD - A-12-656578-C
Warms Springs Project - Las Vegas

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/13 $275,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P071-13-004  $    275,000.00  $    52,684.66 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. Railroad Pass
8th JD - A-12-665330-C
Boulder City Bypass Project

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/13  $    275,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P072-13-004  Amendment #1 5/12/14  $    275,000.00  $    550,000.00  $    220,210.45 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. K & L Dirt
8th JD - A-12-666050-C
Boulder City Bypass Project

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/13  $    275,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P073-13-004  $    275,000.00  $    185,132.42 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs.  I-15 & Cactus
Cactus Project - Las Vegas
8th JD - A-12-664403-C

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/13  $    200,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P074-13-004  $    200,000.00  $    86,366.41 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. JYTYJK, LLC dba Wireless Toyz vs. NDOT 
8th JD A-13-681291-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

 4/19/13 - 2/28/15 4/19/13  $    175,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P127-13-004  $    175,000.00  $    136,352.17 

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF November 24, 2014
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Authority
Contract Authority 

Remaining

Item #14 Attachment A



Page 2 of 3

Contract Period Contract and Amendment Date

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF November 24, 2014
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Authority
Contract Authority 

Remaining
 Varela, Lee, Metz & Guarina, 
LLP - Novation Agreement 
2/28/14 from Watt, Tieder, Hoffar 
& Fitzgerald **

Pacific Coast Steel vs. NDOT
K3292 - I-580
2nd JD CV12-02093

 4/30/13 - 4/30/15 4/30/13  $    275,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P160-13-004  $    275,000.00  $    59,870.66 

Sylvester & Polednak Fitzhouse Enterprises
(acquired title as Westcare)
8th JD - A-13-660564-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas

 5/31/13 - 5/31/15 5/31/13 290,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P201-13-004 290,000.00$       $    191,254.92 

Chapman Law Firm 54 B LLC vs. Clark County & NDOT
8th JD - A-12-674009

 6/6/13 - 11/30/15 6/6/13 250,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P217-13-004 250,000.00$    $   196,883.92 
Snell & Wilmer Meadow Valley Public Records

 Request K3399
 7/18/13 - 7/30/15
Amendment #1 

7/18/13
7/29/14

 30,000.00
50,000.00 

NDOT Agmt No. P273-13-004 80,000.00$    $  1,963.66 
Kemp, Jones, Coulthard Nassiri vs. NDOT

8th JD A672841
 7/17/13 - 6/30/15 7/17/13 280,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P290-13-004 280,000.00$    $   43,447.45 
Chapman Law Firm Ad America vs. NDOT (Project Neon)

8th JD A640157
 7/25/13 - 7/30/15 7/25/13 200,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P291-13-004  Amendment #1 4/28/14 250,000.00$      
450,000.00$    $   118,322.34 

Chapman Law Firm Ad America vs. NDOT
(Cactus Direct and Inverse)
8th JD A-10-631520-C & A-12666482-C

 7/25/13 - 7/30/15 7/25/13 250,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P292-13-004 250,000.00$       $    189,919.49 

Chapman Law Firm Ad America vs. NDOT (South Point)
8th JD A-11-653502-C

 7/25/13 - 7/30/15 7/25/13 70,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P293-13-004 70,000.00$        $    23,711.06 

Kemp, Jones & Coulthard NDOT vs. City of Los Angeles
8th JD A-13-687717-C
Boulder City Bypass Project

 9/1/13 - 9/30/15 9/1/13 250,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P405-13-004 250,000.00$       $    197,497.67 

Sylvester & Polednak NDOT vs. Smith Family Trust
8th JD A-13-687895-C
Project Neon

 9/7/13 - 9/30/15 9/7/13 280,000.00$      

NDOT Agmt No. P465-13-004 280,000.00$    $   257,703.40 
Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. LGC, 231, LLC

 
 12/20/13 - 12/15/15 12/20/13 453,650.00$      

8th JD 
NDOT Agrmt No. P561-13-004 453,650.00$       $    395,292.09 

Laura FitzSimmons, Esq. Risk Management Analysis for Project NEON 1/13/14 - 12/13/17 1/13/14  $    900,000.00 
Costs for Risk Management Analysis  Amendment #1 8/21/14 310,000.00$      

1,210,000.00$       $    274,072.20 

Chapman Law Firm McCarran Widening  5/14/14 - 5/30/16 5/14/14 200,000.00$      
2nd JD - Various Temporary Easements
NDOT Agmt No. P142-14-004 200,000.00$       $    149,572.19 

Armstrong Teasdale, LLP Legal Support for utility matters relating to 5/14/14 - 5/30/16 5/14/14  $    250,000.00 
Project Neon and Boulder City Bypass
NDOT Agmt No. P210-14-004 250,000.00$       $    245,570.00 

Sylvester & Polednak First Presbyterian Church vs. NDOT 7/17/14 - 7/30/16 7/17/14  $    280,000.00 
8th JD A-14-698783-C
Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P327-14-004 280,000.00$       $    254,774.11 

Carbajal & McNutt, LLP Las Vegas Golf & Country Club 9/8/14 - 8/30/15 9/8/14  $    375,000.00 
8th JD A-14-705477-C
Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P362-14-004 375,000.00$       $    371,169.70 

Item #14 Attachment A



Page 3 of 3

Contract Period Contract and Amendment Date

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF November 24, 2014
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Authority
Contract Authority 

Remaining
Kemp, Jones & Coulthard Walker Furniture  10/13/14 - 11/30/14 10/13/14 350,000.00$      

Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P431-14-004 350,000.00$       $    350,000.00 

Lambrose Brown Grant Properties  10/14/14 - 10/30/16 10/14/14 275,000.00$      
Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P433-14-004 275,000.00$       $    275,000.00 

Lambrose Brown Sharples  10/16/14 - 10/30/16 10/16/14 275,000.00$      
Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P434-14-004 275,000.00$       $    275,000.00 

Laura FitzSimmons, Esq. Project Neon  11/10/14 - 11/30/15 11/10/14 600,000.00$      
Eminent Domain Actions
NDOT Agmt No. P480-14-004 600,000.00$       $    600,000.00 

* BH Consulting Agreement Management assistance, policy recommendations, 
negotiation support and advice regarding NEXTEL 
and Re-channeling of NDOT's 800 Mhz frequencies.

6/30/12 - 6/30/16 6/30/12  $     77,750.00  $    77,750.00  $    76,340.00 

 $    77,750.00  $    76,340.00 
*  Pass Through - Federally mandated 800 MHz rebanding project fully reimbursed by Sprint Nextel.
** The firm of Varela, Lee, Metz & Guarina, LLP took over the Pacific Coast Steel vs. NDOT Case as of 2/28/14 from the firm of Watt, Tieder, Hoffar & Fitzgerald.

Contracts Closed Since Last Report:

Snell & Wilmer, LLP  Contract # 3407 (Wells Wildlife Crossing) - 
Travelers Insurance vs. State
NDOT Agmt No. P082-12-004

Snell & Wilmer, LLP Contract # 3377 (Kingsbury Grade) - Traveler's 
Insurance vs. State
NDOT Agmt No. P083-12-004

Snell & Wilmer, LLP Construction Claims Williams Brother, Inc.
Contract # 3392 (Various in Las Vegas) NDOT 
Agmt No. P084-12-004

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Catello Family Trust - Project Neon
NDOT Agmt No. P476-12-004

Item #14 Attachment A



Page 1

Monthly Litigation Report to the Nevada Department of Transportation - November 24, 2014       

Fees Costs Total
Condemnations
NDOT vs. Chavez, Dawn R.   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. City of Los Angeles, et al.   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 49,749.00$       2,753.33$           52,502.33$         
NDOT vs. Custom Landco. (Walker Furniture)   Eiminent domain - Project Neon
NDOT vs. Fitzhouse/Westcare  Eminent domain  - Project Neon 66,350.00$       32,395.00$         98,745.00$         
NDOT vs. Gendall Trust   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 360,552.55$    68,943.14$         429,495.69$       
NDOT vs. Hackler, Connie L. 2    Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. Highland Partnership 1980, LLC   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 35,118.75$       5,456.30$           40,575.05$         
NDOT vs. I-15 and Cactus, LLC   Eminent domain - I-15 Cactus 100,750.00$    12,883.59$         113,633.59$       
NDOT vs. Jenkins, Carrie, aka Carrie Sanders   Eminent domain - Project Neon 291,476.50$    99,829.32$         391,305.82$       
NDOT vs. Jensen, Allan B. 2   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.00$       10,365.31$         50,427.31$         
NDOT vs. Jericho Heights, LLC   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 973,280.00$    1,163,353.94$    2,136,633.94$    
NDOT vs. K & L Dirt Company, LLC   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 76,150.00$       13,717.58$         89,867.58$         
NDOT vs. LGC 231, LLC - (Holsom Lofts)   Eminent domain - Project Neon 55,970.00$       2,387.91$           58,357.91$         
NDOT vs. Las Vegas Golf & Country Club   Eminent domain - Project Neon 3,807.75$         22.55$                3,830.30$           
NDOT vs. Manaois, Randy M. 2   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. Marsh, Nita, et al. 2   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. Miller, Bruce B.   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. MLK-ALTA   Eminent domain - Project Neon 175,255.00$    25,098.16$         200,353.16$       
NDOT vs. Railroad Pass Investment Group   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 151,700.00$    178,089.55$       329,789.55$       
NDOT vs. Smith Family Trust, et al   Eminent domain - Project Neon 20,375.00$       1,921.60$           22,296.60$         
NDOT vs. Stanford Crossing, LLC   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. Turner, Ronald Lee 2   Eminent domain - McCarran Widening * 40,062.50$       10,365.31$         50,427.81$         
NDOT vs. Wykoff Newberg Corporation   Eminent domain - I-15 and Warm Springs 192,125.78$    30,189.56$         222,315.34$       

Inverse Condemnations
54 B LLC   Inverse condemnation 43,268.78$       9,847.30$           53,116.08$         
AD America, Inc. vs. NDOT (NEON)   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 486,885.61$    112,822.87$       599,708.48$       
AD America, Inc. vs. NDOT (NEON-Silver Ave.)   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon
Eastman, Brandon vs. NDOT   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon
First  Presbyterian Church of LV vs. NDOT   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 24,125.00$       1,100.89$           25,225.89$         
JYTYJK, LLC dba Wireless Toyz vs. NDOT   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 29,422.98$       9,224.85$           38,647.83$         
Nassiri, Fred vs. NDOT  Inverse condemnation 228,364.68$    8,187.87$           236,552.55$       
Robarts 1981 Decedents Trust vs. NDOT   Inverse Condemnation - Project Neon 67,717.33$       2,705.01$           70,422.34$         

Cases Removed from Last Report:
NDOT vs. AD America, Inc.  (Cactus - Direct)   Final Order of Condemnation
NDOT vs. Catello Family Trust, Carmine V.   Dismissed
NDOT vs. Highland 2000-I, LLC   Final Order of Condemnation
NDOT vs. KP & TP, LLC, Roohani, Khusrow   Final Order of Condemnation
NDOT vs. Union Pacific Railroad Co.   Easement Acquired

* McCarran Widening fees and costs are under one contract.

Case Name J
u

Nature of Case Outside Counsel to Date

Item #14 Attachment B



Page 2

Monthly Litigation Report to the Nevada Department of Transportation - November 24, 2014 

Fees Costs Total
Torts
Ariza, Ana, et al. vs. Wulfenstein, NDOT 5    Plaintiff alleges wrongful death
Discount Tire Company vs. NDOT; Fisher 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence and personal injury
Francois, John A. vs. NDOT 6    Plaintiff alleges negligence and personal injury
Harris Farm, Inc. vs NDOT 2   Plaintiff alleges negligence and personal injury
Heme, Sandra Lee vs. County of Clark; NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence and personal injury
Jorgenson & Koka, LLP 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence causing property damage
Minagil, Randall vs. Intermountain Slurry Seal, NDOT E  Plaintiff alleges negligence causing property damage
Mullen, Janet vs. NDOT 2   Plaintiff alleges personal injury
NDOT vs. Tamietti   NDOT seeks injunct. relief to prevent closing access
Oneal, Brenda vs. NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence causing personal injury
Richard, Eboni vs. NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence causing personal injury
Windrum, Richard & Michelle vs. NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence and personal injury
Woods, Willaim and Elaine 2   Plaintiff alleges wrongful death
Zito, Adam vs. NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence and property damage

Contract Disputes
None currently in litigation

Personnel Matters
Akinola, Ayodele vs. State, NDOT U  Plaintiff alleges 14th Amendment  - discrimination
Cerini, Cheri          Petition for Judicial Review

Cases Removed from Last Report:
Antonio, James S. vs. NDOT 8   Arbitration settlement and dismissal.

Peek Construction vs. State, NDOT (K3377)      Settlement
Peek Construction vs. State, NDOT (K3407)      Settlement

Case Name J
u

Nature of Case Outside Counsel to Date

Item #14 Attachment B



                                                                                                                                                  12/1/2014

TO: PUBLIC SAFETY, DIRECTOR NDOT,  HIGHWAY SAFETY COORDINATOR, 
NDOT TRAFFIC ENGINEERING, FHWA, LVMPD, RENO PD.

FROM: THE OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY, FATAL ANALYSIS REPORTING SYSTEM (FARS)

SUBJECT: FATAL CRASHES AND FATALITIES BY COUNTY, PERSON TYPE, DAY, MONTH, YEAR AND PERCENT CHANGE.

Crashes Fatals Crashes Fatals Crashes Fatals

11/30/2014 1 1 11/30/2013 1 1 0 0
MONTH 35 37 MONTH 24 25 11 12
YEAR 243 264 YEAR 228 248 15 16

CRASH AND FATAL COMPARISON BETWEEN 2013 AND 2014, AS OF CURRENT DATE. 

2013 2014 2013 2014

COUNTY 2013 2014 % 2013 2014 % Alcohol Alcohol % Alcohol Alcohol %

Crashes Crashes CHANGE Fatalites Fatalities Change Crashes Crashes Change Fatalities Fatalities Change

CARSON 4 4 0.00% 5 5 0.00% 2 1 -50.00% 3 1 -66.67%
CHURCHILL 1 4 300.00% 1 4 300.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00%
CLARK 167 145 -13.17% 178 154 -13.48% 51 31 -39.22% 55 33 -40.00%
DOUGLAS 6 4 -33.33% 6 4 -33.33% 2 0 -100.00% 2 0 -100.00%
ELKO 4 10 150.00% 5 13 160.00% 2 4 100.00% 3 7 133.33%
ESMERALDA 2 2 0.00% 2 3 50.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00%
EUREKA 2 4 100.00% 3 5 66.67% 1 1 0.00% 1 1 0.00%
HUMBOLDT 2 9 350.00% 3 10 233.33% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00%
LANDER 0 3 300.00% 0 3 300.00% 0 1 100.00% 0 1 100.00%
LINCOLN 5 2 -60.00% 5 2 -60.00% 2 0 -100.00% 2 0 -100.00%
LYON 4 9 125.00% 6 11 83.33% 1 4 300.00% 1 4 300.00%
MINERAL 2 0 -100.00% 2 0 -100.00% 1 0 -100.00% 1 0 -100.00%
NYE 7 10 42.86% 10 11 10.00% 1 1 0.00% 1 1 0.00%
PERSHING 2 4 100.00% 2 4 100.00% 0 1 100.00% 0 1 100.00%
STOREY 0 2 200.00% 0 2 200.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00%
WASHOE 17 31 82.35% 17 33 94.12% 6 9 50.00% 6 10 66.67%
WHITE PINE 3 0 -100.00% 3 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00%

YTD 228 243 6.58% 248 264 6.45% 69 53 -23.19% 75 59 -21.33%
TOTAL 13 245 ----- -0.8% 266 ----- -0.8% 72 ----- -26.39% 79 ----- -25.32%

2013 AND 2014 ALCOHOL CRASHES AND FATALITIES ARE BASED ON VERY PRELIMINARY DATA.

COMPARISON OF FATALITIES BY PERSON TYPE BETWEEN 2013 AND 2014, AS OF CURRENT DATE.

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014

COUNTY Vehicle Vehicle % 2013 2014 % Motor- Motor- % 2013 2014 % Other Other

Occupants Occupants Change Peds Peds Change Cyclist Cyclist Change Bike Bike Change

moped,at

v

moped,at

v

CARSON 3 1 -66.67% 2 1 -50.00% 0 3 300.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

CHURCHILL 0 3 300.00% 0 0 0.00% 1 1 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

CLARK 83 63 -24.10% 47 45 -4.26% 40 36 -10.00% 4 4 0.00% 4 6

DOUGLAS 4 2 -50.00% 1 1 0.00% 0 1 100.00% 1 0 -100.00% 0 0

ELKO 5 13 160.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

ESMERALDA 2 3 50.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

EUREKA 1 5 400.00% 2 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

HUMBOLDT 3 8 166.67% 0 0 0.00% 0 1 100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 1

LANDER 0 2 200.00% 0 1 100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

LINCOLN 4 2 -50.00% 0 0 0.00% 1 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

LYON 4 5 25.00% 0 4 400.00% 1 2 100.00% 1 0 -100.00% 0 0

MINERAL 1 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 1 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

NYE 7 8 14.29% 1 1 0.00% 2 2 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

PERSHING 1 4 300.00% 1 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

STOREY 0 1 100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 1 100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

WASHOE 5 13 160.00% 6 9 50.00% 6 6 0.00% 0 3 300.00% 0 2

WHITE PINE 3 0 -100.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0.00% 0 0

YTD 126 133 5.56% 60 62 3.33% 52 53 1.92% 6 7 16.67% 4 9

TOTAL 13 131 ----- 1.53% 69 ----- -10.14% 53 ----- 0.00% 7 ----- 0.00% 5 -----

Total 2013 265

CURRENT SAME DATE LAST YEAR # CHANGE

Item #14 Attachment C



Nevada DOT, Federal, and Other State DOT’s Indirect Cost Rates (IDC) or 
Facilities & Administrative Costs (F&A Costs) for Research Projects 
 
Indirect cost rates are also referred to as Facilities and Administrative Costs (F&A Costs). 
 
NDOT IDC Rates: From FY 2006, Nevada DOT Research has restricted the indirect cost rates paid to 
the Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) entities to 23 % of total direct costs (Appendix A). Prior 
to FY 2006, Nevada DOT Research projects paid indirect cost rates at 45% for UNR and 48% for UNLV.  
 
For service provider agreements with NDOT Research, the indirect cost rates audited by the provider’s 
Cognizant agency are accepted. The term “cognizant agency” means any Federal or State agency that 
has conducted and issued an audit report of a consulting firm’s indirect cost rate established in 
accordance with the FAR cost principles (48 CFR 31) (as defined in 23 CFR 172.3). 
 
 
Federal IDC Rates: Both UNR and UNLV have Department of Health and Human Services as their 
Federal Cognizant Agency. Please see Appendix B for more details. UNR and UNLV charge an indirect 
cost rate of 43.5 and 44% for any research work funded with Federal monies. 
 
 
Other States’ IDC Rates: The results of a survey of other State DOT’s indirect cost rates 
conducted in 2006 are provided in Appendix C. The survey has information on about 30 State DOTs and 
the average Indirect Cost Rate is 24.5% and the median is also about 24.5%. The Highest IDC Rate is an 
effective rate of 53.8% for Washington State DOT.  
 
Minnesota is the only State that indicates an IDC rate of zero for the universities within Minnesota. But, 
a closer look at the Minnesota DOT research project budgets shows that Minnesota DOT allows costs 
such as computers to be included as direct costs. Nevada DOT considers all computers as equipment 
and does not allow any equipment to be included in our research project budgets. New York enters into 
fixed cost agreements for research projects. So, an indirect cost rate is not applicable.  
 
 

Item #14 Attachment D



NDOT RESEARCH: Indirect Cost Rates for Proposals Received in Federal FY 2014 Q2 and Q3 and Selected to be funded in 
Federal FY 2015 

Problem 
Stateme

nt 
Number Proposal Title 

Principal 
Investigat

or and 
Affiliation 

Durati
on 

NDOT Champion(s) Total Costs 

Indirect 
Cost Rate 

Total 
Indirect 

Cost 
14Q2-E1-1  Development of a 

Comprehensive Crash 
Database for Nevada that can 
be used with AASHTOWare 
Safety Analyst 

Dr. Hao Xu, 
UNR 

24 mos. Ken Mammen and Jaime 
Tuddao – Safety 
Engineering Division and 
Dale Lindsey – 
Performance Analysis 
Division 

$209,946 23% $37,838 

14Q2-E1-2 Development and Calibration 
of a Nevada wide Dynamic 
Transportation Planning 
Model for the Estimation of 
Traffic Performance Measures 
including AADTs 

Dr. Zong 
Tian, UNR 

24 mos. Hoang Hong – Traffic 
Operations Division 

$220,452 23% $32,621 

14Q2-E1-6 Automated Pedestrian and 
Bicycle Count System and 
Analysis Tool 

Dr. Venki 
Muthukumar
, UNLV 

12 mos. Ken Mammen, PD Kiser, 
Jamie Tuddao, and 
Thomas Lightfoot – Safety 
Engineering Division and 
Bill Story – Multimodal 
Planning Division 

$174,945 23% $28,113 

14Q2-E2-7 Toward Successful 
Implementation of 
Prefabricated Deck Panels to 
Accelerate the Bridge 
Construction Process 

Dr. Keri L. 
Ryan, UNR 

18 mos. Mark Elicegui and Troy 
Martin – Structural Design 
Division 

$115,869 23% $20,588 

14Q2-E2-8 Development of Earthquake-
Resistant Precast Pier System 
for Accelerated Bridge 
Construction in Nevada 

Dr. M. Saiidi, 
UNR 

24 mos. Mark Elicegui and Troy 
Martin – Structural Design 
Division 

$209,617 23% $39,196 

Item #14 Attachment D



14Q2-E2-9 Phase I: Minimization of 
Cracking in New Concrete 
Bridge Decks 

Dr. Thomas J. 
Van Dam, 
NCE 

12 mos. Darin Tedford and 
Michele Maher – 
Materials Division and 
Mark Elicegui and Troy 
Martin – Structural Design 
Division 

$45,000 207.23% 
(2013 

Audited) 

$30,353 
(Estimated) 

14Q2-E3-1 Taking Bridge Innovation into 
the Field 

Dr. David 
Sanders, UNR 

21 mos. Troy Martin and Michael 
Taylor – Structural Design 
Division 

$154,936 23% $23,201 

14Q2-E3-5 Maintenance Decision Support 
System: Phase 3 

Dr. Eric L. 
Wang, UNR 

24 mos. Denise Inda – Traffic 
Operations Division and 
Mylinh 
Lidder – Maintenance and 
Asset Management 
Division and Equipment 
Division 

$200,292 23% $36,085 

14Q3-E7-2 Development and 
Implementation of a 
Statewide Pilot Project for 
Standardized Traffic Incident 
Management (TIM) 
Performance Measurement 
and Reporting in Nevada 

Dr. Kelley 
Pecheux, 
AEM Corp. 

16 mos. Seth Daniels – Traffic 
Operations Division 

$149,875 70.29% 
(Estimated 
Effective 

Indirect Cost 
Rate) 

$61,866 

Total $1,480,932 

Item #14 Attachment D



Appendices 

Appendix A: NDOT Research Memo to University of Nevada, Reno on Indirect 
Cost Rates 

Item #14 Attachment D



Appendix B: Federal Cognizant Agency Rates for University of Nevada, Reno 

Item #14 Attachment D



Appendix B (Contd.): UNR’s Federal Cognizant Agency Rates 

Item #14 Attachment D



Appendix B (Contd.): UNLV’s Federal Cognizant Agency Rates 

Item #14 Attachment D



Appendix C: Other States’ Indirect Costs 

State

 Indirect 
Cost 
Rate Remarks

Alabama 34.5% 23-46%
Arizona  15% minimum. Each agreement is negotiated separately
Arkansas 15%

Connecticut 20% For state universities. Other universities vary.
Florida  25%
Hawaii 3.50%
Idaho 20%
Illinois 30% 20%-30%, Add 5% to one campus and another 5% to TRC. Require 25% 
Iowa  26% 8% for one university

Kansas 45% 44%-46% with federal funds, 0% with state funds, 44% at KU and 46% KSU
Louisiana 24% 23-25%, One charges 23, 8 school 25%
Maine 24.25%  48.5% total, but split 50/50 with U
Maryland 26%
Massachusetts 10%
Minnesota 0% for MN system Other universities on a case-by-case basis 
Mississippi 35%  25-45%, Depending on universities
Missouri 29%
Montana 20%
Nebraska 10%
Nevada 23%
New Hampshire 45% on site, 26% off-site
New Mexico 20%
New York Fixed Cost Agreements
North Carolina 20%

Oregon  38.50%
Oregon U: 42% for federally funded projects. Oregon State U: 38.5% for 
SPR projects; 26% for state fund projects

Rode Island 25%
Washington 53.8% 48.5%-56.5% UW: 56.5%; WSU: 48.5% 
West Virginia 30.3% 20%, 26% and 45%
Wisconsin 15%
Wyoming 20%

Item #14 Attachment D



Item #14 Attachment E



Item #14 Attachment E



Item #14 Attachment E



  FREEWAY SERVICE PATROL 
   FFY 2014 4th Quarter Report, July 1 – September 30, 2014 
   Traffic Operations Division 

This document provides the fourth quarterly report for the Freeway Service Patrol (FSP) 
program under the contract with United Towing, effective October 1, 2013 through September 
30, 2017. The tables below reflect the program’s performance for the quarter. The following is a 
summary of the program’s progress: 

1. The Reno FSP table indicates good progress. The routes and hours of operation were
revised in June and the data continues to reflect positive improvement.

2. The Las Vegas FSP/IRV tables also indicate good progress. Two FSP routes were
adjusted at the end of August and positive improvement is reflected in the September
FSP data.

3. Both Las Vegas and Reno are exceeding the 3% Disadvantage Business Enterprise
(DBE) goal.

4. Both Las Vegas and Reno had revised routes and hours of operation for holidays and
special events that directly impact freeway traffic. The data indicates proper and effective
planning of available resources.

5. Special coverage was provided for the I-15 Pavement Replacement Project near Moapa
Valley. The project started with coverage provided by IRV, but we quickly learned that
FSP was better suited for the task given the location of the project and the availability of
compressed natural gas (CNG) fueling stations. By switching to a gasoline operated FSP
vehicle, the driver was able to spend more time patrolling due to less frequent and
shorter refueling trips. This resulted in more mitigation with less vehicle hours and cost
for the entire duration of the special coverage. As a result of the lessons learned from
this event, we coordinated with the contractor to develop a gas operated IRV vehicle for
future events.

6. Emergency support was provided for the I-15 Washout near Moapa Valley. The flooding
ravaged a 2-mile portion of Interstate 15, washing away entire sections of road and
leaving behind a wake of debris and stranded vehicles. The damage led to a complete
shutdown of the interstate, with all lanes in both directions being closed.  Coverage was
provided during this event that affected an estimated 180,000 to 200,000 motorists (25%
being trucks) and resulted in a total cost of $16,605. This service helped facilitate the
smooth flow of traffic along congested detour routes, and allowed NDOT and the
contractor to work around the clock to re-open a critical section of Interstate 15 in just
four days.

7. FSP security measures have also been improved to allow for quicker law enforcement
response times in the event of a life threatening situation to the FSP driver and/or the
motorist. This was a result of the lessons learned from the Las Vegas FSP carjacking
that occurred in July.

8. We have now completed one year of the Reno and Las Vegas FSP/IRV programs with
the new contractor. We are currently conducting an in-depth study of the program’s
performance and preparing an annual report for all program activities.

Item #14 Attachment F



  FREEWAY SERVICE PATROL 
   FFY 2014 4th Quarter Report, July 1 – September 30, 2014 
   Traffic Operations Division 

The performance of the program is currently being measured and analyzed in terms of 
mitigations per vehicle hour (MPVH) of each route.  This metric allows for evaluation of each 
route and service hours of operation to ensure the most effective application of FSP/IRV 
resources.    

Las Vegas FSP 14-Jul 14-Aug 14-Sep Reno FSP 14-Jul 14-Aug 14-Sep 
Total Mitigations 1834 1590 2145 Total Mitigations 615 574 582 

Vehicle Hours 2152 2064 2060 Vehicle Hours 474 449 466.5 

Cost $132,348 $126,936 $126,690 Cost $30,810 $29,185 $30,323 

Mitigations/Veh Hr 0.9 0.8 1.0 Mitigations/Veh Hr 1.3 1.3 1.2 

Las Vegas IRV 14-Jul 14-Aug 14-Sep Reno DBE Goal 14-Jul 14-Aug 14-Sep 
Total Mitigations 668 690 714 Total Expenditures $30,810 $29,185 $30,323 

Vehicle Hours 704 664 674 DBE Participation $7,655  $7,017 $6,478 

Cost $48,576 $45,816 $46,506 DBE Percentage 24.85% 24.04% 21.36% 

Mitigations/Veh Hr 0.9 1.0 1.1 

Holidays and Special Events 
Las Vegas DBE 

Goal 14-Jul 14-Aug 14-Sep Mitigations/Veh Hr Las Vegas Reno 
Total Expenditures $180,924  $172,752  $173,196 4th of July 1.0 1.3 

DBE Participation $10,263  $12,557  $13,590  Burning Man n/a 1.6 

DBE Percentage 5.67% 7.27% 7.85% Labor Day 1.1 1.5 

Street Vibrations n/a 1.2 

Las Vegas Moapa Construction Project Las Vegas I-15 Moapa Wash-Out 
FSP Mitigations 26 FSP Mitigations 17 
FSP Van Hours 32 FSP Van Hours 71 

FSP Cost $1,968 FSP Cost $4,367 
IRV Mitigations 22 IRV Mitigations 44 
IRV Van Hours 34 IRV Van Hours 199 

IRV Cost $2,091 IRV Cost $12,239 

Total FSP & IRV Mitigations 48 Total FSP & IRV Mitigations 61 
Total FSP & IRV Cost $4,059 Total FSP & IRV Cost $16,605 

Item #14 Attachment F


	Agenda
	Item #3
	Item #4
	Item #5
	Item #6
	Item #7
	Item #8
	Item #9
	Item #10
	Item #10 Attachment

	Item #11
	Item #12
	Item #12 Attachment A

	Item #13
	Item #13 Attachment A

	Item #14
	Item #14 Attachment A
	Item #14 Attachment B
	Item #14 Attachment C
	Item #14 Attachment D
	Item #14 Attachment E
	Item #14 Attachment F




